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Report on operations
Profile of the Dexia Crediop Group
About Us
Dexia Crediop is a Bank specialized in the infrastructure and public-works sectors.
Dexia Crediop is currently 70% controlled by Dexia Crédit Local, which is an entity of Dexia Group, and the minority
shareholders are Banca Popolare di Milano, Banco Popolare and Banca Popolare dell’Emilia Romagna, with a 10% stockholding each.

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

***
On 28 December 2012, the European Commission approved the Dexia Group orderly resolution plan, submitted by the
Belgian, French and Luxembourg states. The plan essentially contemplated, in addition to the disposals already carried out
and the sale of the entities considered disposable in the short term, the management in depreciation, i.e. without new
assets, of all Dexia Group entities except Dexia Crédit Local and Dexia Crediop, subject to specific rules. In particular, Dexia
Crediop was authorised until 28 June 2014 to produce new assets for an amount up to e 200 million destined for existing
customers in order to facilitate the process of the possible sale. On 15 July 2014, there not having appeared a binding
purchase offer from third parties, the European Commission confirmed management in depreciation of Dexia Crediop, with
no new production.
Given what has been said, Dexia Crediop remains within the scope of consolidation of the Dexia Group and continues
to be an integral part of the orderly resolution plan, in line with Dexia’s mandate and objectives, and to benefit from the
financial support of the parent company.
The Bank has therefore carried out an organisational restructuring process in accordance with the changed company
mission. The organisational restructuring action pursued the objectives of simplification, identification of synergies,
development of flexibility and versatility of personnel, adapting the size of operating units to their appointed tasks and
proceeding with the closure of four national offices.
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Group structure and shareholders
Group structure
At 31 December 2015, the Dexia Crediop Group included not only the parent company Dexia Crediop S.p.A., but also the
following subsidiaries:
Headquarters
Company name

Investment relationship
Investor
company

% of votes held

Share %

Group companies consolidated line-by-line (1)
Dexia Crediop Ireland

Dublin

Dexia Crediop

99.99%

99.99%

				
Dexia Crediop Ireland
The company was established in 2007 with the aim of concentrating management activities for the Group’s debt securities
investment portfolios. By virtue of the deleveraging policy resolved by the Group, in 2010 major disposals of non-core
business were made and, consequently, equity was reduced from e 700 million to e 100 million, reimbursing the
shareholder Dexia Crediop at par value.

Compared to the previous financial year, there have been no special events.
Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l.
The company, with equity of e 10,000, 90% held by Dexia Crediop, was part of the Dexia Crediop banking group and
was placed under voluntary liquidation with a deed on 30 September 2015, and removed from the Register of Companies
on 7 December 2015.
The company’s sole purpose was the issuing of covered bank bonds in accordance with Article 7-bis of Law 130 of 30 April
1999, and subsequent implementation provisions, and has never carried out transactions.
Shareholders of Dexia Crediop
There have been no changes in the shareholder body since 31 December 2014.
The Dexia Crediop equity is fully underwritten and paid up and amounts to e 450,210,000 consisting of 174,500,000
ordinary shares, each with a nominal value of e 2.58. On the date this report was approved, they were held as follows:
• Dexia Crédit Local: 122,150,000 ordinary shares, representing 70% of the equity, totalling e 315,147,000;
• Banca Popolare di Milano S.c.a.r.l.: 17,450,000 ordinary shares, representing 10% of the equity, totalling e 45,021,000;
• Banco Popolare società cooperativa: 17,450,000 ordinary shares, representing 10% of the equity, totalling e 45,021,000;
• Banca Popolare dell’Emilia Romagna società cooperativa: 17,450,000 ordinary shares, representing 10% of the equity,
totalling e 45,021,000.
Dexia Crediop does not own any of its own shares or shares in the parent company, nor has it owned any such shares
during the year.
(1) The company Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l., 90% controlled by Dexia Crediop, was placed under voluntary liquidation with a deed on 30 September 2015, and
removed from the Register of Companies on 7 December 2015.
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Dexia Crediop Ireland has equity of e 100 million, represented by 100 million shares with a face value of e 1 each,
including:
• 99,999,999 shares held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;
• 1 share held by Dexia Crédit Local.

Rating
The rating on medium/long-term debt assigned to Dexia Crediop by the Agencies Fitchratings and Standard & Poor’s is for
both BBB-.
On 1 February 2016, Fitchratings confirmed the m/l term rating of Dexia Crediop at BBB-. The outlook remains Stable.
The rating situation for Dexia Crediop is summarised in the table below.
Fitchratings - m/l term
Fitch Ratings - short term
Fitchratings – support

BBBF3
2

Standard & Poor’s - m/l term
Standard & Poor’s - short term

BBBA-3

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Profile of the Dexia Group
Dexia is a European banking group managed under an orderly resolution plan since the end of 2011. The Belgian and
French States own 94.4% of the Group since the end of 2012 when they made a e 5.5 billion capital injection.
Dexia’s orderly resolution plan, which was approved by the European Commission in December 2012, aims to avoid the
Group’s bankruptcy and liquidation which, given the Group’s residual size, could be destabilising to the entire European
banking sector.
As a significant bank1, Dexia has been under the direct prudential supervision of the European Central Bank within the
framework of the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM) since 4 November 2014. The Group’s parent company, Dexia, is
a public limited company (société anonyme) and financial company governed by Belgian law whose shares are listed on
Euronext Brussels and Paris as well as the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
Dexia no longer has any commercial activities and its residual assets are being managed in run-off. The Group’s financial
structure stands out from other banks in resolution due to its sizable asset portfolio and long-dated maturity profile. The
financial structure also includes significant off-balance-sheet derivatives hedging the asset portfolio against fluctuations
in interest and exchange rates.
At 31 December 2015, the Group’s asset portfolio consisted of 88% investment grade assets and reflects Dexia Crédit
Local’s former status as a leader in the local public and project finance sectors, with a primary focus on local public entities
in Europe and the United States and, to a lesser extent, European sovereigns and project finance. The remaining assets in
Dexia’s portfolio were primarily booked between 2006 and 2008 and carry relatively low credit spreads. Since the portfolio
is hedged against rate movements, the sale of assets may require the unwinding of the hedges which could prove to be
expensive.

1 Regulation (EU) No. 468/2014 of the European Central Bank of 16 April 2014.
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At the end of 2015, the Group’s balance sheet totalled e 230 billion and off-balance-sheet commitments stood at
e 371 billion. The Group’s resolution will need to be managed over the long term in order to protect Dexia’s capital base.
It will rely on an opportunistic asset sale strategy, aimed at reducing concentration risk of credit exposures. As such, the
orderly resolution plan provides for the gradual reduction of assets to around EUR 91 billion by 2020.
The Group finances itself mainly through the issuance of State guaranteed debt and secured funding. As at 31 December
2015, its “Common Equity Tier 1” ratio amounted to 15.9%.
Dexia Crédit Local is the Group’s main operating entity and benefits from a funding guarantee, up to a maximum amount
of EUR 85 billion, provided by the States of Belgium, France and Luxembourg, to allow for the execution of the orderly
resolution plan. Dexia Crédit Local is based in France, where it holds a banking licence, with branches in Ireland and the
United States and subsidiaries in Germany, Spain, Italy, the United Kingdom and Israel. Dexia Sabadell, Dexia Crédit Local’s
Spanish subsidiary, also has a branch in Portugal. These entities also hold local banking licences.
The governance of Dexia and Dexia Crédit Local has been streamlined and unified, with the members of Dexia’s Management
Board and Board of Directors also being members of Dexia Crédit Local’s Management Board and Board of Directors.
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After completing the sale of all the commercial franchises required under the Group’s orderly resolution plan at the
beginning of 2014, Dexia is now solely focused on managing its legacy assets while protecting the interests of the Group’s
State shareholders and guarantors. To meet this objective, the Group has established three main goals which form the core
of the Group’s “Company Project”:
• Maintain the ability to refinance its balance sheet throughout its resolution plan;
• Preserve its capital base in order to comply with regulatory ratios;
• Ensure operational continuity by retaining the necessary expertise and resources and developing appropriate information
systems.

Company information
Company bodies
Board of Directors (1)
Karel De Boeck (2)
Claude Piret (2)
Jean Le Naour (2)
Fabrizio Caputi (3)
Edouard Daryabegui Guilani (2)
Roberto Ferrari (2)
Pierre Vergnes (8)
Alberto Ludovico Maria Basadonna (1) (2)

Chairperson
Deputy Chairperson
Chief Executive Officer
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Board of Auditors (4)
Pierre Paul Destefanis
Nicola Fiameni (5)
Nadia Bonelli (6)
Jean Paul Baroni (7)
Lucia Foti Belligambi (7)

(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)

Chairperson
Standing auditor
Standing auditor
Alternate auditor
Alternate auditor

Board of Directors appointed for the three-year term 2015-2017 by the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting on 29 April 2015. The mandate of the director Enrico Corali came to an end
on the occasion of the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of 29 April 2015.
Director Marie Eglantine Dessallien Delmas resigned, effective as of 15 September 2015.
Director Alberto Ludovico Maria Basadonna resigned, effective as of 11 January 2016.
Members of the Board of Directors confirmed in office by the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of 29 April 2015.
Fabrizio Caputi was appointed director by the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of 29 April 2015.
Board of Auditors appointed for the three-year term 2013-2015 by the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting on 29 April 2013.
On 31 July 2013, the alternate auditor Nicola Fiameni became standing auditor in place of the resigning member Flavia Daunia Minutillo.
On 3 March 2014, the alternate auditor Nadia Bonelli took over as standing auditor in place of the resigning member, Vincenzo Ciruzzi.
The alternate auditors Jean Paul Baroni and Lucia Foti Belligambi were appointed by the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of 29 April 2014.
Pierre Vergnes was co-opted by the Board of Directors on 5 October 2015 and confirmed in the position by the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting on 6 November 2015.

In alto da sinistra:Mario Sarcinelli, Jean Le Naour e Jean Bourrelly.
In basso da sinistra: Fabrizio Pagani e Stefano Catalano.
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Other company bodies
Steering Committee
Jean Le Naour (as Chairperson)
Edoardo Baratella (1)
Emmanuel Campana (2)
Stefano Catalano
Fabrizio Pagani
Daniela Pozzali (1)
Pasquale Tedesco (1)
Stefano Vicari (1)

Financial Reporting Manager (the executive in charge of the
accounting documents) (3)
Emmanuel Campana (4)

Report on operations

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Members appointed as of 1 July 2015.
Emmanuel Campana was appointed as of 1 September 2015.
Until 30 June 2015, the role of Financial Reporting Manager was assigned to Jean Bourrelly. From 1 July 2015 to 31 August the role of Financial Reporting Manager ad interim was
filled by Jean Le Naour;
Emmanuel Campana was appointed Financial Reporting Manager, effective as of 1 September 2015, with a resolution made by the Board of Directors on 24 July 2015.
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Organisation (2)
Organisational Structure
Chief Executive Officer					Jean Le Naour *

Assets							Fabrizio Pagani *
Funding & Markets					Stefano Catalano *
Finance & Operations					Emmanuel Campana *
IT & Facility						Pasquale Tedesco *
Risk							Stefano Vicari *
Human Resources						Daniela Pozzali *
General and Legal Secretariat				Edoardo Baratella *

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Units of the Chief Executive Officer’s Staff
Claudio Cola

Compliance & Anti-Money Laundering			

Units which report to the Board of Directors
Internal Audit						Giuseppe Nusiner

2 At the time this document was drafted
* Members of the Steering Committee
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The Dexia Crediop Banking Group
Dexia Crediop S.p.A.
Via Flavia, 15 – (00187) Rome
Tel. + 39 06 4771.1 Fax + 39 06 4771.5952
Web: www.dexia-crediop.it
Certified e-mail: dexia-crediop@pec.dexia-crediop.it
Equity e 450,210,000 fully paid up
Rome Register of Companies No. 04945821009
Register of banks No. 5288
Parent Company of the Dexia Crediop Banking Group
Listed in the Register of Banking Groups
Member of the Interbank Deposit Protection Fund and the National Guarantee Fund
Company subject to management and coordination by Dexia Crédit Local
Dexia Crediop Ireland
Dublin – 2nd Floor, La Touche House, IFSC, Dublin 1 (Ireland)
Auditing Firm for Dexia Crediop S.p.A.
Mazars Italia S.p.A.
Report on operations
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Internal risk management and control system, pursuant to art. 123-bis, clause 2, letter b) of
the Consolidated Finance Act
In compliance with the financial reporting rules of art. 123-bis, clause 2, letter b) of the Consolidated Finance Act, the main
features of the internal risk management and control system (hereinafter, the “system”) implemented by the Dexia Crediop
Group (hereinafter, the “Group”) are illustrated below.
According to corporate law and the rulings of bank surveillance, the Group has established a corporate governance model,
consisting of an internal risk management and control system able to continuously protect against the typical risks of such
a company. This system involves the Company boards, the Financial Reporting Manager, the independent auditing firm and
the internal audit departments.
With regard to financial reporting in particular, the audits carried out by the Financial Reporting Manager and the
administrative-accounting system introduced by the latter are examined below.

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Both the Corporate Governance Model and the administrative-accounting governance system introduced by the Financial
Reporting Manager are fully operational and contribute to ensuring the reliability, accuracy and timeliness of the financial
reporting.
More specifically, the system introduced by the Financial Reporting Manager is based on the analysis framework
contemplated by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations (CoSO) report, since this represents an internationally
accepted standard of reference for internal auditing and financial reporting. The system can be divided into the following
four components:
• Scoping: the definition of the companies and the administrative-accounting processes that are relevant for financial
reporting;
• verification of the adequacy of the processes for the effective execution of the controls which mitigate risks linked to
accounting and financial reporting, and definition and monitoring of risk mitigation measures (Risk & Control Analysis
and Test of Effectiveness - ToE);
• evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of the administrative-accounting processes (Evaluation).
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A brief description of the administrative-accounting governance system adopted is given below:
Board of Directors
• Apponts the Financial Reporting
Manager (art.26 of the Articles of
Assoc.).
• Issues the certifications pursuant to
Art.154 bis of the Consolidated Finance Act (the Managing Director).

Financial Reporting Manager
• Issues the certifications and declarations pursuant to art. 154 of the
Cons Finance Act.
• Defines the governance model pursuant to Art. 154-bis of the Cons
Fin Act and is responsible for the implementatation and monitoring the
same.

Other bodies
(Board of Auditors, Steering commitees, Audit, Compliance, Accounting
and Risk Commitee, Auditing firm)
• Information exchange on risks, audit
system, reliability of administrativeaccounting processes, results and
action undertaken.

Compliance & Anti-Money laundering
• Assists with the analysis of changes in
the law thet could impact the management of the model.
• Sends the plan of its own acitivity, the
reports of the conformity inspections
carried out and the reports presented
to the Board of Auditors.
• Transmits the results of the checks of
the Permanent Controller activity.

General and Legal Secretariat
• Identifies the «sensitive» documents
pursuant to clause 2 of art. 154 bis of
the Cons. Finance Act.
• Transmits the minutes of the Board of
Directors for the subjects relevant for
the Financial Reporting Manager.

Approves
Internal Audit

Management Control
• Assist the Fin Rep Manager in the
implementation and monitoring of
the administrative-accounting governance model.
• Analyses legal aspects and identifies
the needs for the evolution of the
governance model.
• Assists the Fin Rep Manager in defining the corporate scope and the
relevant processes, in the analysis of
internal auditing at company level,
and in verification of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the processes.
• Assesses the adequacy and effectiveness of the processes.
• Coordinates the exchange of information to and from the Fin Rep
Manager.

Operating activities
Information flows

• Exchanges information and data relative to its own activities (e.g. audit
plans and results of the audits).
• Points out critical areas identified in
the course of its activity, also giving
its own opinions on adequacy and
with regard to any necessary improvements.
• Gives information for assessment
and governance of any critical factors, and indications useful for defining scope of the administrativeaccounting processes.
• Gives a summary of the monitoring
of the mitigating actions carried out
by the process owners.

Operational Risk & Security
• Provides the Company standards and
results of the RCSA activities and those
relating to the application segregation;
matrix.
• Assists in the carrying out of any organisational corrective measures that
may be needed.
• Highlights critical areas that may be
detected during the course of its work,
providing an opinion on the effective
application of the audited controls and
indicating any areas for improvement;
• Assists in identifying possible corrective
actions, monitoring effective implementation.

The Accounting and Management Audit department gives practical assistance to the Financial Reporting Manager in the
execution of the implementation and maintenance of the financial-administrative governance system.
The Operational Risk & Security Department also analyses the results of the Risk and Control Self Assessment (RCSA). The
RCSA provides for the application of a methodology defined by the parent company Dexia Crédit Local and meets the
guidelines established by the Bank of Italy (see Circ. 263 of 27 December 2006, “New Provisions on Prudential Supervision
for Banks” and successive amendments).
The Internal Audit Department guarantees the independence of internal auditing, pursuant to an annual programme
approved by the Board of Directors, always after hearing the opinion of the Audit, Compliance, Accounting and Risk
Committee. The tasks of the Central Inspectorate include, among other things, collaboration with the Financial Reporting
Manager in monitoring any corrective action proposed by the latter.
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Process Owner
• Carry out procedures and controls.
• Collaborate in designing new operating procedures and/or modifying
those alredy existing.
• Send the audit trails of the key controls carried out.

Reports

The General and Legal Office collaborates with the Financial Reporting Manager on the analysis of changes in legislation
that can have an impact on the management of the system, and in identifying relevant company accounting documents,
deeds and communications referred to by law or disclosed to the market pursuant to clause 2 of art. 154-bis of the
Consolidated Finance Act.
The Process Owners are represented by the managers of the company organisational units concerned by the processes
falling within the scope of the activity. The Process Owners interact with the Financial Reporting Manager in verifying the
adequacy of the effectiveness tests, and in identifying and implementing any corrective action.
The IT & Facility Services unit, among other things, checks on the correct functioning of the IT system, to guarantee
that measures are taken to safeguard the physical and logical security and integrity of the data and information. The
department collaborates with the Financial Reporting Manager in the assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
administrative-accounting processes, for all aspects concerning the technological infrastructure which support the internal
control processes.
The Compliance & Anti-Money Laundering Department is involved in the internal controls system at the second level, as
the risk owner of non-compliance. The Department carries out its own activity independently (pursuant to the supervisory
regulations) on the basis of an annual programme approved by the Board of Directors, always after hearing the opinion of
the Audit, Compliance, Accounting and Risk Committee. The department must also be a reference point for the assessment
of the Permanent Control activities.

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

The main information flows for the Financial Reporting Manager forecast the following:
• The General and Legal Office: extract of the convocation notice of Board of Directors meetings, with relative agenda,
and the minutes and resolutions regarding the issues of interest to the Reporting Manager; as soon as available,
any communications, observations and reports of the Supervisory Authorities (Bank of Italy, CONSOB, etc.) or other
authorities presented to the attention of the Chief Executive Officer, held by the General and Legal office; and indication
of “sensitive” documents as defined by clause 2 of art. 154-bis of the Consolidated Finance Act;
• Internal Audit annual Audit Plan: every quarter, the reports are presented to the Board of Auditors as well as the
summary of the monitoring relative to mitigating action carried out by the Process Owners; the reports on the various
inspections are presented as soon as they become available;
• Compliance & Anti-Money Laundering annual compliance plan: the reports are presented to the Board of Auditors every
quarter; the reports of the results are presented as soon as they become available;
• Operational Risk & Security annual Activity Plan: the verifications reports are carried out every quarter.
Every six months the Financial Report Managers sends a Report on the findings of the verifications carried out to the
Steering Committee, the Audit, Compliance, Accounting and Risk Committee, and the Internal Audit and the Compliance
& Anti-Money Laundering Departments.
The Financial Reporting Manager also reports to the company Boards, and in particular to:
• the Board of Auditors, on the Budget for his/her own activity, and on the annual plan for verification of the administrativeaccounting processes, and, by means of the six-monthly summary report, on the findings of the verifications that s/he
carries out;
• the Board of Auditors, by means of the six-monthly summary report, on the findings of verifications that s/he carries out.   
In addition, the Financial Reporting Manager meets and exchanges information with the external Auditing Firm on their
respective activities, especially regarding any aspects of the internal controls which require particular attention.
In 2015, all auditing and assessments performed confirmed the basic suitability and effective application of the
administrative/accounting procedures of Dexia Crediop.
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Economic and financial results
To provide a better understanding of the results of the period, abbreviated versions of the balance sheet and income
statement have been prepared, using the models given in the Bank of Italy Memorandum 262/2005 and making the
necessary reclassifications as described below:
Balance Sheet
• the item “Cash and cash equivalents” has been included under other assets;
• the item “Hedging derivatives” has been included under other assets/liabilities;
• the item “Fair value adjustment of financial assets in hedged portfolios” has been included among other assets;
• tangible and intangible assets have been aggregated into a single item;
• the provisions for severance indemnities and provisions for risks and charges have been aggregated into a single item;
• the item “Fair value adjustment of financial liabilities in hedged portfolios” has been included among other liabilities;
• the profit and valuation reserves have been aggregated into a single item.
Income Statement
• the item “Net hedging gains (losses)” has been included under net interest, in relation to the close correlation between
hedging derivatives and the instruments hedged;
• “net trading gains (losses)” and “Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase” have been aggregated into a single item;
• net adjustments on tangible and intangible assets have been aggregated into a single item.

Report on operations
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Reclassified balance sheet
euro
Reclassified Balance Sheet

Assets

31/12/2015

Change

Chan.

Financial assets for trading

20. Financial assets held for trading

2,415,444,844

3,107,316,702

-691,871,858

-22%

Financial assets avaible for sale

40. Financial assets avaible for sale

64,671,615

522,939,327

-458,267,712

-88%

Financial assets held to maturity

50. Financial assets held to maturity

137,286,207

187,650,088

(50,363,881)

-27%

Due from banks

60. Due from banks

4,083,341,747

12,429,408,427

(8,346,066,680)

-67%

Due from customers

70. Due from customers

17,900,831,732

20,702,133,261

(2,801,301,529)

-14%

Equity investments

100. Equity investments

100,000,000

100,009,000

(9,000)

0%

6,186,784

45,713,611

(39,526,827)

-86%

110. Property plant and equipment

3,049,489

42,700,555

(39,651,066)

-93%

120. Intagible assets

3,137,295

3,013,056

124,239

4%

17,036,418

16,347,806

688,612

4%

388,117,329

463,927,861

(75,810,532)

-16%

Tangible and intagible assets

Tax Assets

130. Tax Assets

10. Cash and cash equivalent
Other asset items

80. hedging derivatives
90. Fair value adjustment of financial
assets in hedge portfolios (+/-)

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

31/12/2014

150. Other asset
Total assets

2,907

3,743

(836)

-22%

327,881,996

392,929,449

(65,047,453)

-17%

4,968,730

9,761,977

(4,793,247)

-49%

55,263,696

61,232,692

(5,968,996)

-10%

25,112,916,676

37,575,446,083

-12,462,529,407

-33%
euro

Reclassified Balance Sheet

Liabilities and shareholders’
equity

31/12/2015

31/12/2014

Due to banks

10. Due to banks

14,919,679,658

26,624,089,789

-11,704,410,131

-44%

Due to customers

20. Due to customers

1,858,116,041

615,825,630

1,242,290,411

202%

Securities in issue

30. Securities in issue

2,080,685,349

2,619,848,175

(539,162,826)

-21%

Financial liabilities for trading

40. Financial liabilities for trading

2,449,401,029

3,102,085,883

(652,684,854)

-21%

Tax liabilities

80. Tax liabilities

60. Hedging derivatives
Other liabilities items

70. Fair value adjustment of financial
liabilities in hedge portfolios (+/-)
100. Other liabilities

Provisions

110. Provision for severance indemnities
120. Provision for risks and charges

Change

Chan.

0

0

0

0%

2,864,674,931

3,662,705,938

(798,031,007)

-22%

2,846,443,972

3,638,257,512

(791,813,540)

-22%

0

0

0

0%

18,230,959

24,448,426

(6,217,467)

-25%

30,156,261

25,982,938

4,173,323

16%

1,729,664

2,425,769

(696,105)

-29%

28,426,597

23,557,169

4,869,428

21%

488,671,135

543,044,016

(54,372,881)

-10%

130. Valutation reserves

(42,655,583)

(56,628,988)

13,973,405

-25%

160. Reserves

531,326,718

599,673,004

(68,346,286)

-11%

Share capital

180. Share capital

450,210,000

450,210,000

0

0%

Profit (Loss) for the period

220. Profit (Loss) for the period (+/-)

(28,677,728)

(68,346,286)

39,668,558

-58%

25,112,916,676

37,575,446,083

-12,462,529,407

-33%

Reserves

Total liabilities and shareholders’
equity
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Reclassified income statement
euro
Reclassified income statement

Income statements

31/12/2015

10. Interest and similar income
Net interest income

20. Interest and similar expenses
90. Net hedging gains (losses)

Net fee and commission income

Dividend

Net trading gains (losses)

Change

Change

89,743,241

46,361,379

43,381,862

94%

497,471,292

598,334,081

(100,862,789)

-17%

(435,316,121)

(519,527,835)

84,211,714

-16%

27,588,070

(32,444,867)

60,032,937

n.a.

(2,784,899)

(11,518,738)

8,733,839

-76%

40. Fee and commission income

6,378,831

7,791,817

(1,412,986)

-18%

50. Fee and commission expense

(9,163,730)

(19,310,555)

10,146,825

-53%

70. Dividend and similar income

0

2,673

(2,673)

-100%

(29,973,488)

(45,285,593)

15,312,105

-34%

14,950,765

(2,882,820)

17,833,585

-619%

(44,924,253)

(42,402,773)

(2,521,480)

6%

Net interest and other banking income

56,984,854

(10,440,279)

67,425,133

-646%

130. Net adjustment for impairment

(2,486,750)

(5,506,744)

3,019,994

-55%

Net income from financial activities

54,498,104

(15,947,023)

70,445,127

-442%

80. Net trading gains (losses)
100. Gains (losses) on disposal or
repurchase

Net adjustment for impairment

31/12/2014

150. Administrative expenses

(69,123,517)

(31,010,291)

(38,113,226)

123%

Net provisions

160. Net provisions for risck and
charges

(17,380,752)

(15,057,622)

(2,323,130)

15%

(2,439,735)

(2,474,424)

34,689

-1%

(868,007)

(910,550)

42,543

-5%

(1,571,728)

(1,563,874)

(7,854)

1%

Amortization on assets

170. Net adjustment on property plant
and equipment
180. Net adjustment on intangible
assets

Other operating expense/income

190. Other operating expense/income
Operating costs

Profit (Losses) on disposal of
investment

240. Profit (Losses) on disposal of
investment
Profit (loss) from continuing operations
before tax

Income tax

260. Income tax for the period on
continuing operations
Profit (loss) for the period
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1,234,425

239,833

994,592

415%

(87,709,579)

(48,302,504)

(39,407,075)

82%

5,605,137

0

5,605,137

n.a.

(27,606,338)

(64,249,527)

36,643,189

-57%

(1,071,390)

(4,096,759)

(3,025,369)

-74%

(28,677,728)

(68,346,286)

(39,668,558)

-58%
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Administrative expenses

Economic and financial results
Changes to key income statement items
The income statement for Dexia Crediop SpA for the year 2015 shows net interest, also including net trading gains (losses)
from hedging, of e 89.7 million. Said net interest consists of interest income and expense and similar income and expense
at 62.2 million, down with respect to the previous year by 16.7 million, due to the amortisation and depreciation of the
stock of assets, as well as changes in interest rates. The item net trading gains (losses) from hedging is equal to e +27.6
million, an improvement of 60.0 million with respect to 2014, following a decrease in the Euribor spread versus OIS, and
therefore a decrease in the ineffectiveness of the hedge.
Net fee and commission income amounted to e -2.8 million at the end of 2015, with an increase of +8.7 million on the
previous year. The increase is mainly due to a decrease in the fees and commissions paid on government backed securities
due to the repayment of most of these securities.

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

The total for gains (losses) from trading amounts to - e 30 million, as compared with the - e 45 million of 2014, and is
due to:
• e -45 million for losses from disposals (-42 million in 2014), essentially deriving from the sale of securities to the parent
company Dexia Crédit Local and the sale of securities issued by Italian regions purchased pursuant to article 45 of Law
no. 89 of 2014;
• e +15 million from net trading gains (losses), in relation to the improvement of calculations carried out on trading
derivatives. In 2014, trading activities came to e -2.9 million
Net interest and other banking income amounted to e +57.0 million, up by 67.4 million with respect to 2014.
The total net impairment adjustments were -e 2.5 million, mainly due to flat-rate adjustments on loans.
Net profits on financial activities therefore amounted to e 54.5 million, an increase of 70.4 million with respect to the
-15.9 million of 2014.
Administrative expenses came to e 69.1 million, up by 38.1 million (+123%) with respect to 2014, mainly due to the
contribution of e 41.2 million made to the National Resolution Fund for credit institutions.
Personnel expenses, and the remaining administrative expenses, fell as a whole by e 3.1 million.
Amortisation and depreciation, amounting to e 2.4 million, were in line with the previous financial year.
Allocations to provisions for risks and charges came to e -17.4 million (-15.1 million in 2014) and refer for the most
part to a provision made in relation to the request made by the Extraordinary Commissioners of the Istituto per il Credito
Sportivo, in relation to the cancellation of the 2005 Articles of Association of the Institute, to return dividends received in
2005-2010 in excess of the minimum dividend established in the previous Articles of Association issued in 2002.
In addition, in 2015, following the sale of the property located in via XX Settembre, 30, gains on the disposal of the
investment were achieved in the amount of e 5.6 million.
The result of continuing operations before tax was e -27.6 million compared to e -64.2 million in 2014.
Taxes were a negative e -1.1 million.
The net result for the period was therefor e -28.7 million, while in the previous period it had been e -68.3 million.
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Changes to the main balance sheet items
Total balance sheet assets amounted to e 25.1 billion at the end of 2015, a decrease of 33% from the previous year.
In particular, there was an increase in the financial assets held for trading, which amounted to e 2.4 billion (compared to
e 3.1 billion at the end of 2014). This decrease was due to the change in the value of derivatives held for trading purposes.
The amount is balanced out by a similar change in the item “financial liabilities held for trading”. It should be recalled
that these derivatives are, in fact, measured at fair value and considered financial assets if their fair value is positive, and
as financial liabilities if their fair value is negative.
The item “financial assets held for sale” amounted to e 0.06 billion at the end of 2015, as compared with the e 0.5
billion of last year, down mainly in relation to amortisation and depreciation of securities.
Financial assets held to maturity totalled e 0.1 billion (-27% compared to the previous year). During the year there were
no disposals or acquisitions, so the decrease can be attributed to reimbursements during the year.
Receivables from banks amounted to e 4.1 billion, a decrease of 8.3 billion compared to the end of the previous year. The
main changes can be attributed to the decrease in securities held issued by the parent company Dexia Crédit Local (-7.2
billion) and the decrease in cash collateral (-0.9 billion).
Customer receivables total e 17.9 billion, a decrease of 2.8 billion on the figure recorded for the previous financial year.
The reduction is essentially due to amortisation and disposals during the period.

The other asset items totalled e 0.4 billion (-16% compared to the end of 2014). The decrease is mainly due to the change
in fair value of hedging derivatives.
Among liabilities, we note amounts due to banks for e 14.9 billion (26.6 billion in 2014). The decrease is connected to
the drop in funding in the form of deposits from Central Banks (-7.7 billion) and liabilities associated with other banks (-4
billion), mainly in regards to entities within the Dexia Group.
Amounts due to customers reached e1.9 billion, compared to 0.6 billion in 2014, mainly as a consequence of an increase
in deposits on the Italian money market platform and repurchase agreements with the Cassa di Compensazione e Garanzia.
Securities issued came to e 2.1 billion (2.6 billion in 2014). The decrease when compared to the previous year is due to
redemptions during the period.
The item financial liabilities held for trading amounted to e 2.4 billion (compared to e 3.1 billion at the end of 2014).
This decrease was due to the change in the value of derivatives held for trading purposes. The amount is balanced out by
a similar change in the item “financial assets held for trading”.
The other items of the liabilities total e 2.9 billion as compared with the 3.7 billion of the end of 2014. The decrease is
mainly due to the change in fair value of hedging derivatives.
Reserves amounted to e 0.5 billion at the end of 2015 (-10% compared to 2014). The reduction is mainly due to the
negative change in reserves in relation to the loss in 2014.
At the end of 2014, equity amounted to e 0.5 billion. There were no changes compared to the previous year.
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Tax assets amounted to e 17 million (16.3 million in 2014) and refer almost exclusively to current taxes.

Performance indicators
						
33,092

Loans						
At the end of 2015, amounts due from customers and
banks totalled 81% and 18% of total loans, respectively
(in all the various technical forms).

33,842
22,186

2013

2014

2015

Amounts in e million

Due from customers
Due from banks
Financial assets held to maturity
Financial assets available for sale

2013

Structure of lending
A breakdown of loans by counterparty (in all the
various technical forms) shows that most were made to
governments and public authorities (69%).

11% Other subjects
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23% Governments
and Central Banks
32% Other public bodies
34% Banks
2014
11% Other subjects
23% Governments
and Central Banks
32% Other public bodies
34% Banks
2015
13% Other subjects
27% Governments
and Central Banks
42% Other public bodies
18% Banks

2013
14% Securities in issue

Structure of funding
At the end of 2015, funding from securities and amounts
due to banks respectively amounted to 11% and 79% of
total funding (in all the various technical forms).

1% Due to customers
85% Due to banks
2014
9% Securities in issue
2% Due to customers
89% Due to banks
2015
11% Securities in issue
10% Due to customers
79% Due to banks
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2013

2014

-2.8%

2015

Return on Equity (RoE)
2015 RoE3 comes to -3.1% (compared to -6.9% in 2014),
in relation to the net results for the period.

-3.1%

-6.9%

135%

2013

121%

2014

2015

Cost to Income
The Cost to Income ratio4 in 2015 was 121% of net
interest and other banking income (not significant in
2014, in that net interest and other banking income was
negative). This ratio, not considering the contribution of
e 41.2 million made in 2014 to the National Resolution
Fund for credit institutions, amounted to 47.4% of net
interest and other banking income.

2013

2013

0.000%

0.000%

2014

2015

2014

Net non-performing loans
The proportion of non-performing loans net of
adjustments5 at the end of 2015 was 0 (in line with
2014).

2015

Return on Asset (RoA)
RoA6 for 2015 came to -0.114%, with respect to -0.182%
in 2014, in relation to the changes in the net results for
the period.
-0.087%
-0.114%

-0.182%

3 Return on Equity is calculated as the ratio between net result for the year and net equity at year-end. This indicator expresses the profitability of own equity.
4 Cost to income is the ratio between operating costs (administrative expenses, depreciation and amortisation) and net interest and other banking income. This indicator is a measure
of productivity expressed as a percentage of profit absorbed by operating costs.
5 The effect of non-performing loans is calculated as the ratio between net non-performing loans and overall net loans. This indicator expresses the risk level of the loan portfolio.
6 The Return on Assets figure is calculated as the ratio between net result for the financial year and the total balance sheet assets. This indicator expresses the profitability of total
invested equity.
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0.0003%

Report on Operations
The activities of Public Finance, Corporate and Project Finance
Starting in the second half of 2014, the European Commission confirmed the run-off management of Dexia Crediop, as
it already had for the rest of the Dexia Group. As a consequence, all commercial production has been suspended and
operations are concentrated on managing the portfolio of assets in the two reference sectors, Corporate and Project
Finance, and Public Finance.
The management in depreciation of the Bank led to a redefinition of the objectives for the commercial structures, in order
to optimise the pursuit of the Bank’s new objectives. These objectives can be summarised as follows:
• ensure monitoring and management of the bank’s entire portfolio of assets, protecting margins and guarantees,
improving the degree of liquidity and reducing risk;
• accelerate deleveraging when possible.
In line with the Bank’s new objectives, the commercial activity of Assets was essentially aimed at maintaining regular
contact with existing public and private customers, above all with a view to monitoring and actively managing the portfolio.
The main activities of an operational nature are described below:
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Portfolio monitoring and management
In the project finance area, constant monitoring of the portfolio was carried out, with particular reference to the Bank’s
positions in the renewable energy sector, some of which, following important regulatory changes that had occurred in
the last financial year, were involved in debt restructuring operations that for the most part were successfully completed
during the financial year (no losses were seen, but only partial changes in the repayment profiles and pricing adjustments).
In addition, in 2015 72 waiver7 requests were investigated and 3 refinancing operations were managed from which Dexia
Crediop exited, leading to full advance repayment of around e 68 million (in addition to around e 5 million in partial
repayments in the context of the restructuring transactions cited above).
In addition, Agent Bank activity continued in regards to 10 mandates (of which 2 ended during the year).
As regards the corporate area, the activity is concentrated on managing a number of restructuring operations from the last
financial year (in particular SGP and ACAM), the pre-dispute proceedings with ASAM and on the enquiry stages of 7 waiver
requests. The ASAM operation was successfully completed, recovering the entire exposure (e 14.7 million).
In the period early repayments of two operations with private satellites8 were made for a total of e 100 million.
As regards public finance, requests of various kinds from customers were dealt with. In particular, those in line with the
Bank’s current operating methods and in accordance with the contractual provisions were agreed to. These were 81
requests for early repayments (for a total of e 2.2 million) and devolutions. Instead those relating to renegotiations (mostly
from Provinces) were declined, as they were not in line with the Bank’s new strategy.
In addition, a total of e 117.6 million in loans were revoked. This activity involved loans with amortisation expense paid
by the state, previously granted to Port Authorities and revoked following the expiration, in the meantime, of the relative
terms for use.

7 Request for waivers or modification of contractual provisions.
8 Companies in corporate form, with majority public ownership, primarily assigned tasks of providing primary public utility services.
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Finally, we also continued to provide technical and commercial support in relation to managing disputes with local
authorities on derivatives (discussed in more detail in another part of this report).
Deleveraging
During December 2015, six Italian regions (Campania, Lazio, Liguria, Lombardy, Marche and Apulia) established buy back
operations for bullet bonds, pursuant to article 45 of Decree Law 66/2014. These operations were carried out through a
public repurchase offer under the supervision of the Ministry of the Economy which provided the relevant regions, through
a 30-year loan, with the resources necessary to repurchase the bonds and close the associated derivative operations.
Dexia Crediop participated in the repurchase proposals which led to the early repayment of a portfolio of Regional bullet
bonds with a nominal value of e 734 million and an average residual duration of around 12 years.
During the year, both with an eye to deleveraging and to complying with regulatory limits on loans to customers, additional
disposals of assets were made with the parent company DCL for a nominal value of around e 237 million (Atlantia and
Posillipo).

Activity on the markets
Funding activities

The reduction in the use of loans from the Central Bank was a consequence of the reduction in the stock of ECB qualified
assets and, at the same time, the strategy to diversify sources of short-term funding.
In addition to sales carried out during the year, amortisation also had an effect on the reduction of ECB eligible stock. To
that end, the amortisation during the year on the entire investment in certificates of deposit issued by Dexia Crédit Local
guaranteed by the governments of France, Belgium and Luxembourg (e 7.15 billion at 31 December 2014) should be
noted.
In regards to diversifying short-term funding sources, it is worth noting as significant the financing activity carried out
on the electronic platforms (MID, MTS repo, New MIC). At the end of December, funding deriving from all the electronic
platforms on which Dexia Crediop operates came to e 1.5 billion (0.3 billion at 31 December 2014). In terms of diversifying
short-term funding sources, it should be noted that starting in August, the Bank began to operate on the new domestic
triparty repo platform, X-COM.
As regards secured operations, long term repo operations were carried out on securities not eligible for the ECB for a total
value of e 455 million.
Finally, to cover financial requirements not met by reserves which can be allocated by the ECB, the Bank was able to count
on support from the parent company Dexia Crédit Local in the form of secured and unsecured loans.
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Operations with the European Central Bank represent an important source of short-term funding for the Bank. At the end
of December the existing stock was e 6.9 billion, of which e 5.7 billion on a 3-month duration (LTRO) and the rest on a
weekly duration (MRO). During the year, this source of financing fell progressively (at 31 December 2014 it amounted to
e 14.4 billion).

Activity on the markets
Activity on the bond market was limited to the execution of sales of assets in the portfolio for a nominal value of e 871
million. Corresponding with these sales, long-term financial derivatives were unwound totalling e 633 million.
In regards to long-term interest rate risk, hedging of financial risks was contained, due to the Bank’s run-off situation,
which does not foresee any new lending operations, and limited to hedge operations to consolidate loans or restore
coverage.
Activities were also concentrated on managing the existing stock of financial derivatives in the portfolio with the objective
of reducing credit exposures and simplifying the items on the balance sheet. To that end, the following should be noted: i)
the unwound of a notional e 94 million in derivatives not supported by collateralisation contracts; ii) the assignment of a
notional e 660 million in financial derivatives to counterparties with better credit profiles than the original counterparties
and iii) the unwound of a notional e 700 million in financial derivatives.
In regards to short-term, monitoring of financial risks focused on managing re-fixing risk through the stipulation of EONIA
swap contracts with durations falling between three and six months.
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As regards application of the EMIR (European Market Infrastructure Regulation) procedures are being implemented for
application of the clearing obligation (which will come into force for Dexia Crediop in December 2016), through the
appointment of a clearing broker and association with an affirmation platform and a clearing house.
Finally, as regards the secondary market for bonds issued by Dexia Crediop, no operations were carried out in the year. It
should be noted that during the year all bond issues matured for which repurchase agreements had been signed.

Administration, control and support
Risk management and control
2015 confirmed that the Bank’s activities are generally characterised by a very limited credit risk, which is partly due to
its focus on a domestic client base made up predominantly of the Italian government and local and district public bodies.
In particular regards to banking counterparties, credit exposures with the same are very limited, not including, with the
exception of the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo, direct exposures and considering - in addition - that for all derivative
exposures cash collateral contracts are used for all derivative exposures, which make it possible to notably reduce the
underlying credit risk.
Therefore, as a whole, the credit portfolio continues to be of good quality and the amount of impaired loans is limited.
In any case, it should be noted that the bank’s potential exposure to credit risk, expressed and understood in terms
of relevance with respect to all the risks to which it exposed, is still of medium/high significance, in that historic credit
transactions established as part of Dexia Crediop’s core business represent a significant component both in terms of
volumes and in terms of operational complexity.
Still carefully monitored are phenomenon within the sphere of the overall activity of risk management and control as regards
the implications under law and as regards reputation linked to the evolution of administrative and judicial proceedings
relative to transactions in derivatives carried out with counterparts of the public sector.
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To that end, we note the following:
In regards to the dispute with the Province of Crotone, on 11 May 2015, the High Court of Justice of London, upon
completion of proceedings begun by Dexia Crediop with a claim filed on 14 June 2012, ascertained the validity and
efficacy of swap contracts signed by Dexia Crediop and the Province of Crotone.
With reference to the dispute with the Piedmont Region, in the light of the judgement of the Court of Appeal of London
No. [2014] EWCA Civ 1298, and of the judgement of the Council of State No. 13/2014, on 28 April 2015 Dexia Crediop
and the Piedmont Region signed a settlement agreement which provides, among other things, for: (i) full recognition by the
Piedmont Region of the validity and effectiveness ab origine of the swap contract and (ii) payment by the Piedmont Region
of all the nettings past due and not yet paid, plus default interest and a refund of legal expenses incurred by Dexia Crediop.
Relative to the dispute with the Municipality of Messina, on 10 July 2015, the Regional Administrative Court of Sicily acknowledging the 23 October 2014 order of the Court of Cassation which had declared that the Italian courts (both
administrative and civil) had no jurisdiction and affirming that English courts had jurisdiction - declared that it had no
jurisdiction. The next hearing before the Civil Court of Messina is set for 23 June 2016.

Relative to the dispute with the Municipality of Prato, on 25 June 2015, the High Court of Justice of London declared the
derivative operations signed with the Municipality of Prato null and void in that the contracts stipulated did not expressly
include the right of withdrawal for the Municipality of Prato, to be exercised within seven days of the date they were
signed, pursuant to article 30, paragraphs 6 and 7, Legislative Decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998. At the same time the
English court declared that the swap transactions were signed with full respect of the Italian laws and the regulatory
provisions applying to Italian local government entities. In particular, the English court rejected the arguments made by the
Municipality of Prato, confirming that:
i. the swap transactions do not constitute debt and as a consequence were not signed in violation of article 119 of the
Italian Constitution;
ii. the transactions completed with the Municipality of Prato respect article 41 of Law no. 48/2001 and that, in particular,
the notion of “implicit cost” for the swaps is not relevant;
iii. the swap transactions carried out comply with article 3 of Ministerial Decree no. 389/2003 which governs the
characteristics of swap transactions that can be carried out by a local government entity;
iv. the claims made by the Municipality of Prato on the speculative nature of the swaps are unfounded.
The London Court of Appeal, with an Order dated 20 August 2015, issued in response to a specific request presented on
23 July 2015 by Dexia Crediop, granted authorisation to appeal the above cited ruling. The Municipality of Prato also took
action to appeal the ruling. The appeal is not expected to be discussed before May 2017.
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Relative to the dispute with the Municipality of Ferrara, on 15 December 2015, the Regional Administrative Court of Emilia
Romagna - expressly referring to the cited 23 October 2014 order of the Court of Cassation issued in reference to the
dispute with the Municipality of Messina - declared that the Italian courts (both administrative and civil) had no jurisdiction
and affirmed that English courts had jurisdiction and, therefore, declared that it had no jurisdiction. The dispute pending
with the High Court of Justice of London, was suspended by request of the parties on 2 October 2015, up to 30 days after
the filing, by the London Court of Appeal, of the appeals sentence relative to the dispute between Dexia Crediop and the
Municipality of Prato.

In essence, at 31 December 2015, there are still 7 disputes/pre-disputes in course with Italian local and regional government
entities for a residual notional amount of around e 435 million and a negative mark to market value for the entities, equal
to around e 98 million.
***
Dispute or pre-dispute proceedings relative to certain local or territorial bodies have confirmed the need for allocations to
be posted to the provision for risks and charges, always limited to legal expenses. Please refer to part B of the explanatory
notes for a description of these positions.
In terms of operating risk, practices relative to reporting and monitoring of operating risk events are well-consolidated. In
addition, as usual the periodic Risk Control Self Assessment (RCSA) was completed, coordinated by the Operational Risk &
Security department which, at present, has not identified any particular areas requiring attention.
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With regard to security aspects, the usual annual review of the Business Continuity Plan was carried out. The Information
Security Process is now fully operative, with benefits mainly seen in the reduction of security risks and increased efficiency
consequent to the adoption of standardised and controlled behaviour on the part of the operators involved in the ICT
processes.
Permanent Control activities, required by French banking legislation, were further revised with the introduction of additional
points of control, in particular in the EMIR area and further specifications added to others. Also in this case, the second
level controls established by the bank on the various company processes within the organisational departments did not
identify any particular problems or, in any case, areas requiring attention.
With regard to the liquidity risk management, carried out at Dexia Crediop Group consolidated level, the use of secured
funding procedures through the usual provisioning channels, i.e. the European Central Bank and, to a lesser extent, leading
market counterparts, was confirmed; the residual needs were covered by unsecured short-term loans (not exceeding a
year), mainly through the parent company.
To that end, we note that at December 2015, the relevant departments within the Dexia Group reported to the European
Central Bank, based on the provision in article 414 of Regulation EU 575/2013 (CRR), that in 2015 Dexia Crediop had not
complied with the 60% limit for monthly reporting of the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR).
Based on the approach adopted by the ECB and on the basis of that foreseen in article 412 in the CRR, not respecting the
LCR at an individual or consolidated level can only be accepted for a limited period of time.
In regards to activities to control market and liquidity risk, in addition to usual activities to measure the ratios and verify
compliance with associated operating limits, we also note further refinement of the monitoring of the new sub-limit
on sensitivity to temporal buckets in terms of the banking portfolio’s exposure to short-term interest rate risk (“Cash &
Liquidity Management” area). This limit, introduced in April 2015, comes to € 15 million and must be respected for each
time-bucket (4 quarterly buckets and a last bucket for any risk positions at more than one year).
For a further breakdown of risks and related hedging policies, qualitative and quantitative information is given in part E
of the Notes to the Accounts.
Compliance & Anti-Money Laundering
Following the reorganisation of the company that took place in 2015, Compliance & Anti-Money Laundering was assigned
Permanent Control activities, consequently making it responsible for periodic analysis of permanent controls shared with
the parent company.
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These controls involve compliance risk areas: professional requirements, anti-money laundering and FATCA9, integrity
in dealings with customers and markets, conflicts of interest, data protection and confidentiality. The controls were
coordinated and validated by the Dexia Group.
With regard to money laundering, the standard monitoring and control activities have continued, involving the Centralised
Computer Archive, adequate verification of customers, and suspect operations, making use of a task force consisting of
administrative and operating units.
The organisational unit assists the Supervisory Body, as foreseen under Legislative Decree 231/2001, in carrying out
verification activities planned by the Body which supervises the company’s Organisational Model.
Finance & Operations
In 2015, the Management Control and Accounting structure was applied to the standard activities, overseeing the preparation
of the Annual Report, but also with tax compliance and the annual and multi-year planning and management control, as
well as the process of producing supervisory notifications based on the Basel III provisions.
In addition controls continued as planned on the effectiveness and adequacy of the organisational model by the Financial
Reporting Manager, who confirmed the positive results for the risk management and internal control system.
In 2015, the Operations unit participated in various project activities, both internal and external.

IT & Facility
The IT & Facility department was involved in activities to simplify and rationalise IT governance, in line with the Cobit10
framework. In addition, the Mainframe system was decommissioned, to simplify management and efficiency, migrating
all applications to departmental systems. In the Facility area, activities were completed that led to the sale of the property
located in via XX Settembre 30, and the work to separate part of the building, leased to Dexia Crediop by the new
ownership, was completed.

9 Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act
10 Control Objectives for Information and Related Technology.
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In regards to typical external post-trading projects, it mainly participated as an ICP (Indirect Connected Participant) in all
activities that guaranteed proper migration from the Italian stock market to the new regulated securities platform known
as Target 2 Securities (T2S). Additionally, in the context of the X-Com project, it served as a pilot bank for the new triparty
agent platform from Monte Titoli, assisting with tests.
In terms of internal projects, migration to the new platform to manage loans was consolidated, while actions were taken on
reconciliation applications, adjusting them to the new market standards introduced with the T2S platform.

Equity investments
Equity investments in subsidiary companies
Please refer to the information given in the paragraph entitled “Group structure and shareholders”.
Other significant equity investments
ISTITUTO PER IL CREDITO SPORTIVO (ICS) in receivership
The Istituto per il Credito Sportivo (ICS) was set up under Italian Law No. 1295 of 24 December 1957 and is a public
sector bank in accordance with Art. 151 of Italian Legislative Decree No. 385/1993. Technically, it is a “public law entity
with autonomous management”. On 17 June 2011, ICS was made subject to receivership ordered with a Prime Ministerial
decree, in agreement with the Ministry for Cultural Heritage and Assets and with the Italian Ministry of Economy and
Finance, and subsequently, with effect from 1 January 2012, to the receivership procedure under the terms of Article 70,
paragraph 1, letter a) of the Consolidated Law on Banking, on the proposal of the Bank of Italy.
For information on the existing administrative and civil proceedings concerning ICS, see the paragraph “Administrative,
judicial, and arbitration procedures”, in the company financial statements at 31 December 2015.
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Since the start of the receivership, the company has not been able to pay dividends to shareholders.

Transactions with other companies of the Group
Financial relations at the end of the financial year with subsidiaries amount to total assets of e 226 million. The related
information is contained in Part H of the Notes.
Transactions with the parent company DCL, which directs and coordinates the Bank pursuant to article 2497 of the
Italian Civil Code, posted on the financial statement at the end of the year, represented total assets of e 97 million,
total liabilities of e 7,272 million, and total guarantees received and commitments of e 383 million. The information
concerning transactions with related parties can be found in Part H of the Notes.
The key data from the last Annual Report of the parent company DCL are contained in Part L of the Notes, as required by
article 2497-bis of the Italian Civil Code.
Transactions with companies of the Dexia Group, posted on the financial statement at the end of the period, represented
total assets of e 3 million and total liabilities of e 275 million. The related information is contained in Part H of the Notes.
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Human Resources
At 31 December 2015, the Bank employed a workforce of 120 people (55 fewer than at 31 December 2014).
During the final quarter of 2014, the Bank - in the face of excess personnel consequent to, in particular, the decision of the
European Commission for management in depreciation without new activities for all organisations within the Dexia Group
- began the procedure of informing and consulting with the unions, as foreseen in the contractual regulations in effect, in
the presence of employment tensions and, subsequently, the mobility procedure foreseen under the legislation in effect.
The negotiations with the unions were completed in the first quarter of 2015, with the signing of agreements aimed
at managing excess personnel, preferably through consensual termination and incentives. Voluntary adhesions to this
incentive program made it possible to meet the staff reduction objectives set in 2015, without the need to make use of
terminations under the bank’s own initiative.
The bank’s new mission, consequent to the European Commission’s decision, required a change in the company’s
organisational structure, both in terms of structure and in terms of the operating processes, based on the principles of
simplification and in line with the Dexia Group’s organisational structure.
In terms of industrial relations, intense social dialogue made it possible to adopt shared solutions, also in regards to other
areas of common interest, for example to rationalise the company’s complementary pension plans.
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Regarding personnel remuneration and incentive policies, careful management of the remuneration definition process and
of the monitoring of the remuneration systems was again ensured, in the light of the ongoing changes in the relevant
regulatory framework and the necessary coordination with the Dexia Group’s reward policies.

Business outlook
Significant post-balance sheet events
No significant events occurred after the end of the financial year.

Future operational prospects
In order to assess Dexia Crediop’s operating prospects it is necessary to make reference to the situation of the Dexia Group.
Until 2011 the Group pursued a restructuring plan aimed at repositioning on his historic franchise and finally adopted an
orderly resolution plan approved by the European Commission on 28 December 2012.
The Dexia Group

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Going concern
The consolidated accounts of Dexia SA at 31 December 2015 were prepared in compliance with the accounting standards
applicable to companies as a going concern. This requires a certain number of hypotheses in regards to the resolution plan
for the Dexia Group, listed below:
• The plan was constructed on the basis of market data at the end of September 2012. The underlying macroeconomic
hypotheses were reviewed as part of a half-yearly review of the entire plan. In particular, the updates made in 2015
consider an updated funding plan based on more recent market conditions.
• The plan considers the maintenance of banking licenses of various entities, and also the rating of Dexia Crédit Local.
• It is based on a high funding capacity, which depends on the propensity of investors to subscribed issues backed by
the governments of Belgium, France and Luxembourg, and the Group’s ability to obtain secured funding. To that end,
the Group’s funding structure benefited in 2015 from an increase in the size of the loan market at a lower cost than
that foreseen in the plan and for longer maturities. The group also abandoned the special and extraordinary funding
mechanism introduced in 2012 and reduced its dependence on funding from the Central Bank. Finally, the group
focussed on supplying its liquidity reserves, with the aim of protecting itself in regards to short-term liquidity risk deriving
from an increase in the volumes of cash collateral11 deposited with its own counterparties in derivative instrument
transactions.
In addition, over the course of the winding up of the Group, uncertainties remain in regards to the implementation of the
plan, summarised below.
• In particular, the plan is exposed to changes in accounting and regulatory standards.
• The financial characteristics of Dexia when it began resolution do not make it possible to respect certain regulatory ratios.
In addition, the plan is subject to changes in the macroeconomic situation. Therefore, a decrease of 10 basis points in
the interest rates along the entire return curve would lead to an instantaneous increase of around e 1 billion in liquidity
needs, connected to an increase in cash collateral. Similarly, more conservative hypotheses in regards to improvement
of ratings and/or decreases in the loan spreads would negative impact economic results, as well as available liquidity
reserves and would increase the level of regulatory capital required.
• Finally, if the market demand for government backed debt should fall, Dexia might have to turn to more expensive forms
of funding, which could have a direct impact on the levels of profit hypothesised in the original plan. The coming years
will remain at risk in the context of greater volatility in terms of exchange rates and very low interest rates.

11 Deposits or financial instruments deposited with Dexia with its own counterparties to guarantee its commitments for interest rate or exchange rate swap operations.
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The most recent update to the plan shows a surplus of liquid positions through the plan horizon. In 2015, the Group’s
liquidity surplus was influenced by the volatility of cash collateral needs and high levels of amortisation and expiration
of funding. At the beginning of 2016, Dexia’s liquidity need increased due higher cash collateral to be posted to market
counterparties. Collateral posting reached a maximum of e 36 billion in February 2016, up e 5 billion from the end of
2015. However, this increased liquidity need has been offset by a dynamic funding activity since the beginning of the
year. This is illustrated by the renewal of the short-term government-guaranteed and secured funding under favourable
conditions and the issuance of e 6.1 billion of long-term government-guaranteed funding as at half March 2016.
Liquidity management
2015 was a decisive year in terms of managing liquidity. Despite the adverse circumstances due to high volatility regarding
its own liquidity requirements, Dexia managed its exit from the exceptional funding scheme made available at the time it
begin the resolution plan and notably reduced its use of funding from the Central Bank.
In 2015, Dexia repaid the remaining portion of guaranteed loans held by Belfius, in the amount of e 10 billion, as well as
e 19 billion of guaranteed bank bonds used in the context of the own-use12 scheme guaranteed by the European Central
Bank.
In addition, during the first quarter of 2015, Dexia repaid the remaining portion of the VLTRO13 obtained from the ECB, only
partially replaced with LTRO14 and MRO15.

Reduction of the asset portfolio
In 2015, Dexia continued with its policy of opportunistic disposal of assets, aimed at reducing the credit risk associated
with its portfolio, while also decreasing pressure in terms of the Group’s funding requirements. This policy was assisted
by the improvement in market conditions, supported in part by policies to purchase assets implemented by the European
monetary authorities.
Simplification of the Group’s structure
In 2015, progress was made in implementing the Group’s orderly resolution plan, through the restructuring or closure of
certain entities.
In particular, in regards to Dexia Crediop, following its placement within the scope of run-off management as of July 2014,
a study was begun aimed at simplifying the organisation of the Italian bank and reducing costs. This led to an agreement
with the unions on 18 March 2015, and a 53-unit reduction in staff. At 31 December 2015, total staff amounts to 120
units.

12 “Own-use”: use by the Dexia Group of bonds issued by Dexia Crédit Local, backed by the governments, as collateral with the Eurosystem.
13 The VLTRO or Very Long Term Refinancing Operations were exceptional three year refinancing operations begun in December 2011 and February 2012 by the European Central Bank,
respectively to support interbank market liquidity and to support lending to the real economy.
14 The LTRO or Long Term Refinancing Operations are long-term refinancing operations. They constitute the standard refinancing instrument used by banks with the Eurosystem.
15 The MRO or Main Refinancing Operations are short-term refinancing operations. They constitute a standard refinancing instrument used by banks with the Eurosystem.
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The repayment of the above mentioned funding was an important objective within the Group’s resolution process, which
was made possible by heavy issuing of guaranteed funding, placed with a diversified investor base, and through continued
development of secured funding throughout 2015.

Dexia Credito Local Mexico, the Dexia Group subsidiary which previously provided loans to local government entities in
Mexico, transferred its residual assets to a new Mexican trust. Its beneficiaries are Dexia and the New York branch of Dexia
Crédit Local.
Dexia Kommunalkredit Bulgaria EOOD, the SISL subsidiary in Luxembourg, and Dexia CAD Funding LLC in the United
States were liquidated.
In addition, Dexia SA’s permanent office in Luxembourg was closed. Dexia SA, the Group’s holding company, now only has
a permanent office in Paris.
Both Dexia Nederland and Dexia Luxembourg, previously Dexia LdG Banque and an issuer of covered bonds for the Dexia
Group in Luxembourg, renounced their banking licenses. It is planned that Dexia Luxembourg will be liquidated in 2016.
Recognition of Dexia’s specific and unique situation
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With the introduction of the Single Supervisory Mechanism, Dexia is under the direct prudential supervision of the ECB.
As such, the implementation of the resolution plan was the subject of a prolonged discussion with the Supervisor, above
all during the last year.
Considering Dexia’s specific and unique situation as a bank under orderly resolution, the public nature of its ownership
structure and the liquidity guarantees established by the governments of Belgium, France and Luxembourg, and with
the goal of maintaining financial stability - an objective of the orderly resolution plan - the ECB had decided to apply a
prudential supervisory approach to Dexia that is tailor-made, proportional, pragmatic and appropriate.
In particular, this proportionate use of its supervisory powers presupposes that Dexia’s situation does not deteriorate
significantly.
The resulting proportionate use of supervisory powers notably assumes that Dexia’s situation does not deteriorate
significantly. A reversal of this approach may have a material adverse effect on the activity (including the credit institution
status) of Dexia and consequently, on its financial condition.
For example, this approach authorises the proportionate use of supervisory powers in relation to the respect for the
liquidity ratios foreseen in the CRR16, including enhanced reporting on the liquidity position.
Despite the notable progress made by the Group in terms of reducing its liquidity risk, Dexia’s financial characteristics as
of the moment it began resolution do not make it possible to guarantee compliance with certain regulatory ratios for the
duration of the orderly resolution plan approved by the European Commission.
The specific circumstances deriving from the orderly resolution plan can be seen on the level of the Liquidity Coverage
Ratio (LCR)17, for which a minimum requirement of 60% was in effect as of 1 October 2015, raised to 70% on 1 January
2016. At 31 December 2015, the Dexia Group’s LCR was 54%.
In terms of prudential requirements for solvency that apply to Dexia, following the Supervisory Review and Evaluation
Process (SREP) carried out by the ECB, the Common Equity Tier 1 requirement applicable for the Group was set at 8.625%
on a consolidated basis as of 1 January 2016.
Even if Dexia’s capital position exceeds the minimum regulatory requirements, as of starting resolution in December
2012, the bank has been subject to restrictions imposed by the European Commission based on the principle of “burden
sharing.” In particular, this includes a prohibition on paying dividends, certain restrictions in regards to paying coupons and
the exercising of call options on subordinate debt, and on hybrid capital instruments from Group issuers.
16 Regulation (EU) no. 575/2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms.
17 The LCR measures the coverage of liquidity requirements at 30 days in a deteriorated situation, through the stock of liquid assets. It replaces the Belgian and French liquidity ratios.

32

Simplifying and improving integration of the operating model
In line with the objectives of the business plan issued in 2013, Dexia has continued its efforts in 2015 to adjust its operating
model to two strategic goals: simplifying the Group and increasing centralisation. In this context, the Group began a
feasibility study in regards to externalising all or some of the middle and back office functions connected with market
operations and the associated technical infrastructure. In addition to maintaining high service levels, outsourcing these
activities would allow Dexia to adjust its costs, in particular avoiding significant investments in IT systems and all threshold
effects associated with the gradual reduction in the Group’s accounts.
After having thoroughly studied the proposals from various service providers, in September 2015 Dexia decided to further
analyse the proposals from Société Générale and began an exclusive due diligence phase. At present, the due diligence is still
in progress. The implementation of this project is subject to approval by the supervisory authorities and the unions representing
Dexia Group staff. Dexia is paying particular attention to the future of its employees affected by the consequences of this
process and, in extending the knowledge of the information already provided to the unions representing staff, the Group
has begun a consultation process with the latter, maintaining constructive dialogue.
Dexia Crediop
On 15 July 2014 the European Commission confirmed also for Dexia Crediop the management in depreciation of the
residual assets with no new production. As a consequence, management in depreciation continues for Dexia Crediop, in
the context of the orderly resolution plan for the Dexia Group.

The specific circumstances deriving from the orderly resolution plan are also reflected in the Liquidity coverage Ratio level.
To that end, Dexia reported to the European Central Bank, based on the provision in article 414 of Regulation EU 575
of 2013 (CRR), that in 2015 Dexia Crediop had not complied with the 60% limit for monthly reporting of the Liquidity
Coverage Ratio (LCR).
In terms of prudential requirements, following the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP) carried out by the ECB,
the Common Equity Tier 1 requirement applicable for the Dexia Crediop Group was set at 10.5% as of 1 January 2016.
In the context of the management in depreciation of the Dexia Group, Dexia Crediop will concentrate its funding activities
on the domestic interbank market. The framework of the various technical forms of funding to cover the needs include: the
inter-bank market, with domestic loan platforms on which Dexia Crediop already operates, the monetary policy operations of
the Central Bank and support from the shareholders, in particular in the case of Dexia Crédit Local, as contemplated by the
European Commission. In addition, as anticipated, during the financial year Dexia Crediop began operating on the triparty
repo platform X-Com. The Dexia Group’s funding strategy does not foresee access to the capital market for Dexia Crediop.
The Dexia Crediop’s dynamic liquidity position looks to be sustainable, on the assumption that the conditions which
characterised the year 2015 will persist, with particular reference to the Dexia Group’s possibility of gaining access to
financing.
As occurred in recent years and in line with the Group’s guidelines, Dexia Crediop will continue with opportunistic disposal
of assets, aimed at reducing credit risk associated with its portfolio and, simultaneously, decreasing the pressure pertaining
to funding requirements.
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Dexia Crediop’s dynamic liquidity position presents in 2016 negative expected net balances on the entire time horizon,
due mostly to the margins paid to the counterparties of the cash collateral contracts on derivative products. In this regard,
a decrease of 10 basis points in 10-year interest rates is estimated to generate an increase in the requirements for cash
collateral deposits of around e 140 million.

Within the scope of the Public Finance sector, over the last few years the bank has become party to some administrative
and legal proceedings in relation to derivative contracts signed with local and territorial entities, some of which are still
in progress. Also in the light of the developments seen at present in the proceedings, described in detail in the section on
risk management and control, it was not considered necessary to carry out adjustments or provisions, other than those to
provisions for risks and charges to cover legal costs, in view of the substantial correctness and transparency adopted by
the bank in concluding the contracts in question.
In terms of administrative management, with the full implementation of the new organisational structure, in line with the
bank’s changed mission, Dexia Crediop has continued with the process to contain costs that had begun in past years.
In addition, in line with the projects to simplify operations and increase centralisation defined by the Group, Dexia Crediop
also falls within the area of the feasibility study begun by the Dexia Group mentioned above, regarding the possibility of
externalising all or some middle and back office functions connected with market operations and the associated technical
infrastructure.
In conclusion, given what has been illustrated and taking into account the orderly resolution plan approved by the European
Commission, the annual financial report for Dexia Crediop was prepared in accordance with the going concern concept.
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During the resolution of the Group, the prospects of Dexia Crediop could suffer from the same factors identified for the
Dexia Group, in regards uncertainties connected with implementation of the plan and, in particular, the Group’s ability to
provide support to subsidiaries in a difficult market situation.

Proposed allocation of net results
Dear Shareholders,
The proposed allocation of net results set out below is presented for your approval pursuant to art. 25 of the Bank’s Articles
of Association.
Euro
Verified net result for 2015

-28,677,728

- share of 5% to be allocated to reserve pursuant to art. 2430 of the Italian Civil Code
Residual result 2015

-28,677,728

Profit carried forward from 2014

454,817,639

Profit available to the meeting

426,139,911

of which:
- to be distributed to shareholders pursuant to the 4th paragraph of article 25 of the Articles of Association
- to be carried forward

0
426,139,911

After the shareholders’ approval of the Annual Report, and considering the proposal not to distribute the dividend in view
of the commitment undertaken by the Dexia Group with the European Commission and in line with the Bank of Italy’s
recommendation to reinforce the Bank’s asset structure, net equity will amount to e 910.2 million, and will consist of
shareholders’ equity of e 450.2 million, a legal reserve of e 76.5 million, other reserves of e 426.1 million (excluding the
valuation reserves) and valuation reserves of e -42.7 million.
As of 31 December 2015, regulatory capital amounts to e 1,035 million. At the end of December 2015, the total capital
ratio (regulatory capital to assets weighted according to risk level) was 18.0 percent, while the Common Equity Tier 1 ratio
(Tier 1 equity to risk weighted assets) was 15.6 percent.
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THE BOARD OF AUDITORS’ REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2015 PURSUANT TO ART. 2429 OF THE CIVIL CODE
To the General Meeting of the Shareholders in Dexia Crediop S.p.A.
Dear Shareholders,
We have examined the draft financial statements for the company DEXIA CREDIOP S.P.A. at 31
December 2015, which close with a loss for the period of € 28.677 million, composed of the
company’s draft financial statement at 31 December 2015, the Notes to the Accounts, and the
detailed schedules, and the Report on Operations drawn up by the directors and regularly sent
to the Board of Auditors.
Activity carried out by the Board of Auditors
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We mention that the mandate for the certified audit of the accounts was conferred, pursuant
to Art. 13 of Italian Legislative Decree 39/2010, to the audit firm Mazars Italia S.p.A. for nine
years, on 6 November 2015, following the consensual termination of the previous appointment
of BDO Italia Spa on 5 October 2015. We note that during the periodic meetings with the
appointed legal accounts auditing firm no important data or information emerged what would
require noting in this report.
Moreover, in accordance with Art. 17 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 39/2010, we acknowledge
that we have received annual confirmation from Mazars Italia S.p.A. that it continues to meet
independence requirements. We would also acknowledge that in addition to the legal auditing
services for e 116 thousand (e 96 thousand for Dexia Crediop and e 20 thousand for Tevere
Finance), additional auditing services were supplied for e 84 thousand (e 58 thousand for
Dexia Crediop and the remaining e 26 thousand for the other Group companies). No further
services were supplied by the auditing firm itself or by any entities belonging to its network in
2015.
Pursuant to Art. 2429 of the Italian Civil Code, this Board of Auditors declares that, during the
financial year 2015, it has performed the following activities:
• checked legitimacy pursuant to Art. 2403, clause 1, of the Italian Civil Code, finding correct
observation of law, the Articles of Association, and the principles of correct administration;
• it has checked the adequacy of the company’s organisational, administrative and accounting
structure, and its concrete functioning, and the reliability of the latter to correctly represent
management activities;
• attended the periodic assemblies and participated in the meetings prescribed by Art. 2405

of the Civil Code, and can state that they were conducted according to the provisions of
the Articles of Association, the law and regulations which govern their functioning, and we
can reasonably ensure that the actions resolved conformed with the law and the Articles of
Association and were not manifestly imprudent, risky, in potential conflict of interests or such
as to compromise the integrity of the company’s equity;
• examined the accounting audit plan relative for 2015 and periodically exchanged information
with the auditing firm.
• verified that the company’s books have been kept and updated regularly, pursuant to Art.
2421.
We also inform you that, during the period, no complaints have been presented by shareholders
for facts that do not comply with Art. 2408 of the Civil Code.
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Comments on the financial statements and proposals
With regard to the financial statements at 31/12/2015, the analytic control on the content of
the same not being placed within our scope of competence, we have supervised the general
approach to the same and conformity with the law as regards preparation and structure, and
we point out that the financial statements for the year 2015 also present, for comparative
purposes, the data of the previous period drawn up in accordance with the same IAS standards
and schedules, approved and in force on 31 December 2015.
The Board of Auditors notes that the economic results for 2015 were influenced, among other
things, by the provisions made to the National Resolution Fund for credit institutions of e 41.2
million, the allocation made to the provision for risks and charges of e 16.9 million relative to
the request for the restitution of dividends received by ICS (Istituto Credit Sportivo) and capital
gains of e 5.6 million following the sale of the property in Rome in via XX Settembre, no. 30.
The Board of Auditors acknowledges that indicated by the directors in the Report on Operations
in the paragraph “Operating Prospects” in the “Business Outlook” section, regarding the Dexia
Group and Dexia Crediop as a going concern, more specifically:
“In order to assess Dexia Crediop’s operating prospects it is necessary to make reference to
the situation of the Dexia Group. Until 2011 the Group pursued a restructuring plan aimed at
repositioning on its historic franchise and finally adopted an orderly resolution plan approved
by the European Commission on 28 December 2012. The consolidated accounts of Dexia SA at
31 December 2015 were prepared in compliance with the accounting standards applicable to
companies as a going concern. This requires a certain number of hypotheses in regards to the
resolution plan for the Dexia Group, listed below: [Omissis] It is based on a high funding capacity,
which depends on the propensity of investors to subscribed issues backed by the governments
of Belgium, France and Luxembourg, and the Group’s ability to obtain secured funding. To that
end, the Group’s funding structure benefited in 2015 from an increase in the size of the loan
market at a lower cost than that foreseen in the plan and for longer maturities.” [Omissis]
“On 15 July 2014 the European Commission confirmed also for Dexia Crediop the management
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in depreciation of the residual assets with no new production. As a consequence, management
in depreciation continues for Dexia Crediop, in the context of the orderly resolution plan for the
Dexia Group. [Omissis] The Dexia Crediop’s dynamic liquidity position looks to be sustainable,
on the assumption that the conditions which characterised the year 2015 will persist, with
particular reference to the Dexia Group’s possibility of gaining access to financing. [Omissis]
In conclusion, given what has been illustrated and taking into account the orderly resolution
plan approved by the European Commission, the annual financial report for Dexia Crediop was
prepared in accordance with the going concern concept. During the resolution of the Group,
the prospects of Dexia Crediop could suffer from the same factors identified for the Dexia
Group, in regards uncertainties connected with implementation of the plan and, in particular,
the Group’s ability to provide support to subsidiaries in a difficult market situation.”
To the best of our knowledge, pursuant to article Art. 2429, clause two, of the Civil Code, that
in drawing up the financial statements the Directors have not made any derogations from the
principles pursuant to art. 2423 of the Italian Civil Code.
Part H of the Notes to the Accounts contains details on transactions carried out with related
parties.
Dear Shareholders,

01 April 2016
THE BOARD OF AUDITORS
Pierre Paul Destefanis		
Nadia Bonelli 			
Nicola Fiameni			

Chairman
Standing Auditor
Standing Auditor
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in view of the above, and considering that the report issued on 31 March 2016 by the
independent audit firm does not contain any findings, we would suggest that you approve
these financial statements as they are presented to you by the Board of Directors.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Emphasis matter
Although we don’t express a qualified opinion, we draw your attention to what is described in
explanatory notes in the section 2 “General accounting principles” of the part A “Accounting
policies” related to paragraph “Management prospects” of Management opinion in relation to the
going concern of Dexia Group and Dexia Crediop, in particular:
“In order to assess Dexia Crediop's operating prospects it is necessary to make reference to the
situation of the Dexia Group. Until 2011 the Group pursued a restructuring plan aimed at
repositioning on his historic franchise and finally adopted an orderly resolution plan approved by
the European Commission on 28 December 2012. The consolidated accounts of Dexia SA at 31
December 2015 were prepared in compliance with the accounting standards applicable to
companies as a going concern. This requires a certain number of hypotheses in regards to the
resolution plan for the Dexia Group, listed below: [Omissis] It is based on a high funding capacity,
which depends on the propensity of investors to subscribed issues backed by the governments
of Belgium, France and Luxembourg, and the Group's ability to obtain secured funding. To that
end, the Group's funding structure benefited in 2015 from an increase in the size of the loan
market at a lower cost than that foreseen in the plan and for longer maturities.” [Omissis]

Other aspects
The financial statements as at 31 December 2014 of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. has been audited by
another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on 2 April 2015.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Opinion concerning the consistency between the Director’s report and some information
disclosed in the specific section on the Corporate Governance and the Company’s owner
structure of the same report and the separate financial statements
We performed the procedures provided by the Standard on Auditing (SA Italia) n° 720B in order to
express, as requested by law, an opinion concerning the consistency between the Director’s report
and the specific section on the Corporate Governance and the Company’s owner structure, limited
to the information disclosed in comma 2, letter b) of art. 123-bis of Legislative Decree n.58/98,
whose responsability is of directors of Dexia Crediop S.p.A., and the separate financial statements
of the entity as of and for the year ended 31 December 2015.
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“On 15 July 2014 the European Commission confirmed also for Dexia Crediop the management
in depreciation of the residual assets with no new production. As a consequence, management
in depreciation continues for Dexia Crediop, in the context of the orderly resolution plan for the
Dexia Group. [Omissis] The Dexia Crediop's dynamic liquidity position looks to be sustainable,
on the assumption that the conditions which characterised the year 2015 will persist, with
particular reference to the Dexia Group's possibility of gaining access to financing. [Omissis] In
conclusion, given what has been illustrated and taking into account the orderly resolution plan
approved by the European Commission, the annual financial report for Dexia Crediop was
prepared in accordance with the going concern concept. During the resolution of the Group, the
prospects of Dexia Crediop could suffer from the same factors identified for the Dexia Group, in
regards uncertainties connected with implementation of the plan and, in particular, the Group's
ability to provide support to subsidiaries in a difficult market situation.”

In our opinion, the report on operations and the information required by comma 2, letter b) of art.
123-bis of Legislative Decree n° 58/98 disclosed in the specific section of the same report are
consistent with the separate financial statements of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2015.

Milan, 31 March 2016
Mazars Italia S.p.A.
(signed on the original)
Olivier Rombaut
Partner – Registered auditor

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

The report has been translated solely for the convenience of International reader
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Certification of the annual report pursuant to article 154-bis of Legislative
Decree 58/98 and art. 81-ter of Consob Regulation no. 11971 of 14 May 1999
and successive amendments and additions
1. The undersigned Jean Le Naour, as Chief Executive Officer, and Emmanuel Campana, as the Financial Reporting
Manager, responsible for preparing the annual report of Dexia Crediop S.p.A., hereby testify, also taking into account
the provisions of art. 154-bis, clauses 3 and 4, of legislative decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998, to:
• the adequacy in respect of the features of the company, and
• the effective application
of the administrative and accounting procedures on which the annual report for the 2015 period are based,
2. He also certifies that:
2.1 the annual report:

2.2 the report on business operations includes a reliable analysis of the management trend and result, as well as the
issuer’s situation, together with a description of the main risks and uncertainties to which it is exposed.
19 March 2016
Jean Le Naour
				
Chief Executive Officer						
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Emmanuel Campana
The Financial Reporting Manager
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a) have been drawn up according to the international accounting standards applicable and recognised in the
European Union pursuant to Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council of 19
July 2002;
b) corresponds to the balances in the accounting records;
c) give a true and correct representation of the issuer’s equity and economic and financial situation.

Corporate Financial
Statements
at 31 December 2015
Dexia CREDIOP S.p.A.

Balance sheet
Euro
Assets

31/12/2015

31/12/2014

2,907

3,743

2,415,444,844

3,107,316,702

40. Financial assets available for sale

64,671,615

522,939,327

50. Financial assets held to maturity

137,286,207

187,650,088

4,083,341,747

12,429,408,427

70. Due from customers

17,900,831,732

20,702,133,261

80. Hedging derivatives

327,881,996

392,929,449

4,968,730

9,761,977

100,000,000

100,009,000

110. Property plant and equipment

3,049,489

42,700,555

120. Intangible assets

3,137,295

3,013,056

17,036,418

16,347,806

17,029,636

15,928,751

6,782

419,055

10. Cash and cash equivalents
20. Financial assets held for trading

60. Due from banks

90. Fair value change of financial assets in hedged portfolios (+/-)
100. Equity investments

of which:
- goodwill

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

130. Tax assets
a) current
b) advance
advance pursuant Law 214/2011
150. Other assets
Total assets

6,782

419,055

55,263,696

61,232,692

25,112,916,676

37,575,446,083
Euro

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

31/12/2015

31/12/2014

14,919,679,658

26,624,089,789

20. Due to customers

1,858,116,041

615,825,630

30. Securities issued

2,080,685,349

2,619,848,175

40. Financial liabilities held for trading

2,449,401,029

3,102,085,883

60. Hedging derivatives

2,846,443,972

3,638,257,512

18,230,959

24,448,426

1,729,664

2,425,769

28,426,597

23,557,169

2,155,488

7,179,801

b) other provisions

26,271,109

16,377,368

130. Valuation reserves

(42,655,583)

(56,628,988)

160. Reserves

531,326,718

599,673,004

180. Share capital

450,210,000

450,210,000

200. Net income (loss)

(28,677,728)

(68,346,286)

25,112,916,676

37,575,446,083

10. Due to banks

80. Tax liabilities
100. Other liabilities
110. Employee termination indemnities
120. Provisions for risks and charges
a) post employment benefits

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
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Income statement
Euro
Items
10. Interest and similar income
20. Interest and similar expenses
30. Net interest income
40. Fee and Commission income
50. Fee and Commission expenses
60. Net fee and commission income
70. Dividend and similar income

31/12/2015

31/12/2014

497,471,292

598,334,081

(435,316,121)

(519,527,835)

62,155,171

78,806,246

6,378,831

7,791,817

(9,163,730)

(19,310,555)

(2,784,899)

(11,518,738)
2,673

14,950,765

(2,882,820)

90. Fair Value adjustment in hedge accounting

27,588,070

(32,444,867)

100. Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase of:

(44,924,253)

(42,402,773)

(46,738,138)

(42,449,944)

1,813,885

47,171

120. Net interest and other banking income

56,984,854

(10,440,279)

130. Net adjustments for impairment of:

(2,486,750)

(5,506,744)

(2,582,090)

(5,330,809)

95,340

(175,935)

140. Net income from financial activities

54,498,104

(15,947,023)

150. Administrative expenses:

(69,123,517)

(31,010,291)

a) personnel expenses

(16,299,871)

(19,377,734)

b) other administrative expenses

(52,823,646)

(11,632,557)

(17,380,752)

(15,057,622)

(868,007)

(910,550)

(1,571,728)

(1,563,874)

1,234,425

239,833

(87,709,579)

(48,302,504)

5,605,137

0

(27,606,338)

(64,249,527)

(1,071,390)

(4,096,759)

270. Profit (Loss) from continuing operations after tax

(28,677,728)

(68,346,286)

290. Net income (loss)

(28,677,728)

(68,346,286)

a) loans
d) financial liabilities

a) loans
b) financial assets available for sale

160. Net provisions for risks and charges
170. Net adjustments on property plant and equipment
180. Net adjustments on intangible assets
190. Other operating expenses/income
200. Operating expenses
240. Profits (Losses) on disposal of investments
250. Profit (loss) from continuing operations before tax
260. Taxes on income from continuing operations
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80. Net trading gains (losses)

Statement of comprehensive
income
Euro
Items
10. Net income (loss)

31/12/2015

31/12/2014

(28,677,728)

(68,346,286)

5,354,600

(8,135,183)

2,105,657

21,930,068

6,513,148

(138,552,561)

13,973,405

(124,757,676)

(14,704,323)

(193,103,962)

Other income components net of tax without reversal to income statement
20 Property plant and equipment
30 Intangible assets
40 Defined benefits schemes
50 Non-current assets held for sale
60 Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments
Other income components net of tax with reversal to income statement
70 Hedges of foreign investments
80 Exchange rate differences
90 Cash flow hedging

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

100 Financial assets available for sale
110 Non-current assets held for sale
120 Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments
130 Total other income components net of tax
140 Comprehensive income (items 10 + 130)
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Statement of changes
in shareholders’ equity
Euro

Shareholders’ equity at 31.12.2015

Stock options

Derivatives on treasury shares

Changes in equity instruments

Extraordinary distribution of dividend

Purchase of treasury shares

Changes in reserves

Operations on
shareholders’ equity

Comprehensive income for the period 2015

Changes in the period

New share issues

Dividend and other uses

Reserves

Balances at 01.01.2015

Changes to initial balances

Balances at 31.12.2014

Allocation
of profit of
the previous
period

Share capital:
a) ordinary shares

450,210,000

450,210,000

599,673,004

599,673,004 (68,346,286)

531,326,718

(56,628,988)

(56,628,988)

(68,346,286)

(68,346,286)

924,907,730

924,907,730

b) other shares
Share premiums
Reserves:
a) of profits
b) others
Valuation reserves

13,973,405

(42,655,583)

(28,677,728)

(28,677,728)

(14,704,323)

910,203,407

Equity instruments
Treasury shares
Profit (Loss) for the
period
Shareholders’ equity

68,346,286
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450,210,000

Cash flow statement
Indirect method
Amount
31/12/2015

A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES
1. Cash Flow from operations

euro
Amount
31/12/2014

(47,837,936)

(5,883,050)

(28,677,728)

(68,346,286)

(14,950,765)

2,882,820

(27,588,070)

32,444,867

- net adjustments for impairment (+/-)

2,486,750

5,506,744

- net adjustments of tangible and intangible fixed assets (+/-)

2,439,735

2,474,425

17,380,752

15,057,622

1,071,390

4,096,758

12,463,044,830

(1,281,206,182)

706,822,623

(569,030,553)

458,258,712

141,775,309

- net income (+/-)
- gains/losses on financial assets held for trading and on assets/liabilities designated
at fair value through profit and loss (-/+)
- capital gains/losses on hedging assets (+/-)

- net provisions for risks and charges and other costs/revenues (+/-)
- taxes and duties to be settled (+)
- net adjustments of disposal groups classified as held for sale, net of tax effect (-/+)
- other adjustments (+/-)
2. Cash flow from / used in financial assets
- financial assets held for trading
- financial assets designated at fair value
- financial assets available for sale

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

- due from banks: on demand

(34,298,276)

8,407,832

- due from banks: other receivables

8,380,364,956

(1,204,324,877)

- due from customers

2,798,814,779

250,515,863

- other assets
3.Cash flow from / used in financial liabilities
- due to banks: repayable on demand
- due to banks: other deposits

153,082,036

91,450,244

(12,452,303,844)

1,289,097,821

3,508,000,000

(1,553,000,000)

(15,212,410,153)

2,737,001,713

- due to customers

1,242,290,411

195,651,941

- securities issued

(539,162,826)

(1,652,166,536)

- financial liabilities held for trading

(652,684,853)

560,717,868

(798,336,423)

1,000,892,835

(37,096,950)

2,008,589

39,403,863

2,673

- financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss
- other liabilities
Net cash flow from (used in) operating activities
B. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
1. Cash flow from
- sales of equity investments

9,000

- dividend collected from equity investments

2,673

- sales of financial assets held to maturity
- sales of property plant and equipment

39,394,863

- sales of intangible assets
- sales of company divisions
2. Cash flow used in

(2,307,749)

(2,010,761)

- purchases of equity investments
- purchases of financial assets held to maturity
- purchases of property plant and equipment
- purchases of intangible assets

(611,782)

(543,922)

(1,695,967)

(1,466,839)

37,096,114

(2,008,088)

- purchases of company divisions
Net liquidity generated/absorbed by investment activities
C. FUNDING ACTIVITIES
- issues/purchases of treasury shares
- issues/purchases of equity instruments
- distribution of dividend and other uses
Net liquidity generated/absorbed by funding activities
NET LIQUIDITY GENERATED/ABSORBED IN THE PERIOD
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0

0

(836)

501

Reconciliation
euro
Balance sheet items
Cash and cash equivalents at start of period
Total net liquidity generated/absorbed in period
Cash and cash equivalents: effect of variations in exchange rates
Cash and liquid assets at end of period

Amount
31/12/2015

Amount
31/12/2014

3,743

3,392

(836)

501

0

0

2,907

3,743

Financial Statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Part A – Accounting policies					
Part B – Comments on the balance sheet
Part C – Comments on the income statement		
Part D – Comprehensive income						
Part E – Comments on risks and associated hedging policies			
Part F – Comments on the capital						
Part H – Transactions with related parties					
Part L – Information on sectors					

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Balance sheet data of parent company Dexia Credit Local				
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Part A - Accounting policies
A.1

A.2
1
2
3
4
6
7
8
9
11
12
13
14
16
17
A.3
A.3.1
A.3.4
A.4

A.4.5
A.5

Part B – Comments on the balance sheet
ASSETS

– Section 1 - Cash and cash equivalents
– Section 2 - Financial assets held for trading
– Section 4 - Financial assets available for sale
– Section 5 - Financial assets held to maturity
– Section 6 - Due from banks
– Section 7 - Due from customers
– Section 8 - Hedging derivatives
– Section 9 - Fair value adjustment of financial assets in hedged portfolios
– Section 10 - Equity investments
– Section 11 - Property plant and equipment
– Section 12 - Intangible assets
– Section 13 - Tax credits and liabilities
– Section 15 - Other assets
LIABILITIES
– Section 1 - Due to banks
– Section 2 - Due to customers
– Section 3 - Securities in issue
– Section 4 - Financial liabilities for trading
– Section 6 - Hedging derivatives
– Section 8 - Tax liabilities
– Section 10 - Other liabilities
– Section 11 - Provision for severance indemnities
– Section 12 - Provisions for risks and charges
– Section 14 - Corporate capital
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A.4.1
A.4.2
A.4.3

General Part
– Section 1 - Declaration of conformity to International Accounting Standards
– Section 2 - General accounting principles
– Section 3 - Events after the balance sheet date
– Section 4 - Other aspects
The main aggregates of the financial statements
- Financial assets held for trading
- Financial assets available for sale
- Financial assets held to maturity
- Loans
- Hedging transactions
- Equity investments
- Property plant and equipment
- Intangible assets
- Current and deferred taxes
- Provisions for risks and charges
- Debt instruments and securities in issue
- Financial liabilities held for trading
- Currency transactions
- Other information
Information on transfers between portfolios
- Reclassified financial assets: book value, fair value and effects on comprehensive income
- Effective interest rate and cash flows expected from the reclassified assets
Information on fair value
Qualitative information
- Fair value levels 2 and 3: valuation techniques and used inputs
- Processes and sensitivity of the valuations
- Fair Value Hierarchy
Quantitative information
- Fair Value Hierarchy
- Information on the “day one profit/loss”

Other information
1 - Guarantees given and commitments
2 - Assets lodged as surety for own liabilities and commitments
4 - Management and broking for customer accounts:
5 - Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements
6 - Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements

Part C – Comments on the income statement

– Section 1 - Interest
– Section 2 - Commissions
– Section 3 - Dividend and similar income:
– Section 4 - Trading gains (losses)
– Section 5 - Hedging gains (losses)
– Section 6 - Disposal/repurchase gains (losses)
– Section 8 - Net adjustments for impairment
– Section 9 - Administrative expenses
– Section 10 - Net provisions for risks and charges
– Section 11 - Net adjustments on property plant and equipment
– Section 12 - Net adjustments on intangible assets
– Section 13 - Other operating expenses and income
– Section 17 - Profits/Losses on disposal of investments
– Section 18 - Tax on profit from continuing operations

Part D - Comprehensive income

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Analytic statement of comprehensive income

Part E – Comments on risks and associated hedging policies

Section 1 – Credit risk
Qualitative information
1. General aspects
2. Credit risk management policies
2.1 Organisational aspects
2.2 Management, measuring and audit systems
2.3 Credit risk mitigation techniques
2.4 Impaired financial assets
Quantitative information
A.
Credit quality
A.1 Impaired and performing loan exposure: amounts, write-downs, trends, economic and geographical distribution
A.2 Classification of exposure according to external and internal ratings
A.3 Breakdown of secured loans according to type of guarantee
B.
Distribution and concentration of loan exposure
B.1 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposure according to sector (book value)
B.2 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposure according to area (book value)
B.3 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet bank loan exposure according to area (book value)
B.4 Large exposures
C.
Securitisation transactions
Qualitative information
Quantitative information
C.2
Exposure to main “third party” securitisation transactions according to type
of securitised assets and type of exposure
E.
Disposal transactions
E.1
Financial assets sold but not derecognized: book value and integer value
E.2
Financial liabilities for financial assets sold but not derecognized: book value
E.3. Disposal Transaction with liabilities having recourse exclusively on assets sold: fair value

52

Part F – Comments on the capital
Section 1 – Corporate capital
A. Qualitative information
B. Quantitative information
Section 2 – Own funds and minimum capital ratios
2.1 - Own funds
A. Qualitative information
B. Quantitative information
2.2 - Capital adequacy
A. Qualitative information
B. Quantitative information

Part H – Transactions with related parties
1.
2.

Information on key management personnel’s remuneration
Information on transactions with related parties

Part L – Information on sectors
Balance sheet data of parent company Dexia Credit Local
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Section 2 – Market risks
2.1 Interest rate risk and price risk - regulatory trading book
Qualitative information
A.
General aspects
B.
Management and measurement of interest rate risk and price risk
Quantitative information
1. Regulatory banking book: distribution according to residual duration (re-pricing date)
of cash assets and liabilities and financial derivatives
3. Regulatory trading book - internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods
2.2 Interest rate risk and price risk - banking book
Qualitative information
A.
General aspects, management and measurement of interest rate risk and price risk
B.
Fair value hedging activities
C.
Cash flow hedging
Quantitative information
1. Banking book: distribution according to residual duration (re-pricing date) of financial assets and financial liabilities
2. Banking book: internal models and other methods for analysing sensitivity
2.3 Exchange rate risk
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement of exchange rate risk
B. Exchange rate risk hedging activities
Quantitative information
1. Distribution according to currency of the assets, liabilities and derivatives
2.4 Derivative instruments
A.
Financial derivatives
B.
Credit derivatives
C.
Credit and financial derivatives
Section 3 – Liquidity risk
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement of liquidity risk
Quantitative information
1. Distribution by maturity according to residual contractual term of financial assets and liabilities
Section 4 – Operating risks
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measuring of operational risk
Quantitative information

Part A – Accounting Policies
A. 1 – General Part
Section 1 – Declaration of conformity to international accounting standards
The Annual Report of the Dexia Crediop Company for the year ending 31st December 2015 were prepared in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards and the International Accounting Standards (hereafter “IFRS”, “IAS”,
or international accounting standards) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the
European Commission according to procedures referred to in article 6 of Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European
Parliament and Council dated 19th July 2002, which were approved on that date.
The Annual Report was also prepared in accordance with the Bank of Italy’s instructions contained in Circular n. 262 of
22nd December 2005 and later updates.
The IAS/IFRS principles approved and in effect at 31 December 2015 were used in preparing the Annual Report (including
the interpretative documents known as SIC and IFRIC).

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

The table below indicates the new international accounting principles or the amendments to accounting principles already
in existence, with the relative approval regulations of the European Commission, which took effect during 2015.
Approval date

EU Regulation
publication date

Amendments to IAS 27: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (issued on 12 August
2014)

18 December 2015

23 December 2015

Amendments to IAS 1: Disclosure Initiative (issued on 18 December 2014)

18 December 2015

19 December 2015

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle (issued on 25 September 2014)

15 December 2015

16 December 2015

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation (issued on 12 May 2014)

2 December 2015

3 December 2015

Amendments to IFRS 11: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (issued
on 6 May 2014)

24 November 2015

25 November 2015

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41: Bearer Plants (issued on 30 June 2014)

23 November 2015

24 November 2015

Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Contributions (issued on 21 November 2013)

17 December 2014

9 Jenuary 2015

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle (issued on 12 December 2013)

17 December 2014

9 Jenuary 2015

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle (issued on 12 December 2013)

18 December 2014

19 December 2014

13 June 2014

14 June 2014

Document title

IFRIC interpretation 21 Levies (issued on 20 May 2013)

Section 2 – General accounting principles
The company’s annual report was drawn up in true and fair fashion and consist of the balance sheet, the income statement,
the statement of total income, the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, the statement of changes in the financial
position and the notes to the statements. The annual report is also accompanied by the Directors’ Report on Operations.
The annual report was drawn up in units of one euro.
The schedules of the balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income consist of items identified with
numbers and sub-items identified with letters together with additional information (the various “of which” references
relative to the items and sub-items). The items, sub-items and associated additional information make up the annual report
accounts. Each account in the balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income also shows the amount

54

relating to the previous period. The balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income do not include any
accounts with zero amounts in both the year of reference and the previous financial year.
The notes to the statements were drawn up in thousands of euro. Any items and tables which do not have any amounts
are not mentioned in the notes to the statements.
The annual report was drawn up according to the going concern principle and the accruals concept.
The going concern principle is also described in the Report on operations, Future operational prospects paragraph, for the
Dexia Group and for Dexia Crediop.

Section 3 – Events after the balance sheet date.
There were no events after the balance sheet date which entail a need to amend the results of the annual report as at
31st December 2015.

Section 4 - Other aspects

• determination of fair value for financial instruments not listed on active markets;
• evaluations of loss of value for loans, equity investments and other financial assets;
• evaluation of the severance indemnity fund and other funds for benefits due to employees;
• estimate of allocations for other provisions for risks and charges;
• estimates and assumptions of the recoverability of deferred tax assets (advance taxes).
On the closing date of this annual report there were also no apparent reasons to doubt the estimates which could lead
to material amendments in the book values of the assets and liabilities. In addition, there were no changes made to the
accounting estimates which have had effects in the current financial period. The information related to the going concern
assumptions are also illustrated in the Report on operations, Future operational prospects paragraph.

A. 2 – The main aggregates of the annual report
1 – Financial assets held for trading
Financial assets held for trading include:
• financial assets, which, irrespective of their technical form, are held with a view to generating profits in the short term;
• derivative contracts not designated as hedging instruments.
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In compliance with the cited international accounting principles, the preparation of the annual report obligatorily requires
the use of estimates and hypotheses which are able to determine relevant effects on the values in the balance sheet and
income statement, as well as in the disclosure provided regarding potential assets and liabilities.
These estimates and the associated hypotheses and assumptions are based on past experience and other current available
information held to be reasonable for the purposes of identifying management facts. Given their intrinsic subjectivity, the
estimates and hypotheses are naturally susceptible to changes, even sizeable, from one year to the next, based on changes
in market parameters and other information used during the estimate process.
The areas of the financial statement most affected by the subjective estimate and evaluation processes are the following:

As regards financial assets, both debt and equity instruments are first recognised on the settlement date, while derivatives
are entered on the trade date.
Financial assets held for trading are initially recognised at fair value, which generally corresponds to the settlement price,
exclusive of transaction costs and income which are immediately recognised in the income statement, as long as they are
directly attributable to these financial instruments. When the settlement price is different from fair value, the financial asset
is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price is booked to the income statement.
Any commitments for transactions to be regulated that are in existence as of the date of the annual report are evaluated
using the same criteria applied to regulated transactions.
Subsequent measurement is carried out on the basis of changes in the fair value and the result is booked to the income
statement.
Differentials in derivative contracts classified in the trading portfolio and the results of the fair value measurement are
included in “Net trading gains (losses)”.
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Financial assets for trading are derecognised only on expiry of the contractual rights relating to the cash flows or when the
financial assets are sold with the transfer to third parties of all the risks and benefits associated with them. However, if a
significant share of the risks and benefits of the sold financial assets are maintained, they continue to be recognised, even
if ownership of such assets has effectively been transferred.
If substantial transfer of the risks and benefits cannot be ascertained, the financial assets are derecognised when no
type of control is maintained over the same. Otherwise, when such control is retained, even partially, these assets are
maintained on the balance sheet to the extent to which the said control is retained, calculated according to exposure to
changes in the value of the sold assets and variations in the cash flows of the same.
These financial assets are derecognised on the date they are disposed of (settlement date).
Derivatives are considered financial assets if their fair value is positive and liabilities if their fair value is negative. The Group
does not compensate the current positive and negative values from transactions in existence with the same counterparty.

2 – Financial assets available for sale
The item “Financial assets available for sale” includes all financial assets other than derivatives, that are not classified
as loans and receivables, investments held to maturity or financial assets held for trading. The item also includes debt
securities and equity securities (including the equity investment in the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo) which cannot be
classified as subsidiaries, associated companies or joint subsidiaries and which do not, therefore, fall within the scope of
application of IAS 28.
The first recognition of the financial asset is done on the basis of the IAS criteria of “settlement date accounting”, meaning
the settlement date for debt or equity securities and the disbursement date in the case of loans.
Any commitments for transactions to be regulated that are in existence as of the date of the annual report are evaluated
using the same criteria applied to regulated transactions.
Financial assets available for sale are recorded in the balance sheet at fair value, which is normally the same as the
purchase price, including any charges or revenue directly ensuing from the instrument. When the settlement price is
different from fair value, the financial asset is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price
is booked to the income statement.
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Subsequent measurement is carried out on the basis of the fair value with recognition of gains or losses deriving from
changes in fair value booked to a specific reserve in shareholders’ equity, net of any tax effects. Interest payments on debt
securities, determined using the amortised cost method, are booked to the income statement.
Changes in exchange rates for non-monetary instruments (equity securities) are booked to the specific shareholders’ equity
reserve, while those relating to monetary instruments (loans and debt securities) are booked to the income statement.
Equity securities whose fair value cannot be reliably determined are maintained at cost, and adjusted in the case that
impairment losses are ascertained.
Any accumulated or unrealised profits or losses on securities available for sale are recognised in the income statement
when the asset is derecognised, or when an impairment loss occurs.
As regards determination of the fair value of financial assets available for sale and the criteria used for derecognising them,
the reader is referred to the information provided above for financial assets held for trading.

If such evidence exists, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the book value of the asset, net of
any redemptions and amortizations, and the current value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original
effective interest rate, or on the basis of the fair value measurement for listed equity securities.
If the reasons for the writedowns no longer exist, reversals are performed which are booked to the income statement
if they refer to debt securities or loans, and to shareholders’ equity if they refer to equity securities. The amount of the
writeback, for debt securities, cannot in any case exceed the amortised cost that the asset would have had, in the absence
of impairment.

3 – Financial assets held to maturity
The item “Financial assets held to maturity” includes financial assets other than derivatives, which have fixed or calculable
contractual payments and fixed maturity dates and which can be and are intended to be held to maturity except for those
which:
a) the Bank designates, at the time of initial recognition, at the fair value booked to the income statement;
b) the Bank designates as available for sale;
c) meet the definition of loans and receivables.
If following a change of plan or capacity, it is no longer appropriate to keep an investment classified as held to maturity, it
is reclassified among assets available for sale, and for the following two years it is not possible to recognised new assets
in the category “Financial assets held to maturity”.
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Financial assets available for sale are examined on an individual basis in order to verify whether there is any objective
evidence of a fall in value (IAS 39 paragraph 59). This check, which is carried out at each yearly or interim period closing
date, is based on a series of both qualitative and quantitative indicators. Qualitative indicators of a possible loss of value
are, for example, significant financial difficulties for the issuer, non-fulfilment or lack of payment of interest and equity
according to the terms, the disappearance of an active market for the asset in question. In addition, for investments in
equity instruments, the following quantitative indicators are considered separately to serve as objective evidence of a loss
of value: the presence of a fair value at the date of the annual report of less than 50% of the original purchase cost, or the
prolonged presence (over 5 years) of a fair value less than the purchase cost of the asset.

Financial assets held to maturity are first recognised on the settlement date. On initial recognition, financial assets classified
in this category are designated at fair value, determined on the trade date (IAS 39, paragraph 44 and AG 56) and including
any charges and income directly attributable to the instrument. When the settlement price is different from fair value, the
financial asset is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price is booked to the income
statement.
Financial assets included in this category as a result of reclassification from ‘Assets available for sale’, are recognised at
amortised cost, which is initially taken as being equal to the fair value of the asset on the date of reclassification.

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Any commitments for transactions to be regulated that are in existence as of the date of the annual report are evaluated
using the same criteria applied to regulated transactions.
After initial recognition, financial assets held to maturity are carried at amortised cost. The result of said evaluation is
booked to the income statement under item “10-Interest and similar income”. The amortised cost of an asset is the same
as the value the asset was measured at on the date of initial recognition net of any equity reimbursements. This is increased
or reduced by the overall amortisation, achieved by using the effective interest method, equity and interest payments
contractually owed, and any difference between the initial value and the value on maturity and minus any reduction (made
directly or through the use of a provision) following impairment loss or impossibility of recovery.
“Financial assets held to maturity” are examined on an individual basis in order to verify whether there is any objective
evidence of a fall in value (IAS 39 paragraph 59). This check is carried out at each yearly or interim period closing date, using
the same methodology illustrated for the financial assets available for sale, to which the reader can refer for greater detail.
When there is objective evidence of impairment losses, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the book value of the asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective
interest rate. The associated adjustment is recognised in the income statement, under the item “130-Net adjustments for
impairment of: c) financial assets held to maturity”.
When the reasons for an impairment loss no longer exist, a reversal is booked to the income statement which cannot,
however, exceed the amortized cost which the instrument would have had without the previous loss.
Gains or losses relative to the derecognition of assets held to maturity are booked to the income statement, under the
item “100-Gains/losses on disposal or repurchase of: c) financial assets held to maturity”. With regards to derecognition
criteria, please refer to that illustrated above for financial assets held for trading.

4 – Loans
The item “Loans and receivables” includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments, which are
not quoted in an active market, and which are not designated as “Financial assets available for sale” on the date of initial
recognition.
Normally, this item includes loans to clients and banks including debt securities with characteristics similar to loans.
Sale and repurchase transactions (Repos) are also included in the item “loans and receivables”.
Securities received in the context of a Repo transaction, which contractually envisage subsequent sale, and securities
delivered in the context of a transaction that contractually envisages the subsequent repurchase, are not booked as
treasury securities or derecognised from the annual report, respectively, but are booked as due to/from customers or banks.
This is due to application of the “continuing involvement” principle sanctioned by IAS 39, § 17-23.
Receivables are first entered on the date they are issued or, in the case of debt securities, on the settlement date. Receivables
are initially recognised at their fair value, equal to the amount paid out, or to the subscription/trading price, including any
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transaction costs/income directly attributable to the single receivable. Even if they have the above features, costs which are
reimbursed by the borrower or which can be considered normal internal administrative costs are excluded.
After initial recognition, the receivables are valued at the amortised cost, equal to the initial booking value decreased/
increased by equity payments, writedowns/writebacks and amortisation - calculated using the effective interest rate
method - the difference between the amount paid out and that repayable at maturity, generally traceable to the costs/
revenues directly attributed to the individual receivable. The effective interest rate is identified by calculating the rate that is
equal to the current value of the future flows of the receivable, for capital and interest, to the amount paid out inclusive of
costs/revenues traceable to the receivable. This method of accounting, using financial logic, makes it possible to distribute
the economic effect of the costs/revenues throughout the expected maturity of the receivable.
The amortised cost method is not used for short-term loans, as for these the effect of the application of the actualisation
logic based on effective interest is negligible. For these receivables, interest matures “pro-rata temporis”, in accordance
with the law of simple interest.

Loans which do not show any objective evidence of impairment or for which no impairment is forecast are assessed
collectively, by grouping them together in homogeneous categories with similar characteristics in terms of credit risk, such
as the technical form of the loan, the economic sector the counterparties belong to, their geographical location and the
type of existing guarantees.
The original value of the loans is reinstated in subsequent financial periods to the extent to which the reasons for the
writedown are no longer evident; the writeback is booked to the income statement and may not in any case exceed the
amortised cost that the loan would have had in the absence of previous writedowns.
Financial guarantees given which are not represented by derivatives are assessed taking into account the provisions of IAS
39 which stipulate, on the one hand, recognition of the fee received, pursuant to IAS 18, and on the other, measurement
of the risks and charges connected with the guarantees by applying the principles provided for in IAS 37.
Loans transferred are derecognised from the assets in the financial statement only if the transfer involved the substantial
transfer of all the risks and benefits connected to said loans. However, if a significant proportion of the risks and benefits
of the sold financial assets has been maintained, they continue to be recognised among the assets, even if ownership of
the receivable has effectively been transferred.
In 2009 and 2010, securitisation operations were originated for loans through the vehicle company Tevere Finance S.p.A.,
the equity of which is held by a Dutch foundation. By the total repurchase on the part of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. of the
ABS securities issued by the vehicle, both senior and junior classes, at the same time as the sale of the assets, continuing
involvement is maintained.
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The book value of the loan portfolio is periodically subject to checks for the existence of any losses in value (IAS 39
paragraph 59) which could lead to a reduction in their presumable sale value. For a classification of impaired debts in
the various risk categories, reference is made to the regulations issued on the subject by the Bank of Italy together with
the internal provisions which establish rules for classification and transfers within the scope of the various expected risk
categories.
Determination of the write-down on the receivables, to be posted on the income statement net of the provisions previously
allocated, is equal to the difference between the book value at valuation date (amortised cost) and the present value of
the forecast future cash flows, calculated applying the effective original interest rate. For variable rate loans for which a
change in the interest rate occurred during the period, an average tax determined on the measurement date is applied. The
estimate of future cash flows takes account of expected recovery times, the presumable realization value of any existing
guarantees and costs considered necessary for recovery of the loan exposure.
Impaired receivables, with objective lasting impairment in value are evaluated on an analytical basis.

Since the conditions do not exist for the derecognition of the assets sold, in compliance with the provisions of IAS 39, the
prior situation has been restored on the financial statement, with the re-posting of the separate capital of Tevere Finance
in the accounts of Dexia Crediop.
4.1 - Due from banks
The item “Due from banks” includes receivables from banks which present fixed and determinable payments not listed
on active markets and the securities issued by banks with features similar to the receivables, previously classified under
“Bonds and other debt securities”.
4.2– Due from customers
The item “Due from customers” includes receivables from customers which present fixed and determinable payments not
listed on active markets and the securities issued by customers with features similar to the receivables, previously classified
under “Bonds and other debt securities”.

6– Hedging derivatives

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

The item “Hedging derivatives” recognises instruments used to neutralize potential losses which may be recognised in a
particular element and attributable to one or more types of risk (interest rate risk, exchange rate risk, price risk, credit risk,
etc.).
The types of hedging transactions used are the following:
• Fair value hedges, performed with the aim of hedging exposure to variations in the fair value of assets/liabilities
recognised in the balance sheet; the subject of such hedging can be specific transactions, or an amount of balance sheet
assets or liabilities, selected from a portfolio of financial instruments with a similar level of exposure to interest rate risk.
(macro hedge, as envisaged in the “IAS 39 carve out” adopted by the European Community);
• Cash flow hedges, performed with the aim of hedging the exposure to variations in expected cash flows of assets/
liabilities recognised in the annual report or relating to highly probable future transactions.
A financial instrument is designated as a hedge if there is formal documentation on the relationship between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument, which includes the risk management objectives, the strategy for carrying out the hedge
and the methods used to test the effectiveness of the hedge itself.
Dexia Crediop S.p.A. conducts an assessment at the start and periodically (on a quarterly basis), using forecasting and
retrospective tests, to see whether or not the hedge is highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or the
expected cash flows of the hedged instrument. The tests on effectiveness are considered as passed if the ratio between
the changes in the fair value (or cash flows) of hedging instruments and those of the hedged items fall within the range
of 80-125%.
The hedging operation, and the relative Hedge Accounting are interrupted prospectively if: (i) the hedging operation
through the derivative is revoked or is no longer highly effective; (ii) the derivative expires, is sold, annulled or exercised;
(iii) the hedged item is sold, expires or is redeemed; (iv) it is no longer highly probable that the future hedged operation
will be performed. In all the cases cited (except for the cases under (ii)), the derivative in question is reclassified among
financial instruments for trading.
The hedging instruments are designated as such only if stipulated with a counterparty external to the Dexia Crediop Group.
The accounting rules for hedging transactions envisage the following (see IAS 39, §85-101):
• Like all derivatives, hedging derivatives are initially recognised in the balance sheet on the trade date and are subsequently
measured at fair value. The “Hedging derivatives” items among the assets (item 80) and liabilities (item 60) on the
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balance sheet include the positive and negative value of derivatives which are part of effective hedging operations.
• In the case of effective fair value hedging, any changes in the value of the hedging instruments and the hedged
instruments (as regards the part attributable to the hedged risk) are booked to the income statement. The differences
between these variations in value constitute the partial ineffectiveness of the hedge and lead to a net impact in the
income statement, recognised under item 90 “Net hedging gains/losses”. Variations in value of the elements hedged,
attributable to the risk which is being hedged against, are booked to the income statement as a matching entry for the
variation in value attributed to the element in question. In the case of generic hedging the changes in the fair value of the
element hedged are posted in the appropriate items of the assets (90) and liabilities (70) of the balance sheet pursuant
to IAS 39, paragraph 89A.
• If a fair value hedge ceases to exist for reasons other than realization of the hedged item, the variations in value of
the latter, which were recognised in the balance sheet for as long as the effective hedge was maintained, are booked
to the income statement under interest income or expenditures. When the hedge refers to interest-bearing financial
instruments, this is done using the amortized cost principle, or in other cases with a single amount.

• In the case of interruption of a cash flow hedge relation, the total of the gain or loss of the hedging instrument
previously booked to shareholders’ equity remains recognised in the specific equity reserve until the moment in which
the transaction takes place or it is held that there is no longer a possibility that the transaction will occur. In this latter
circumstance, this amount is transferred to the income statement under item 80 “Net trading gains/losses”. Fair value
changes booked to item 130 of the liabilities are also recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income.

7 – Equity investments
Investments in equity instruments fall under the definition of equity instruments contained in IAS 32.
The item “Equity investments” includes equity investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and companies subject
to joint control.
Subsidiaries are companies in which the parent has the power to determine administrative, financial and management
choices and in which it normally has more than half the voting rights.
Associated companies are deemed to be those in which the Parent Company holds at least 20% share of the voting rights
and companies whose administrative, financial and management choices are deemed to be subject to significant influence
owing to the effects of actually existing legal links.
Companies subject to joint control are deemed to be those where contractual agreements exist, which require the
consent of the Company and of other investors with whom the control is shared, in order for administrative, financial and
management choices to be made.
Equity investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and companies under joint control, are booked to the balance
sheet on the settlement date and are carried at cost, adjusted when impairment losses are ascertained.
In the case that objective evidence of a loss in value is determined for an equity investment, an estimate of the recoverable
value of the equity investment is carried out, corresponding to the greater of the fair value bet of sales expenses and the
value in use. The value in use is the current value of the expected financial flows that the equity investment could generate,
including the final disposal value.
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• As regards cash flow hedges, the gain or loss portion on a hedging instrument that is considered effective is initially
recognised in shareholders’ equity (cash flow hedging reserve), under item 130 “Valuation reserves”. Any share of gain
or loss associated with the hedging instrument, which exceeds the fair value change of the expected flows from the
covered element in absolute value, is immediately booked to the income statement (overhedging). When the cash flows
being hedged become manifest and are recognised in the income statement, the relevant gain or loss on the hedging
instrument is transferred from shareholders’ equity to the corresponding item in the income statement (90 - “Net
hedging gains/losses”).

If the recoverable value is less than the book value of the equity investment, the associated writedown is recognised in the
income statement under item 210 “Profit(Loss) from equity investments”.
If the reasons for the write-down no longer exist, the reversals are booked to the income statement – under the same item
210 - only up to reinstatement of the original book value.
The associated dividend is recognised when the right to receive it arises.
Minority interests, or at least those not subject to significant influence, are included under the item “Financial assets
available for sale”.
Equity investments are cancelled from the financial statement when the contractual rights on cash flows deriving from
such assets cease, or when the equity is sold with substantial transfer of all risks and benefits linked to the same.
7.1 – Dividend
Dividend is recognised when the right to receive it arises, which corresponds to the financial period in which the sum is
received (IAS 18 paragraph 29).

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

8 – Property, plant and equipment
The item “Property, plant and equipment” includes assets held to be used for more than one financial period in the
production and provision of services or for administrative purposes (so-called “instrumental assets”), together with real
estate properties held for collecting rent and/or for the appreciation of the equity invested (so-called “non-instrumental
assets”).
When the international accounting standards were first adopted, the part attributable to plots of land associated with
“sky-to-ground” properties, was separated out since they were not subject to depreciation, as land has an indefinite
useful life. Similarly the historical cost of works of art not subject to depreciation was reinstated, because their useful life
is deemed impossible to estimate and their value is not likely to fall with the passing of time.
In line with paragraph 7 of IAS 16, Property, plant and equipment assets are recognised in the balance sheet only when
it is reasonably possible to determine the cost of the asset and it is probable that the associated future economic benefits
will accrue to the company. Therefore, it is important to establish the time when the risks and benefits attached to an asset
are effectively transferred to the company, irrespective of when ownership is formally conveyed.
Property, plant and equipment assets are initially entered at cost, which includes not only the purchase price but also any
associated charges directly ensuing from the purchase and costs involved in starting up the asset. The expenses incurred,
subsequent to purchase, increase the book value of an asset or are recognised as separate assets only when they lead to
an increase in future economic benefits due to the use of the asset; other expenses incurred subsequent to purchase are
booked to the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.
In periods subsequent to that of initial recognition, assets are recognised in the accounts on the basis of the amortisable
historical cost method. The relevant amortisation is carried out on the basis of the possible residual useful life of the assets.
The useful life of Property, plant and equipment assets subject to depreciation is periodically re-assessed.
A Property, plant and equipment asset is eliminated from the balance sheet when it is sold or scrapped and when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use.

9 – Intangible assets
The item “Intangible assets” includes assets that can be identified and are without physical consistency, which originate
from legal or contractual rights and which are held to be used over a number of years. In the main, they are represented
by application software.
Intangible assets are recognised at cost, net of overall depreciation and permanent impairment losses, only if the future
economic benefits ascribable to the asset are likely and if the cost of the asset itself can be measured reliably. Otherwise,
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the cost of the assets is booked to the Income Statement in the year in which it was incurred.
Intangible assets recognised in the balance sheet are amortised on the basis of their residual useful life according to a
straight-line method. The period and method of amortisation are re-assessed at the end of each financial period.
An intangible asset is eliminated from the balance sheet when it is disposed of or when no future economic benefits are
expected.

11 - Current and deferred taxes

12 – Provisions for risks and charges
According to that envisaged in IAS 37, provisions for risks and charges involves exclusively provisions for current obligations
(legal or implicit) originating from a past event, for which:
• the payment of financial resources to fulfil said obligation is probable;
• it is possible to make a reliable estimate of the relative amount.

If the time factor is significant, the provisions, which are recognised in contra-items in the income statement, are discounted
at current market rates.
The item includes provisions for early retirement incentives, applying the rules of the national contracts for bank workers
and of specific company agreements.
12.1 - Provisions for retirement funds and similar benefits
Staff pension funds include the various complementary retirement plans with defined benefits, established to implement
company agreements and recognised in the accounts in compliance with the provisions of IAS 19 “Employee benefits”.
These plans are considered defined benefit plans, in that they guarantee a series of benefits which depend on factors
such as age, years of service, and salary prospects for employees, regardless of the effective performance of any financial
assets used to serve the plan. In these cases, the actuarial risk and the investment risk fall mainly on the Company that
guarantees the plan.
Liabilities related to these plans and the relative retirement costs relating to current employment are determined by
independent actuaries on the basis of actuarial and financial hypotheses defined by the Dexia Group, using the Project Unit
Credit Method. This method makes it possible to uniformly distribute the cost of the benefit throughout the working life of
the employee, as a function of the discount rate, years of service matured, hypotheses of salary increases, and theoretical
seniority reached at the time the benefit is paid out.
More specifically, the amount booked as liability in item 120.a) “Provisions for risks and charges-retirement funds and
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Current income taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax result for the year. These taxes are entered as tax liabilities if
they exceed the amounts already paid in advance during the year, and as tax assets if the amounts paid in advance exceed
the taxes for the period.
Current taxes are booked as a revenue or as a charge and are included in profits or losses for the year except for taxes
that refer to items that are accredited or debited directly to shareholders’ equity, in which case they are booked directly to
shareholders’ equity.
With regard to deferred tax assets and liabilities, since from 2014 financial year, in accordance with that foreseen IAS 12,
net deferred tax assets have been cancelled as the company did not hold it likely that they would be recovery in the future,
nor that the value of the assets or liabilities recognized in the balance sheet would be extinguished through reductions or
increases in future tax payments. Only those tax assets for which it is foreseen transformation into current taxes pursuant
to Law 214/2011 remained registered, for which it is automatically held that the probability test of IAS 12 is passed, in
accordance with to the Banca d’Italia/Consob/ISVAP document no 5 of 15 May 2012.

similar benefits” is equal to the algebraic sum of the following values:
• current value of the obligation at the reference date (calculated using the above method):
• minus the fair value of any assets that serve the plan.
The cost components of defined benefits must be recognised as follows:
• the pension cost and net interest on the net liabilities (assets) are recognised in the income statement, according to the
actuarial method already provided for in the previous text of IAS 19;
• the revaluations of net liabilities (assets) are recognised in the other components of comprehensive income (O.C.I).
Paragraph 122 specifies that the amounts recognised in the other components of comprehensive income can be
reclassified to Shareholders’ equity.
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12.2 – Other provisions
This item includes provisions made against legal and implicit obligations existing at the close of the period, including
provisions for employee early retirement schemes and other social security and health charges, and provisions for the
creation of the reserve required for paying employees their long-service bonuses according to the terms of company
regulations.
These liabilities are determined, in the same way as pension funds, on the basis of an assessment conducted by an
independent actuary using the methods laid down in IAS 19 (refer to that above in Provisions for retirement funds and
similar benefits).
The actuarial gains and losses are therefore recognized in the balance sheet with a contra-item in the income statement.
The provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

13 – Payables and securities issued
The items “Due to banks”, “Due to customers” and “Securities issued” include various forms of provisioning from banks
and customers, reverse repurchase agreements and provisioning through bonds and other funding instruments issued (net
of any shares of repurchased items).
Initial recognition of such financial liabilities is done on the settlement date when the sums collected are received or when
the securities are issued, on the basis of the fair value of the liabilities, which is normally equal to the amount received or
the issue price, with an increase for any additional costs/revenues directly connected to the single funding or bond issue
operation and not reimbursed by the lender. Internal administrative costs are excluded.
After initial recognition, debts and the securities issued, with the exception of on-demand and short-term entries which
remain booked at the price received, are valued at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have expired or are extinguished. They are also derecognised in the case
of repurchase of previously issued securities. The difference between the book value of the liability and the amount paid to
purchase it is booked to the income statement under item 100.d) ”Gains(losses) from repurchase of financial liabilities”.
Replacement on the market of own securities after buyback is considered a new issue with recognition at the new
placement price, with no effect on the Income Statement.

14 – Financial liabilities for trading
The item includes the negative value of trading derivatives.
All financial liabilities for trading are initially booked on the trade date based on fair value, without considering any
transaction costs directly attributable to the financial instrument, which are instead immediately booked to the income
statement.
Subsequently, these liabilities are booked at fair value, with recognition of the evaluation to the income statement under
item “80. Net trading gains (losses)”.
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With regards to the criteria for determining fair value of financial instruments, please refer to section A.4 Information on
fair value.
Financial liabilities held for trading are derecognised from the financial statement when the contractual rights over the
associated financial flows expire or when the financial liability is transferred with the substantial transfer of all the risks
and benefits deriving from ownership of the same.

16– Currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are first entered in the accounting currency, applying the exchange rate in effect at the
moment of the transaction.
At the end of every financial year or interim period, foreign currency items are measured as follows:
• cash items are converted at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date;
• non-cash items are carried at their historical cost converted at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the transaction;
• non-cash items designated at fair value are converted at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date.

17 – Other information
17.1 – Accruals and deferrals
Accrued income and deferred expenses include portions of revenues/expenses relating to several financial periods in part
already matured during the current financial period (and in the previous ones) but not yet received/paid. Deferred income
and expenses include portions of revenues/expenses already received/paid in the reporting period (or in previous ones) but
relating to the current financial period or subsequent ones.
These amounts are recognised in the balance sheet, adjusting the assets and liabilities they refer to.
17.2 – Recognition of revenues and costs
Revenues from the sale of goods or the provision of services are recognised in the balance sheet at the fair value of the
consideration received on the basis of the accruals concept. In the majority of cases the consideration consists of cash or
similar means and the amount of the revenues is the sum of cash or similar means received or due.
Costs are booked to the income statement in the periods when the associated revenues are recognised.
17.3 – Valuation reserves
This item includes valuation reserves relating to financial assets available for sale, cash flow hedges and defined benefit
plans.
17.4 – Provision for employee severance indemnities
Following the reform of complementary retirement funds pursuant to Legislative Decree 252 of 5/12/2005, the quotas of
severance indemnities accrued through to 31/12/2006 remained at the company, while quotas maturing after 1/1/2007
were destined, based on the employee’s choice, to the bank’s or the INPS Treasury’s complementary retirement funds.
Hence the severance indemnity fund accrued through to 31/12/2006 continues to be a defined benefit plan, in accordance
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Exchange rate differences resulting from the settlement of cash elements or from the conversion of non-cash elements
at rates other than those of the initial conversion or the conversion rate of the previous annual report, are booked to the
Income Statement of the financial period in which they arise.
Exchange rate differences relating to a non-monetary element, valued at fair value as a matching entry to a shareholders’
equity reserve, are also booked to shareholders’ equity. On the other hand, when a non-monetary element is valued at
fair value in the income statement as a matching entry, the relative exchange rate difference is also booked to the income
statement.

with that envisaged in IAS 19. The relative liability is booked to the financial statement on the basis of the actuarial value
of the same, determined by an independent actuary, on the basis of simplified actuarial hypotheses, which no longer take
into account expected future salary changes in the employment contract. Future flows of the severance indemnity are
actualised as of the reference date and any actuarial gains or losses are booked in other components of comprehensive
income (O.C.I) and reclassified to Shareholders’ equity (please see above, section Provisions for retirement funds and
similar benefits).
Vice versa, the quotas of severance indemnities accrued after 1/1/2007 can be considered to be a defined contribution
plan for all purposes, in that the obligation of the company is limited to paying the amounts accrued to the complementary
retirement fund chosen by the employee or to the INPS Treasury. The relative cost for the period is given by the amounts
paid to these alternative retirement funds.
17.5 – Security Loans
With reference to the clarifications provided by the Bank of Italy during the 2012, for security loan transactions without
guarantees or with guarantees consisting of other securities or unavailable cash, the following accounting treatment was
adopted.
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The remuneration for the transactions in question is recognised by the lender under item 40 “fee income” in the income
statement, correspondingly, the cost of said transactions is recognised by the borrower under item 50 “fee expense” in
the income statement.
With reference to any unavailable deposits made in favour of the lender by the borrower, considering that the cash remains
fully available to the latter until maturity of the security loan transaction, the borrower - in application of the principle of
substance prevailing over form - does not recognise either the asset in terms of the lender in the annual report, nor the
corresponding constrained liability. Correspondingly, the lender does not recognise in the annual report a liability with the
borrower or the connected constrained asset.
17.6 – Fair Value measurement
According to the IFRS 13, fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between participants in the trading market of this asset/liability at the measurement date.
This definition implies the concept of “exit price”, that is the expected sale or purchase value in realistic market conditions.
In particular, it is essential to take into adequate consideration:
• the specific characteristics of the asset/liability being measured, if they are significant for a participant in the relevant
trading market, at the moment of pricing the transaction;
• the principal trading market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of this, the most advantageous;
• all estimate assumptions that reference market participants would use when pricing the asset/liability, acting in their
best interest. Among these assumptions is non-performance risk, which includes the credit risk associated with the
issuers or the counterparty of the transaction, including the creditworthiness of the entity that prepares the financial
statements (in the case of valuation of a liability).
In the 2013 the valuation of bilateral and active derivatives subject to the ISDA Master Agreement with a Credit Support
Annex or CSA(“collateralised” derivatives), has been adjusted to take account of valuation by means of the Overnight
Indexed Swap (OIS) curve applied by the market to such instruments, previously valued by means of the discount curve
based on the Euribor parameter.
For the above type of collateralised derivatives the calculation of the CVA (“Credit Value Adjustment”), previously computed
only on non-collateralised derivatives, was also extended in order to reflect the impacts for each counterparty of the CSA
of potential exposures in the event of default (Exposure At Default or EAD) generated by the guarantee margin adjustment
times. This calculation regards specularly also the risk associated with the company’s own creditworthiness, entailing in the
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case positive effects on the income statement due to recognition of the so-called Debit Value Adjustment (DVA).
When determining the CVA/DVA, the Bank considers two different markets:
• the market of collateralized derivatives, where there is a daily exchange of collateral, for which the CVA / DVA is
calculated based on expected changes of value over a short period of time;
• the market of uncollateralized derivatives, where there is a risk on the fair value of the derivative at the balance-sheet
date and also on the expected change of value over the life of the derivative.
For derivatives with counterparties within the Dexia Group, fair value and adjustments for CVA and DVA are determined
applying the respective methods relative to collateralised derivatives, regardless of whether or not there is a bilateral and
active CSA.
Based on projections, positive expected exposures are used for a CVA calculation and negative expected exposures are
used for a DVA calculation.
For CVA / DVA calculation, the Probability of Default (PD) parameters are based on market data. The Loss Given Default
(LGD) parameters are based on market data, except for counterparts belonging to project and local authorities sectors for
which historical data are used.

In the context of fair value adjustments made in the area of derivative products, we note the introduction of the
“FVA” (Funding Value Adjustment) in 2015, which reflects the cost/benefit of funding connected with the absence of
collateralisation contracts on derivatives with customers with balanced brokering, against which mirror derivatives are
established, collateralised with market counterparties.
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In the 2014 the Dexia Group has introduced the following methodological changes to its assessment process:
• the use of observable market data to the greatest possible extent for the determination of the credit spreads used to
assess securities and CVA/DVA;
• an increase in the reference time horizon (from 5 to 10 days) used to close risk derivative positions hedged by collateral
in the case of default;
• revision of the methodology used to calculate the “bid-ask adjustment” for derivatives.

A.3 – Information on tranfers between portfolios of financial assets
A.3.1. Reclassified financial assets: book value, fair value and effects on comprehensive income
thousands of euro
Type of
financial
instrument
Debt securities

Portfolio of
origin

AFS

Allocation
portfolio

L&R

Book
value
at
31.12.2015

Fair value
at
31.12.2015

6,486,273

5,646,282

Income items for lack of
transfer (pre-tax)

Income items recorded
during the year (pre-tax)

Evaluative

Evaluative

(901,590)

Others
405,737

(52,055)

Others
405,737

The income items refer to interests as well as capital gains and losses realised on securities previously reclassified.

A.3.4 Effective interest rate and cash flows expected from the reclassified assets
With reference to the information pursuant to IFRS 7 § 12 A, letter f, we note that these securities do not meet the
impairment requirements and all future cash flow is therefore forecast for recovery.

A.4 – Information on fair value
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Qualitative information
A.4.1 Fair value levels 2 and 3: estimation techniques and input used
The assets and liabilities held for trading are exclusively derivative instruments. With regard to these instruments as a
whole – including the hedging derivatives shown in table 4.5.1 – over 98% of the fair value has been estimated according
to techniques based on observable market data (level 2).
The remaining instruments include some structured derivatives for which certain market parameters (e.g. volatility,
correlations) were not directly observable on the market or which were not judged to be representative for the purpose
of estimating fair value, hence mark-to-model parameters were used and the instruments assigned to level 3. This level is
also assigned to certain hedging derivatives. 						
In section 4, the criteria adopted for determining the fair value are analysed.
A.4.2 Estimation processes and sensitivity
To estimate the impact of the use of alternative valuation techniques on the fair value of the entire section of “level 3”
derivatives, the valuations given by the counterparts of the derivatives were considered. With regard to all financial assets
and liabilities held for trading, since these are derivatives in matched brokerage, it is estimated that there would be no net
impact (e 0.1 million in absolute value, positive on the assets and negative on the liabilities). The estimated impact on
hedging derivatives is equal to e +0.2 mln on assets and e +0.1 mln on liabilities.
A.4.3 Fair Value Hierarchy
The financial assets/liabilities measured at fair value are classified on the basis of a hierarchy of levels that reflects both the
observance of the data and the estimation model, if any, used to determine the fair value. In particular, the Dexia Group has
adopted the following criteria to define the degree of “observability” of a model, relevant to classification as level 2 or 3:
• state of validation of the model;
• degree of use of the model by the market;
• significance of the uncertainty incorporated in the model.
The following table sums up the rules which define the fair value hierarchy in the Dexia Group:
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Input data and models/Market activity

Active market

Less active market

Non-regulated/inactive
market
level 1

Observable prices

level 1

level 1

Input and observable models

level 2

level 2

level 2

Input or non-observable models

level 3

level 3

level 3

On the basis of the above indicated criteria, level 1 has been assigned only to bonds issued by Sovereign bodies and listed
on active markets, estimated on the basis of the closing prices registered on the stock market on the last business day of
the period of reference. Compared to 2014, there have been no changes in the valuation technique or in the hierarchical
classification of the fair value for these bonds.
Quantitative information
A.4.5 Fair Value Hierarchy
A.4.5.1 Assets and Liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis: breakdown by fair value levels
Financial assets/liabilities designated
at fair value

L1

1. Financial assets held for trading

31/12/2015
L2
2,377,596

L3
37,849

25,985

690

250,322

77,560

2,653,903

116,099

2,430,759

18,642

thousands of euro
31/12/2014
L2
L3
3,034,479
72,838

L1

2. Financial assets designated at fair value
3. Financial assets available for sale

37,997

4. Hedging derivatives

495,859

25,985

1,095

307,851

85,079

3,368,315

159,012

3,096,390

5,696

5. Property plant and equipment
Total

37,997

1. Financial liabilities held for trading

495,859

2. Financial liabilities designated at fair value
3. Hedging derivatives
Total

2,768,841

77,603

3,552,340

85,917

5,199,600

96,245

6,648,730

91,613

Key:
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3

A.4.5.2 Annual change of assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis (level 3)
Financial Assets
held for trading

Financial
Assets
designed at
fair value

Financial
Assets
available
for sale

thousands of euro
Property
plant and
equipment

Hedging
derivatives

1. Opening balances

72,838

1,095

85,079

2.

17,158

95

6

Increases

2.1. Purchases
2.2. Profits booked to:

95

2.2.1. Income statement

95

- of which capital gains
2.2.2. Shareholders' equity

X

2.3. Transfers from other levels
2.4. Other increases
3.

X
13,338

6

3,820

Decreases

52,147

500

7,525

3.1. Sales
3.2. Redemptions

500

3.3. Losses booked to:

574

7,525

3.3.1. Income statement

574

7,525

- of which capital losses
3.3.2. Shareholders' equity

X

X

3.4. Transfers to other levels
3.5. Other decreases

51,573

4.

37,849

Closing balances

690

69

77,560

Intangible
assets
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6. Intangible assets

A.4.5.3 Annual change of liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (level 3)
thousands of euro
Financial liabilities
held for trading
1.

Opening balances

2.

Increases

Financial liabilities
designated at fair
value

Hedging derivatives

5,696

85,917

13,345

2.1. Issues
2.2. Losses booked to:
2.2.1. Income statement
- of which capital losses
2.2.2. Shareholders' equity

X

X

2.3. Transfers from other levels

13,345

2.4. Other increases
3.

Decreases

399

8,314

3.3. Profits booked to:

399

8,314

3.3.1. Income statement

399

8,314

3.1. Redemptions
3.2. Repurchases

- of which capital gains
3.3.2. Shareholders' equity

X

X
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3.4. Transfers to other levels
3.5. Other decreases
4.

Closing balances

18,642

77,603

A.4.5.4 Assets and Liabilities not measured at fair value or measured at fair value on a not recurring basis: breakdown
by fair value levels
thousands of euro
Assets/Liabilities not measured
at fair value or measured at fair
value on a non recurring basis
1. Financial assets held to maturity
2. Due from banks
3. Due from customers

31/12/2015
BV

L1

L2

137,286
4,083,342

31/12/2014
L3
148,892

4,065,981

BV

L1

L2

187,650

L3
204,671

12,429,408

5,083,333

7,340,310

20,702,133

4,003,805

14,408,846

17,900,832

16,261,281

22,121,460

4,065,981 16,410,173 33,319,191

9,087,138 21,953,827

14,919,680

12,439,204

24,105,403

2. Due to customers

1,858,116

1,745,720

3. Securities issued

2,080,685

4. Property plant and equipement
held as investments
5. Assets held for sale
Total
1. Due to banks

4. Liabilities related to assets held
for sale
Total

18,858,481

14,184,924

Key:
BV = book value
L1= Level 1
L2= Level 2
L3= Level 3
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2,516,755

26,624,090

2,500,795

88,549

615,826

599,833

2,090,267

2,619,848

2,611,665

4,695,571 29,859,764

24,105,403

5,712,293

A.5 Information on the day one profit/loss
There isn’t recognised any DOP in item “80 - Net trading gain (losses)” of the 2015 income statement and as of 31
December 2015 there are no portions of DOP to be recognized in the income statement in future years.
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Part B – Comments on the balance
sheet
Assets
Section 1 - Cash and cash equivalents – Item 10
1.1 Cash and cash equivalents: breakdown
thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2015
a) Cash

Total 31/12/2014
3

4

3

4

b) Unrestricted deposits at Central Banks
Total

Section 2 - Financial assets held for trading - Item 20

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

2.1 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by type
thousands of euro
Items/Amounts

Total 31/12/2015
Level 1

Level 2

Total 31/12/2014
Level 3

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

A. Cash assets
1. Debt securities
1.1 Structured securities
1.2 Other debt securities
2. Equity securities
3. Mutual fund shares
4. Loans
4.1 Repurchase agreements
4.2 Others
Total A
B. Derivative instruments
1. Financial derivatives:

2,318,347

37,848

2,957,402

72,838

1.1 for trading

2,318,347

37,848

2,957,402

72,838

1.2 associated with the fair value option
1.3 others
2. Credit derivatives:
2.1 for trading

59,250

77,077

59,250

77,077

2.2 associated with the fair value option
2.3 others
Total B

2,377,597

37,848

3,034,479

72,838

Total (A+B)

2,377,597

37,848

3,034,479

72,838
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2.2 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by debtors/issuers
thousands of euro
Items/Amounts

Total 31/12/2015

Total 31/12/2014

A. Cash assets
1. Debt securities
a) Governments and Central banks
b) Other public bodies
c) Banks
d) Other issuers
2. Equity securities
a) Banks
b) Other issuers:
- insurance companies
- financial companies
- non-financial companies
- others
3. Mutual fund shares
4. Loans
a) Governments and Central banks
b) Other public bodies
d) Others
Total A
B. Derivative instruments

2,415,445

3,107,317

1,053,044

1,413,964

a) Banks
- fair value
b) Customers
1,362,401

1,693,353

Total B

- fair value

2,415,445

3,107,317

Total (A+B)

2,415,445

3,107,317

Section 4 - Financial assets available for sale - Item 40
4.1 Financial assets available for sale: breakdown by type
thousands of euro
Items/Amounts
1. Debt securities

Total 31/12/2015
Level 1

Level 2

Total 31/12/2014
Level 3

Level 1

37,997

Level 2

Level 3

495,859

1.1 Structured securities
1.2 Other debt securities

37,997

2. Equity securities

2.1 Designated at fair value

495,859
25,985

1

25,985

1

25,985

1

25,985

1

2.2 Carried at cost
3. Mutual fund shares

689

1,094

4. Loans
Total

37,997

25,985
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690

495,859

25,985

1,095
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c) Banks

Here below are presented significant details related to Equity instruments and Mutual Funds:
thousands of euro
Financial Statements
at 31/12/15

Equity securities and mutual fund shares
Istituto per il Credito Sportivo

AFS reserve
at 31/12/15

25,985

1,327

1

0

25,986

1,327

Mid Capital Mezzanine Fund (Mutual fund shares)

689

0

Mutual fund shares

689

0

26,675

1,327

Idroenergia S.c.r.l.
Equity securities

Total

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

The valuation of Istituto per il Credito Sportivo (ICS) takes into account the reduction, resulting from the ICS Articles
of Association, of the share capital quota assigned to Dexia Crediop amounting to 3,110% compared to the previous
21,622%. In this regard, it should be noted, however, that this assessment does not constitute in any way acquiescence
with regard to the “forced” reduction in the equity investment made by the new Article of Association which are asserted
to be illegitimate, as declared in the various appeals against the new Articles of Association and the measures issued by
the supervising Ministries and ICS that preceded it.
In accordance with the Dexia Group policy and with the nature of inputs used in valuation, the fair value of the stakes
above is determined using techniques based on unobservable inputs (level 3), with the exception of ICS, for which it is
believed to assign “level 2”(based on input different from listed prices as used in level 1 observed directly or indirectly
in the market) because the valuation is based on the new ICS Articles of Association published in the Gazzetta Ufficiale.
Here following the summary of valuation methods used:
- Istituto per il Credito Sportivo: equity method based on the new ICS Articles of Association published in the Gazzetta
Ufficiale;
- Mid-Capital Mezzanine Fund (Mutual fund shares): equity method.

74

4.2 Financial assets available for sale: breakdown by debtors/issuers
thousands of euro
Items/Amounts

Total 31/12/2015

1. Debt securities
a) Governments and Central banks

Total 31/12/2014
37,997

495,859

37,997

495,859

25,986

25,986

25,985

25,985

1

1

1

1

689

1.094

64,672

522,939

b) Other public bodies
c) Banks
d) Other issuers
2. Equity securities
a) Banks
b) Other issuers:
- insurance companies
- financial companies
- non-financial companies
- others
3. Mutual fund shares
4. Loans
a) Governments and Central banks

c) Banks
d) Others
Total

4.3 Financial assets available for sale with specific hedges
thousands of euro
Items/Amounts

31/12/2015

1. Financial assets with specific fair value hedges:
a) interest-rate risk

31/12/2014
37,997

495,859

37,997

495,859

37,997

495,859

b) price risk
c) exchange rate risk
d) credit risk
e) multiple risks
2. Financial assets with specific cash flow hedges:
a) interest-rate risk
b) exchange-rate risk
c) other risks
Total
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b) Other public bodies

Section 5 - Financial assets held to maturity - Item 50
5.1 Financial assets held to maturity: breakdown by type
thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2015
BV
1. Debt securities

Total 31/12/2014

FV
LEVEL 1

LEVEL 2

FV

BV

LEVEL 3

LEVEL 1

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

137,286

148,892

187,650

204,671

137,286

148,892

187,650

204,671

- structured
- others
2. Loans
Key:
FV = fair value
BV = book value

5.2 Financial assets held to maturity: debtors/issuers
thousands of euro
Type of transaction/Amounts

Total 31/12/2015

1. Debt securities

Total 31/12/2014

137,286

187,650

137,286

187,650

Total

137,286

187,650

Total fair value

148,892

204,671

a) Governments and Central banks
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b) Other public bodies
c) Banks
d) Other issuers
2. Loans
a) Governments and Central banks
b) Other public bodies
c) Banks
d) Others
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Section 6 - Due from banks - Item 60
6.1 Due from banks: breakdown by type
thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2015
Type of transaction/Amounts

BV

A. Due from Central Banks

2. Compulsory reserve

45,322

3 Repurchase agreements
4. Others
B. Due from banks
1. Loans

Level 1

45,322

1. Restricted deposits

Total 31/12/2014

FV
Level 2

Level 3

45,322

FV
Level 1

21,983

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

BV

21,983

Level 2

Level 3

21,983
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

4,038,020

4,020,659

12,407,425

5,061,350

7,340,310

4,038,020

4,020,659

5,252,644

5,061,350

185,529

1.1 Current accounts and demand deposits

X

X

X

2,333

X

X

X

3,853,792

X

X

X

5,059,011

X

X

X

170,936

X

X

X

191,300

X

X

X

- Repurchase agreements

X

X

X

X

X

X

- Financial lease

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

1.2 Restricted deposits
1.3 Other loans:

- Others

170,936

2. Debt securities

7,154,781

2.1 Structured securities

X

X

X

2.2 Other debt securities

X

X

X

Total

191,300

4,083,342

4,065,981

7,154,781
12,429,408

7,154,781
X

X

X

X

X

X

5,083,333

7,340,310

Key:
FV = fair value
BV = book value

The decrease when compared to the 2014 is mainly due to the amortisation of the certificates of deposit of the parent
company Dexia Crédit Local and guaranteed by the French, Belgium and Luxembourg states held by Dexia Crediop for
around 7 billions euro.
6.2 Due from banks with specific hedges
thousands of euro
Type of transaction/Amounts

31/12/2015

1. Loans with specific fair value hedges:
a) interest-rate risk

31/12/2014
166,686

175,310

166,686

175,310

166,686

175,310

b) exchange-rate risk
c) credit risk
d) multiple risks
2. Loans with specific cash flow hedges:
a) interest rate
b) exchange rate
c) other risks
Total
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13,292

Section 7 - Due from customers - Item 70
7.1 Due from customers: breakdown by type
thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2015
Type of
transaction/
Amounts
Loans

Book Value
Performing
7,642,310

Fair value

Non Performing

L1

Purchased Other

L2

Book Value

L3

77,958

Performing

6,991,002

Fair value

Non Performing
Purchased Other

8,596,571

L1

L2

45,697

L3
8,211,043

1. Current
accounts

X

X

X

X

X

X

2. Reverse
repurchase
agreements

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

4. Credit cards,
personal loans,
salary-backed loans

X

X

X

X

X

X

5. Financial lease

X

X

X

X

X

X

6. Factoring

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

4,003,805

6,197,803

X

X

X

X

X

X

3. Loans

6,991,158

7. Other
transactions
Debt securities

651,152

74,180

3,778

10,180,564

9. Other debt
securities

10,180,564

Total

17,822,874

8,249,139

347,432

9,270,279

8. Structured
securities
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Total 31/12/2014

18,584

12,059,865

X

X

X

X

X

X

12,059,865

16,261,281

20,656,436

77,958

27,113

45,697

4,003,805 14,408,846

7.2 Due from customers: breakdown by debtors/issuers
thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2015
Type of transaction/Amounts
1. Debt securities:

Performing

Total 31/12/2014

Non Performing
Purchased

Other

Performing

10,180,564

12,059,865

a) Governments

4,405,966

4,684,438

b) Other public bodies

4,231,932

5,514,247

c) Other issuers

1,542,666

1,861,180

- non-financial companies

802,945

942,644

- financial companies

739,721

918,536

Non Performing
Purchased

Other

- insurance companies
- others
2. Loans to:

7,642,310

77,958

8,596,571

45,697

a) Governments

1,529,434

1,990,662

b) Other public bodies

4,904,297

5,379

5,302,000

3,893

c) Others

1,208,579

72,579

1,303,909

41,804

- non-financial companies

552,203

57,856

945,351

24,112

- financial companies

656,322

14,723

358,437

17,692

- insurance companies
- others
Total

54

121

17,822,874

77,958

78

20,656,436

45,697

7.3 Due from customers microhedged assets
thousands of euro
Type of transaction/Amounts

31/12/2015

1. Loans with specific fair value hedges:
a) interest-rate risk

31/12/2014

11,152,198

12,979,667

10,833,667

12,421,180

318,531

558,487

480,441

155,165

480,441

155,165

11,632,639

13,134,832

b) exchange-rate risk
c) credit risk
d) multiple risks
2. Loans with specific cash flow hedges:
a) interest-rate risk
b) exchange-rate risk
c) other risks
Total
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Section 8 - Hedging derivatives - Item 80
8.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedging and by level
thousands of euro
FV 31/12/2015
L1

L2

FV 31/12/2014

NV
31/12/2015

L3

L1

L2

NV
31/12/2014

L3

A) Financial
derivatives

250,322

77,560

4,196,086

307,850

85,079

2,909,043

1) Fair Value

221,023

77,560

3,681,751

271,196

85,079

2,337,374

514,335

36,654

4,196,086

307,850

2) Cash flow hedges

29,299

571,669

3) Foreign investments
B) Credit derivatives
1) Fair Value
2) Cash flow hedges
Total

250,322

77,560

85,079

2,909,043

Key:
NV = nominal value
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3
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8.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by portfolios hedged and type of hedging
thousands of euro
Fair value
Transaction/Type of hedging

Cash flow hedges

Specific
interest
exchange
rate
rate risk
risk

credit
risk

price
risk

multiple
risks

1. Financial assets available for sale
276

3. Financial assets held to maturity

X

4. Portfolio

X

X

4,109

X
X

X

X

29,249

X

6,760

276

4,109

220,052
X

X
X

X

X

220,052

67,386

6,760

X

X

X

X

X

2. Portfolio of financial assets and
liabilities

X

X

X

X

X

80

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

29,249
50

X

X

67,386

1. Expected transactions

Foreign
investments

X

X

X

Generic

X

X

Total assets

Total liabilities

X
X

5. Other transactions

2. Portfolio

Specific

X

2. Loans

1. Financial liabilities

Generic

X
X

50
X

X
X

X

Section 9 - Fair value adjustment of financial assets in hedged portfolios - Item 90
9.1 Fair value adjustments of hedged assets: breakdown by portfolios hedged
thousands of euro
Fair value adjustments of hedged assets/Securities

Total 31/12/2015

1. Increases
1.1 of specific portfolios:
a) loans

Total 31/12/2014
11,577

17,611

11,577

17,611

11,577

17,611

6,608

7,850

6,608

7,850

6,608

7,850

4,969

9,761

b) financial assets available for sale
1.2 total
2. Decreases
2.1 of specific portfolios:
a) loans
b) financial assets available for sale
2.2 total
Total

9.2 Assets of the banking group with macro hedging of interest rate risk
thousands of euro
Hedged assets

31/12/2015
5,621,102

6,566,805

5,621,102

6,566,805

2. Assets available for sale
3. Portfolio
Total
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1. Loans

31/12/2014

Section 10 - Equity investments – Item 100
10.1 Equity investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled companies or companies subject to significant influence:
information on the interests held
Name

Head-quarters

Headquarters

% of equity held

% of votes held

Dublin

Dublin

99.99

99.99

A. Full subsidiaries
1 Dexia Crediop Ireland (1)
B. Jointly controlled companies
C. Companies subject to significant influence
(1) Unlimited liability company constituted under Irish law, with registered offices in 6 George’s Dock, Dublin 1 and share capital of Euro 100 million represented by 100 million shares, each
with a nominal value of 1 euro.
- 99,999,999 shares are held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;
- 1 share held by Belfius Ireland (ex Dexia Investments Ireland), in its capacity as Trustee for Dexia Crediop S.p.A., until the 05/03/2013; on 06/03/2013 Belfius Ireland sold, without a
trustee agreement, the share to Dexia Crédit Local.

The Company Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l., whose equity of Euro 10.000 was 90% held by
Dexia Crediop, was placed in voluntary liquidation with a deed of 30 September 2015 and removed from the register of
companies on 7 December 2015.

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

The company’s sole purpose was the issuing of covered bank bonds in accordance with Article 7-bis of the Law 130 of 30
April 1999 and subsequent implementation provisions and it had not carried out any transactions.
10.5 Equity investments: annual change
thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2015
A. Opening balances

Total 31/12/2014

100,009

100,024

9

15

9

15

100,000

100,009

B. Increases
B.1 Purchases
B.2 Writebacks
B.3 Revaluations
B.4 Other changes
C. Decreases
C.1 Sales
C.2 Writedowns
C.4 Other changes
D. Closing balances
E. Total revaluations
F. Total adjustments
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Section 11 - Property, plant and equipment – Item 110
11.1 Property plant and equipment: breakdown of assets carried at cost
thousands of euro
Assets/Amounts

Total 31/12/2015

1. Property assets
a) land

Total 31/12/2014
3,049

42,701

0

28,844

b) buildings

749

11,461

c) furniture

1,772

1,772

d) electronic systems

322

445

e) others

206

179

3,049

42,701

2. Assets acquired on financial lease
a) land
b) buildings
c) furniture
d) electronic systems
e) others
Total

The reduction of property assets in 2015 is mainly due to the sale of the property located at Via Venti Settembre 30.
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Additional information
The depreciation method used for tangible assets, which is deemed to reflect the ways in which the associated future
economic benefits will be used, is the straight-line method. This method involves the depreciation of a constant charge
throughout the useful life of the asset if its residual value does not change. During the period there have been no changes
to the expected uses of the future economic benefits, that would require changes to the depreciation method.
The useful life of assets is calculated on the basis of their expected usefulness. Since land and works of art have an
unlimited useful life, they are not subject to depreciation.

11.5 Property plant and equipment for business purposes: annual change
thousands of euro
Land
A. Gross opening balances

Buildings

28,844

23,472

A.1 Net total adjustments

0

A.2 Net opening balances

28,844

Electronic
systems

Furniture

Others

Total

3,435

1,249

1,733

58,733

12,011

1,663

804

1,554

16,032

11,461

1,772

445

179

42,701

B. Increases:

536

9

3

64

612

B.1 Purchases

536

9

3

64

612

9

126

37

40,264

697

9

126

37

B.2 Expenses for capitalised improvements
B.3 Writebacks
B.4 Increases in fair value booked to
a) shareholders' equity
b) income statement
B.5 Positive exchange-rate differences
B.6 Reclassification from buildings held
as investments
B.7 Other changes
C. Decreases:

28,844

11,248

C.1 Sales

28,844

10,551

C.2 Depreciation

39,395
869

C.3 Impairment losses booked to:

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

a) shareholders' equity
b) income statement
C.4 Decreases in fair value booked to
a) shareholders' equity
b) income statement
C.5 Negative exchange-rate differences
C.6 Reclassification to:
a) property plant and equipment held
as investments
b) assets held for sale
C.7 Other changes
D. Net closing balances

0

D.1 Net total adjustments
D.2 Gross closing balances

0

E. Measurement at cost

84

749

1,772

322

206

3,049

12,708

1,672

930

1,591

16,901

13,457

3,444

1,252

1,797

19,950

Section 12 – Intangible assets – Item 120
12.1 Intangible assets: breakdown by type of asset
thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2015
Assets/Amounts

Defined
duration
X

A.1 Goodwill

Indefinite
duration

Total 31/12/2014
Defined
duration
X

A.2 Other intangible assets

3,137

3,013

A.2.1 Assets carried at cost:

3,137

3,013

3,137

3,013

3,137

3,013

Indefinite
duration

a) Intangible assets generated internally
b) Other assets
A.2.2 Assets designated at fair value:
a) Intangible assets generated internally
b) Other assets
Total

Intangible assets consist of software purchased from third parties in the process of amortization. The amortisation is
carried out on the basis of the possible residual useful life.
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12.2 Intangible assets: annual change
thousands of euro
Goodwill

Other intangible assets:
generated internally
DEF

INDEF

Other intangible
assets: others
DEF

Total

INDEF

A. Opening balances

33,985

33,985

A.1 Net total adjustments

30,972

30,972

A.2 Net opening balances

3,013

3,013

B. Increases

1,696

1,696

B.1 Purchases

1,696

1,696

1,572

1,572

1,572

1,572

1,572

1,572

B.2 Increases in internal intangible assets

X

B.3 Writebacks

X

B.4 Increases in fair value:
- to shareholders' equity

X

- to income statement

X

B.5 Positive exchange-rate differences
B.6 Other changes
C. Decreases
C.1 Sales
C.2 Writedowns
- Amortization

X

- Devaluations:

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

+ shareholders' equity

X

+ income statement
C.3 Decreases in fair value:
- to shareholders' equity

X

- to income statement

X

C.4 Reclassification to non-current assets held for sale
C.5 Negative exchange-rate differences
C.6 Other changes
D. Net closing balances

3,137

3,137

D.1 Total net adjustments

32,544

32,544

E. Gross closing balances

35,681

35,681

F. Measurement at cost
Key:
DEF: of defined duration
INDEF: of indefinite duration
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Section 13 – Tax credits and liabilities - Item 130 of the assets and Item 80 of the liabilities
13.1 Deferred tax assets: breakdown
thousands of euro
31/12/2015
A. Deferred tax assets
A1. Loans (including securitisations)

31/12/2014
7

419

7

98

0

321

7

419

A2. Other financial assets
A3. Goodwill
A4. Deferred charges
A5. Property plant and equipment
A6. Provisions for risks and charges
A7. Representation expenses
A8. Staff expenses
A9. Tax losses
A10. Unused tax credits to be deducted
A11. Others
B. Compensation with deferred tax liabilities
C. Net deferred tax assets
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In 2014, in accordance with that foreseen IAS 12, net deferred tax assets have been cancelled.
The company, in fact, did not hold it likely that they would be recovered in the future, nor that the value of the assets or
liabilities recognised in the balance sheet would be extinguished through reductions or increases in future tax payments.
Only those tax assets for which it is foreseen transformation into current taxes pursuant to Law 214/2011 remained
registered, for which it is automatically held that the probability test of IAS 12 is passed, in accordance with the Banca
d’Italia/Consob/ISVAP document no. 5 of 15 May 2012.

13.3 Change in deferred tax assets (with matching entry in income statement)
thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2015
1. Initial balance

Total 31/12/2014
419

9,947

2. Increases

7

1,169

2.1 Deferred tax assets arising in the year

7

1,169

7

1,169

419

10,697

a) relating to prior years
b) due to changes in accounting policies
c) writebacks
d) other
2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates
2.3 Other increases
3. Decreases
3.1 Deferred tax assets cancelled in the year

1,807

1,807

a) reversals
b) written down as now considered unrecoverable
c) change in accounting policies
d) other
3.2 Reduction in tax rates
3.3 Other decreases

419

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

a) tax credit trasformation pursuant L.214/2011

8,890

419

8,890

b) other
4. Final balance

7

419

13.3.1 Change in deferred tax assets ex L. 214/2011 (with matching entry in income statement)
thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2015
1. Initial balance

Total 31/12/2014
419

48

2. Increases

7

419

3. Decreases

419

48

419

48

98

48

3.1 Reversals
3.2 Tax credit trasformation
a) due to losses
b) due to fiscal losses

321

3.3 Other decreases
4. Final balance

7

88

419

13.4 Changes in deferred tax liabilities (with matching entry in income statement)
thousands of euro
Totale 31/12/2015
1. Initial balance

Totale 31/12/2014
0

3,217

0

3,217

2. Increases
2.1 Deferred tax liabilities arising in the year
a) relating to prior years
b) due to changes in accounting policies
c) other
2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates
2.3 Other increases
3. Decreases
3.1 Deferred tax liabilities cancelled in the year
a) reversals
b) due to changes in accounting policies
c) other
3.2 Reduction in tax rates
3.3 Other decreases

3,217

4. Final balance

0

0

thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2015

Total 31/12/2014

1. Initial balance

0

36,042

2. Increases

0

1,806

2.1 Deferred tax assets arising in the year

0

1,806

a) relating to prior years
b) due to changes in accounting policies
c) other

1,806

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates
2.3 Other increases
3. Decreases

0

37,849

3.1 Deferred tax assets cancelled in the year

0

5,799

a) reversals

5,799

b) written down as now considered unrecoverable
c) change in accounting policies
d) other
3.2 Reduction in tax rates
3.3 Other decreases

32,050

4. Final balance

0
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13.5 Changes in deferred tax assets (with matching entry to equity)

13.6 Change in deferred tax liabilities (with matching entry to equity)

thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2014

Total 31/12/2015
1. Initial balance

0

19,039

2. Increases

0

5,324

2.1 Deferred tax liabilities arising in the year

0

5,324

a) relating to prior years
b) due to changes in accounting policies

5,324

c) other
2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates
2.3 Other increases
3. Decreases

0

3.1 Deferred tax liabilities cancelled in the year

24,363
9,779

a) reversals
b) due to changes in accounting policies
c) other
3.2 Reduction in tax rates
3.3 Other decreases

14,584

4. Final balance

0

0

13.7 Other information

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

A) Current tax assets

thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2014

Total 31/12/2015
A. Current tax assets

18,108

15,929

A1. IRES prepaid

8,511

8,138

A2. IRAP prepaid

3,762

3,762

5,835

4,029

A3. Other tax credit and withholding
B. Compensation with current tax liabilities

(1,078)

0

C. Net current tax assets

17,030

15,929

B) Current tax liabilities

thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2014

Total 31/12/2015
A. Current tax liabilities

1,078

A1. IRES liabilities

351

A2. IRAP liabilities

727

0

A3. Other current tax liabilities
B. Compensation with current tax assets

(1,078)

C. Net current tax liabilities

0

0

Section 15 - Other assets - Item 150
15.1 Other assets: breakdown
Description

thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2014

Total 31/12/2015

1. Adjustments to exchange rate derivatives
2. Sundry accrued expenses and deferred charges
3. Other assets
Total
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0

5,770

54,303

50,117

961

5,346

55,264

61,233

Liabilities
Section 1 - Due to banks - Item 10
1.1 Due to banks: breakdown by type
thousands of euro
Type of transaction/Amounts

Total 31/12/2015

Total 31/12/2014

1. Due to central banks

6,900,265

14,580,390

2. Due to banks

8,019,415

12,043,700

2.1 Current accounts and demand deposits

3,583,000

2.2 Restricted deposits
2.3 Loans

511,434

5,817,411

3,924,981

6,226,289

2.3.1 Repurchase agreements

2,215,341

3,707,603

2.3.2 Others

1,709,640

2,518,686

14,919,680

26,624,090

Fair value - level 2

12,439,204

24,105,403

Fair value - level 3

2,516,755

2,500,795

14,955,959

26,606,198

2.4 Due for commitments to repurchase own equity instruments
2.5 Other debts
Total
Fair value - level 1

1.2 Details of item 10 “Amounts due to banks”: subordinated debts
On 31.12.15 subordinated debts stood at e 400,020 thousand (e 400,018 thousand in 2014).
The subordinate loan has the following characteristics:
- technical form: loan;
- nominal amount: e 400 million;
- duration: 10 years;
- maturity: June 2017
- reimbursement: bullet;
- interest rate: euribor 3 months increased by 72 bp pa.
The variation of the item compared to 2014 is attributable to the reduction of the deposits with the Central Bank and
with Dexia Group entities.
1.4 Due to banks with specific hedges
thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2015
1. Payables with specific fair value hedges:
a) interest-rate risk

Total 31/12/2014
56,363

83,980

56,363

83,980

90,710

187,580

90,710

187,580

147,073

271,560

b) foreign exchange risk
c) various risks
2. Payables with specific cash flow hedges:
a) interest-rate risk
b) foreign exchange risk
c) other risks
Total
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Total Fair value

Section 2 – Amounts due to customers – Item 20
2.1 Due to customers: breakdown by type
thousands of euro
Type of transaction/Amounts

Total 31/12/2015

1. Current accounts and demand deposits

Total 31/12/2014

320,250

263,691

1,537,866

352,135

435,192

993

1,102,674

351,142

1,858,116

615,826

2. Restricted deposits
3. Loans
3.1 Repurchase agreements
3.2 Others
4 Amounts due for commitments to repurchase own equity instruments
5. Other payables
Total
Fair value - level 1
Fair value - level 2

1,745,720

Fair value - level 3
Total Fair value

88,549

599,833

1,834,269

599,833

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Section 3 - Securities in issue - Item 30
3.1 Securities in issue: breakdown by type
thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2015

Type of securities/Amounts
Book
value

Total 31/12/2014

Fair value

Fair value

Level 3

Book
value

2,080,685

2,090,267

2,619,262

2,611,079

2,080,685

2,090,267

2,619,262

2,611,079

586

586

Level 1

Level 2

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

A. Securities
1. Bonds
1.1 structured
1.2 others
2. Other securities
2.1 structured
2.2 others
Total

2,080,685

2,090,267

586

586

2,619,848

2,611,665

3.3 Details of item 30 “Securities issued”: securities with specific hedges
thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2015
1. Securities with specific fair value hedges:
a) interest-rate risk

Total 31/12/2014

1,628,461

2,580,198

1,409,760

2,074,899

218,701

505,299

1,628,461

2,580,198

b) exchange-rate risk
c) multiple risks
2. Securities with specific cash flow hedges:
a) interest-rate risk
b) exchange-rate risk
c) other risks
Total

92

Section 4 - Financial liabilities for trading - Item 40
4.1 Financial liabilities for trading: breakdown by type
Type of transaction/Amounts
NV
L1

Total 31/12/2015
FV
L2
L3

FV *

NV

thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2014
FV
FV *
L1
L2
L3

A. Cash liabilities
1. Due to banks
2. Due to customers
3. Debt securities
3.1 Bonds
3.1.1 Structured

X

X

3.1.2 Other bonds

X

X

3.2.1 Structured

X

X

3.2.2 Others

X

X

3.2 Other securities

Total A
B. Derivative instruments
1. Financial derivatives

2,374,140

18,642

2,374,140

18,642

3,020,843

5,696

3,020,843

5,696

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

1.3 Others

X

X

X

X

X

X

2. Credit derivatives

56,619

2.1 Trading

X

X

75,547

56,619

2.2 Associated with the fair value option

X

X

X

2.3 Others

X

X

X

75,547

X
X
X

Total B

X

2,430,759

18,642

X

X

3,096,390

5,696

X

Total (A+B)

X

2,430,759

18,642

X

X

3,096,390

5,696

X

Key
FV = fair value
FV* = fair value calculated excluding the value changes due to variation in issuer’s creditworthiness since the date of issue
NV = nominal or notional value
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3

Section 6 - Hedging derivatives - Item 60
6.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedging and by hierarchical levels

L1
A. Financial derivatives
1) Fair Value
2) Cash flow hedges

Fair value
31/12/2015
L2

NV
31/12/2015

L3

L1

thousands of euro
Fair value
31/12/2014
L2

L3

NV
31/12/2014

2,768,841

77,603

18,866,926

3,552,340

85,917

21,698,082

2,755,617

77,603

18,729,686

3,530,657

85,917

19,476,014

137,240

21,683

18,866,926

3,552,340

13,224

2,222,068

3) Foreign investments
B) Credit derivatives
1) Fair Value
2) Cash flow hedges
Total

2,768,841

77,603

Key
NV = notional value
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3
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1.1 Trading
1.2 Associated with the fair value option

6.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by portfolios hedged and type of hedging
thousands of euro
Cash flow hedges

Fair value
Transaction/Type of hedging

1. Financial assets available for sale
2. Loans

Specific
interest
rate risk

exchange
rate risk

credit
risk

price
risk

16,497
2,752,998

X

X

X

3. Financial assets held to maturity

50,123

4. Portfolio

Foreign
investment

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

Specific

X

11,812

5. Other transactions
Total assets

Generic

multiple Generic
risks

X

X

X

X

2,769,495

1. Financial liabilities

X
50,123

1,790

X

X

X

X

X

11,812
X

13,224

X

X

2. Portfolio

X

Total liabilities

1,790

13,224

1. Expected transactions

X

X

X

X

X

X

2. Portfolio of financial assets and
liabilities

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Section 8 – Tax liabilities – Item 80
See section 13 of assets.

Section 10 - Other liabilities - Item 100
10.1 Other liabilities: breakdown
thousands of euro
Description

Total 31/12/2015

Total 31/12/2014

1. Relations with suppliers and professionals

7,067

9,887

2. Sundry accrued expenses and deferred income

1,207

3,456

3. Adjustments to exchange rate derivatives

2,485

0

4. Other liabilities
Total

7,472

11,105

18,231

24,448

Section 11 - Provision for severance indemnities - Item 110
11.1 Provision for severance indemnities: annual change
thousands of euro
Total 31/12/2015
A. Opening balances

Total 31/12/2014
2,426

2,419

B. Increases

47

195

B.1 Provision for the year

47

B.2 Other changes

71
124

C. Decreases

743

188

C.1 Indemnities paid

724

188

C.2 Other changes

19

D. Closing balances

1,730

2,426

Total

1,730

2,426
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Section 12 - Provisions for risks and charges - Item 120
12.1 Provisions for risks and charges: breakdown
thousands of euro
Items/Amounts

Total 31/12/2015

Total 31/12/2014

1 Provisions for retirement benefits

2,155

7,180

2. Provisions for risks and charges

26,271

16,377

23,319

5,547

2,952

10,830

28,426

23,557

2.1 legal disputes
2.2 personnel expenses
2.3 others
Total

12.2 Provisions for risks and charges: annual change
thousands of euro
Pension funds
A. Opening balances

Other provisions

Total

7,180

16,377

23,557

B. Increases

796

20,473

21,269

B.1 Provision for the year

796

20,473

21,269

C. Decreases

5,821

10,579

16,400

C.1 Use during the period

5,821

10,579

16,400

2,155

26,271

28,426

B.2 Changes due to the passing
B.4 Other changes

C.2 Changes due to variations in the discount rate
C.3 Other changes
D. Closing balances

The Item C.1 “Use during the period” includes Eur 5.3 million relative to use, pursuant to IAS 19R, registered with a
contra-entry to shareholder’s equity.

12.3 Company defined-benefit pension funds
1. Description of the funds
The sub-item “Pension funds and similar benefits” includes provisions recognized on the basis of IAS 19 “Employee
benefits” against various forms of complementary retirement schemes with defined benefits. These commitments are
based on calculations carried out by independent Actuaries using the projected units credit method. In particular, the
provisions are the same as the current value of the defined-benefit obligations net of the fair value of the fund’s assets.
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B.3 Changes due to variations in the discount rate

You can see below the information relating to the variations in the funds during the financial period, the reconcilement
between the current value of the funds, the current value of the assets serving the schemes and the assets and liabilities
entered in the balance sheet, together with the main actuarial assumptions.
2. Changes during the year to net defined benefit liabilities (assets) and reimbursement rights
Variations in the defined-benefit obligations

thousands of euro
31/12/2014

31/12/2015
55,817

Opening balances
Retirement benefit costs relating to current employment
Interest expenses
Contributions from those taking part in the scheme

484

1,097

1,651

141

135

(2,503)

(1,827)

Actuarial losses (gains) due to changes to financial and demographic hypotheses

(2,015)

10,178

Actuarial losses (gains) based on past experience

(1,383)

(416)

Other changes

0

252

Final balances

51,765

55,817

Benefits paid out

3. Fair value information for assets serving the scheme

thousands of euro

Variations in assets of the schemes

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

45,360

611

31/12/2015

31/12/2014

Opening balances

48,637

44,705

Yield of the assets

1,938

3,317

Interest receivable

953

1,629

Employer contributions

484

461

Contributions from those taking part in the scheme

141

135

(2,503)

(1,827)

(41)

(35)

Benefits paid out
Administrative expenses
Other changes

0

252

Final balances

49,609

48,637
thousands of euro

Assets underlying the scheme: fair value levels
Equity instruments

0

Mutual investment funds

3,319

- of which level 1
Debt securities

76,291

- of which level 1

63,565

Other activities

1,817

Total assets

81,427

thousands of euro
Assets underlying the scheme: rating
Equity instruments

0

Mutual investment funds

3,319

Debt securities

76,291

Government securities

63,874

-of which investment grade rating

63,874

-of which speculative grade rating
Financial companies

8,119

-of which investment grade rating

7,518

-of which speculative grade rating

601

Industrial companies

4,298

-of which investment grade rating

4,298

-of which speculative grade rating
Other activities

1,817

Total assets

81,427
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4. Description of the main actuarial hypotheses
thousands of euro
Main actuarial assumptions

31/12/2015
minimum

Discount rate

31/12/2014

maximum

minimum

maximum

2.30%

2.30%

2.00%

2.00%

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Expected rate of salary increases

1.50%

2.25%

1.50%

2.25%

Inflation rate

1.75%

1.75%

1.75%

1.75%

Expected rate of pension increases

0.50%

0.50%

0.50%

0.50%

Expected rate of yield of the assets

5. Information on amounts, schedules and uncertainties for financial flows
The estimated effects on the defined benefit obligation following a 50 bps change in the discount rate are as follows:
• +50bps; assumed discount rate = 2.80%, obligation = -3,114
• -50bps; assumed discount rate = 1.80%, obligation = +3,428
6. Plans relative to several employers

12.4 Provisions for risks and charges – other provisions
The “other provisions” amounting to e 26,271 thousand, consist of:
• provisions for legal disputes of e 23,319 thousand, relative to proceedings concerning Istituto per il Credito Sportivo
and administrative and to judicial proceedings with local authorities and the revenue authority (see the following
paragraphs for further details);
• personnel expenses: the provision includes e 2,952 thousand for charges related to redundancy bonus schemes, length
of service bonuses, and life insurance benefits. Specifically, the provision includes the charge specifically allocated for the
Solidarity Fund, the payment of which is directly connected with the 2009-2011 corporate restructuring plan, a defined
service provision that falls under the scope of IAS 19, and the charge allocated in relation to the personnel reduction
plan, signed with the trade unions in 2015.				
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Dexia Crediop has a benefit plan relative to several employers. This is the pension fund for former Crediop employees, hired
through 30 September 1989. This pre-existing complementary defined-benefit pension fund, with legal independence and
independent capital, is at present regulated by the statute approved by the collective agreements signed by the Dexia
Crediop companies, Intesa SanPaolo and the respective trade unions on 24 July 1996 and 1 August 1996.
The plan is funded, according to the statutory forecasts, by the monthly payment of a percentage contribution by the
employers and the subscribed personnel.				
In addition, the Companies undertake, at their exclusive expense – as jointly and indivisibly liable – to pay the sum required
to bring the Fund assets to the required level every year in the following cases:		
• if the effective annual return on assets is lower than the official reference rate;		
• if the Fund assets are found to be insufficient to cover the benefits in force, according to the results in the actuarial
technical financial statement drawn up using the Italian complete capitalisation method.

Administrative, judicial, and arbitration procedures

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Below we provide information about the most important administrative, judicial, or arbitration procedures in progress
which could have, or recently have had, repercussions for the Dexia Crediop Banking Group’s financial position and/or
profitability.
On 29 June 2009, the Province of Pisa, through a self-protection measure, cancelled the resolutions it had passed regarding
an Interest Rate Swap signed on 4 July 2007 with Dexia Crediop relating to a variable interest rate bonded loan partially
underwritten by Dexia Crediop. As a consequence, the Province of Pisa interrupted the payments it owed to Dexia Crediop
pursuant to the signed Interest Rate Swap. Hence, Dexia Crediop began legal action in England, aimed at obtaining
fulfilment of the obligations on the part of the Province of Pisa. Dexia Crediop also initiated legal action before the Italian
Administrative Court, aimed at obtaining the cancellation of the above-cited self-protection measure. Within the scope of
these proceedings, on 7 September 2011 the Council of State issued the non-definitive judgement no. 5032/2011, which,
inter alia, ascertained the exclusive jurisdiction of the administrative courts in ruling on the validity of the self-protection
measure and requested an Expert Technical Opinion (“ETO”). The requested ETO was filed with the Council of State on 14
May 2012. On 27 November 2012, the Council of State filed its ruling No. 5962/2012 which accepted Dexia Crediop’s
appeal, cancelling the self-protection measures adopted by the Province of Pisa and confirming the validity and effectiveness
of the swap contracts entered into by the Province, which were judged to comply with economic expediency under the terms
of art. 41 of Italian Law No. 448/2001.
On 15 February 2013, the Province of Pisa served a writ to Dexia Crediop for an appeal before the Court of Cassation against
the ruling No. 5962/2012 of the Council of State. On 16 January 2014, the Court of Cassation with decision No. 773/2014,
declared the appeal of the Province of Pisa inadmissible, confirming the ruling by the Council of State and ordering the
Province of Pisa to pay the legal and judicial expenses. Therefore, the ruling handed down by the Council of State on 27
November 2012 is final and no longer subject to appeals. After this ruling, the Province of Pisa paid all the nettings past due.
On 20 October 2014 the settlement agreement between Dexia Crediop and the Province of Pisa was signed. This agreement,
inter alia, provides for: (i) recognition by the Province of Pisa that, on the basis of its own autonomous assessments, and
on the basis of the judgements issued in the context of the legal proceedings, the swap contract is valid ab origine and
binding for the parties; (ii) payment to Dexia Crediop, by the Province of Pisa, of the refund of legal expenses related to the
English dispute, as well as payment of the nettings and default interest; (iii) renunciation by the parties of the legal actions
in progress and of taking legal actions in the future. Therefore, following the signing of the settlement agreement, the parties
filed a joint plea to the English court to close the case. With a Consent Order dated 28 October 2014, the English court,
accepting the parties’ plea, declared the proceeding before the London High Court/Commercial Court concluded.
On 3 February 2010, Dexia Crediop was notified that it was under investigation for administrative offences referred to
in Art. 5, clause 1, letter a), Art. 21 and Art. 24, clauses 1 and 2, of Italian Legislative Decree No. 231/01, in conjunction
with Art. 640, clause 2, no. 1, and Art. 61, no. 7, of the Italian Criminal Code. This was in relation to investigations into an
operation for the extinction of loans and refinancing through the reopening of a bonded loan issued by the Apulia Region
(of which Dexia Crediop purchased securities for a nominal amount of approximately € 240 million) with a simultaneous
completion of an amortising swap between the Apulia Region and another bank. By Order dated 18 February 2012 the
Preliminary Investigation Court of Bari revoked the attachment order applied to Dexia Crediop on 03 February 2010 for the
amount of approximately € 8.6 million and arranged for the return of this amount to Dexia Crediop.
On 1 April the hearing was held in the Court of Bari before the Judge of the Preliminary Hearing, which then continued
on 22 May 2014. A further hearing was set for 30 September 2014. On 14 October 2014, the Judge of the Preliminary
Hearing issued a decision “not to prosecute” Dexia Crediop for not having committed the offence.
On 21 December 2010, Dexia Crediop was served a preventive seizure decree of furniture and equipment, real assets and
receivables up to the maximum value of approximately e 635,000, within the scope of an investigation conducted by
the Court of Florence concerning, amongst other things, the derivative financial instruments stipulated in 2004 by Dexia
Crediop with the Region of Tuscany, in which it is alleged that Dexia Crediop had committed an unlawful administrative act
pursuant to art. 5, clause 1, letter a) and art. 24, clause 2 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 231/01 in relation to art. 110,
subsection 81, art. 640 clause 2, no. 1 and art. 61, no. 7, of the Italian Criminal Code. The seizure order was not enforced,
as Dexia Crediop deposited a guarantee for the same amount, and it was revoked on 30 March 2011. On 14 January 2013
the order to dismiss the case was issued by the Judge for Preliminary Investigations of the Court of Florence, accepting the
Public Prosecutor’s request. Dexia Crediop, therefore, proceeded to extinguish the surety it had provided.
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The Tuscany Region initiated two self-protection proceedings. The first, of 26 October 2011, concerns a loan agreed with
Dexia Crediop in 2004 and the second, on 3 January 2012, an existing swap with Dexia Crediop entered into in 2006. The
two cases are still open and, although a significant amount of time has passed, they have still not resulted in a decision
by the Region.
On 23 December 2010, the Lazio Region served Dexia Crediop with a writ of summons before the Civil Court of Rome.
The deed concerned transactions in derivatives entered into with the Lazio Region; in addition to Dexia Crediop, a further
14 banks were summoned to appear. The Regional Authorities of Lazio demand that Dexia Crediop pay compensation
for damages it alleges having suffered, for an amount of approximately € 8.5 million. On 4 December 2015, the case was
suspended while awaiting the ruling of the Joint Divisions of the Court of Cassation on the request for prior judgement
on jurisdiction made by Dexia Crediop.
On 29 September 2015, Dexia Crediop also filed an appeal with the Regional Administrative Court of Lazio, against the
Region’s refusal of the request made by Dexia Crediop for access to the settlement agreements signed between the Region
in question and the other banks involved in the civil proceedings. The hearing with the Regional Administrative Court of
Lazio is set for 1 March 2016.
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On 31 December 2010, the Municipality of Prato, through a self-protection measure, reversed its own resolution regarding
an interest rate swap signed on 29 June 2006 with Dexia Crediop in relation to two floating-rate bonded loan contracts
entered into with Dexia Crediop. By virtue of this, the Municipality did not proceed with the payment of approximately €
10.2 million.
Dexia Crediop initiated an action before the civil courts in England to obtain a ruling on the validity and effectiveness of
the contract and the fulfilment by the municipality of its own obligations. The first level proceeding before the High Court/
Commercial Court ended 24 July 2014.
With a ruling on 25 June 2015, the High Court/Commercial Court established that the swap operations do not constitute
debt and were concluded in full compliance with article 119 of the Italian Constitution, of article 41 of Italian Law
no. 48/2001 and article 3 of Ministerial Decree 389/2003. However, the High Court/Commercial Court, considering the
absence of a right to withdrawal for the Municipality of Prato within the contract (pursuant to article 30 of the Consolidated
Finance Act), declared the contracts null and void.
Following a specific request made by Dexia Crediop presented on 23 July 2015, the London Court of Appeal granted
authorisation to appeal the aforementioned ruling, with an Order dated 20 August 2015. The Municipality of Prato also
appealed the ruling. It is expected that the appeal will not be heard before May 2017.
Dexia Crediop also launched legal action in Italy before the Regional Administrative Court of Tuscany, in order to obtain
the cancellation of the above-mentioned self-protection measure, which ended in favour of Dexia Crediop, with a ruling
dated 24 November 2011.
The Municipality of Prato also initiated a second self-protection proceedings notified on 31 January 2011 and aimed
at verifying the validity of the tender called by the Municipality to select its advisor (Dexia Crediop) in 2002 and the
subsequent restructuring operations of swaps prior to the one in 2006, which was the subject of the first self-protection
proceedings. On 19 April 2012, the Municipality of Prato passed a resolution cancelling the tender on grounds of selfprotection. On 19 May 2012, Dexia Crediop lodged an appeal against that resolution, with the Regional Administrative
Court of Tuscany in order to obtain the cancellation of that self-protection measure. The litigation ended in favour of Dexia
Crediop, with a ruling handed down on 21 February 2013. The Regional Administrative Court of Tuscany, reaffirmed,
amongst other things, the points it made in its ruling dated 24 November 2011: the jurisdiction of the civil courts (in this
case, the English courts) when the dispute concerns a contract entered into by the Public Administration iure privatorum.
On 21 May 2013, the Municipality served a writ to Dexia Crediop for its appeal to the Council of State against the above
ruling. On 20 June 2013, Dexia Crediop filed its cross appeal against this appeal. As it stands, no date has yet been set
for the hearing.
Following a criminal investigation aimed at verifying whether the offence of fraud had been committed in relation to
the swap transactions of the Municipality of Prato, (entered into between 2002 and 2006) on 18 June 2012 the Public
Prosecutor issued a notice of conclusion of the preliminary investigations. The notice also included a notice of investigation
that was formally served to an employee of Dexia Crediop for the offence of aggravated fraud to the detriment of the
Municipality of Prato, and also to Dexia Crediop for the administrative offence pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree No.
231/2001 in relation to the failure to adopt/ineffective implementation of the Organisational Model.
On 21 February 2013, the hearing was held at the Court of Prato before the Preliminary Hearing Judge; the Municipality
joined the proceedings as a civil claimant and sued Dexia Crediop for civil liability. On 27 June 2013, the Preliminary
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Hearing Judge decided to order the indictment. The next hearing before the Court of Prato is set for 24 March 2016.
On 23 December 2013, Dexia Crediop was served with a writ of summons by the Municipality of Prato, with which
the Municipality summoned the bank to appear before the Civil Court of Prato requesting the cancellation – and a
declaration of ineffectiveness between the parties – of the ISDA framework agreement and the related Schedule signed
by the Municipality of Prato with Dexia Crediop. On 17 April 2014 a hearing was held on the preliminary issues. Dexia
Crediop appeared in court arguing, amongst other things, the lack of jurisdiction of the Italian civil court since the civil
litigation was already pending in England. The judge, in upholding the exceptions of Dexia Crediop, set the hearing for the
clarification of the conclusions at 10 March 2015. At this hearing, the parties specified their respective conclusions, making
reference to those already stated in the introductory acts of the case. Therefore, the judge remitted the case in decision.
With ruling no. 771/2015, filed on 30 June 2015, the Civil Court of Prato, accepting Dexia Crediop’s objections, declared
that the Italian court had no jurisdiction, and that instead the English courts had jurisdiction.
On 14 April 2011, the Municipality of Messina served Dexia Crediop with a writ of summons before the Civil Court of
Messina. The writ concerns two derivative transactions entered into by the Municipality of Messina on 28 June 2007 to
which Dexia Crediop is party, along with another bank. The Municipality of Messina demands the nullity of the contracts
with regards to Dexia Crediop or alternatively that they should be declared cancelled and that the bank should be ordered
to pay compensation for damages. The next hearing will be held on 23 June 2016. Additionally, the Municipality of
Messina, through a self-protection measure, reversed its own resolutions in relation to these derivative transactions. By
virtue of this, the Municipality of Messina has not, as of today, made the payment of approximately € 4.2 million. Dexia
Crediop began legal action pending before the Regional Administrative Court of Sicily, aimed at obtaining cancellation
of the aforementioned self-protection measure. The Reg. Admin. Court of Sicily, with a measure dated 18 February 2013,
ordered the case to be suspended as a consequence of the decision by another bank (which has an analogous dispute with
the Municipality) to request a prior judgement on jurisdiction before the Court of Cassation, with the aim of obtaining a
pronouncement of the latter on the subject of the administrative or civil court’s competence to preside over the dispute.
On 18 March 2013, Dexia Crediop in turn filed a similar appeal with the Court of Cassation.
The hearing before the Court of Cassation has been fixed for 7 October 2014. Following the hearing on 7 October 2014
the Joint Divisions of the Court of Cassation declared, with an order dated 23 October 2014, that the Italian court (both
administrative and civil) had no jurisdiction, instead affirming that the English courts had jurisdiction. On 17 November
2014, following the order issued by the Joint Divisions of the Court of Cassation on the request for prior judgement of
jurisdiction, Dexia Crediop filed a request to set the hearing with the Regional Administrative Court of Sicily, to complete
the administrative proceedings. The hearing with the Regional Administrative Court of Sicily occurred on 8 July 2015. On
10 July 2015, the Regional Administrative Court of Sicily - acknowledging the order of the Court of Cassation dated 23
October 2014, which had declared that the Italian court had no jurisdiction (either administrative or civil) and affirming
that English courts had jurisdiction - declared that it had no jurisdiction.
With Decree of the Italian Ministry for the Economy and Finance of 28 December 2011, issued on the proposal of the
Bank of Italy in accordance with Art. 70, clause 1 of the Consolidated Law on Banking, the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo
(“ICS”), was subjected to a receivership procedure which, with subsequent extensions, was still in progress on the date
this document was prepared. Within the scope of the commissioner activities, the special commissioners have questioned
the legal status of a fund contributed by the State, disputing the distribution of profits to investors and the ICS Articles of
Association in effect in 2005. In November 2012, the Prime Minister’s Office, at the request of the special commissioners,
launched administrative proceedings pursuant to article 21-nonies of Italian Law no. 241/1990 – aimed at automatically
cancelling, for self-protection, the Articles of Association of the ICS in force at the time (approved with Ministerial Decree
of 2 August 2005) – which were concluded on 6 March 2013 with the issuing of an inter-ministerial decree cancelling the
deeds implementing the ICS Articles of Association. That Decree gave rise to a complex sequence of legal actions involving,
on the one side, Dexia Crediop and the other private partners of ICS and, on the other side, the supervising Ministries and
the Special Commissioners of ICS.
The legal actions of an administrative nature referred to the cancellation of the 2005 Articles of Association of ICS, the
cancellation and re-calculation of the dividends distributed by ICS under the financial statements from 2005 to 2010, the
inter-ministerial directive adopted on 8 August 2013 with the guidelines for the new Articles of Association of ICS and the
new Articles of Association enacted through the Inter-ministerial Decree of 24 January 2014. Under the new Articles of
Association, the funds provided by the state and by CONI – with a retroactive calculation from the establishment of ICS in
1957 – were charged in full to the ICS Capital/Endowment Fund and so the Italian Ministry of Economy and Finance was
indicated as a new capital stakeholder and the capital reserves established over the years were attributed to the Capital/
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Endowment Fund and divided among the new capital stakeholders. The stake in the capital, including the previous capital
reserves, that the new Articles of Association assigned to Dexia Crediop amounted to 3.11% (previously 21.622%) with
an equivalent value of about € 26 million. As a consequence of the new ICS Articles of Association, Dexia Crediop adjusted
the value of the equity investment, recognised among available for sale equity securities, to the fraction of share capital
corresponding to the percentage assigned under the new Articles of Association, equal to around € 26 million but, while
awaiting a final degree ruling, holds the new ICS Articles of Association to be illegitimate.
Note the Council of State ruling filed on 21 September 2015, which rejected the appeal made by Dexia Crediop and other
private shareholders of ICS, declaring the legitimacy of the inter-ministerial decree annulling the implementation of the
2005 ICS Articles of Association for self-protection, and confirming the ruling of the Regional Administrative Court of Lazio
for which, in regards to the annulment of the resolutions to distribute profits, it has jurisdiction to determine the ordinary
civil case.
The legal actions taken in the civil courts refer to the request made by the Extraordinary Commissioners of ICS in the
second half of 2013, for the restitution of the dividends received in the period 2005-2010 in excess of the minimum
dividend established under the former Articles of Association enacted in 2002 (amount requested: € 16.9 million). The
hearing for clarification of the conclusions was held on 23 February 2016.
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On 23 January 2012, the Piedmont Region, through a self-protection measure, cancelled its resolutions in relation to a
capital-amortisation and interest-rate-risk-hedging swap contract signed on 16 November 2006 with Dexia Crediop. As
a result, the Piedmont Region interrupted payment of the nettings. Dexia Crediop initiated proceedings before the civil
court in England, aimed at ascertaining the validity and effectiveness of the aforesaid contract. With a judgement on 24
September 2012, the English court ascertained the validity and effectiveness of the contract and ordered the Piedmont
Region to pay the legal costs. Dexia Crediop therefore initiated further proceedings before the civil court in England,
aimed at obtaining an order for the Piedmont Region to pay the nettings due and still unpaid. With a ruling handed down
on 30 July 2013, the English Court sentenced the Piedmont Region to pay the amounts requested by Dexia Crediop, as
well as the payment of legal costs. The Piedmont Region submitted an application for authorisation to appeal before the
Court of Appeal in London. This application was rejected by the Court of Appeal with an Order dated 7 October 2013. The
Piedmont Region presented a petition for review against this Order. The hearing was held on 21 and 22 May 2014. On 9
October 2014, the Court of Appeal filed Judgement No. [2014] EWCA Civ 1298 rejecting the plea of the Piedmont Region
for a review of the refusal to admit an appeal. Dexia Crediop also initiated proceedings before the administrative court
in Italy aimed at obtaining cancellation of the aforementioned self-protection measure, which concluded with the ruling
filed on 21 December 2012 with which the Reg. Admin. Court of Piedmont ascertained that the self-protection measure
was adopted by the Piedmont Region in the absence of all legal prerequisites, in order to mask a unilateral juristic act
of a private-law nature, aimed at unilaterally dissolving the contractual constraint and that, therefore, the civil court had
jurisdiction to pronounce on this dispute (Dexia Crediop has already referred the case in question to the English court).
The Piedmont Region lodged an appeal against this judgement to the Council of State. The Council of State, with decision
No. 13 filed on 5 May 2014, dismissed the appeal of the Piedmont Region and ascertained, amongst other things, that
the subject-matter of the dispute does not concern looking into the legality of an act of imperium (of an administrative
nature), but rather concerns judgement of the defects alleged by the Piedmont Region against the contracts and, therefore,
that the subject-matter of the dispute is beyond the jurisdiction of the administrative court and falls under the jurisdiction
of the civil courts.
In the light of the judgement of the Court of Appeal of London No. [2014] EWCA Civ 1298, and of the judgement of the
Council of State No. 13/2014, on 28 April 2015 Dexia Crediop and the Piedmont Region signed a settlement agreement
which provides, among other things, for: (i) full recognition by the Piedmont Region of the validity and effectiveness ab
origine of the swap contract and (ii) payment by the Piedmont Region of all the nettings past due and not yet paid, plus
default interest and a refund of legal expenses incurred by Dexia Crediop.
On 30 May 2012, the Municipality of Ferrara initiated self-protection proceedings concerning a derivative entered into with
Dexia Crediop in 2005. On 23 July 2012, the Municipality of Ferrara, with a self-protection measure, cancelled all the acts
which had led to the approval of the swap contracts. By virtue of this, the Municipality did not proceed with the payment
of approximately € 4.3 million. On 8 October 2012, Dexia Crediop lodged an appeal with the Regional Administrative Court
of Emilia Romagna. The hearing at the Regional Administrative Court of Emilia Romagna was held on 15 October 2015.
On 15 December 2015, the Regional Administrative Court of Emilia Romagna - expressly referring to the aforementioned
order of the Court of Cassation dated 23 October 2014, issued in regards to the dispute with the Municipality of Messina
- declared that the Italian court (both administrative and civil) had no jurisdiction, affirming instead that the English courts
had jurisdiction. Dexia Crediop also initiated legal action in England, aimed at ascertaining the validity and effectiveness

of this swap contract. The case within the English courts was suspended by request of the parties on 2 October 2015 until
30 days after the filing, by the London Court of Appeal, of the ruling relative to the appeal of the dispute between Dexia
Crediop and the Municipality of Prato.
On 21 June 2012, following the petition presented by the Province of Crotone, Dexia Crediop took part in the civil
mediation procedure regarding three swap contracts signed by Dexia Crediop and the Province in December 2007. This
procedure ended on 25 October 2012 and was unsuccessful. On 5 July 2012, Dexia Crediop initiated legal action in
England, aimed at ascertaining the validity and effectiveness of the above swap contracts. On 9 February 2015, Dexia
Crediop presented a request for Default Judgement to the High Court/Commercial Court. This request was accepted by the
English court which, on 11 May 2015, filed the Default Judgement containing, among other things: (i) a declaration that
the swap contracts are valid, effective and binding ab origine; and (ii) an order for the Province of Crotone to repay the
legal expenses incurred by Dexia Crediop in the proceeding in question.

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

On 22 May 2012 and 5 June 2012 Dexia Crediop purchased certified healthcare receivables in respect of various hospitals
of Lazio from the “Italian Province of the Congregation of the Children of the Immaculate Conception”, including the
Rome E Health Trust. The receivables referred to above from the Rome E Health Trust were found to be partially subject
to previous seizures. Despite the certification, the Rome E Health Trust has not made the payment of the transferred
receivables amounting to approximately e 3.7 million. Dexia Crediop, therefore, with an appeal pursuant to Art. 702 of
the Code of Civil Procedure summoned before the Civil Court of Rome the Rome E Health Trust, and the Lazio Region in
order to obtain, among other things, an order to pay the receivables not yet received. The hearing was held on 9 July 2013.
With an order filed with the clerk of the court on 4 February 2014, the Civil Court of Rome rejected Dexia Crediop’s pleas.
With an appeal lodged on 5 March 2014, Dexia Crediop challenged the said order before the Rome Court of Appeal. The
next hearing will be held on 29 September 2017.
On 22 November 2012, following a letter sent by the Municipality of Forlì in which the Municipality announced that
it had found critical issues in the operations in derivatives carried out with Dexia Crediop, legal action was initiated in
England, aimed at ascertaining the validity and effectiveness of the swap contracts. Despite the complaints raised by the
Municipality and the consequent civil action launched by Dexia Crediop in England, the Municipality is paying the nettings
payable under the terms of the Interest Rate Swap contract. With an Order issued on 25 June 2014, the English Court
upheld the request filed by Dexia Crediop and suspended the proceedings indefinitely.
With Executive Decree No. 5 of 1 March 2013, the Campania Region called for tenders for the selection of contractual and
financial technical/legal analysis and assessment services in relation to the swap contracts entered into by the Campania
Region in the period 2003-2006 with the aim of checking for the presence of any anomalies. Dexia Crediop therefore
initiated proceedings before the civil court in England, aimed at ascertaining the validity and effectiveness of the Interest
Rate Swap contract signed with the Campania Region on 10 October 2003.
As of the date of this report, for these proceedings, it has not been deemed necessary to adjust values, but merely to make
allocations to provisions for risks and charges for legal costs and for dividends paid by ICS in 2005-2010 for which ICS
requests restitution.
Tax proceedings
We note the existence of a dispute in course relative to tax year 2008 for which, an appeal having been made in 2014
and the penalties defined, e 0.8 million remains in regards to an original provision of 1.4 million intended to deal with
the tax dispute.
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Section 14 – Corporate capital - Items 130, 150, 160, 170, 180, 190 and 200
14.1 “Share capital” and “Treasury shares”: breakdown
The share capital is fully subscribed and paid up and amounts to e 450,210,000 consisting of 174,500,000 ordinary
shares with a nominal unit value of e 2.58. The company does not own any of its own shares.

14.2 Equity - Number of shares: annual change
Items/Types

Ordinary

A. Shares existing at start of period

Others

174,500,000

- fully paid up

174,500,000

- not fully paid up
A.1 Treasury shares (-)
A.2. Shares in circulation: opening balance

174,500,000

B. Increases
B.1 New issues
- against payment:
- company merger operations
- bond conversion
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- exercise of warrants
- others
- free of charge:
- for employees
- for directors
- others
B.2 Sale of treasury shares
B.3 Other changes
C. Decreases
C.1 Cancelled
C.2 Purchase of treasury shares
C.3 Corporate sale transactions
C.4 Other changes
D. Shares in circulation: closing balance

174,500,000

D.1 Treasury shares (+)
D.2 Shares existing at end of period

174,500,000

- fully paid up

174,500,000

- not fully paid up
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14.4 Profit reserves: other information
thousands of euro
Legal reserve
A. Opening balances

Other reserves
76,509

523,164

B. Increases
C. Decreases

68,346

Destination loss 2014

68,346

D. Closing balances

76,509

454,818

Pursuant to article 2430 of the Italian Civil Code, the legal reserve is formed of at least one-twentieth of the net annual
profits until the reserve reaches one fifth of the share capital.

Other information
1. Guarantees given and commitments
thousands of euro
Transactions

Amount 31/12/2015

1) Financial guarantees
a) Banks

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

b) Customers

Amount 31/12/2014

143,316

279,669

16,143

144,264

127,173

135,405

91,618

212,608

10,750

11,250

10,750

11,250

80,868

201,358

80,868

201,358

802,627

802,627

1,037,561

1,294,904

2) Commercial guarantees
a) Banks
b) Customers
3) Irrevocable commitments to grant finance
a) Banks
i) certain to be called on
ii) not certain to be called on
b) Customers
i) certain to be called on
ii) not certain to be called on
4) Commitments underlying credit derivatives: sales of protection
5) Assets pledged in guarantee of third-party obligations
6) Other commitments
Total

2. Assets lodged as surety for own liabilities and commitments
migliaia di euro
Portfolios

Amount 31/12/2015

Amount 31/12/2014

1. Financial assets held for trading
2. Financial assets designated at fair value
3. Financial assets available for sale

37,997

495,860

4. Financial assets held to maturity

137,286

167,291

0

7,154,781

17,688,696

20,355,179

5. Due from banks
6. Due from customers
7. Property plant and equipment
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4. Management and broking for customer accounts
thousands of euro
Type of services

Amount

1. Execution of orders on behalf of the clientele
a) Purchases
1. settled
2. not settled
b) Sales
1. settled
2. not settled
2. Portfolio management
a) individual
b) collective
3. Custody and administration of securities

10,963,094

a)third-party securities on deposit: as custodian bank (excluding portfolio management schemes)
1. securities issued by consolidated companies
2. other securities
b) other third party securities on deposit (excluding portfolio management schemes): other

1,891,228

1. securities issued by consolidated companies
2. other securities

1,891,228
1,858,793

d) portfolio securities deposited with third parties

9,071,866

4. Other transactions
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c) third-party securities deposited with third parties

5. Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements
thousands of euro

Technical types

1. Derivatives

Gross
amounts
(before
offsetting)
(a)

Gross
amounts
set off in
Financial
Statement
(b)

Amount subject to an
enforceable master netting
Net amount
arrangements or similar
presented agreement an not set off in Net amount
31/12/2015
in Financial
Financial Statement
(f=c-d-e)
Statement
Cash
Financial
(c) = (a) - (b)
collateral
Instruments
(e)
(d)

715,830

715,830

203,525

512,305

Total at 31/12/2015

715,830

715,830

203,525

512,305

Total at 31/12/2014

967,155

967,155

258,218

708,937

Net amount
31/12/2014

2. Repurchase agreement
3. Securities lending
4. Others
X
X

6. Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements
thousands of euro

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Technical types

Gross
amounts
(before
offsetting)
(a)

Gross
amounts
set off in
Financial
Statement
(b)

Amount subject to an
enforceable master netting
Net amount
arrangements or similar
presented agreement an not set off in Net amount
31/12/2015
in Financial
Financial Statement
(f=c-d-e)
Statement
Cash
Financial
(c) = (a) - (b)
collateral
Instruments
(e)
(d)

1. Derivatives

4.398.912

4.398.912

76,710

4,322,202

2. Repurchase agreement

3.054.829

3.054.829

2,954,743

100,086

Total at 31/12/2015

7,453,741

7,453,741

3,031,453

4,422,288

Total at 31/12/2014

5,810,883

5,810,883

485,121

5,325,763

Net amount
31/12/2014

3. Securities lending
4. Others
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X
X

Part C - Comments on the income
statement
Section 1 - Interest - Items 10 and 20
1.1 Interest and similar income: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Technical types

Debt
securities

Loans

Other
transactions

Total
31/12/2015

Total
31/12/2014

Financial assets held for trading

2

Financial assets available for sale

2,872

2,872

17,648

3

Financial assets held to maturity

9,223

9,223

11,682

4

Due from banks

4,161

7,123

11,284

31,975

5

Due from customers

285,467

188,625

474,092

537,029

6

Financial assets designated at fair value

7

Hedging derivatives

X

X

8

Other assets

X

X

301,723

195,748

497,471

598,334

Total

1.3 Interest and similar income: other information
thousands of euro

Items
1.3.1

31/12/2015
Interest income on financial assets in foreign currencies

26,874

1.4 Interest and similar expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Technical types

Payables

1. Amounts due to central banks
2. Due to banks

Total
31/12/2015

Total
31/12/2014

(5,138)

X

(5,138)

(23,896)

(54,478)

X

(54,478)

(77,015)

(127)

X

(127)

(1,523)

(68,229)

(107,248)

3. Due to customers
4. Securities in issue

Securities

Other
transactions

X

(68,229)

5. Financial liabilities held for trading
6. Financial liabilities designated at fair value
7. Other liabilities and provisions

X

8. Hedging derivatives

X

Total

(59,743)

(123)

(68,229)
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(307,344)

(307,344)

(309,723)

(307,344)

(435,316)

(519,528)
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1

1.5 Interest and similar expenses: differentials on hedging transactions
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts

31/12/2015

31/12/2014

A. Positive differentials on hedging transactions:
B. Negative differentials on on hedging transactions:
C. Balance (A-B)

67,835

97,347

375,179

407,070

(307,344)

(309,723)

1.6 Interest and similar expenses: other information
thousands of euro

Items
1.6.1

31/12/2015
Interest paid on liabilities in foreign currency

(26,848)

Section 2 - Fees and commissions - Items 40 and 50
2.1 Fee and commission income: breakdown
thousands of euro

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Type of services/Amounts

Total 31/12/2015

a) guarantees given

Total 31/12/2014
1,115

1,636

3,078

4,986

3,078

4,383

0

603

0

603

b) credit derivatives
c) management, broking and consulting services:
1. financial instrument trading
2. foreign exchange trading
3. portfolio management
3.1. individual
3.2 collective
4. custody and administration of securities
5. depositary bank
6. placing of securities
7. collection of the data receipt and transmission activities
8. advisory services
8.1 in relation to investments
8.2 in relation to financial structure
9. distribution of third-party services
9.1. portfolio management
9.1.1. individual
9.1.2. collective
9.2. insurance products
9.3. other products
d) collection and payment services
e) servicing of securitisation transactions
f) services for factoring transactions
g) management of rate- and tax-collection agencies
h) multilateral trading facilities management
i) keeping and management of current accounts
j) other services

2,186

1,170

Total

6,379

7,792
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2.3 Fee and commission expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Services/Amounts

Total 31/12/2015

a) guarantees received

Total 31/12/2014
(6,742)

(13,141)

(293)

(325)

(293)

(325)

(459)

(574)

(1,670)

(5,271)

(9,164)

(19,311)

b) credit derivatives
c) management and brokerage services:
1. financial instrument trading
2. foreign exchange trading
3. portfolio management
3.1 own
3.2 for third parties
4. custody and administration of securities
5. placing of financial instruments
6. external marketing of financial instruments, products and services
d) collection and payment services
e) other services
Total

3.1 Dividend and similar income: breakdown
thousands of euro

dividend

income from
Mutual Fund
shares

Total 31/12/2014

income from
Mutual Fund
shares

Items/Income

dividend

Total 31/12/2015

A. Financial assets held for trading
B. Financial assets available for sale

0

3

0

3

C. Financial assets designated at fair value
D. Equity investments
Total
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Section 3 - Dividend and similar income - Item 70

Section 4 - Net trading gains (losses) - Item 80
4.1 Net trading gains (losses): breakdown
thousands of euro

Net income
Capital losses Trading losses
(losses) [(A+B)
(C)
(D)
- (C+D)]

Capital gains
(A)

Trading
profits (B)

3. Other financial assets and liabilities: foreign
exchange differences

X

X

X

X

4. Derivative instruments

631,359

599,604

629,802

593,012

14,869

612,433

599,526

611,975

593,012

13,692

612,433

599,526

611,975

593,012

6,972

Transactions/Income components
1. Financial assets for trading
1.1 Debt securities
1.2 Equity securities
1.3 Mutual fund shares
1.4 Loans
1.5 Others
2. Financial liabilities for trading
2.1 Debt securities
2.2 Payables
2.3 Others

4.1 Financial derivatives:
- on debt securities and interest rates

82
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- on equity securities and stock indices
- on currencies and gold

X

X

X

X

6,720

- Others
4.2 Credit derivatives
Total

18,926

78

17,827

631,359

599,604

629,802

1,177
593,012

14,951

Section 5 - Net hedging gains (losses) - Item 90
5.1 Net hedging gains (losses): breakdown
thousands of euro

Income components/Amounts
A.

Total 31/12/2015

Total 31/12/2014

Income relating to:

A.1 Fair value hedging derivatives

641,839

A.2 Hedged financial assets (fair value)

1,243,242

A.3 Hedged financial liabilities (fair value)

46,200

4,031

688,039

1,247,273

A.4 Cash flow hedging derivatives
A.5 Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
Total hedging income (A)
B.

Expenses relating to:

B.1 Fair value hedging derivatives

1,279,711

B.2 Hedged financial assets (fair value)

660,425

B.3 Hedged financial liabilities (fair value)
B.4 Cash flow hedging derivatives

26

7

660,451

1,279,718

27,588

(32,445)

B.5 Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
Total hedging expenses (B)
C. Gains less losses on hedging (A – B)
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Section 6 - Gains (losses) from sale/repurchase - Item 100
6.1 Gains (Losses) from sale/repurchase: breakdown

thousands of euro

Total 31/12/2015
Items/Income components

Gains

Losses

Total 31/12/2014

Net result

Gains

Losses

Net result

Financial assets
1. Due from banks
2. Due from customers

3,939

50,677

(46,738)

1,458

43,908

(42,450)

3,939

50,677

(46,738)

1,458

43,908

(42,450)

1,814

47

1,814

47

3. Financial assets available for sale
3.1 Debt securities
3.2 Equity securities
3.3 Mutual fund shares
3.4 Loans
4. Financial assets held to maturity
Total assets
Financial liabilities
1. Due to banks
2. Due to customers
3. Securities in issue

1,814

Total liabilities

1,814

0

47
0

47

Financial liabilities
During the year 2015 own securities were cancelled with a profit of around 2 million euro.

Section 8 - Net adjustments for impairment - Item 130
8.1 Net adjustments for impairment: breakdown

thousands of euro

Writedowns

Writebacks

Others

Transactions/Income
components

Writeoffs

Specific

Specific

Of portfolio
Total
31/12/2015

Of portfolio
A

A. Due from banks

B

A

B

103

- Loans

Total
31/12/2014

103

103

- Debt securities
B. Due from customers

(5,785)

3,100

- Loans

X

X

- Debt securities

X

X

(5,785)

3,100

(2,685)

(5,331)

Impaired due purchased

Other due
- Loans

(5,785)

- Debt securities
C. Total

(5,785)

103

Key
A = from interest
B = other writebacks
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(2,685)

(5,331)

(5,785)

(11,353)

3,100

3,100

6,022

3,100

(2,582)

(5,331)
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Financial assets
The net loss of 47 million euro originates mainly from the sale of bonds to the parent company Dexia Crédit Local and from
the sale of bonds of Italian Regions under the terms of the art. 45 of the law n.89/2014.

8.2 Net adjustments for impairment of financial assets available for sale: breakdown
thousands of euro

Writedowns (2)

Specific

Specific
Others

Writeoffs

Transactions/Income components

Writedowns (1)

A

B

B. Equity securities

X

X

C. Mutual funds shares

X

Total
31/12/2015

Total
31/12/2014

A. Debt securities
95

95

(176)

95

95

(176)

D. Loans to banks
E. Loans to customers
F. Totale
Key
A = from interest
B = other writebacks

Section 9 - Administrative expenses - Item 150
9.1 Personnel expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Type of expense/Amount

Total 31/12/2015

1) Employees

Total 31/12/2014

(15,278)

(18,150)

a) wages and salaries

(9,763)

(12,101)

b) social security contributions

(2,696)

(3,225)

(599)

(697)

c) retirement indemnities
d) other pension costs
e) provisions for severance indemnities
f) provision for retirement benefits and similar benefits:

(47)

(71)

(796)

(541)

(796)

(541)

(269)

(331)

(269)

(331)

(1,108)

(1,184)

(854)

(1,048)

(168)

(180)

(16,300)

(19,378)

– defined contribution
– defined benefits
g) payments to complementary external pension funds:
– defined contribution
– defined benefits
h) costs pursuant to payment agreements based on own equity instruments
i) other employee benefits
2) Other personnel working
3) Directors and statutory auditors
4) Retired personnel
5) Recovery of expenses for employees seconded to other companies
6) Recovery of expenses for others’ employees seconded to the company
Total

9.2 Average number of employees by category
Employees:
a) managers

22

b) middle managers

87

-of which: of 3rd and 4th level

51

c) remaining employees

37

Other personnel

112

9.3 Company defined-benefit pension funds: total costs
thousands of euro

31/12/2015
a) Retirement benefit costs

31/12/2014
611

484

b) Interest expenses

1,097

1,651

c) Yield of the assets

(953)

(1,629)

41

35

796

541

d) Administrative expenses
e) Actuarial losses (gains) recognized in the balance sheet
Total

9.4 Other employee benefits
The balance includes mainly premiums of insurance policies stipulated in favour of employees.
9.5 Other administrative expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Type of expense/Amount

31/12/2015

Maintenance costs on furniture and equipment

31/12/2014
(1)

Property rent payments

(234)

(255)

Telephone expenses

(136)

(182)

(91)

(19)

Costs for maintenance and updating of software

(986)

(1,504)

Security

(182)

(181)

(33)

(81)

Energy, heating and water expenses

(292)

(340)

Maintenance costs on company-owned buildings

(446)

(535)

(5,107)

(5,183)

(24)

(31)

(277)

(271)

Postage and telegraph expenses

Car leasing instalments

IT Services
Stationery and printing
Costs for cleaning premises
Professional fees

(2,442)

(1,532)

Advertising and public relations

(35)

(80)

Books, periodicals and information services

(90)

(89)

Insurance premiums

(40)

(61)

(982)

(815)

709

446

(10,691)

(10,714)

(721)

(721)

(176)

(198)

(41,236)

0

Membership fees
Study grants
Other expenses
Total
Indirect taxes
– Imu Tax
– Flat-rate tax, Decree 601/73
– Other tax
– National Resolution Fund Contributions
Total

(42,133)

(919)

Total of other administrative expenses

(52,824)

(11,633)

Other administrative expenses include e 41 million euro for the contribution to the National Resolution Fund for credit
institutions.
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(3)

Section 10 - Net provisions for risks and charges - Item 160
10.1 Net provisions for risks and charges: breakdown
thousands of euro

Provisions

Utilisation

Total 31/12/2014
Net result

Provisions

Utilisation

Total 31/12/2015

A. Risks

(16,863)

(16,863)

Total Risks

(16,863)

(16,863)

Net result

Items/Income components

B. Charges
1. Personnel
2. Others
Total Charges
Total Risks and Charges

(58)

2,158

2,100

(8,644)

(3,552)

934

(2,618)

(7,000)

586

(6,414)

(8,644)

(3,610)

3,092

(518)

(15,644)

586

(15,058)

(20,473)

3,092

(17,381)

(15,644)

586

(15,058)

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Section 11 - Net adjustments on property plant and equipment - Item 170
11.1 Net adjustments on property plant and equipment: breakdown
thousands of euro

Assets/Income component

Amortization
(a)

Impairment losses
(b)

Writebacks
(c)

Net result
(a + b - c)

A. Property plant and equipment
A.1 Company owned
- for functional use

(868)

(868)

(868)

(868)

(868)

(868)

- for investment
A.2 Acquired on financial lease
- for functional use
- for investment
Total

Section 12 - Net adjustments on intangible assets - Item 180
12.1 Net adjustments on intangible assets: breakdown
thousands of euro

Assets/Income component
A.

Amortization
(a)

Impairment losses
(b)

Writebacks
(c)

Net result
(a + b - c)

Intangible assets
A.1 Company owned

(1,572)

(1,572)

(1,572)

(1,572)

(1,572)

(1,572)

- Generated within the company
- Other
A.2 Acquired on financial lease
Total
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Section 13 - Other operating expenses and revenues - Item 190
13.1 Other operating expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts

31/12/2015

Interbank charges
Other expenses

(2)

Total

(2)

13.2 Other operating revenues: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts

31/12/2015

Rents collected

164

Interbank revenues
Refund of expenses
Other income

1,072

Total

1,236

17.1 Profits (losses) on disposal of investments: breakdown
thousands of euro

Income component/Book value

Total 31/12/2015

A. Assets
- Profits on disposal

Total 31/12/2014
5,605

0

5,605

0

5,605

0

- Losses on disposal
B. Others assets
- Profits on disposal
- Losses on disposal
Net result

The profit on disposal of investment refers to the sale of the property located at Via Venti Settembre 30.
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Section 17 - Profits (losses) on disposal of investments - Item 240

Section 18 - Income tax for the period on continuing operations - Item 260
18.1 Income tax for the period on continuing operations: breakdown
thousands of euro

Component/Amounts
1.

Current taxes ( - )

2.

Changes in current taxes compared to previous periods ( +/- )

3.

Decreases in current taxes for the period ( + )

Total 31/12/2015

Total 31/12/2014

(1,078)

342

7

(7,656)

3bis. Reduction in current taxes for tax credits pursuant to Law no. 214/2011 ( + )
4.

Changes in deferred tax assets ( +/- )

5.

Changes in deferred tax liabilities ( +/- )

6.

Taxes for the period (-) (-1+/-2+3+3bis+/-4+/-5)

3,217
(1,071)

(4,097)

Current taxes are collected under the tax rules.

18.2 Reconciliation between theoretical tax burden and tax burden according to financial statements
thousands of euro

31/12/2015

Taxable income/variations/taxes ( +/- )

Taxable amount

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Pre-tax profit (Rate 33.07%)

Tax

(27,608)

9,130

Increases in taxes (Rate 27,5%)

48,525

(13,344)

Decreases in taxes (Rate 27,5%)

(19,643)

5,402

Greater taxable amount for IRAP (Regional Business Tax) (Rate 5.57%)

32,840

(1,829)

Increases in taxes (Rate 5.57%)

32,590

(1,815)

Decreases in taxes (Rate 5.57%)

(24,767)

1,380

Changes in deferred tax assets

7
(1,071)

Taxes for the period
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Part D - Comprehensive income
Detailed statement of comprehensive income
thousands of euro

Voci
10.

Net Income (Loss) for the period

Gross amount

Income tax

X

X

Net amount
(28,678)

Other comprehensive income without reversal to income statement
20

Property plant and equipment

30

Intangible Assets

40

Defined benefit schemes

50

Non-current assets held for sale

60

Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments

5,355

5,355

Cash flow hedging:

2,106

2,106

a) changes in fair value

2,106

2,106

6,513

6,513

3,757

3,757

467

467

467

467

2,289

2,289

Other comprehensive income with reversal to income statement
70

Hedging of foreign investments:

a) changes in fair value
c) other changes.
80

Exchange differences:
a) changes in the value
b) reversal to income statement
c) other changes

90

b) reversal to income statement
c) other changes.
100 Financial assets available for sale:

a) changes in fair value
b) reversal to income statement
- Impairment losses
- Gains / losses on disposals
c) other changes
110 Non-current assets held for sale:

a) changes in fair value
b) reversal to income statement
c) other changes
120 Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments

a) changes in fair value
b) reversal to income statement
- Impairment losses
- Gains / losses on disposals
c) other changes
130 Total other comprehensive income

13,974

13,974

140 Comprehensive income (10+130 )

13,974

(14,704)
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b) reversal to income statement

Part E – Comments on risks and
associated hedging policies
The information which must be given pursuant to Memorandum no. 285 “Supervisory provisions for banks” issued by the
Bank of Italy on 17 December 2013 (Second Part, Chapter 13, “Information for the public”) is given on the Dexia Crediop
S.p.A. website (www.dexia-crediop.it).

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Introduction
In order to establish an efficient process for managing the risks to which the Bank is exposed, Dexia Crediop follows a series
of sources of company regulations which transpose the Dexia Group’s policies, adapting them to national regulations.
The policies defined by the Dexia Group are applied and are generally valid for all the legal entities that fall within the
Group’s scope. In performing their operations and on the subject of managing and measuring risks, the single entities
follow the guidelines defined and formalised in the respective policies. The indications and guidelines contained in the
policies defined by the Dexia Group are adopted within Dexia Crediop by defining and formalising specific regulations that
make up the internal regulatory corpus.
In order to structure an efficient and effective corporate risk control and management system, Dexia Crediop has defined
specific roles and responsibilities allocated to both the Bank’s corporate bodies and the single Company Operating Units
(COU).
In the area of risk management, we note the fundamental role played by the Bank’s main corporate bodies, namely
the Board of Directors, in its capacity as strategic supervisory body, the Chief Executive Officer in his/her capacity as
management body, and the Board of Statutory Auditors in its capacity as control body. In addition, specific committees
are provided for such as the Steering Committee, the Lending Committee, the Finance Committee, and the Audit,
Compliance, Accounting and Risk Committee, which are attended by the managers of the COUs.
Important risk management functions are also performed by specific Coordination Groups. In particular:
•	New Products Coordination Group: each of the Bank’s new products is analysed in detail, as regards both operational
impact and risk impact;
• Local Authority Derivative Risk Coordination Group: this committee analyses the problems in the area of risks deriving
from operations in derivatives carried out with counterparties from the public sector;
• The Default Watchlist Coordination Group: this committee plays a fundamental role in the process of analysing default
operations and/or those on the company’s watchlist, and of monitoring credit risk;
• The IT Security and Operational Continuity Coordination Group: this committee plays a fundamental role in terms of the
IT security process and in supervising provisions aimed at guaranteeing operational continuity.
Besides the Bodies/Committees/Coordination Groups indicated above, the Bank’s COUs responsible for monitoring and
controlling risks are mainly the Risk and Compliance & Anti-Money Laundering.
The Risk Department includes the Credit Risk, Operational Risk & Security and Market Risk units. Representatives of the
Risk Department play a significant role in the Steering Committee, Lending Committee, Finance Committee and all of the
Coordination Groups detailed above. It should be noted that the Risk Department has no hierarchical relationship with the
Bank’s operating units and, therefore, its function is performed independently of the Front-Office COUs.
The main duties of Compliance & Anti-Money Laundering include: monitoring the evolution of the legislative framework
of reference, analysing the impact on processes and procedures; promoting and defining the necessary safeguards
against identified non-compliance risks, consequently proposing organisational and procedural changes and verifying
the effectiveness of the action taken; contributing to promoting a corporate culture based on values of correct conduct;
identification of applicable regulations on anti-money laundering, financing of terrorism and regulations regarding
identification and adequate verification of customers, and regulations regarding prevention of tax evasion.
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Other corporate units, such as the Legal Unit, are positioned within the general framework for managing specific types of
risk.
It is worth noting, finally, the role of the Internal Audit Unit, which is responsible for carrying out internal auditing in the
Bank and constantly supervising its operation and effective application of the current internal audit system. In this context,
Internal Audit assesses whether the risks assumed in the Bank’s various operations are adequately known, monitored and
managed.
As can be deduced from what has been detailed above, the risk culture of the Dexia Group and of Dexia Crediop is diffused
at every level, with multiple COUs directly involved in managing risks, and various Committees and Coordination Groups
providing for the participation of representatives from many of the Bank’s units which, in turn, make use of the support of
other COUs not directly involved in risk management.

Section 1 – Credit risk
Qualitative information
1. General aspects
Recall that, as of 15/7/2014, the European Commission confirmed the run-off management of Dexia Crediop.
Therefore, as of said date, Dexia Crediop can no longer establish any new operational loan transactions.

2.1 Organisational aspects
Credit risk is the risk of loss linked to the counterparties’ incapacity to honour their financial obligations. The factors which
influence the level of this risk are:
• the counterparty’s creditworthiness, measured by means of an internal rating (determined on the basis of specific
models);
• the customer segment concerned (public sector, corporate, project finance, banking and financial sector, etc.);
• the economic, legal and financial context in which the counterparty operates;
• the type of operation carried out;
• the duration of the operations;
• any guarantees (tangible, personal, financial) which back the operation.
It should be highlighted that almost all the existing exposure regards customers of the public sector, with a low risk level
and also subject to particular controls linked to their public nature. Credit risks (such as operative and market risk) are
monitored by the Risk Department, divided up into three “line” functions - Credit Risk, Operational Risk & Security, and
Market Risk - that ensure monitoring of the respective risk categories and activities aimed at the computerisation of the
new strategic processes in relation to the Risk applications.
The Risk Department has no hierarchical relationship with the Bank’s COUs. The department therefore operates absolutely
independently from the Front Office units.
Specific Coordination Groups/Committees form an integral part of the internal auditing systems, helping to ensure that
the system works correctly.
The Credit Committee’s task is to examine materials related to existing loan proposals of any technical type. The Committee
makes decisions regarding risk and financial conditions on the basis of proposals from the relevant COU, an opinion
provided by Risk in regard to risk and, finally, an opinion (for “non standard” operations) containing legal assessments
provided by the General and Legal Office.
The Default Watchlist Coordination Committee examines situations falling within the criteria of defaults as established by
the Supervisory Authorities and by Dexia Group policies.
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2. Credit risk management policies

2.2 Management, measuring and auditing systems
As regards the methods of management, measuring and auditing, certain guidelines have been fixed at Group level.
The Group has developed systems of internal annotation (SNI) for the various counterpart types, including: Corporate,
Project Finance, the Local Public Sector of western Europe, “Public Satellites”, “Private Satellites”, Sovereigns, Banks.
The internal rating system (IRS) defined on the basis of the most advanced methods (Advanced IRBA) involves:
• the adoption of internal procedures which allow for the calculations by and historical documentation of the IRSs;
• the progressive development of an IT system (FERMAT) aimed at consolidating - in a common standardised form - the
information relating to all counterparties (Client Database) and all exposures (Exposure Database) of the Group;
• the adoption of a system for measuring the Bank’s entire risks on the basis of an approach based on its own economic
resources.
To that end, we recall that during 2014 the new Risk & Capital Adequacy (RCA) approach developed by the Dexia Group
was adopted, which changed the risk assessment methods (ECAP models) that had previously been used.
The new framework became operational starting from the ICAAP report sent to the Bank of Italy during the first half of
2014 and relative to the financial situation as at 31/12/2013.

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

2.3 Credit risk mitigation techniques
As concerns operations in derivatives, the ISDA Master Agreement is accompanied by the Credit Support Annex (CSA) for
almost all banking counterparties: this collateralisation agreement minimises the credit risk through the regular (daily,
weekly or monthly) exchange of margins as a guarantee of the net value of the bilateral exposure.
The forms of real guarantees used are essentially pledges (mainly on securities) and much less frequently mortgages on
properties. The management of these guarantees is the task of the administrative and legal COUs.
The counterparties offering personal guarantees are general banks and local or regional governments. The credit risk of
these counterparties is assessed on the basis of the external and internal ratings attributed to them.
The purchase of credit derivatives is not normally used as a mitigation technique, although it is permissible.
Since lending activities were mainly aimed at the domestic public sector, the majority of guarantees backing loans consist
of the issue of payment notes issued by local entities or the debt service provided by the Italian State.
2.4 Impaired financial assets
The Group has issued specific rules governing the treatment of non-performing loans and actions to be taken in order to
manage such loans so as to ensure that the procedures aimed at a positive outcome are implemented correctly.
These rules define the general guidelines within which the individual organisational units treat this subject within the
scope of their own responsibilities.
The various conditions of each non-performing loan type have been classified within the scope of an internal watchlist
consisting of four categories with an ascending scale of seriousness:
• watchlist exposures;
• impaired past-due and/or over-the-limit exposures (impaired loans expired);
• unlikely to pay;
• non-performing loans.
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The Default Watchlist Coordinating Committee is responsible for examining the non-performing positions and proposes:
• their classification in one of the four categories;
• the adoption of specific adjustments on the loans;
• the adoption of statistical or flat-rate adjustments which reflect the Expected Loss.
Transactions previously included in the default/watchlist categories are re-classified as “performing” when the counterparty
emerges from a situation of economic/financial difficulty and returns to making all payments regularly as before.
Note that activities of the Dexia Crediop have never involved the execution of operations to acquire impaired assets.
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Quantitative information					

A. Credit quality

				

A.1 Impaired and performing loan exposure: amounts, write-downs, trends, economic and geographical
distribution
					
A.1.1 Distribution of loan exposure by portfolio and credit quality (book values)

			
thousands of euro

Nonperforming
loans

Portfolio/quality

Unlikely
to pay

Past due
impaired
exposures

Past due not
impaired
exposures

Other not
impaired
exposures

Total

1. Financial assets available for sale

37,997

37,997

2. Financial assets held to maturity

137,286

137,286

4,083,342

4,083,342

17,822,874

17,900,832

3. Due from banks
4. Due from customers

72,579

5,379

5. Financial assets designated at fair value

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

6. Non-current assets held for sale
Total at 31/12/15

72,579

5,379

22,081,499

22,159,457

Total at 31/12/14

27,113

18,584

33,769,353

33,815,050

A.1.2 Distribution of loan exposure according to portfolio and creditworthiness (gross and net values)
thousands of euro
Impaired assets
Portfolio/quality

Gross
exposure

Specific
writedowns

Performing
Net
exposure

1. Financial assets available for sale

Portfolio
writedowns

37,997

2. Financial assets held to maturity
3. Due from banks
4. Due from customers

Gross
exposure

79,120

1,162

77,958

5. Financial assets designated at
fair value

Total (net
exposure)

Net
exposure
37,997

37,997

137,286

137,286

137,286

4,083,342

4,083,342

4,083,342

17,822,874

17,900,832

17,851,672

28,798

X

X

6. Non-current assets held for sale
Total at 31/12/15

79,120

1,162

77,958

22,110,297

28,798

22,081,499

22,159,457

Total at 31/12/14

46,860

1,162

45,698

33,795,465

26,113

33,769,352

33,815,050

thousands of euro
Assets with obvious low credit quality
Portfolio/quality

Accumulated Capital
Losses

1. Financial assets held for trading

Net exposure

Other Assets
Net exposure

930

18,604

2,396,841

930

18,604

2,724,723

2. Hedging derivatives

327,882

Total at 31/12/15
Total at 31/12/14

3,500,246
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A.1.3 Cash and off balance sheet loan exposure to banks: gross, net amounts and past-due ranges
thousands of euro
Type of exposure/Amounts

Gross Exposure
Impaired assets
Between 6
Up to 3
Between 3
months months and 6 month and
1 year
month

Performing

Specific
Portfolio
Net
adjustment adjustment exposure

More
than 1
year

A. CASH EXPOSURE
a) Non-performing loans

X

X

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

X

X

b) Unlikely to pay

X

X

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

X

X

c) Past-due impaired exposures

X

X

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

X

d) Past-due not impaired exposures

X

X

X

X

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

X

X

X

X

e) Other not impaired exposures

X

X

X

X

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

X

X

X

X

Total A

X
X
X

4,083,342

X

4,083,342

X
4,083,342

4,083,342

B. OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE
b) Performing

X
X

X

X

X

Total B
Total A+B

143,392

X
X

143,392

143,392

143,392

4,226,734

4,226,734

A.1.6 Cash and off-balance-sheet loan exposure to customers: gross, net amounts and past-due ranges
thousands of euro
Type of exposure/Amounts

Gross Exposure
Impaired assets

Performing

Up to 3 Between 3 Between 6
months months and 6 month and
1 year
month

Specific
Portfolio
adjustment adjustment

Net
exposure

More
than 1
year

A. CASH EXPOSURE
a) Non-performing loans

1,162

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures
b) Unlikely to pay
- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

72,579
1,629

c) Past-due impaired exposures

1,601

3,778

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

X

1.162

X

X

X

X
X

1,629

X

5,379

X

X

X

X

X

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

X

X

X

X

e) Other not impaired exposures

X

X

X

X

18,026,955

X

X

X

X

X

33,633

X

72,579

1,601

72,579

X

X

Total A

0

X

d) Past-due not impaired exposures

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

X

X
X

4,940 18,026,955

1,162

28,798 17,998,157
33,633
28,798 18,076,115

B. OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE
a) Impaired
b) Performing

X
X

X

X

Total B
Total A+B

X

1,595,003

X
X

1,595,003
72,579

1,601

4,940 19,621,958

1,595,003
1,595,003

1,162

28,798 19,671,118

The past-due range “up to 3 months” conventionally includes unlikely to pay exposures that not have Past-due amounts.
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a) Impaired

A.1.7 Cash loan exposure to customers: trend of gross impaired positions
thousands of euro
Non-performing
loans

Reasons/Categories
A. Gross initial exposure

Past due impaired
exposures

Unlikely to pay

1,162

27,113

18,584

B. Increases

48,860

1,601

B.1 transfers from performing loan exposure

48,832

1,601

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized

B.2 transfers of impaired loans from other categories
B.3 other increases

28

C. Decreases

3,394

14,806

3,394

14,806

72,579

5,379

C.1 transfers to performing loan exposure
C.2 writeoffs
C.3 collections
C.4 disposals
C.4 bis losses on disposals
C.5 transfers of impaired loans to other categories
C.6 other decreases
D. Gross closing exposure

1,162

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized

A.1.8 Cash loan impaired exposure to customers: trend of total adjustments
thousands of euro
Reasons/Categories

Non-performing loans

Total

A. Total initial adjustments

Of which:
exposures
with
forbearance
measures

1,162

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized
B. Increases
B.1 writedowns
B.1 bis losses on disposal
B.2 transfers of impaired loans from other categories
B.3 other increases
C. Decreases
C.1 writebacks from valuations
C.2 writebacks from collections
C.3 bis gains on disposal
C.4 writeoffs
C.5 transfers of impaired loans to other categories
C.6 other decreases
D. Total final adjustments

1,162

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized
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Unlikely to pay

Total

Of which:
exposures
with
forbearance
measures

Past due impaired
exposures

Total

Of which:
exposures
with
forbearance
measures

A.2 Classification of exposure according to external and internal ratings

					
A.2.1 Distribution of cash and off-balance-sheet loan exposure according to external ratings
thousands of euro
Exposure

External rating classes
class 1

A. Cash exposure

class 2

class 3

class 4

classe5

class 6

Without
rating

Total

338,700

4,044,488

11,469,489

1,813,933

800,455

3,692,392

22,159,457

B. Derivatives

28,385

33,588

626,238

263,636

90,497

461,117

1,503,461

B.1 Financial
derivatives

28,385

33,588

604,961

225,663

90,497

461,117

1,444,211

B.2 Credit derivatives

21,277

37,973

C. Guarantees
given

47,372

D. Commitments
to disburse funds

10,750

59,250
9,449

48,986

86,495

143,316

31,882

91,618

4,271,886

23,897,852

E. Other
Total

377,835

4,078,076

12,192,085

2,077,569

900,401

A.2.2 Distribution of cash and off-balance-sheet exposure according to internal ratings
thousands of euro
Exposure
A. Cash exposure

Internal rating classes
AAA / AA623,680

A+ / A-

BBB+/BBB-

BB+/B-

D1 / D2

Without
rating

Total

5,936,564

11,196,948

4,352,680

48,883

B. Derivatives

156,814

745,522

582,521

18,604

1,503,461

B.1 Financial derivatives

154,969

726,090

544,548

18,604

1,444,211

1,845

19,432

37,973

59,250

74,333

68,983

143,316

52,114

28,749

12,068,917

5,032,933

B.2 Credit derivatives
C. Guarantees given
D. Commitments to disburse funds

10,750

702

22,159,457

5

91,618

707

23,897,852

E. Other
Total

634,430

6,093,378
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The exposure considered is that of the financial statements included in the tables above A.1.3 and A.1.6. The external
rating classes adopted to complete the table are those used by Standard&Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch. Given that several
external ratings are assigned, the criteria adopted in making the choice is that established by the Bank of Italy, namely
where there are two ratings, the worst is used, where there are three ratings the two best are identified, and, if these differ,
the worse of the two is chosen. In order to breakdown according to ratings classes, a summary table has been used to
convert the classification envisaged by the various different ratings companies to the credit standing classes.

A.3 Distribution of secured loans according to type of guarantee
					
A.3.2 Secured loan exposure to customers

thousands of euro
Personal guarantee (2)

1.1 fully secured

1,672,393

105,486

18,909

149,852

5,229

934,779 281,069 177,069 1,672,393

50,612

12,336

1.2 partially
secured

Other subjects

948,946 381,069 180,325 1,789,816

Banks

5,229

Banks

149,852

Other subjects

18,909

Other public bodies

105,486

Governments and
Central Banks

Other collateral
guarantee

1,811,238

CLN

Securities

Properties - Finance
leases

Other derivatives

Other public bodies

Unsecured loans
Governments and Central
Banks

Loan derivatives

1 Secured cash
loan exposure:

- of which
impaired

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Properties - mortgages

Amount of net exposure

Collateral guarantee (1)

38,276

138,845

14,167 100,000

Total
(1)+(2)

50,612

3,256

117,423

- of which
impaired
2. Secured
off-balance
sheet loan
exposure:

19,070

19,070

19,070

2.1 fully secured

19,070

19,070

19,070

- of which
impaired
2.2 partially
secured
- of which
impaired
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B. Distribution and concentration of loan exposure
				

B.1 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposure according to sector (book value)
thousands of euro

X

X

X

X

X

57,856

X

X

- of which:
exposures with
forbearance
measures

X

X

X

X

1,629

X

X

A.3 Past due
impaired
exposures

X

X

X

X

X

X

- of which:
exposures with
forbearance
measures

X

X

X

X

X

X

Portfolio adjustments

X

Specific val. writedowns

Portfolio adjustments

X

Esposizione Netta

Specific val. writedowns

A.2 Unlikely
to pay

Other
subjects

X

Net exp.

X

Non-financial
companies

963

Portfolio adjustments

Specific val. writedowns

X

Esposizione Netta

X

Portfolio adjustments

Specific val. writedowns

X

Net exp.

Portfolio adjustments

X

Net exp.

X

Portfolio adjustments

X

Net exp.

Specific val. writedowns

Other public bodies

Insurance
companies

199

Exposure/
Counterparties

Specific val. writedowns

Governments

Financial
companies

A. Cash
exposure
A.1 Non-performing loans

X

- of which:
exposures with
forbearance
measures

5,973,394 X 3,265

- of which:
exposures with
forbearance
measures
Total A

9,274,231

X
5,973,394

X

22,246

1,396,099 X 551

X
3,265

X

9,279,610 199 22,246 1,410,822

X

1,354,379

X

X

33,633

X

551

2,736

54

X

X

1,412,235 963 2,736

54

B. "Offbalance
sheet" loans
B.1 Non-performing loans

X

X

X

X

B.2 Unlikely to
pay

X

X

X

B.3 Other
impaired assets

X

X

X

B.4 Not
impaired
exposures

377,717 X

704,552

Total B

377,717

704,552

X

285,639 X

X

285,639

0

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

227,095

X

X

227,095

Total (A+B)
31/12/2015

6,351,111

3,265

9,984,162 199 22,246 1,696,461

551

1,639,330 963 2,736

54

Total (A+B)
31/12/2014

7,733,862

4,120 11,867,406 199 18,068 1,616,902

853

2,210,791 963 3,072
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A.4 Not impaired
exposures

5,379

14,723

B.2 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposure according to area (book value)
thousands of euro
Italy
Exposure/Geographical
area

Net
exp.

Other European
countries

Total
adjustments

Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

America
Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

Asia
Net
exp.

A. Cash exposure
A.1 Non-performing loans
A.2 Unlikely to pay
A.3 Past due impaired
exposures
A.4 Not impaired
exposures
Total A

1,162
72,579
5,379
17,487,285

28,621 510,872

177

17,565,243

29,783 510,872

177

1,374,766

188,646

B. "Off-balance sheet"
loans
B.1 Non-performing loans
B.2 Unlikely to pay
B.3 Other impaired assets
B.4 Not impaired
exposures

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Totale B

25,573

6,018

1,374,766

188,646

25,573

6,018

Total (A+B) 31/12/2015

18,940,009

29,783 699,518

177 25,573

6,018

Total (A+B) 31/12/2014

22,872,494

27,153 548,155

122

8,433
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Total
adjustments

Rest of the world
Net
Total
exp. adjustments

Breakdown according to geographic area of relations with customers residing in Italy
thousands of euro
Exposure/Geographical area

North West Italy

North East Italy

Net
exp.

Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

Total
adjustments

Central Italy
Net
exp.

Italy - South and Island

Total
adjustments

Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

A. Cash exposure
A.1 Non-performing loans
A.2 Unlikely to pay

1,162
15,567

19,731

A.3 Past due impaired exposures
A.4 Not impaired exposures
Total

4,151,505

9,618

22,558

14,724

3,778

1,601

1,868,645

4,524

9,122,014

2,345,120

5,737

4,167,072

9,618 1,888,376

4,524

9,148,350

8,742 2,361,445

8,742

6,899

477,716

104,069

626,440

166,541

B. "Off-balance sheet" loans
B.1 Non-performing loans
B.2 Unlikely to pay
B.3 Other impaired assets
B.4 Not impaired exposures
Total
Total (A+B) 31/12/2015

477,716

104,069

4,644,788

9,618 1,992,445

4,524

626,440

166,541

9,774,790

8,742 2,527,986

6,899
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B.3 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet bank loan exposure according to area (book value)
thousands of euro
Italy
Exposure/Geographical
area

Net
exp.

Other European countries

Total
adjustments

Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

America
Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

Net
exp.

Asia

Rest of the world

Total
adjustments

Net
Total
exp. adjustments

A. Cash exposure
A.1 Non-performing loans
A.2 Unlikely to pay
A.3 Past due impaired
exposures
A.4 Not impaired
exposures

445,750

3,443,803

187,830

5,959

Total A

445,750

3,443,803

187,830

5,959

B.4 Not impaired
exposures

101,137

42,255

Total B

101,137

42,255

Total (A+B) 31/12/2015

546,887

3,486,058

187,830

5,959

Total (A+B) 31/12/2014

810,278

12,742,191

220,555

8,342

B. "Off-balance sheet"
loans
B.1 Non-performing loans
B.2 Unlikely to pay

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

B.3 Other impaired assets

Breakdown according to geographic area of relations with banks residing in Italy
thousands of euro
Exposure/Geographical area

North West Italy

North East Italy

Net
exp.

Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

Total
adjustments

Central Italy
Net
exp.

A. Cash exposure
A.1 Non-performing loans
A.2 Unlikely to pay
A.3 Past due impaired exposures
A.4 Not impaired exposures

220,616

225,134

Total

220,616

225,134

B. "Off-balance sheet" loans
B.1 Non-performing loans
B.2 Unlikely to pay
B.3 Other impaired assets
B.4 Not impaired exposures
Total
Total (A+B) 31/12/2015

16,802

6,974

16,802

6,974

77,361

237,418

6,974

302,495

130

77,361

Total
adjustments

Italy - South and Island
Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

B.4 Large exposure
The information in relation to Large exposure is provided considering the changes made to prudential regulations on risk
concentration.
a) Exposure

22,055,752

thousands of euro

b) Weighted

2,464,630

thousands of euro

c) Number

31
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C. Securitisation transactions
				
Qualitative information
The Bank organised three securitisation operations pursuant to Italian Law no. 130/1999, which were concluded in 2004,
2005 and 2008.
The mentionned securitisation transactions were early terminated in the last quarter of 2013. The company, which was no
longer operational, was placed in voluntary liquidation during 2014.
C.2 Exposure resulting from securitization transactions Main “Third Party “ by type of securitized asset and by type
of exposure
thousands of euro

Credit lines
Impairment/
Writebacks

Junior
Net exp.

Impairment/
Writebacks

Net exp.

Mezzanine

Impairment/
Writebacks

Net exp.

Senior

Impairment/
Writebacks

Junior
Net exp.

Impairment/
Writebacks

Mezzanine

Impairment/
Writebacks

Net exp.

Senior

Impairment/
Writebacks

Junior
Book value

Book value

Impairment/
Writebacks

Mezzanine

Impairment/
Writebacks

Book value

Senior
Type of
underlying assets/
Exposure

Guarantees given

Net exp.

Cash exposure

A.1
- Non-residential
mortgage loans

67,784

A.2
- Other

672,468
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A.3
- Leasing
A.4
- Other assets
A.5
- Other
non-performing loans

E. Disposal transactions
A. Financial assets sold but not fully derecognized
Qualitative and Quantitative Information
E.1 Financial assets sold but not derecognized: book value and full value
Technical types /
Portfolio

Financial
Financial
Financial assets
Financial
Due from
assets
available for assets held to
assets held
banks
designated
maturity
sale
for trading
at fair value
A B C A B C
A
B
C
A
B C A B C

thousands of euro
Due from
customers
A

Total

B C 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

A. Cash assets
1. Debt securities

37,996

3,594,661

3,632,657

2. Equity securities

X

X X X X X

X

X X

3. Mutual fund shares

X

X X X X X

X

X X

X

X X X X X

X

X X

6,039,534

4. Loans
B. Derivatives
Total 31/12/2015

X

X

X

X

X

X

37,996

3,594,661

3,632,657

of which impaired

X
X

Total 31/12/2014

20,714

of which impaired

6,018,820

X
X

Key:
A = financial assets sold and fully recognized (book value)
B = financial assets sold and partially recognized (book value)
C = financial assets sold and partially recognized (full value)
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6,039,534

E.2 Financial liabilities for financial assets sold not derecognized: book value
thousands of euro
Financial
assets held
for trading

Liabilities/Assets portfolio

Financial
assets
designated
at fair value
through profit
and loss

Financial
assets
available
for sale

1. Due to customers
a) fully recognized

Financial
assets
held to
maturity

Due from Due from
banks
customers

Total

38,169

38,169

38,169

38,169

b) partially recognized
2. Due to banks

2,215,341 2,215,341

a) fully recognized

2,215,341

2,215,341

b) partially recognized
Total 31/12/2015

38,169

2,215,341 2,253,510

Total 31/12/2014

22,527

3,686,069 3,708,596

E.3 Sale operations with liabilities associated exclusively to sold assets: fair value
thousands of euro
Financial
assets held
for trading

A

B

A

B

A

B

Due from
banks (fair
value)

Due from
customers (fair
value)

A

B

A

B

A

B

2. Equity securities

X

X

X

X

X

X

3. Mutual fund
shares

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

Total

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

A. Cash assets
1. Debt securities

37,996

3,910,571

3,948,567

4. Loans
B. Derivatives
Total assets

X

X

X

X

37,996

3,910,571

C. Liabilities
associated
1. Due to customers

38,169

2,215,341

2. Due to banks
Total Liabilities
Net amount
31/12/2015

3,948,567
X

X

X

X

X

X

38,169

2,215,341

2,253,510

(173)

1,695,230

1,695,057

X

1,606,677

X

1,607,163

Net amount
31/12/2014

486

Key:
A = financial assets sold and fully recognized (book value)
B = financial assets sold and partially recognized (book value)
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Technical types /
Portfolio

Financial
assets
Financial
designated Financial assets
assets held
available for
at fair value
to maturity
sale
through
(fair value)
profit and
loss

Section 2 – Market risks
2.1 – Interest rate and price risks - Regulatory trading book
INTEREST RATE RISK
Qualitative information
A. General aspects
The portfolio consists exclusively of derivative products with an original maturity exceeding one year, mainly Interest Rate
Swaps (IRS), almost entirely in balanced broking. The underlying operations, for the most part, regard the management of
the medium/long-term debt, represented by loans or securities, of public customers, and the sale of derivative products to
financial and Corporate customers. In both cases, the interest rate risk is precisely covered by derivatives of the opposite
sign traded on the market. Operations in derivatives are also carried out to counter-balance changes in the Credit Value
Adjustment (CVA) due to the interest rate trend (known as “CVA risk”).

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Management and measurement methods of interest rate risk and price risk
The interest rate risk indicators measured are the following:
• Shift Sensitivity of fair value;
• Value at Risk (VaR).
The shift sensitivity of fair value quantifies the change in the portfolio value consequent to parallel and instantaneous
increases of the market interest rates curve.
The VaR is defined as the maximum potential loss caused by possible adverse movements in market interest rates, with
reference to a confidence level of 99% and a holding period of ten working days.
Periodic scenario analysis are also carried out to measure the impact on the value of the portfolio caused by a series of
instantaneous shocks on market interest rates.
The internal model is not used to calculate the capital requirements for market risks.
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PRICE RISK
The portfolio is not exposed to price risk.
Quantitative information
1. Regulatory banking book: distribution according to residual duration (re-pricing date) of financial assets and cash
liabilities and financial derivatives
Currency of instruments: Euro

Type/ Residual term

thousands of euro
on
demand

Up to 3
months

Between
Between 1
6 months
year and 5
and 1
years
year

Between
3 and 6
months

Between
5 and 10
years

More than
10 years

Unspecified
term

1. Cash assets
1.1 Debt securities
- with early redemption
option
- others
1.2 Other assets
2. Cash liabilities
2.1 Repurchase agreements
2.2 Other liabilities
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3. Financial derivatives
3.1 With underlying security
- Options
+ long positions
+ short positions
- Other derivatives
+ long positions
+ short positions
3.2 Without underlying security
- Options
+ long positions
+ short positions
- Other derivatives
+ long positions

829

1,598,379

8,317,352

774,084

3,114,311

1,855,599

5,123,418

+ short positions

1,753,319

1,821,069

8,358,679

800,747

3,070,869

1,725,426

3,253,862

3. Regulatory trading book - internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods
Exposure to interest rate risk is mainly due to the aforementioned CVA risk, and basis risk, caused by the adoption of
different discount curves to measure all the pairs of balanced brokering derivatives, typically composed of a derivative with
customers (not collateralised) and a derivative with an opposite sign with a primary market counterparty (collateralised).
Since these risk factors contribute significantly to the volatility of the income statement, the ensuing results derived from
them, for valuation purposes, are classified in the “Accounting Volatility” segment pursuant to the segment reporting (see
Explanatory Notes to the Financial Statements 2015 Corporate Dexia Crediop S.p.A. - page 312).
The interest rate risk on the balanced brokering trading portfolio (the Structuring perimeter) is managed by the Funding
& Markets unit, and is subject to daily monitoring by the Market Risk Unit. Specifically, at 31 December 2015 there was
a shift sensitivity of e 19,273 per 1 basis point and a VaR of e 1.1 million, against operating limits respectively set
at e±45,000 and e 4.0 million. Both indicators remained below their respective limits throughout the year, with the
exception of a marginal amount (e 601) at the end of April in regards to the sensitivity limit, which was quickly resolved.
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In regards to the above cited management of CVA risk - shared between Funding & Markets, in the context of specific
operating limits on risk that are monitored daily by Market Risk - the derivatives used to hedge against CVA sensitivity to
interest rates generated, at 31 December 2015, a shift sensitivity of e-55,004 per 1 basis point (originating from three
plain vanilla interest rate swaps) against an estimated CVA sensitivity of e +69,889. Overall sensitivity for the area subject
to CVA risk management at 31 December 2015 was therefore equal to e +14,885 per 1 basis point against an operating
limit of e ±50,000, and always remained under this limit during the year with the exception of a marginal amount (e186)
at the end of July, which was promptly resolved. The operating limits set for the same perimeter in regards to “gamma”
indicators (e -152 at 31/12/2015 against a limit of e ±7,500 per 1 basis point) and “vega” indicators (e -53,569 at
31/12/2015 against a limit of e ± 150,000 for a 1% shock on the volatility surface) were always respected during the
year.

2.2 – Interest rate risk and price risk – Banking book
INTEREST RATE RISK

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement methods of interest rate risk
The exposure to short-term interest rate risk (usually below one year) of the bank book, generated in particular by the fixing
of the Euribor parameter to which the financial assets and liabilities are typically indexed or synthetically transformed at the
bank’s floating rate, is managed by Cash and Liquidity Management (CLM) within the Funding & Markets organisational
unit. Operating proposals for opening or closing the interest rate risk are discussed and approved by the Finance Committee,
which evaluates expected impacts on the use of the fixed operating and risk limits.
Exposure to interest rate risks generated by mismatching of fixed rate financial assets and liabilities with an original
maturity of more than a year and the relative hedging derivatives (“ALM Rate” compartment) is residual, being limited
to that arising from conventional fixed rate liabilities represented by Shareholders’ Equity (allocated both to the Parent
Company and the subsidiary Dexia Crediop Ireland). The management and measurement of interest rate risk takes place on
a consolidated level. Any operational decisions, for example to reduce the risk profile of the stock or synthetic investment
through derivatives of Shareholders’ Equity, are the responsibility of the Finance Committee.
Activities to measure and control market risk are assigned to Market Risk (within CLM) and to Financial Strategy (within
ALM Rate). They calculated risk/performance indicators verifying whether the operating limits set were respected.
For interest rate risk, fair value or cash flow hedging derivatives are used. The most commonly used instruments are
Overnight Indexed Swaps, Forward Rate Agreements and Interest Rate Swaps.
B. Fair value hedging activities
Fair value hedging (both micro and macro, the latter by means of the Portfolio Hedge) is used to immunise the market value
of the underlying financial instruments, protecting them against adverse changes in market rates.
The instruments underlying the hedging are specific financial assets or liabilities, or aggregates of similar type, and
transactions are carried out under market conditions.
Initial tests are performed on each hedge regarding the applicability of hedge accounting, as well as regular tests on their
effectiveness.
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C. Cash flow hedging
Hedging, the purpose of which is to stabilise cash flow indexed to variable parameters (typically Euribor), have specific
financial assets or liabilities as underlying elements, which are homogeneous with them and realised at market conditions.
Initial tests are performed on each hedge regarding the applicability of hedge accounting, as well as regular tests on their
effectiveness.

PRICE RISK
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement of price risk
The banking portfolio is exposed to price risk relative to equity securities classified among assets available for sale.
Among the aforementioned equity investments, all unlisted, that in the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo is of note, for
which the fair value was measured on the basis of the portion of shareholders’ equity attributed by the new articles of
association, issued with a combined ministerial decree on 24 January 2014 and published in the Official Journal on 19
April 2014. As indicated in the section on administrative, judicial and arbitration procedures in course, this measurement
does not in any constitute acquiescence with respect to the “forced” reduction of the equity investment made by the new
Articles of Association which are asserted to be illegitimate, as declared in the various appeals made by the company.
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B. Price risk hedging activities
Given the nature underlying the price risk, no hedges are implemented.

Quantitative information
1. Banking book: distribution according to residual duration (re-pricing date) of financial assets and liabilities
Currency of instruments: Euro

Type/ Residual term

thousands of euro
on
demand

Up to 3
months

Between Between Between 1 Between
More than Unspecified
6 months year and 5 5 and 10
3 and 6
10 years
term
years
years
months and 1 year

1. Cash assets

457,174

4,621,039

8,342,097

1,203,242

1,871,884

1,109,965

3,736,020

1.1 Debt securities

226,742

477,012

4,165,937

907,015

827,124

530,414

2,292,279

- with early redemption option
- others
1.2 Due from banks
1.3 Due from customers

226,742

477,012

4,165,937

907,015

827,124

530,414

2,292,279

222,033

3,220,270

452,740

7,832

54,478

69,873

51,648

8,399

923,757

3,723,420

288,395

990,282

509,678

1,392,093

8,399

923,757

3,723,420

288,395

990,282

509,678

1,392,093

8,399

923,757

3,723,420

288,395

990,282

509,678

1,392,093

4,505,765 12,419,038

413,108

528,809

55,968

106,834

2

990,061

6,656

3,540

6,656

3,540
3,540

- c/a
- other loans
- with early redemption option
- others
2. Cash liabilities
2.1 Due to customers

422,451

- c/a

320,250

- other payables

102,201

990,061

102,201

990,061

6,656

4,083,314 10,457,848

4,250

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

- with early redemption option
- others
2.2 Due to banks
- c/a
- other payables

3,597,903
485,411 10,457,848

4,250

971,129

402,202

525,269

55,968

106,834

2

971,129

402,202

525,269

55,968

106,834

2

2.3 Debt securities
- with early redemption option
- others
2.4 Other liabilities
- with early redemption option
- others
3. Financial derivatives
3.1 With underlying security
- Options
+ long positions
+ short positions
- Other derivatives
+ long positions
+ short positions
3.2 Without underlying security
- Options
+ long positions
+ short positions
- Other derivatives
+ long positions

27,525

5,165,659 14,368,155

2,188,028

875,724

179,998

39,650

+ short positions

98,861

3,981,945

2,273,485

2,263,427

1,674,050

3,197,268

9,358,152

4. Other off-balance sheet
+ long positions
+ short positions
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2. Banking book: internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods
The table and graphs below summarise the changes in the indicators relative to interest rate risk for the CLM portfolio:
during the course of 2015:
VAR 10 days
(Euro)
31 December 2015

Shift Sensitivity 100 bps
(absolute values in e)
300,939

4,759,000

Minimum

55,862

83,300

Average

347,562

7,666,814

Maximum

742,278

16,221,700

VAR CLM 2015

4,500,000
4,000,000
3,500,000
3,000,000
2,500,000
2,000,000
1,500,000
1,000,000
500,000
0
Jan-15

Mar-15

May-15

Jul-15

Nov-15

Sep-15

Nov-15
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Sep-15

Sensitivity CLM 2015
30,000,000
25,000,000
20,000,000
15,000,000
10,000,000
5,000,000
0
Jan-15

Mar-15

May-15

Jul-15

We should note that, in the context of reallocation of the risk limits within the Dexia Group which had already led in
2014 to a reduction in the VaR limit from e 4 to 3.5 million, starting from this past 15 April, the sensitivity limit indicated
above was reduced from e 25 to 20 million. A new sensitivity sub-limit, of e 15 million was also introduced; this is to be
observed on each time-bucket (4 quarterly buckets and a last bucket for risk positions at more than l year).
The operating limits set on the two risk indicators presented above and on the aforementioned sub-limit per time-bucket
were constantly observed during the year.
With regards to the measurement of risk and related operating limits on the medium and long-term timeframe, given that
management and measurement of interest rate risk is done at the consolidated level, please refer to that explained in the
section on market risks in the consolidated financial statements.
Finally, it should be noted that, similar to the description given for the trading book, the banking book is also exposed to basis
risk with reference to hedging derivatives that are the subject of collateral contracts (typically “CSA”), which are enhanced
by the use of an “OIS” discount curve, different from the one based on the Euribor parameter used for the underlying items
of hedging relationships. This component contributes to the volatility of the income statement and the results derived from
it, for valuation purposes, these are also classified in the “Accounting Volatility” segment pursuant to the segment reporting
(see Explanatory Notes to the Financial Statements 2014 Corporate Dexia Crediop S.p.A. - page 312).
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2.3 – Exchange rate risk
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement of exchange rate risk
The Group holds financial assets and issues bonds in other than euro currencies with the aim of exploiting favourable
market opportunities, taking into account the cost of exchange rate risks.

B. Exchange rate risk hedging activities
Financial assets and liabilities in currencies other than the euro are systematically hedged at the origin against exchange
rate risks using derivative products (cross currency swaps).

Quantitative information
1. Distribution according to currency of the assets, liabilities and derivatives
thousands of euro
Currencies
Items

US Dollar

Sterling

Yen

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

A. Financial assets
A.1 Debt securities

97,706

177,124

244

80

A.2 Equity securities
A.3 Due from banks
A.4 Due from customers
A.5 Other financial assets

1,528

B Other assets
C. Financial liabilities
C.1 Due to banks

50,585

C.2 Due to customers
C.3 Debt securities
C.4 Other financial liabilities

2,662

D. Other liabilities
E. Financial derivatives
- Options
+ long positions
+ short positions
- Other derivatives
+ long positions
+ short positions

164,221

37,468

210,240

214,592

Total assets

263,699

214,672

Total liabilities

263,487

214,592

212

80

Differences (+/-)
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Canadian
Dollar

Swiss franc

Other
currencies

2.4 Derivative instruments
A. Financial derivatives
A.1 Regulatory trading book: notional values at end of period
thousands of euro
Underlying assets/Type of derivatives

Total at 31/12/2015
Central
counterparties

Over the counter
1. Debt securities and interest rates
a) Options
b) Swap

18,658,407

Total at 31/12/2014
Over the counter

Central
counterparties

22,513,038

21,653

246,035

18,636,754

22,267,003

0

4,200

0

4,200

302,272

428,902

302,272

428,902

18,960,679

22,946,140

c) Forward
d) Futures
e) Others
2. Equity securities and stock indices
a) Options
b) Swap
c) Forward
d) Futures
e) Others
a) Options
b) Swap
c) Forward
d) Futures
e) Others
4. Goods
5. Other underlying assets
Total
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3. Currencies and gold

A.2 Banking book: notional values at end of period
A.2.1 For hedging
thousands of euro
Underlying assets/Type of derivatives

Total at 31/12/2015
Over the counter

1. Debt securities and interest rates
a) Options
b) Swaps

Central
counterparties

Total at 31/12/2014
Over the counter

22,558,050

23,607,968

34,858

37,171

22,523,192

23,570,797

200,845

482,068

c) Forwards
d) Futures
e) Others
2. Equity securities and stock indices
a) Options

91,072

91,072

b) Swaps

109,773

390,996

324,331

505,584

273,696

436,115

50,635

69,469

23,083,226

24,595,620

c) Forwards
d) Futures
e) Others
3. Currencies and gold
a) Options
b) Swaps
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c) Forwards
d) Futures
e) Others
4. Goods
5. Other underlying assets
Total
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Central
counterparties

A.3 Financial derivatives: gross positive fair value - distribution by products
thousands of euro
Positive fair value
Underlying assets/Type of derivatives

Total at 31/12/2015
Central
counterparties

Over the counter
A. Regulatory trading book
a) Options
b) Interest rate swaps
c) Cross currency swaps
d) Equity swaps

Total at 31/12/2014
Central
counterparties

Over the counter

2,356,195

3,030,240

201

988

2,326,109

2,971,768

29,885

57,483

0

1

327,882

392,929

e) Forwards
f) Futures
g) Others
B. Banking book - hedging
a) Options
b) Interest rate swaps

62,016

61,683

256,336

312,045

c) Cross currency swaps

4,109

7,640

d) Equity swaps

5,371

11,544

50

17

2,684,077

3,423,169

e) Forwards
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f) Futures
g) Others
C. Banking book - other derivatives
a) Options
b) Interest rate swaps
c) Cross currency swaps
d) Equity swaps
e) Forwards
f) Futures
g) Others
Total
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A.4 Financial derivatives: gross negative fair value - distribution by products
thousands of euro
Negative fair value
Underlying assets/Type of derivatives

Total at 31/12/2015
Central
counterparties

Over the counter
A. Regulatory trading book
a) Options
b) Interest rate swaps
c) Cross currency swaps
d) Equity swaps

Total at 31/12/2014
Central
counterparties

Over the counter

2,392,782

3,026,539

201

989

2,344,363

2,943,042

48,218

82,507

0

1

2,846,444

3,638,257

e) Forwards
f) Futures
g) Others
B. Banking book - hedging
a) Options
b) Interest rate swaps
c) Cross currency swaps

5,184

6,047

2,791,137

3,518,463

50,123

113,714

d) Equity swaps

33

e) Forwards
f) Futures
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g) Others
C. Banking book - other derivatives
a) Options
b) Interest rate swaps
c) Cross currency swaps
d) Equity swaps
e) Forwards
f) Futures
g) Others
Total

5,239,226
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6,664,796

A.5 OTC financial derivatives - regulatory trading book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values by
counterparties- contracts not part of offsetting agreements
thousands of euro
Contracts not part of offsetting
agreements

Governments
and Central
Banks

Other
public
bodies

Financial
companies

Banks

Insurance
companies

Nonfinancial
companies

Other
subjects

1) Debt securities and interest rates
- notional value
- positive fair value

2,156,145

2,361,573

1,988

291,786

367,413

328,731

639,285

229

62,265

74,063

9

1,610

4,002

- negative fair value
- future exposure

18,686
13,162

21,458

2) Equity securities and stock
indices
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
- future exposure
3) Currencies and gold
- notional value

151,136
9,153

- negative fair value

23,726

- future exposure

11,335

4) Other valuables
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
- future exposure

145

Notes to the Financial Statements

- positive fair value

A.6 OTC financial derivatives - regulatory trading book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values by
counterparties- contracts part of offsetting agreements
thousands of euro
Contracts part of offsetting
agreements

Governments
and Central
Banks

Other
public
bodies

Banks

Financial
companies

1) Debt securities and interest rates
- notional value

12,025,185

1,454,317

- positive fair value

1,032,084

189,653

- negative fair value

1,943,456

382,422

2) Equity securities and stock
indices
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
3) Currencies and gold
- notional value

151,136

- positive fair value

20,732

- negative fair value

24,492

4) Other valuables
- notional value
- positive fair value
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- negative fair value
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Insurance
companies

Nonfinancial
companies

Other
subjects

A.8 OTC financial derivatives - banking book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values by counterpartiescontracts part of offsetting agreements
thousands of euro
Contracts part of offsetting
agreements

Governments
and Central
Banks

Other
public
bodies

Financial
companies

Banks

Insurance
companies

Nonfinancial
companies

Other
subjects

1) Debt securities and interest rates
- notional value

22,273,507

284,543

205,929

50,408

2,741,076

55,245

- positive fair value
- negative fair value
2) Equity securities and stock
indices
- notional value

200,845

- positive fair value

67,386

- negative fair value
3) Currencies and gold
- notional value

116,195

208,136

50

4,109

46,376

3,747

- positive fair value
- negative fair value
4) Other valuables
- notional value
- negative fair value

A.9 Residual term of OTC financial derivatives: notional values
thousands of euro
Underlying instruments/ Residual term
A. Regulatory trading book
A.1 Fin. derivatives on debt securities and interest rates

Up to 1 year

Between 1 year
and 5 years

More than 5
years

Total

2,039,204

6,668,384

10,253,091

18,960,679

2,039,204

6,668,384

9,950,819

18,658,407

302,272

302,272

A.2 Fin. derivatives on equity securities and stock indices
A.3 Fin. derivatives on exchange rates and gold
A.4 Fin. derivatives on other valuables
B. Banking book
B.1 Fin. derivatives on debt securities and interest rates
B.2 Fin. derivatives on equity securities and stock indices

13,871,053

3,380,210

5,831,963

23,083,226

13,598,423

3,192,879

5,766,748

22,558,050

190,845

10,000

81,785

177,331

65,215

324,331

Total at 31/12/2015

15,910,257

10,048,594

16,085,054

42,043,905

Total at 31/12/2014

16,227,715

11,957,937

17,356,108

45,541,760

B.3 Fin. derivatives on exchange rates and gold

200,845

B.4 Fin. derivatives on other valuables
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- positive fair value

B. Credit derivatives
B.1 Credit derivatives notional values at end of period
thousands of euro
Regulatory trading book
Type of transaction

on a single
subject

1. Protection purchases

802,627

a) Credit default products

802,627

on several subjects
(basket)

b) Credit spread products
c) Total rate of return swap
d) Others
Total at 31/12/2015

802,627

Totala at 31/12/2014

802,627

2. Protection sales

802,627

a) Credit default products

802,627

b) Credit spread products
c) Total rate of return swap
d) Others
802,627

Total at 31/12/2014

802,627

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Total at 31/12/2015
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Banking portfolio
on a single
subject

on several subjects
(basket)

B.2 OTC credit derivatives: gross positive fair value - distribution by products
thousands of euro
Positive fair value

Portfolios/Types of derivatives

Total at 31/12/2015

Total at 31/12/2014

A. Regulatory trading book

59,250

77,077

a) Credit default products

59,250

77,077

59,250

77,077

b) Credit spread products
c) Total rate of return swap
d) Others
B. Banking book
a) Credit default products
b) Credit spread products
c) Total rate of return swap
d) Others
Total

B.3 OTC credit derivatives: gross negative fair value - distribution by products
thousands of euro
Portfolios/Types of derivatives

Total at 31/12/2015

Total at 31/12/2014

A. Regulatory trading book

56,619

75,547

a) Credit default products

56,619

75,547

56,619

75,547

b) Credit spread products
c) Total rate of return swap
d) Others
B. Banking book
a) Credit default products
b) Credit spread products
c) Total rate of return swap
d) Others
Total
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Negative fair value

B.4 OTC credit derivatives: gross (positive and negative) fair values by counterparties- contracts not part of
offsetting agreements
thousands of euro
Contracts not part of
offsetting agreements

Governments
and Central
Banks

Other
public
bodies

Banks

Financial
companies

Insurance
companies

Nonfinancial
companies

Other
subjects

Regulatory trading
1) Purchase of protection
- notional value

802,627

- positive fair value

59,250

- negative fair value
- future exposure

80,263

2) Sale of protection
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
- future exposure
Banking portfolio
1) Purchase of protection
- notional value
- positive fair value
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- negative fair value
2) Sale of protection
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value

B.5 OTC credit derivatives: gross (positive and negative) fair values by counterparties- contracts part of offsetting
agreements
thousands of euro
Contracts not part of
offsetting agreements

Governments
and Central
Banks

Other
public
bodies

Banks

Financial
companies

Regulatory trading
1) Purchase of protection
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
2) Sale of protection
- notional value

583,724

218,903

36,118

20,501

- positive fair value
- negative fair value
Banking portfolio
1) Purchase of protection
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
2) Sale of protection
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
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Insurance
companies

Nonfinancial
companies

Other
subjects

B.6 Residual term of credit derivatives: notional values
thousands of euro
Underlying instruments/ Residual term

Up to 1 year

Between 1
year and 5
years

A. Regulatory trading book

More than 5
years

Total

1,605,254

1,605,254

1,605,254

1,605,254

Total at 31/12/2015

1,605,254

1,605,254

Total at 31/12/2014

1,605,254

1,605,254

A.1 Credit derivatives with "subordinated" "reference obligation"
A.2 Credit derivatives with "subordinated" "reference obligation"
B. Banking book
B.1 Credit derivatives with "subordinated" "reference obligation"
B.2 Credit derivatives with "subordinated" "reference obligation"

C. Credit and financial derivatives
C.1. OTC credit and financial derivatives: net fair values and future exposure by counterparties
Governments
and Central
Banks

Other
public
bodies

Banks

Financial
companies

1) Financial derivative bilateral
agreements
- positive fair value

1,347,104

248,276

- negative fair value

4,824,708

465,657

- future exposure
- net counterparty risk
2) Credit derivative bilateral
agreements
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
- future exposure
- net counterparty risk
3) Cross product agreements
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
- future exposure
- net counterparty risk
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107,109

16,222

1,454,213

264,498

Insurance
companies

NonOther
financial
subjects
companies
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thousands of euro

Section 3 – Liquidity risk
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement of liquidity risk
The bank is structurally exposed to liquidity risk as loans are mainly concentrated on the long-term horizon, against
deposits with a shorter average duration.
The management of short-term liquidity risk lies with the Cash & Liquidity Management (CLM) Business Line. The
sustainability of the liquidity profile in the long-term is first and foremost verified during approval of the long-term Financial
Plan in relation to the objectives established in terms of volumes and time frames of loans and deposits.
Liquidity risk control is entrusted to the Operating Units Financial Strategy, which operates within the framework of the
internal provision on liquidity risk governance, management and control. In particular, this function monitors two basic
amounts on a daily basis, over a time horizon of six months:
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a) liquidity gap (accumulated balance of forecast cash flows according to maturity);
b) available reserves (value of eligible assets according to maturity);
analysing the developments through daily communications to senior management, the corresponding Dexia Group
department and the regulatory authority (three-month maturity ladder). In addition, following the schedule established by
the regulatory authority, the function calculates the value of the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and Net Stable Funding
Ratio (NSFR) indicators. The trends of these are similarly analysed and the information is sent to the recipients cited above
in a timely manner. The liquidity risk control system includes stress tests and a Contingency Funding Plan drawn up by the
Dexia Group.
With regard to maturities of more than six months, the function periodically analyses monthly buckets (up to three years)
and annual buckets (more than three years) of developments in the liquidity gap and the available reserves, considering
two alternative scenarios (“regulatory” and “management” liquidity positions) on the basis of the criteria respectively
adopted for the maturity ladder drawn up for the regulatory authority and management hypotheses such as the renewal
of highly probable operations.
The outcome of the above analyses and audits are discussed by the Finance Committee usually once a fortnight.
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Quantitative information
1. Distribution by maturity according to residual contractual term of financial assets and liabilities Currency: Euro
thousands of euro

Item/Time bracket

From
From
From
Between
From
Between 1
Between
more
more
more
More than Unspecified
6 months
on de- more than
year and 5
3 and 6
than 1
than 15
than 7
5 years
term
and 1
mand 1 day to 7
years
days to 15 days to 1 month to months
year
days
month 3 months
days

Cash assets

249,930

369,324

6,302 3,509,286

10,823 1,131,587

643,008

9,261

98,828

880,529

2,588,065

A.1 Government
securities
A.2 Other debt securities
A.3 Mutual fund shares
A.4 Loans
- Banks
- Customers
Cash liabilities
B.1 Deposits and current
accounts
- Banks

33

6,187

207

5,581

289,503

70,773

909,543

3,651,459

5,242

832,823

473,406

1,841,240

3,904,941

452,734

7,832

54,478

106,520

770
249,144

369,290

115 3,509,079

222,033

261,348

2,958,922

27,111

107,943

5,242

380,089

465,575

1,786,761

3,798,420

3,920,288 2,868,418 1,371,599 2,849,491 4,641,329

115

550,157

514,788

296,297

1,322,268

881,845

264,506

426,008

142,820

483,639

78,892

967,151 2,849,491 4,376,823

88,780

153,477

838,629

802,953

3,918,153
3,597,903
320,250

B.2 Debt securities

18

B.3 Other liabilities

2,117

404,448
2,868,418

Off balance sheet
transactions
C.1 Financial derivatives
with equity swap
- long positions

50,699

13,454

13,816

197,161

341,395

- short positions

50,369

15,336

15,745

177,330

360,194

24,846

11,191

C.2 Financial derivatives
without equity swap
- long positions

2,309,957

2,695

1

5,009

17,505

11,571

47,883

- short positions

2,348,047

13,457

86

20,180

8,777

30,269

140,131

C.3 Deposits and loans to
be received
- long positions
- short positions
C.4 Irrevocable commitments to disburse funds
- long positions

48,956

6,328

- short positions
C.5 Financial guarantees
given
C.6 Financial guarantees
received
C.7 Credit derivatives
with equity swap
- long positions
- short positions
C.8 Credit derivatives
without equity swap
- long positions

59,250

- short positions

56,627
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- Customers

16

3,631,311 10,144,464

The item financial derivatives without the exchange of capital includes, in the case of trading derivatives, the related fair
value in the “on demand” timeframe and, in the case of hedging derivatives, the positive or negative differentials that are
due in the year following that of reference of the financial statements.

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

The securitisation transactions in place as of 31 December 2015, originating on internal assets through Tevere Finance srl,
in which Dexia Crediop (originator bank) signed the deed for the issue, total liabilities issued by the vehicle company are
as follows:
• 151,013,961 euro, of which 149,970,961 euro Senior Notes, with ratings assigned by Standard & Poor’s as “BBB-”
and 1,043,000 euro Junior Notes (without ratings), concerning loan agreements stipulated with Istituto per il Credito
Sportivo;
• 9,219,213 euro of which 6,652,513 euro Senior Notes (without ratings) and 2,567,000 euro Junior Notes (without
ratings), concerning loan agreements stipulated with public and private enterprises.
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Section 4 – Operating risks
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measuring of operational risk
Operational risk is “the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, human resources and systems,
or from external events”. This definition includes legal risk, but not strategic risk (i.e. the risk of not achieving the desired
performance owing to assessment errors by the management) or reputational risk (i.e. the risk of losing revenues owing to
a loss of public confidence in the broker).
The method used by the Group for measuring operational risk is the Traditional Standardized Approach (TSA).
As regards the qualitative method of assessing operational risks, an Operational Risk & Security Unit is active within the
Risk, and has responsibility for:

As regards management performance assessments, a number of Operational Risk Correspondents (ORC) have been chosen
within each Operating Unit with the task of noting every operational risk event and subsequently filing the information in
the Group’s software OSCAR.
Quantitative information
The main causes of operational risk events in 2015 are shown below in percentage terms:
CATEGORY OF EVENT

%

internal fraud

0%

external fraud

0%

relationships with staff and safety in the workplace

0%

customers, products and business practice

0%

damage to or loss of property plant and equipment

0%

system failure or breakdown

56%

process execution, delivery and management

44%
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• drafting and updating the regulatory sources for the correct management of company processes and the consequent
mitigation of operational risk;
• measuring annually the Group’s exposure to the Bank’s operational risk by means of the RCSA method (Risk & Control
Self Assessment);
• defining, adopting and producing the reporting system on operational risk trends;
• preparing, for the part on operating risks, the “ICAAP Document” to be sent annually to the Bank of Italy;
• managing the security logics which control access to the IT applications;
• guaranteeing the efficiency and updating of the Operating Continuity Plan (OCP), also through the execution of annual
tests.

Part F – Comments on the capital
Section 1 - Corporate capital
A. Qualitative information
The corporate capital consists of the share capital, reserves from profits in previous periods, valuation reserves on financial
assets available for sale and cash flow hedges and reserves as a result of first adoption of the IAS/IFRS principles. Except
for the part of the capital used in equity investments and property and the part from first adoption of IAS/IFRS and from
reserves consisting of the fair value of assets available for sale and cash flow hedging, the remainder of the capital is
mainly invested in fixed-rate mid- to long-term financial assets.		
B. Quantitative information
B.1 Corporate capital: breakdown
thousands of euro
Items/Amounts

Amount 31/12/2015

1. Share capital

Amount 31/12/2014

450,210

450,210

531,327

599,673

76,509

76,509

454,818

523,164

2. Share premiums

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

3. Reserves
- of profits
a) legal
b) statutory
c) treasury shares
d) other
- other
4. Equity instruments
5. (Treasury shares)
6. Valuation reserves

(42,656)

(56,629)

(53,952)

(60,465)

18,206

16,100

(6,910)

(12,264)

7. Profit (Loss) for the period

(28,678)

(68,346)

Total

910,203

924,908

- Financial assets available for sale
- Property plant and equipment
- Intangible assets
- Foreign investment hedging
- Cash flow hedging
- Exchange rate differences
- Non-current assets held for sale
- Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefits schemes
- Proportions of valuation reserves relating to investee companies consolidated
at net equity
- Special revaluation laws
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B.2 Reserves from valuation of financial assets available for sale: breakdown
thousands of euro
Assets/Amounts

Total at 31/12/2015
Positive reserve

1. Debt securities

19,565

2. Equity securities

1,327

Total at 31/12/2014

Negative reserve
74,844

Positive reserve

Negative reserve

25,196

86,988

1,327

3. Mutual fund shares
4. Loans
Total

20,892

74,844

26,523

86,988

B.3 Valuation reserves of financial assets available for sale: annual changes
thousands of euro
Debt securities
1.

Opening balances

2.

Increases

Equity securities

(61,792)

Mutual fund shares

Loans

1,327

10,501

2.1 Increases in fair value

3,757

2.2 Reversal to income statement of
negative reserves:

4,455

- for impairment
4,455
2,289

3.

3,988

Decreases

3.1 Decreases in fair value
3.2 Impairment losses
3.3 Reversal to income statement of
positive reserve: for disposal

3,988

3.4 Other changes
4.

Closing balances

(55,279)

1,327

B.4 Valuation reserves of defined benefit schemes: annual changes
The valuation reserves of defined benefits schemes as at 31.12.2015 amounted to -6,910 thousand euros.
The variance of reserves as at 2015 is 5,355 thousands euro.
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- for disposal
2.3 Other changes

Section 2 – Own funds and capital ratios
2.1 Own funds
A. Qualitative information

1. Common Equity Tier 1 - CET1
Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) was calculated on the basis of the balance sheet and income statement figures, determined
in accordance with the IAS/IFRS international accounting standards and taking into account the rules laid down by the
Bank of Italy in accordance with the new Basel 3 regulations.
In particular, CET1 includes, as positive elements: paid-up equity and profit reserves; negative elements include: intangible
assets and valuation reserves.
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2. Additional Tier 1 - AT1
There are no additional Tier1 funds.
3. Tier 2 - T2
Tier II capital consists of subordinated liabilities, which can be calculated entirely as such from valuation reserves and from
surpluses from value adjustments with respect to expected losses.
In reference to valuation reserves for debt securities issued by the central administrations of countries in the European
Union included in the “Financial Assets Available for Sale” portfolio, the Group applied complete neutralization of the
associated capital gains and losses, in accordance with the provision sub a) laid down by the Bank of Italy with its
measure dated 18 May 2010 regarding “Regulatory Capital/Prudential Filters” and confirmed by the national provisions
implementing the Basel 3 regulations.

B. Quantitative information
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015
A. Common Equity Tier 1 - CET1 before prudential filters are applied
of which CET1 instruments subject to transitional provisions

957,612

Total at 31/12/2014
983,143

7,890

4,619

B. CET1 prudential filters (+/-)

(60,862)

(72,729)

C. CET1 gross of elements to be deducted and effects of the transitional regime (A+/-B)

896,750

910,414

896,750

910,414

138,119

216,334

398

531

D. Elements to be deducted from CET1
E. Transitional regime - Impact on CET1 (+/-)
F. Total Common Equity Tier 1 (TIER1 -CET1) (C-D +/-E)
G. Additional Tier 1 (AT1) gross of elements to be deducted and effects of the
transitional regime
of which AT1 instruments subject to transitional provisions
H. Elements to be deducted from AT1
I. Transitional regime - Impact on AT1 (+/-)
L. Total Additional TIER 1 (AT1) (G-H+/-I)
M. Tier 2 (T2) gross of elements to be deducted and effects of the transitional regime
of which T2 instruments subject to transitional provisions
N. Elements to be deducted from T2
O. Transitional regime - Impact on T2 (+/-)
P. Total Tier 2 (T2) (M - N +/- O)

138,119

216,334

Q. Total own funds ( F + L + P )

1,034,869

1,126,748
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2.2 Capital adequacy
A. Qualitative information
The process by which significant risks are identified and measurement methods defined, the quantification of the internal
capital and economic capital in view of each risk type, all take place under the management and coordination of the parent
company Dexia S.A..
More specifically, the calculation engine for the quantification of internal capital and economic capital is managed on a
centralised level by the parent company Dexia S.A..
Dexia S.A. also sends all Group companies, including Dexia Crediop, the descriptive methodologies adopted to measure
each type of risk (including the risks considered as significant by Dexia Crediop and consolidated on a Dexia group level)
and the quantification of the related risk capital.
The company’s organisational units assigned to manage and control risk are the Risk COU, including Credit Risk, Operational
Risk & Security and Market Risk, the Financial Strategy COU and the Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering COU.
B. Quantitative information
thousands of euro
Categories/Amounts

Unweighted amounts
31/12/2015

31/12/2014

Weighted amounts/requirements
31/12/2015

31/12/2014

A. RISK ASSETS
A.1 Credit and counterparty risk

23,400,710

2. Methodology based on internal ratings

5,218,455

4,946,507

1,124,109

1,273,828

761,115

936,849

22,208,817

34,551,081

4,414,229

3,958,503

22,208,817

34,551,081

4,414,229

3,958,503

67,784

80,433

43,111

51,155

417,476

395,721

17,982

43,692

2.1 Basic
2.2 Advanced
3. Securitisation
B. REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS
B.1 Credit and counterparty risk
B.2 Credit valuation adjustment risk
B.3 Settlement risk
B.4 Market risk

20,787

23,461

1. Standard methodology

20,787

23,461

3,375

3,145

3,375

3,145

459,620

466,019

5,745,250

5,825,240

15.61%

15.63%

2. Internal models
3. Concentration risk
B.5 Operational risk
1. Basic method
2. Standardized method
3. Advanced method
B.6 Other calculation elements
B.7 Total prudential requirements
RISK ASSETS AND REGULATORY RATIOS
C.1 Risk-weighted assets
C.2 Common equity Tier 1 capital/ Risk-weighted assets (CET 1 capital ratio)
C.3 Tier 1 capital/ Risk-weighted assets (Tier 1 capital ratio)

15.61%

15.63%

C.4 Total Own Funds/ Risk-weighted assets (Total capital ratio)

18.01%

19.34%
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1. Standardized methodology

35,905,342

Part H – Transactions with related parties
In compliance with law dispositions and internal procedures, all related party transactions occured during the fiscal year
have been carried out at conditions equivalent to market conditions applied to transactions of similar nature and risk
occured with non related parties. With regard to related parties, any unsusual or non-typical transaction and/or any
transaction with non standard condistions, both economic and contractual, has been concluded.
1. Information on key management personnel’s remuneration
The information referred to in paragraph 17 of IAS 24 regarding key management personnel is shown below:
thousands of euro
Short term benefits

1,779

Post-employment benefits

121

Other long term benefits
Severance indemnity
Payment in shares

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Total

1,900

2. Information on transactions with related parties
The bank is the Parent Company of “Gruppo Bancario Dexia Crediop S.p.A.” which, in addition to Dexia Crediop S.p.A.,
includes the following subsidiaries:
1. D.C.I. - Dexia Crediop Ireland with a 100% shareholding(1);
2. Tevere Finance S.r.l.(2)
The company is controlled (70% of the share capital) by Dexia Crédit Local SA with registered offices in - 1, passerelle des
Reflets Tour Dexia - La Défense 2 - 92913 La Défense Cedex.
(1) Unlimited liability company constituted under Irish law, with registered offices in 6 George’s Dock, Dublin 1 and share capital of Euro 100 million represented by 100 million shares, each
with a nominal value of 1 euro.
- 99,999,999 shares are held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;
- 1 share held by Belfius Ireland (ex Dexia Investments Ireland), in its capacity as Trustee for Dexia Crediop S.p.A. until the 05/03/2013; on 06/03/2013 Belfius Ireland sold, whitout trustee
agreement, the share to Dexia Crédit Local.
(2) Vehicle company in accordance with Italian law no. 130/1999 over which Dexia Crediop S.p.A. exercises de facto control.
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2.1 Transactions with the parent company
Assets and Liabilities

thousands of euro

Assets
-

Financial assets held for trading

64,438

-

Deposits

32,397

-

Hedging derivatives

106

Total

96,941

Liabilities
-

Borrowings

554,953

-

Financial liabilities held for trading

-

Hedging derivatives

19,089

-

Subordinated debts

-

Repurchase agreements

2,323,219

-

Deposits

3,543,000

-

Other liabilities

431,321
400,019

1,476

Total

7,273,007

-

thousands of euro

Guarantees received

383,032

Income and charges
-

Interest and similar income

-

Interest paid and similar charges

thousands of euro
4,161
(70,696)

of which

interest margin on hedging transactions

(41,410)

-

Commission income

-

Commission expenses

(943)

-

Net trading gains (losses)

1,755

-

Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase

-

Administrative expenses

2,665
(1,670)

Total

(64,728)
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Other transactions

2.2 Transactions with subsidiaries
D.C.I.
Assets and Liabilities

thousands of euro

Assets
-

Deposits

-

Financial assets held for trading

36.750
189.065

Total

225.815

Liabilities
-

Other Liabilities

148

Total

148

Income and charges
-

Interest and similar income

-

Interest paid and similar charges

-

Commission expenses

-

Net trading gains (losses)

thousands of euro
161
(1,599)
(11,681)
(13,119)
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Total
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2.3 Transactions with other companies of the Dexia Group
In addition to the above-illustrated transactions with the parent company and the subsidiaries, Dexia Crediop also carried
out transactions with Dexia SA holding and its subsidiaries; all these transactions refer to the core business.
DEXIA HOLDING
Income and charges
-

thousands of euro

Administrative expenses

(106)

Total

(106)

COMPANIES IN THE DCL GROUP
Assets and Liabilities

thousands of euro

Assets
-

Deposits

2,715

Total

2,715

Liabilities
- Issued securites

53,930

- Repurchase agreements

220,586

Total

274,516

thousands of euro

Interest paid and similar charges

(2,047)

Total

(2,047)
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Income and charges
-

Part L – Information on sectors
The information is not required for individual financial statements in accordance with IFRS 8, paragraph 4.

Balance sheet data of parent company
Dexia Credit Local
Under the terms of art. 2497 bis of the Italian Civil Code, Dexia Crediop S.p.A. is subject to management and coordination
by Dexia Credit Local.
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The following is the balance sheet, abbreviated income statement and key indicators as at 31.12.14 for Dexia Credit Local.

DEXIA CREDIT LOCAL - Financial Statements at 31.12.14
DEXIA CREDIT LOCAL Balance sheet
EUR millions
ASSETS

December 31, 2014

December 31, 2013

I.

Cash, central banks and postal checking accounts

2,548

1,077

II.

Government securities

3,576

2,939

III.

Interbank loans and advances

28,083

34,525

IV.

Customer loans

35,119

36,734

39,465

40,620

186

182

1,176

1,173

18

25

5

6

27,223

19,511

V.

Bonds and other fixed income securities

VI.

Equities and other variable income securities

VII.

Long-term equity investments

VIII. Intangible assets
IX.

Tangible fixed assets

X.

Unpaid capital

XI.

Uncalled capital

XII.

Treasury stock

XIII. Other assets
XIV.

Accruals and other assets
Total assets
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11,224

8,941

148,623

145,733

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
I.

December 31, 2014

Interbank borrowings and deposits

II.

Customer deposits

III.

Debt securities

IV.

Other liabilities

V.

Accruals and other liabilities

VI.

Provisions and reserves

VII.

General banking risks reserve
Capital stock

X.

Additional paid-in capital

42,484

101

241

79,219

84,490

4,687

4,098

12,772

10,607

1,682

1,346

434

539

VIII. Subordinated debt
IX.

December 31, 2013

48,643

224

1,286

1,885

1,885

XI.

Reserves and retained earnings

(277)

(1,218)

XII.

Net income for the year

(747)

(25)

148,623

145,733

XIII. Interim dividends
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

DEXIA CREDIT LOCAL Profit and loss
EUR millions
INCOME STATEMENT

December 31, 2014

December 31, 2013

Interest income

3,087

9,560

(2,772)

(9,228)

2

18

II.

Interest expense

III.

Income from variable income securities

IV.

Commission income

V

Commission expense

2

2

(22)

(26)

VI. A Net gains (losses) on held-for-trading portfolio transactions

(75)

(177)

VI. B Net gains (losses) on portfolio transactions available for sale

(685)

(83)
4

VI. C Net losses on held to maturity portfolio transactions
VII.

Other banking income

1

X.

Other banking expense

(1)

NET BANKING INCOME
VIII. General operating expenses
IX.

Depreciation and amortization

GROSS OPERATING INCOME
XI.

Cost of risk

OPERATING INCOME AFTER COST OF RISK
XII.

Net gains (losses) on long-term investments

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX
XV.

(463)

70

(259)

(222)

(9)

(13)

(731)

(165)

(21)

225

(752)

60

8

34

(744)

94

(3)

(119)

Non-recurring items

XVII. Corporate income tax
XIII. Net allocation to general banking risks reserve
NET INCOME

(747)

(25)

Basic earnings per share

(3.34)

(0.11)

Diluted earnings per share

(3.34)

(0.11)
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Report on operations
Companies included in the consolidation
At 31 December 2015, the Dexia Crediop Group consolidation area included, in addition to the parent company Dexia
Crediop S.p.A., the following subsidiaries:
Headquarters
Company name

Investment relationship
Impresa
partecipante

% of votes held

Quota %

Companies consolidated line-by-line (1)
Dexia Crediop Ireland*

Dublin

Dexia Crediop

Tevere Finance S.r.l.**

Rome

De facto control

99.99%

99.99%

-

-

Dexia Crediop banking Group

				

* Dexia Crediop Ireland has equity of € 100 million, represented by 100 million shares with a face value of € 1 each, including:
99,999,999 shares held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;
1 share held by Dexia Crédit Local (purchased on 6 March 2013 from Belfius Ireland (formerly Dexia Investments Ireland).
** Tevere Finance S.r.l., which does not belong to the Dexia Crediop banking group, is subject to the de facto control of Dexia Crediop S.p.A..

Dexia Crediop Ireland
The company was established in 2007 with the aim of concentrating management activities for the Group’s debt securities
investment portfolios. By virtue of the deleveraging policy resolved by the Group, in 2010 major disposals of non-core
business were made and, consequently, equity was reduced from e 700 million to e 100 million, reimbursing the
shareholder Dexia Crediop at par value.
Compared to the previous financial year, there have been no special events.
Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l.
The company, with equity of e 10,000 of which 90% held by Dexia Crediop, was part of the Dexia Crediop banking
group and was placed under voluntary liquidation with a deed on 30 September 2015, and removed from the Register of
Companies on 7 December 2015.
The company’s sole purpose was the issuing of covered bank bonds in accordance with Article 7-bis of Law 130 of 30 April
1999, and subsequent implementation provisions, and has never carried out transactions.
Tevere Finance S.r.l.
The company is a vehicle pursuant to Italian Law no.130/1999 of 21 September 2007. It implemented its first securitisation
transactions in 2009, originated from Dexia Crediop. The equity is e 10,000 and is fully subscribed and paid up. The sole
shareholder is a Dutch foundation, whilst Dexia Crediop exercises de facto control.

(1) The company Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l., 90% controlled by Dexia Crediop, was placed under voluntary liquidation with a deed on 30 September 2015 and
removed from the register of companies on 7 December 2015.

170

Information on trends in the Group’s companies
Dexia Crediop S.p.A.
See the part relating to this Company’s separate financial statements.
Dexia Crediop Ireland
In 2015, after the disposal of assets in financial year 2010, the company continued to manage the stock of securities that
has remained in the portfolio. More specifically, the securities portfolio as of 31 December 2015 consists exclusively of
Italian government securities for a face value of e 270 million.
The net interest and other banking income amounted to e 4 million, and operating costs were e 0.2 million. Pre-tax profit
totalled e 3.8 million which, net of local income tax, resulted in a net profit of e 3.3 million.

Internal risk management and control system, pursuant to art. 123-bis, clause 2, letter b) of
the Consolidated Finance Act
For the information required by Art. 123-bis, clause 2, letter b), of the Consolidated Finance Act, see the paragraph
“Internal risk management and control system, pursuant to Art. 123-bis, clause 3, letter b) of the Consolidated Finance
Act” of the Report on Operations of the company’s Financial Statements.

Financial relations with the parent company DCL, which directs and coordinates the Bank pursuant to Article 2497 of
the Italian Civil Code, posted in the financial statements at the end of the year, represented total assets of e 97 million,
total liabilities of e 7,273 million, and total guarantees received and commitments of e 383 million. The information
concerning transactions with related parties can be found in Part H of the Notes.
The key data from the last Annual Report of the parent company DCL are contained in Part L of the Notes, as required by
article 2497-bis of the Italian Civil Code.
Financial relations with companies of the Dexia Group, posted on the financial statement at the end of the period,
represented total assets of e 3 million and total liabilities of e 275 million. The related information is contained in Part
H of the Notes.
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Relations with other Dexia Group companies

Economic and financial results
To provide a better understanding of the results of the period, abbreviated versions of the balance sheet and income
statement have been prepared, using the models given in the Bank of Italy Memorandum 262/2005 and making the
necessary reclassifications as described below:
Balance Shee

• the item “Cash and cash equivalents” has been included under other assets;
• the item “Hedging derivatives” has been included under other assets/liabilities;
• the item “Fair value adjustment of financial assets in hedged portfolios” has been included among other assets;
• tangible and intangible assets have been aggregated into a single item;
• the provisions for severance indemnities and provisions for risks and charges have been aggregated into a single item;
• the item “Fair value adjustment of financial liabilities in hedged portfolios” has been included among other liabilities;
• the profit and valuation reserves have been aggregated into a single item.
Income Statement

Dexia Crediop banking Group

• the item “Net hedging gains (losses)” has been included under net interest, in relation to the close correlation between
hedging derivatives and the instruments hedged;
• “net trading gains (losses)” and “Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase” have been aggregated into a single item;
• net adjustments on tangible and intangible assets have been aggregated into a single item.
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Reclassified Balance Sheet
thousands of euro
Reclassified Balance Sheet

Assets

31/12/2015

31/12/2014

Financial assets for trading

20. Financial assets held for trading

2,226,379

2,893,730

-667,351

-23%

Financial assets avaible for sale

40. Financial assets avaible for sale

456,049

887,060

-431,011

-49%

Financial assets held to maturity

50. Financial assets held to maturity

137,286

187,650

-50,364

-27%

Due from banks

60. Due from banks

Due from customers

70. Due from customers

Tangible and intagible assets
Tax Assets

Change %

4,084,006

12,429,771

-8,345,765

-67%

17,864,082

20,662,133

-2,798,051

-14%

6,186

45,714

-39,528

-86%

120. Property plant and equipment

3,049

42,701

-39,652

-93%

130. Intagible assets

3,137

3,013

124

4%

19,899

30,720

-10,821

-35%

388,164

463,986

-75,822

-16%

3

4

-1

-25%

327,882

392,930

-65,048

-17%

4,969

9,762

-4,793

-49%

61,290

-5,980

-10%

37,600,764 -12,418,713

-33%

140. Tax Assets
10. Cash and cash equivalent

Other asset items

Change

80. hedging derivatives
90. Fair value adjustment of financial assets in
hedge portfolios (+/-)
160. Other asset items

55,310

Total assets

25,182,051

Reclassified Balance Sheet

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

31/12/2015

31/12/2014

Due to banks

10. Due to banks

Due to customers

20. Due to customers

Securities in issue

14,919,680

26,624,090

-11,704,410

-44%

1,858,116

615,816

1,242,300

202%

30. Securities in issue

2,080,685

2,619,848

-539,163

-21%

Financial liabilities for trading

40. Financial liabilities for trading

2,260,247

2,888,392

-628,145

-22%

Tax liabilities

80. Tax liabilities

114

0

114

n.a.

3,054,646

3,874,388

-819,742

-21%

3,035,598

3,851,952

-816,354

-21%

0

0

0

0%

19,048

22,436

-3,388

-15%

30,156

25,983

4,173

16%

1,730

2,426

-696

-29%

28,426

23,557

4,869

21%

60. Hedging derivatives
Other liabilities items

70. Fair value adjustment of financial liabilities in
hedge portfolios (+/-)
100. Other liabilities

Provisions

110. Provision for severance indemnities
120. Provision for risks and charges

Reserves

140. Valutation reserves

Change

Change %

552,242

564,945

-12,703

-2%

(104,995)

(155,211)

50,216

-32%

170. Reserves

657,237

720,156

-62,919

-9%

Share capital

190. Share capital

450,210

450,210

0

0%

Shareholders’ equity of minority
interests

210. Shareholders’ equity of minority interests

10

11

-1

-9%

Profit (Loss) for the period

220. Profit (Loss) for the period

(24,055)

(62,919)

38,864

-62%

37,600,764 -12,418,713

-33%

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
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thousands of euro

Reclassified Income Statement
thousands of euro
Reclassified income statement Income statements

Net interest income

31/12/2015

10. Interest and similar income
20. Interest and similar expenses
90. Net hedging gains (losses)

Net fee and commission income
Dividend
Net trading gains (losses)

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Net adjustment for impairment

31/12/2014

Change

Change %

93,522

49,100

44,422

90%

510,810

611,471

(100,661)

-16%

(446,950)

(527,836)

80,886

-15%

29,662

(34,535)

64,197

n.a.

(1,185)

(6,318)

5,133

-81%

40. Fee and commission income

6,379

7,792

(1,413)

-18%

50. Fee and commission expense

(7,564)

(14,110)

6,546

-46%

70. Dividend and similar income
80. Net trading gains (losses)

0

3

(3)

-100%

(30,052)

(44,735)

14,683

-33%

14,872

(2,332)

17,204

-738%

100. Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase

(44,924)

(42,403)

(2,521)

-207%

Net interest and other banking income

62,285

(1,950)

64,235

-3294%

130. Net adjustment for impairment

(2,487)

(5,507)

3,020

-55%

Net income from financial activities

59,798

(7,457)

67,255

-902%

Administrative expenses

180. Administrative expenses

(69,427)

(31,319)

(38,108)

122%

Net provisions

190. Net provisions for risk and charges

(17,381)

(15,058)

(2,323)

15%

(2,440)

(2,475)

35

-1%

Amortization on assets

200. Net adjustment on property plant and
equipment

(868)

(911)

43

-5%

(1,572)

(1,564)

(8)

1%

210. Net adjustment on intangible assets
Other operating expense/income

220. Other operating expense/income
Operating costs

Profit (Losses) on disposal of
investment

270. Profit (Losses) on disposal of investment
Profit (loss) from continuing operations
before tax

Income tax

290. Income tax for the period on continuing
operations
Profit (loss) for the period
Profit (loss) pertaining to minority interests
Profit (loss) pertaining to the parent bank
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1,332

345

987

286%

(87,916)

(48,507)

(39,409)

81%

5,605

0

5,605

n.a.

(22,513)

(55,964)

33,451

-60%

(1,542)

(6,955)

5,413

-78%

(24,055)

(62,919)

38,864

-62%

0

0

0

(24,055)

(62,919)

38,864

-62%

Statement of reconciliation between consolidated profit and equity
thousands of euro
Parent company Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Shareholders Equity

Share capital

450,210

Valutation reserves

-42,656

Reserves

531,327

Profit (Loss) for the period

Total

-28,678

Total
Subsidiary companies

Profit for the period

938,881
Shareholders Equity

Share capital

-28,678
Profit for the period

910,203
Total

100,000

Valutation reserves

-64,030

Reserves

128,219

Profit (Loss) for the period

3,333

Pertaining to minority interests

10

0

Total

164,199

3,333

Elimination of equity interests in subsidiaries

-100,000

167,532

Elimination of dividend of subsidiaries
Consolidation accounting on valuation reserves

1,691

Other intercompany eliminations
Total
Dexia Crediop Group

-2,309

1,290

-100,618

1,290

Shareholders Equity
450,210

Valutation reserves

-104,995

Reserves

657,237

Profit (Loss) for the period

-24,055

Pertaining to minority interests
TOTAL CONSOLIDATED CAPITAL as at 31.12.2015

Total

10

0

1,002,462

-24,055
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Share capital

Profit for the period

-99,328

Dexia Crediop Group economic and financial results
The income statement for 2015 shows net interest, including net hedging gains (losses), of e 93.5 million. Said net
interest consists of interest income and expense and similar income and expense at e 63.9 million, down with respect
to the previous year by 19.8 million, due to the amortisation and depreciation of the stock of assets, as well as changes
in interest rates. The item net hedging gains (losses) is equal to e +29.7 million, an improvement of 64.2 million with
respect to 2014, following a decrease in the Euribor spread versus OIS, and therefore a decrease in the ineffectiveness of
the hedge.
Net fee and commission income amounted to e -1.1 million at the end of 2015, with an increase of +5.1 million on the
previous year. The increase is mainly due to a decrease in the fees and commissions paid on government backed securities
due to the repayment of most of these securities.

Dexia Crediop banking Group

The total for gains (losses) from trading amounts to -e 30.1 million, as compared with the -e44.7 million of 2014, and
is due to:
• -44.9 million for losses from disposals (-42.4 million in 2014), essentially deriving from the sale of securities to the
parent company Dexia Crédit Local and the sale of securities issued by Italian regions purchased pursuant to article 45
of Law no. 89 of 2014;
• +14.9 million from net trading gains (losses), in relation to the improvement of calculations carried out on trading
derivatives. In 2014, gains (losses) from trading came to -2.3 million.
Net interest and other banking income amounted to e +62.3 million, up by 64.2 million with respect to 2014.
The total net impairment adjustments were -e2.5 million, mainly due to flat-rate adjustments on loans.
Net income on financial activities therefore amounted to e 59.8 million, an increase of 67.3 million with respect to the
-7.5 million of 2014.
Administrative expenses came to e 69.4 million, up by 38.1 million (+122%) with respect to 2014, mainly due to the
contribution of 41.2 million made to the National Resolution Fund for credit institutions.
Personnel expenses, and the remaining administrative expenses, fell as a whole by e 3.1 million.
Amortisation and depreciation, amounting to e 2.4 million, were in line with the previous financial year.
Allocations to provisions for risks and charges came to e -17.4 million (-15.1 million in 2014) and refer for the most
part to a provision made in relation to the request made by the Extraordinary Commissioners of the Istituto per il Credito
Sportivo, following the cancellation of the 2005 Articles of Association of the Institute, to return dividends received in
2005-2010 in excess of the minimum dividend established in the previous Articles of Association issued in 2002.
In addition, in 2015, following the sale of the property located in in via XX Settembre, 30, gains on the disposal of the
investment were achieved in the amount of e 5.6 million.
The result of continuing operations before tax was e-22.5 million compared to e-56 million in 2014.
Taxes were a negative e-1.5 million.
The net result for the period was therefore e-24.1 million, while in the previous period it had been e-62.9 million.
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Changes to the main balance sheet items
Total balance sheet assets amounted to e 25.2 billion at the end of 2015, a decrease of 33% from the previous year.
In particular the item financial assets held for trading amounted to e 2.2 billion (compared to e 2.9 billion at the
end of 2014). This decrease was due to the change in the value of derivatives held for trading purposes. The amount
is balanced out by a similar change in the item “financial liabilities held for trading”. It should be recalled that these
derivatives are, in fact, measured at fair value and considered financial assets if their fair value is positive, and as
financial liabilities if their fair value is negative.
The item “financial assets available for sale” amounted to e 0.5 billion at the end of 2015, a 49% reduction with
respect to the previous year, down mainly in relation to amortisation of securities.
Financial assets held to maturity totalled e 0.1 billion (-27% compared to the previous year). During the year there
were no disposals or acquisitions, so the decrease can be attributed to reimbursements during the year.
Receivables from banks amounted to e 4.1 billion, a decrease of 8.3 billion compared to the end of the previous year.
The main changes can be attributed to the decrease in securities held issued by the parent company Dexia Crédit
Local (-7.2 billion) and the decrease in cash collateral (-0.9 billion).
Customer receivables total e 17.9 billion, a decrease of 2.8 billion on the figure recorded for the previous financial
year. The reduction is essentially due to amortisation and disposals during the period.

The other asset items totalled e 0.4 billion (-16% on the end of 2014). The decrease is mainly due to the change in
fair value of hedging derivatives.
Among liabilities, we note amounts due to banks for e 14.9 billion (26.6 billion in 2014). The decrease is connected
to the drop in funding in the form of deposits from Central Bank (-7.7 billion) and liabilities associated with other
banks (-4 billion), mainly in regards to structures within the Dexia Group.
Amounts due to customers reached e 1.9 billion, compared to 0.6 billion in 2014, mainly as a consequence
of an increase in deposits on the Italian money market platform and repurchase agreements with the Cassa di
Compensazione e Garanzia.
Securities issued came to e 2.1 billion (2.6 billion in 2014). The decrease when compared to the previous year is due
to redemptions during the period.
The item financial liabilities held for trading amounted to e 2.3 billion (compared to e 2.9 billion at the end of 2014).
This decrease was due to the change in the value of derivatives held for trading purposes. The amount is balanced out
by a similar change in the item “financial assets held for trading”.
The other items of the liabilities total e 3.1 billion as compared with the 3.9 billion of the end of 2014. The decrease
is mainly due to the change in fair value of hedging derivatives.
Reserves amounted to e 0.6 billion at the end of 2015 (-2% compared to 2014). The reduction is mainly due to the
negative change in reserves in relation to the loss in 2014.
At the end of 2014, equity amounted to e 0.5 billion. There were no changes compared to the previous year.
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Tax assets amounted to e 19.9 million (30.7 million in 2014) and refer almost exclusively to current taxes.

Performance indicators

33,332

34,617

Loans
At the end of 2015, amounts due from customers
and banks totalled 79% and 18% of total loans,
respectively (in all the various technical forms).

22,199

2013

2014

2015

Amounts in e million

Due from customers
Due from banks
Financial assets held to maturity
Financial assets available for sale

2013

Dexia Crediop banking Group

11% Other subjects
23% Governments
and Central Banks
32% Other public bodies

Structure of lending
A breakdown of loans by counterparty shows that
most were made to governments and public bodies
(69%).

34% Banks
2014
9% Other subjects
22% Governments
and Central Banks
32% Other public bodies
37% Banks
2015
13% Other subjects
28% Governments
and Central Banks
41% Other public bodies
18% Banks

2013
14% Securities in issue

Structure of funding
At the end of 2015, funding from securities and
amounts due to amounts due to banks respectively
amounted to 11% and 79% of total funding (in all the
various technical forms).

1% Due to customers
85% Due to banks
2014
9% Securities in issue
2% Due to customers
89% Due to banks
2015
11% Securities in issue
10% Due to customers
79% Due to banks
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2013

2014

-2.1%

Return on Equity (RoE)
2015 RoE1 comes to -2.4% (compared to -6.2% in
2014), in relation to the net results for the period.

2015

-2.4%

-6.2%

2013

Cost to Income
The Cost to Income ratio2 in 2015 was 111% of net
interest and other banking income (not significant
in 2014, in that net interest and other banking
income was negative). This ratio, not considering
the contribution of e 41.2 million made in 2014 to
the Nation Resolution Fund for credit institutions,
amounted to 45.3% of net interest and other banking
income.

111%

98%

2014

2015

2013

2013

0.000%

0.000%

2014

2015

2014

Net non-performing loans
The proportion of non-performing loans net of
adjustments3 at the end of 2015 was 0 (in line with
2014).

2015

Return on Asset (RoA)
RoA4 for 2015 came to -0.10%, with respect to
-0.17% in 2014, in relation to the changes in the net
results for the period.

-0.07%
-0.10%

-0.17%

1 Return on Equity is calculated as the ratio between net result for the year and net equity at year-end. This indicator expresses the profitability of own equity.
2 Cost to income is the ratio between operating costs (administrative expenses, depreciation and amortisation) and net interest and other banking income. This indicator is a measure
of productivity expressed as a percentage of profit absorbed by operating costs.
3 The effect of non-performing loans is calculated as the ratio between net non-performing loans and overall net loans. This indicator expresses the risk level of the loan portfolio.
4 The Return on Assets figure is calculated as the ratio between net result for the financial year and the total balance sheet assets. This indicator expresses the profitability of total
invested equity.
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0.0003%

Business outlook
Significant post-balance sheet events
With regard to significant events after the reporting date, please refer to the specific paragraph of the Report on Operations
in the company’s separate annual report.

Future operational prospects
In order to assess the Dexia Crediop Group’s operating prospects it is necessary to make reference to the situation of the
Dexia Group. Until 2011 the Group pursued a restructuring plan aimed at repositioning its historic franchise and finally
adopted an orderly resolution plan approved by the European Commission on December 28, 2012.
The Dexia Group

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Going concern
The consolidated accounts of Dexia SA at 31 December 2015 were prepared in compliance with the accounting standards
applicable to companies as a going concern. This requires a certain number of hypotheses in regards to the resolution plan
for the Dexia Group, listed below:
• The plan was constructed on the basis of market data at the end of September 2012. The underlying macroeconomic
hypotheses were reviewed as part of a half-yearly review of the entire plan. In particular, the updates made in 2015
consider an updated funding plan based on more recent market conditions.
• The plan considers the maintenance of banking licenses of various entities, and also the rating of Dexia Crédit Local.
• It is based on a high funding capacity, which depends on the propensity of investors to subscribed issues backed by
the governments of Belgium, France and Luxembourg, and the Group’s ability to obtain secured funding. To that end,
the Group’s funding structure benefited in 2015 from an increase in the size of the loan market at a lower cost than
that foreseen in the plan and for longer maturities. The group also abandoned the special and extraordinary funding
mechanism introduced in 2012 and reduced its dependence on funding from the Central Bank. Finally, the group
focussed on supplying its liquidity reserves, with the aim of protecting itself in regards to short-term liquidity risk deriving
from an increase in the volumes of cash collateral5 deposited with its own counterparties in derivative instrument
transactions.
In addition, over the course of the winding up of the Group, uncertainties remain in regards to the implementation of the
plan, summarised below:
• In particular, the plan is exposed to changes in accounting and regulatory standards.
• The financial characteristics of Dexia when it began the resolution do not allow it to respect certain regulatory ratios.
In addition, the plan is subject to changes in the macroeconomic situation. Therefore, a decrease of 10 basis points in
the interest rates along the entire return curve would lead to an instantaneous increase of around € 1 billion in liquidity
needs, connected to an increase in cash collateral. Similarly, more conservative hypotheses in regards to improvement
of ratings and/or decreases in the loan spreads would have a negative impact economic results, as well as available
liquidity reserves and would increase the level of regulatory capital required.
• Finally, if the market demand for government backed debt should fall, Dexia might have to turn to more expensive forms
of funding, which could have a direct impact on the levels of profit hypothesised in the original plan. The coming years
will remain at risk in the context of greater volatility in terms of exchange rates and very low interest rates.

5 Deposits or financial instruments deposited with Dexia with its own counterparties to guarantee its commitments for interest rate or exchange rate swap operations.
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The most recent update to the plan shows a surplus of liquid positions through the plan horizon. In 2015, the Group’s
liquidity surplus was influenced by the volatility of cash collateral needs and high levels of amortisation and expiration
of funding. At the beginning of 2016, Dexia’s liquidity need increased due higher cash collateral to be posted to market
counterparties. Collateral posting reached a maximum of e 36 billion in February 2016, up e 5 billion from the end of
2015. However, this increased liquidity need has been offset by a dynamic funding activity since the beginning of the
year. This is illustrated by the renewal of the short-term government-guaranteed and secured funding under favourable
conditions and the issuance of e 6.1 billion of long-term government-guaranteed funding as at half March 2016.
Liquidity management
2015 was a decisive year in terms of managing liquidity. Despite the adverse circumstances due to high volatility regarding
its own liquidity requirements, Dexia managed its exit from the exceptional funding scheme made available at the time it
begin the resolution plan and notably reduced its use of funding from the Central Bank.
In 2015, Dexia repaid the remaining portion of guaranteed loans held by Belfius, in the amount of e 10 billion, as well as e
19 billion of guaranteed bank bonds used in the context of the own-use6 scheme guaranteed by the European Central Bank.
In addition, during the first quarter of 2015, Dexia repaid the remaining portion of the VLTRO7 obtained from the ECB, only
partially replaced with LTRO8 and MRO9.

Reduction of the asset portfolio
In 2015, Dexia continued with its policy of opportunistic disposal of assets, aimed at reducing the credit risk associated
with its portfolio of assets, while also decreasing pressure in terms of the Group’s funding requirements. This policy was
assisted by the improvement in market conditions, supported in part by policies to purchase assets implemented by the
European monetary authorities.
Simplification of the Group’s structure
In 2015, progress was made in implementing the Group’s orderly resolution plan, through the restructuring or closure of
certain entities.
In particular, in regards to Dexia Crediop, following its placement within the scope of run-off management as of July 2014,
a study was begun aimed at simplifying the organisation of the Italian bank and reducing costs. This led to an agreement
with the unions on 18 March 2015, and a 53-unit reduction in staff. At 31 December 2015, total staff amounts to 120
units.
Dexia Credito Local Mexico, the Dexia Group subsidiary which previously provided loans to local government entities in
Mexico, transferred its residual assets to a new Mexican trust. Its beneficiaries are Dexia and the New York branch of Dexia
Crédit Local.

6 “Own-use”: use by the Dexia Group of bonds issued by Dexia Crédit Local, backed by the governments, as collateral with the Eurosystem.
7 The VLTRO or Very Long Term Refinancing Operations were exceptional three year refinancing operations begun in December 2011 and February 2012 by the European Central Bank,
respectively to support interbank market liquidity and to support lending to the real economy.
8 The LTRO are Long Term Refinancing Operations. They constitute the standard refinancing instrument used by banks with the Eurosystem.
9 The MRO or Main Refinancing Operations are short-term refinancing operations. They constitute a standard refinancing instrument used by banks with the Eurosystem.
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The repayment of the above mentioned funding was an important objective within the Group’s resolution process, which
was made possible by heavy issuing of guaranteed funding, placed with a diversified investor base, and through continued
development of secured funding throughout 2015.

Dexia Kommunalkredit Bulgaria EOOD, the SISL subsidiary in Luxembourg, and Dexia CAD Funding LLC in the United
States were liquidated.
In addition, Dexia SA’s permanent office in Luxembourg was closed. Dexia SA, the Group’s holding company, now only has
a permanent office in Paris.
Both Dexia Nederland and Dexia Luxembourg, previously Dexia LdG Banque and an issuer of covered bonds for the Dexia
Group in Luxembourg, renounced their banking licenses. It is planned that Dexia Luxembourg will be liquidated in 2016.
Recognition of Dexia’s specific and unique situation
With the introduction of the Single Supervisory Mechanism, Dexia is under the direct prudential supervision of the ECB. As
such, the implementation of the resolution plan was the subject of a prolonged discussion with the Supervisor, above all
during the last year.

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Considering Dexia’s specific and unique situation as a bank under orderly resolution, the public nature of its ownership
structure and the liquidity guarantees established by the governments of Belgium, France and Luxembourg, and with
the goal of maintaining financial stability - an objective of the orderly resolution plan - the ECB had decided to apply a
prudential supervisory approach to Dexia that is tailor-made, proportional, pragmatic and appropriate.
In particular, this proportionate use of its supervisory powers presupposes that Dexia’s situation does not deteriorate
significantly. The resulting proportionate use of supervisory powers notably assumes that Dexia’s situation does not
deteriorate significantly. A reversal of this approach may have a material adverse effect on the activity (including the credit
institution status) of Dexia and consequently, on its financial condition.
For example, this approach authorises the proportionate use of supervisory powers in relation to the respect for the
liquidity ratios foreseen in the CRR10, including consistent reporting on the liquidity position.
Despite the notable progress made by the Group in terms of reducing its liquidity risk, Dexia’s financial characteristics as
of the moment it began the resolution do not make it possible to guarantee compliance with certain regulatory ratios for
the duration of the orderly resolution plan approved by the European Commission.
The specific circumstances deriving from the orderly resolution plan can be seen on the level of the Liquidity Coverage
Ratio (LCR)11, for which a minimum requirement of 60% was in effect as of 1 October 2015, raised to 70% on 1 January
2016. At 31 December 2015, the Dexia Group’s LCR was 54%.
In terms of prudential requirements for solvency that apply to Dexia, following the Supervisory Review and Evaluation
Process (SREP) carried out by the ECB, the Common Equity Tier 1 requirement applicable for the Group was set at 8.625%
on a consolidated basis as of 1 January 2016.
Even if Dexia’s capital position exceeds the minimum regulatory requirements, as of starting resolution in December
2012, the bank has been subject to restrictions imposed by the European Commission based on the principle of “burden
sharing.” In particular, this includes a prohibition on paying dividends, certain restrictions in regards to paying coupons and
the exercising of call options on subordinate debt, and on hybrid capital instruments from Group issuers.
Simplifying and improving integration of the operating model
In line with the objectives of the business plan issued in 2013, Dexia has continued its efforts in 2015 to adjust its
operating model to two strategic goals: simplifying the Group and increasing centralisation. In this context, the Group
began a feasibility study in regards to externalising all or some of the middle and back office functions connected with

10 Regulation (EU) no. 575/2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms.
11 The LCR measures the coverage of liquidity requirements at 30 days in a deteriorated situation, through the stock of liquid assets. It replaces the Belgian and French liquidity ratios.

182

market operations and the associated technical infrastructure. In addition to maintaining high service levels, outsourcing
these activities would allow Dexia to adjust its costs, in particular avoiding significant investments in IT systems and all
threshold effects associated with the gradual reduction in the Group’s accounts.
After having thoroughly studied the proposals from various service providers, in September 2015 Dexia decided to further
analyse the proposals from Société Générale and began an exclusive due diligence phase. At present, the due diligence is still
in progress. The implementation of this project is subject to approval by the supervisory authorities and the unions representing
Dexia Group staff. Dexia is paying particular attention to the future of its employees affected by the consequences of this
process and, in extending the knowledge of the information already provided to the unions representing staff, the Group has
begun a consultation process with the latter, maintaining a constructive dialogue.
Dexia Crediop Group
On 15 July 2014 the European Commission confirmed run-off management also for Dexia Crediop of the residual assets
with no new production. As a consequence, run-off management continues for Dexia Crediop, in the context of the orderly
resolution plan for the Dexia Group.
In 2016, the Dexia Crediop Group’s dynamic liquidity position presents negative expected net balances on the entire time
horizon, due mostly to the margins paid to the counterparties of the cash collateral contracts on derivative products. In this
regard, a decrease of 10 basis points in 10-year interest rates is estimated to generate an increase in the requirements for
cash collateral deposits of around e 140 million.

In terms of prudential requirements, following the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP) carried out by the ECB,
the Common Equity Tier 1 requirement applicable for the Dexia Crediop Group was set at 10.5% as of 1 January 2016.
In the context of the management in depreciation of the Dexia Group, Dexia Crediop will concentrate its funding activities
on the domestic interbank market. The framework of the various technical forms of funding to cover the needs include: the
inter-bank market, with domestic loan platforms on which Dexia Crediop already operates, the monetary policy operations of
the Central Bank and support from the shareholders, in particular in the case of Dexia Crédit Local, as contemplated by the
European Commission. In addition, as anticipated, during the financial year Dexia Crediop began operating on the triparty
repo platform X-Com. The Dexia Group’s funding strategy does not foresee access to the capital market for the Dexia Crediop
Group.
The Dexia Crediop Group’s dynamic liquidity position looks to be sustainable, on the assumption that the conditions which
characterised the year 2015 will persist, with particular reference to the Dexia Group’s possibility of gaining access to
financing.
As occurred in recent years and in line with the Group’s guidelines, the Dexia Crediop Group will continue with opportunistic
disposal of assets, aimed at reducing credit risk associated with its portfolio and, simultaneously, decreasing the pressure
pertaining to funding requirements.
Within the scope of the Public Finance sector, over the last few years the Dexia Crediop Group has become party to some
administrative and legal proceedings in relation to derivative contracts signed with local and territorial entities, some of
which are still in progress. Also in the light of the developments seen at present in the proceedings, described in detail in the
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The specific circumstances deriving from the orderly resolution plan are also reflected in the Liquidity coverage Ratio level. To
that end, Dexia reported to the European Central Bank, based on the provision in article 414 of Regulation EU 575 of 2013
(CRR), that in 2015 Dexia Crediop had not complied with the 60% limit for monthly reporting of the Liquidity Coverage
Ratio (LCR).

section on risk management and control, in the report on the Dexia Crediop financial statements it was not considered
necessary to carry out adjustments or provisions, other than those to provisions for risks and charges to cover legal costs,
in view of the substantial correctness and transparency adopted by the bank in concluding the contracts in question.
In terms of administrative management, with the full implementation of the new organisational structure, in line with the
bank’s changed mission, the Dexia Crediop Group has continued with the process to contain costs that had begun in past
years.
In addition, in line with the projects to simplify operations and increase centralisation defined by the Dexia Group, the
Dexia Crediop Group also falls within the area of the feasibility study begun by the Dexia Group mentioned above,
regarding the possibility of externalising all or some middle and back office functions connected with market operations
and the associated technical infrastructure.
In conclusion, given what has been illustrated and taking into account the orderly resolution plan approved by the European
Commission, the annual financial report for the Dexia Crediop Group was prepared in accordance with the going concern
concept.

Dexia Crediop banking Group

During the resolution of the Group, the prospects of the Dexia Crediop Group could suffer from the same factors identified
for the Dexia Group, in regards uncertainties connected with implementation of the plan and, in particular, Dexia’s ability
to provide support to subsidiaries in a difficult market situation.
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The Board of Auditors’ Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2015 pursuant to art. 2429 of the civil code
To the General Meeting of the Shareholders in Dexia Crediop S.p.A.
Dear Shareholders,
Within the sphere of our duties, pursuant to Art. 2429 of the Italian Civil Code, we have
examined the Consolidated Financial Statements of the DEXIA CREDIOP Group at 31 December
2015 (which close with a loss for the period of € 24.055 million) and the Group’s relative Report
on Operations.
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

The financial statements of the subsidiary companies are subject to verification by the respective
statutory auditors and are also audited by external auditing firms specifically appointed for the
purpose, therefore this Board of Auditors has not extended its examination to the individual
financial statements of said subsidiaries.
The above-mentioned consolidated financial statements taken as a whole correctly illustrate the
equity and financial situation and the profit of the DEXIA CREDIOP Group for the financial year
which closed on 31 December 2015, in compliance with the provisions which discipline said
consolidated financial statements.
In relation to the Group’s subsidiaries, it should be noted that:
- after the transfer of assets in 2010, Dexia Crediop Ireland has continued to manage its stock
of portfolio securities which consist exclusively of Italian government bonds with a nominal
value of e 270 million;
- the company Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l. was placed under voluntary
liquidation during the year and removed from the Register of Companies on 7 December
2015.
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The consolidated financial statements have been examined according to the Board of Auditors’
Rules of Conduct, established by the National Associations of Accountants and Tax Experts and
of Qualified Bookkeepers and, in compliance with the said rules, we have taken as reference
the legal provisions which govern the consolidated financial statements and in particular the
international accounting standards IAS/IFRS, approved and in force at 31 December 2015, on
the basis of which the financial statements in question have been prepared.

The Board of Auditors notes that the economic results for 2015 were influenced, among other
things, by the provisions made to the National Resolution Fund for credit institutions of e 41.2
million, the allocation made to the provision for risks and charges of e 16.9 million relative to the
request for the restitution of dividends received by ICS (Istituto Credit Sportivo) and capital gains
of e 5.6 million following the sale of the property in Rome in via XX Settembre, no. 30.
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The Board of Auditors acknowledges that indicated by the directors in the Report on Operations
in the paragraph “Operating Prospects” in the “Business Outlook” section, regarding the Dexia
Group and Dexia Crediop as a going concern, more specifically:
“In order to assess the Dexia Crediop Group’s operating prospects it is necessary to make reference
to the situation of the Dexia Group. Until 2011 the Group pursued a restructuring plan aimed
at repositioning its historic franchise and finally adopted an orderly resolution plan approved by
the European Commission on 28 December 2012. The consolidated accounts of Dexia SA at
31 December 2015 were prepared in compliance with the accounting standards applicable to
companies as a going concern. This requires a certain number of hypotheses in regards to the
resolution plan for the Dexia Group, listed below: [omissis] It is based on a high funding capacity,
which depends on the propensity of investors to subscribed issues backed by the governments of
Belgium, France and Luxembourg, and the Group’s ability to obtain secured funding. To that end,
the Group’s funding structure benefited in 2015 from an increase in the size of the loan market
at a lower cost than that foreseen in the plan and for longer maturities.” [Omissis]
“On 15 July 2014 the European Commission confirmed run-off management also for Dexia
Crediop of the residual assets with no new production. As a consequence, run-off management
continues for Dexia Crediop, in the context of the orderly resolution plan for the Dexia Group.
[Omissis] The Dexia Crediop Group’s dynamic liquidity position looks to be sustainable, on the
assumption that the conditions which characterised the year 2015 will persist, with particular
reference to the Dexia Group’s possibility of gaining access to financing. [Omissis] In conclusion,
given what has been illustrated and taking into account the orderly resolution plan approved by
the European Commission, the annual financial report for the Dexia Crediop Group was prepared
in accordance with the going concern concept. During the resolution of the Group, the prospects
of the Dexia Crediop Group could suffer from the same factors identified for the Dexia Group, in
regards uncertainties connected with implementation of the plan and, in particular, the Dexia’s
ability to provide support to subsidiaries in a difficult market situation.”
Examination of the Report on Operations
We have examined the Directors’ Report on Operations, which accompanies the consolidated
financial statements, in order to verify that the content respects the provisions in force and to
ascertain the consistency of the consolidated financial statements; the report contains a reliable
analysis of the business trend and of the management results, and also of the overall situation of
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the companies included in the consolidation.
On the basis of the checks carried out, this Board of Auditors maintains that the Group’s report
on operations is correct and consistent with the consolidated financial statements.
01 April 2016
The Board of Auditors
Pierre Paul Destefanis		
Nadia Bonelli			
Nicola Fiameni 			

Chairman
Standing Auditor
Standing Auditor
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Independent auditors’ report in accordance with articles 14 and 16 of
Legislative Decree 39/2010
To the shareholders of
Dexia Crediop S.p.A.
Independent auditors’ report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dexia Crediop S.p.A.
and its subsidiaries (“Dexia Crediop Group”) which comprises the balance sheet as at 31
December 2015, the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement
of changes in equity, the cash flow statement and the related explanatory notes for the year then
ended.
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Management’s Responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards endorsed by
European Union and with regulations implementing art.9 of Legislative Decree n.38/05.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISA
Italia) issued pursuant to Art.11, par. 3, of Legislative Decree 39/2010. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements is free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements gives a true and fair view of the financial
position, the net income result and the cash flows of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. and its subsidiaries
(“Dexia Crediop Group”) as at 31 December 2015 in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards, endorsed by European Union and regulations implementing art.9 of
Legislative Decree n. 38/05.
M AZARS I TALIA S P A

V IA S ENATO , 20 - 20121 MILANO
T EL : +39 348 2595626 - www.mazars.it
SPA - CAPITALE SOCIALE DELIBERATO, SOTTOSCRITTO E VERSATO € 120.000,00 – SEDE LEGALE: VIA SENATO, 20 - 20121 MILANO
REA MI-2076227 - COD. FISC. E P. IVA 11176691001 – ISCRIZIONE AL REGISTRO DEI REVISORI LEGALI N. 163788 CON D.M. DEL 14/07/2011 G.U. N. 57 DEL 19/07/2011
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Emphasis matter
Although we don’t express a qualified opinion, we draw your attention to what is described in
explanatory notes in the section 2 “General accounting principles” of the part A “Accounting
policies” related to paragraph “Management prospects” of Management opinion in relation to the
going concern of Dexia Group and Dexia Crediop, in particular:

“On 15 July 2014 the European Commission confirmed run – off management also for Dexia
Crediop of the residual assets with no new production. As a consequence, run – off management
continues for Dexia Crediop, in the context of the orderly resolution plan for the Dexia Group.
[Omissis] The Dexia Crediop Group’s dynamic liquidity position looks to be sustainable, on the
assumption that the conditions which characterised the year 2015 will persist, with particular
reference to the Dexia Group's possibility of gaining access to financing. [Omissis] In conclusion,
given what has been illustrated and taking into account the orderly resolution plan approved by
the European Commission, the annual financial report for the Dexia Crediop Group was prepared
in accordance with the going concern concept. During the resolution of the Group, the prospects
of the Dexia Crediop Group could suffer from the same factors identified for the Dexia Group, in
regards uncertainties connected with implementation of the plan and, in particular, the Dexia's
ability to provide support to subsidiaries in a difficult market situation.”
Other aspects
The consolidated financial statements of Dexia Crediop Group as at 31 December 2014 has been
audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 2 April 2015.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Opinion concerning the consistency between the Director’s report and some information
disclosed in the specific section on the Corporate Governance and the Company’s owner
structure of the same report and the consolidated financial statements
We performed the procedures provided by the Standard on Auditing (SA Italia) n° 720B in order to
express, as requested by law, an opinion concerning the consistency between the Director’s report
and the specific section on the Corporate Governance and the Company’s Owner Structure, limited
to the information disclosed in comma 2, letter b) of art. 123-bis of Legislative Decree n.58/98,
whose responsability is of directors of Dexia Crediop S.p.A., and the consolidated financial
statements of the Company as of and for the year ended 31 December 2015.
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“In order to assess the Dexia Crediop Group’s operating prospects it is necessary to make
reference to the situation of the Dexia Group. Until 2011 the Group pursued a restructuring plan
aimed at repositioning its historic franchise and finally adopted an orderly resolution plan
approved by the European Commission on 28 December 2012. The consolidated accounts of
Dexia SA at 31 December 2015 were prepared in compliance with the accounting standards
applicable to companies as a going concern. This requires a certain number of hypotheses in
regards to the resolution plan for the Dexia Group, listed below: [Omissis] It is based on a high
funding capacity, which depends on the propensity of investors to subscribed issues backed by
the governments of Belgium, France and Luxembourg, and the Group's ability to obtain secured
funding. To that end, the Group's funding structure benefited in 2015 from an increase in the size
of the loan market at a lower cost than that foreseen in the plan and for longer maturities.”
[Omissis]

In our opinion, the report on operations and the information required by comma 2, letter b) of art.
123-bis of Legislative Decree n° 58/98 disclosed in the specific section of the same report are
consistent with the consolidated financial statements of Dexia Crediop Group as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2015.
Milan, 31 March 2016
Mazars Italia S.p.A.
(signed on the original)
Olivier Rombaut
Partner – Registered auditor
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The report has been translated solely for the convenience of International reader
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Certification of the consolidated annual pursuant to Art. 154-bis of Italian
Legislative Decree 58/98 and Art. 81-terof Consob Regulation no. 11971 of 14
May 1999 and subsequent amendments and additions
1. The undersigned Jean Le Naour, as Chief Executive Officer, and Emmanuel Campana, as the Financial Reporting Manager,
responsible for preparing the annual report of Dexia Crediop S.p.A., hereby testify, also taking into account the provisions
of art. 154-bis, clauses 3 and 4, of legislative decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998, to:
• the adequacy in respect of the features of the company and the Group, and
• the effective application
of the administrative and accounting procedures on which the consolidated annual report for the 2015 period are based,
2. He also certifies that:
2.1 the consolidated annual report:

2.2 The report on business operations includes a reliable analysis of the management trend and results, as well as the
issuer’s situation and that of all the companies included in the consolidation, together with a description of the main
risks and uncertainties to which they are exposed.
19 March 2016
Jean Le Naour
				
Chief Executive Officer						
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Emmanuel Campana
The Financial Reporting Manager
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a) has been drawn up according to the international accounting standards applicable and recognised in the
European Union pursuant to Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council of 19 July
2002;
b) corresponds to the balances in the accounting records;
c) gives a true and correct representation of the issuer’s equity and economic and financial situation and of all the
companies included in the consolidation.

Consolidated Financial
Statements
at 31 December 2015
Dexia CREDIOP banking group

Consolidated balance sheet
thousands of euro
Assets

31/12/2015

10. Cash and cash equivalents

31/12/2014
3

4

2,226,379

2,893,730

40. Financial assets available for sale

456,049

887,060

50. Financial assets held to maturity

137,286

187,650

20. Financial assets held for trading

60. Due from banks

4,084,006

12,429,771

70. Due from customers

17,864,082

20,662,133

80. Hedging derivatives

327,882

392,930

4,969

9,762

120. Property plant and equipment

3,049

42,701

130. Intangible assets

3,137

3,013

90. Fair value change of financial assets in hedged portfolios (+/-)

of which:

0

0

19,899

30,720

- goodwill
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140. Tax assets

a) current

17,030

15,929

b) advance

2,869

14,791

7

419

advance pursuant Law 214/2011
160. Other assets
Total assets

55,310

61,290

25,182,051

37,600,764
thousands of euro

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

31/12/2015

10. Due to banks

31/12/2014

14,919,680

26,624,090

20. Due to customers

1,858,116

615,816

30. Securities issued

2,080,685

2,619,848

40. Financial liabilities held for trading

2,260,247

2,888,392

60. Hedging derivatives

3,035,598

3,851,952

114

0

80. Tax liabilities

a) current
100. Other liabilities
110. Employee termination indemnities

114

0

19,048

22,436

1,730

2,426

120. Provisions for risks and charges

28,426

23,557

a) post employment benefits

2,155

7,180

b) other provisions

26,271

16,377

(104,995)

(155,211)

170. Reserves

657,237

720,156

190. Share capital

450,210

450,210

140. Valuation reserves

210. Shareholders’ equity of minority interests (+/-)
220. Net income (loss)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
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10

11

(24,055)

(62,919)

25,182,051

37,600,764

Consolidated income statement
thousands of euro
Items

31/12/2015

10. Interest and similar income

31/12/2014

510,810

611,471

(446,950)

(527,836)

63,860

83,635

6,379

7,792

50. Fee and Commission expenses

(7,564)

(14,110)

60. Net fee and commission income

(1,185)

(6,318)

0

3

20. Interest and similar expenses
30. Interest margin
40. Fee and Commission income

70. Dividend and similar income
80. Net trading gains (losses)

14,872

(2,332)

90. Fair Value adjustment in hedge accounting

29,662

(34,535)

100. Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase of:

a) loans
d) financial liabilities

(44,924)

(42,403)

(46,738)

(42,450)
47

62,285

(1,950)

130. Net adjustments for impairment of:

(2,487)

(5,507)

(2,582)

(5,331)

95

(176)

140. Net income from financial activities

59,798

(7,457)

170. Net income from financial and insurance activities

59,798

(7,457)

180. Administrative expenses:

(69,427)

(31,319)

a) personnel expenses

(16,339)

(19,417)

b) other administrative expenses

(53,088)

(11,902)

190. Net provisions for risks and charges

(17,381)

(15,058)

a) loans
b) financial assets available for sale

200. Net adjustments on property plant and equipment
210. Net adjustments on intangible assets
220. Other operating expenses/income

(868)

(911)

(1,572)

(1,564)

1,332

345

(87,916)

(48,507)

5,605

0

(22,513)

(55,964)

(1,542)

(6,955)

300. Profit (Loss) from continuing operations after tax

(24,055)

(62,919)

320. Net income (loss)

(24,055)

(62,919)

(24,055)

(62,919)

230. Operating expenses
270. Profits (losses) on disposal of investments
280. Profit (loss) from continuing operations before tax
290. Taxes on income from continuing operations

330. Profit (Loss) pertaining to minority interests
340. Parent’s Company net income (loss)
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1,814

120. Net interest and other banking income

Statement of comprehensive
income
thousands of euro
Voci

31/12/2015

10. Net income (loss)

31/12/2014

(24,055)

(62,919)

5,355

(8,135)

773

20,258

44,088

(151,543)

130. Total other income components net of tax

50,216

(139,420)

140. Comprehensive income (items 10 + 130)

26,161

(202,339)

26,161

(202,339)

Other income components net of tax without reversal to income statement
20.

Property plant and equipment

30.

Intangible assets

40.

Defined benefits schemes

50.

Non-current assets held for sale

60.

Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Other income components net of tax with reversal to income statement
70.

Hedges of foreign investments

80.

Exchange rate differences

90.

Cash flow hedging

100.

Financial assets available for sale

110.

Non-current assets held for sale

120.

Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments

150. Consolidated comprehensive income pertaining to minority interests
160. Consolidated comprehensive income pertaining to parent company
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Statement of changes in consolidated
shareholders’ equity
Euro

Shareholders’ equity of minority interests
as at 31.12.15

Shareholders’ equity at 31.12.2015

Stock options

Derivatives on treasury shares

Changes in equity instruments

Share capital:
a) ordinary shares

450,210

450,210

a) of profits

545,018

545,018

b) others

175,138

175,138

(155,211)

(155,211)

Profit (Loss) for the period

(62,919)

(62,919)

Shareholders’ equity of the
Group

952,236

952,236

Shareholders’ equity of minority
interests

11

11

450,210

10

b) other shares
Share premiums
Reserves:

Valuation reserves

(62,919)

482,099
175,138
50,216

(104,995)

(24,055)

(24,055)

0

26,161

978,397

10

Equity instruments
Treasury shares
62,919

(1)
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Extraordinary distribution of dividend

New share issues

Purchase of treasury shares

Operations on
shareholders’ equity

Comprehensive income for the period 2015

Changes in the period

Changes in reserves

Dividend and other uses

Reserves

Balances at 01.01.15

Balances at 31.12.2014

Changes to initial balances

Allocation
of profit
of the
previous
period

Consolidated cash flow statement
indirect method

thousands of euro
Amount
31/12/2014

Amount
31/12/2015

A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES
1. Cash Flow from operations
- net income (+/-)
- gains/losses on financial assets held for trading and on assets/liabilities designated at fair value
through profit and loss (-/+)
- gains/losses on hedging activities (+/-)

(44,739)

3,943

(24,055)

(62,919)

(14,872)

2,333

(29,662)

34,535

- net adjustments for impairment (+/-)

2,487

5,507

- net adjustments of tangible and intangible fixed assets (+/-)

2,440

2,474

17,381

15,058

1,542

6,955

12,421,223

(1,273,460)

682,222

(473,752)

- financial assets available for sale

431,002

62,625

- due from banks: repayable on demand

(34,298)

8,466

- due from banks: other receivables

8,380,063

(1,204,483)

- due from customers

2,795,565

245,016

- net provisions for risks and charges and other costs/revenues (+/-)
- net premiums to be collected (-)
- other insurance revenues/charges to be collected (-/+)
- taxes and duties to be settled (+)
- net adjustments of disposal groups classified as held for sale, net of tax effect (-/+)
- other adjustments (+/-)
2. Cash flow from / used in financial assets
- financial assets held for trading
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- financial assets designated at fair value through profit and losses

- other assets
3.Cash flow from / used in financial liabilities
- due to banks: repayable on demand
- due to banks: other deposits

166,669

88,668

(12,413,581)

1,271,526

3,508,000

(1,553,000)

(15,212,410)

2,737,002

- due to customers

1,242,300

195,652

- securities issued

(539,163)

(1,652,167)

- financial liabilities held for trading

(628,145)

465,278

(784,163)

1,078,761

(37,097)

2,009

39,404

3

- financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss
- other liabilities
Net cash flow from (used in) operating activities
B. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
1. Cash flow from
- sales of investments in associates and companies subject to joint control

9

0

- dividend collected on investments in associates and companies subject to joint control

0

3

- sales of financial assets held to maturity
- sales of property plant and equipment

39,395

- sales of intangible assets
- sales of subsidiaries and company divisions
2. Cash flow used in

(2,308)

(2,011)

- purchases of investments in associates and companies subject to joint control
- purchases of financial assets held to maturity
- purchases of property plant and equipment
- purchases of intangible assets

(612)

(544)

(1,696)

(1,467)

37,096

(2,008)

(1)

1

- purchases of subsidiaries and company branches
Net cash flow from (used in) investment activities
C. FUNDING ACTIVITIES
- issues/purchases of treasury shares
- issues/purchases of share capital
- dividend distribution and other
Net cash flow from (used in) funding activities
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

		

198

Reconciliation

thousands of euro
Amount
31/12/2014

Amount
31/12/2015

Balance sheet items
Cash and cash equivalents at the begininng of period
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent

4

3

(1)

1

3

4

Cash and cash equivalents: foreign exchange rates effect
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period
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Notes to the consolidated
financial statements
Part A - Accounting policies
Part B - Infomation on the consolidated balance sheet
Part C - Information on the consolidated income statement
Part D - Consolidated comprehensive income
Part E - Information on risks and associated hedging policies
Part F - Information on the consolidated capital
Part H - Transactions with related parties
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Part L - Segment reporting
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Part A - Accounting policies 								
A.1

Part B - Information on the consolidated balance sheet 					

ASSETS 							
– Section 1 - Cash and cash equivalents		
– Section 2 - Financial assets held for trading		
– Section 4 - Financial assets available for sale		
– Section 5 - Financial assets held to maturity		
– Section 6 - Due from banks		
– Section 7 - Due from customers		
– Section 8 - Hedging derivatives		
– Section 9 - Fair value adjustment of financial assets in hedged portfolios
– Section 12 - Property plant and equipment		
– Section 13 - Intangible assets		
– Section 14 - Tax credits and liabilities		
– Section 16 - Other assets								
LIABILITIES 							
– Section 1 - Due to banks
– Section 2 - Due to customers
– Section 3 - Securities in issue
– Section 4 - Financial liabilities for trading
– Section 6 - Hedging derivatives
– Section 10 - Other liabilities
– Section 11 - Provision for severance indemnities
– Section 12 - Provisions for risks and charges
– Section 15 - Group capital
– Section 16 - Shareholders’ equity of minority interests
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General Part 						
– Section 1 - Declaration of conformity to International Accounting Standards 		
– Section 2 - General accounting principles 						
– Section 3 - Consolidation area and methods 						
– Section 4 - Events after the balance sheet date
– Section 5 - Other aspects 						
A.2
The main aggregates of the financial statements 						
1 - Financial assets held for trading
2 - Financial assets available for sale
3 - Financial assets held to maturity
4 - Loans			
6 - Hedging transactions
8 - Property plant and equipment
9 - Intangible assets		
11 - Current and deferred taxes
12 - Provisions for risks and charges
13 - Debt instruments and securities in issue
14 - Financial liabilities held for trading
16 - Currency transactions
18 - Other information								
A.3
Information on transfers between portfolios of financial assets 					
A.3.1
- Reclassified financial assets: book value, fair value and effects on comprehensive income
A.3.4
- Effective interest rate and cash flows expected from the reclassified assets 		
A.4
Information on fair value						
Qualitative information 						
A.4.1
- Fair value levels 2 and 3: valuation techniques and used inputs 				
A.4.2
- Processes and sensitivity of the valuations							
A.4.3
- Fair Value Hierarchy							
Quantitative information						
A.4.5
- Fair Value Hierarchy							
A.5
- Information on the day one profit/loss
					

Other information 							
1 - Guarantees given and commitments				
2 - Assets lodged as surety for own liabilities and commitments			
5 - Management and broking for customer accounts: banking group			
6 - Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements
7 - Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements
						
								

Part C - Information on the consolidated income statement 					
– Section 1 - Interest		
– Section 2 - Commissions
– Section 3 - Dividend and similar income
– Section 4 - Trading gains (losses)
– Section 5 - Hedging gains (losses)
– Section 6 - Disposal/repurchase gains (losses)
– Section 8 - Net adjustments for impairment
– Section 11 - Administrative expenses
– Section 12 - Net provisions for risks and charges
– Section 13 - Net adjustments on property plant and equipment
– Section 14 - Net adjustments on intangible assets
– Section 15 - Other operating expenses and income
– Section 19 - Profits (Losses) on disposal of investments
– Section 20 - Tax on profit from continuing operations
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Part D - Consolidated comprehensive income 							
Analytic statement of consolidated comprehensive income

													

Part E – Information on risks and associated hedging policies 					

Section 1 - Risks for the banking group
								
1.1 Credit risk						
Qualitative information 						
1. General aspects					
2. Credit risk management policies 					
		2.1 Organisational aspects 				
		
2.2 Management, measuring and audit systems 				
		
2.3 Credit risk mitigation techniques 				
		
2.4 Impaired financial assets 				
Quantitative information 						
A. Credit quality 									
		
A.1 Impaired and performing loan exposure: amounts, write-downs, trends, economic and geographical distribution
A.2 Classification of exposure according to external and internal ratings		
		
A.3 Breakdown of secured loan exposure according to type of guarantee 				
B. Distribution and concentration of loan exposure 							
		
B.1 Banking group - Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposure according to sector (book value)
		
B.2 Banking group - Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposure according to area (book value)		
		
B.3 Banking group - Distribution of on and off-balance sheet bank loan exposure according to area (book value)		
		B.4 Large exposures								
C. Securitisation and asset disposal transactions 									
		C.1 Securitisation transactions 								 		
		Qualitative information 					 					
		Quantitative information 										
		
C.2 Banking group - Exposure from main “third party” securitisation transactions according to type of securitised
asset and type of exposure						
E. Disposal transactions 				
		
E.1 Banking group - Financial assets sold but not derecognized 						
E.2
		
E.2 Banking group - Financial liabilities for assets sold but not derecognized
		
E.3 Sale operations with liabilities associated exclusively to sold assets: fair value
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Part F – Information on the consolidated capital 								

Section 1 - Consolidated capital 												
A. Qualitative information 											
B. Quantitative information 								
Section 2 - Capital and minimium capital ratios 										
		2.2 - Regulatory Banking Capital							
A. Qualitative information 							
B. Quantitative information 							
		2.3 - Capital adequacy 							
A. Qualitative information 							
B. Quantitative information
						
									

Part H – Transactions with related parties 								
1. Information on key management personnel’s remuneration 						
2. Information on transactions with related parties		
					

Part L – Segment reporting
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1.2 Banking group - Market risks 						
		
1.2.1 Interest rate risk and price risk - regulatory trading book 		
Qualitative information 						
Quantitative information 						
1. 1. Regulatory banking book: distribution according to residual duration (re-pricing date) of cash assets and liabilities
and financial derivatives			
3. Regulatory trading book - internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods 		
		
1.2.2 Interest rate risk and price risk - banking book 								
Qualitative information 											
A. General aspects, management and measurement of interest rate risk and price risk
B. Fair value hedging activities								
C. Cash flow hedging												
Quantitative information 										
1. Banking book: distribution according to residual duration (re-pricing date) of financial assets and liabilities 			
2. Banking book - internal models and other methods for analysing sensitivity 				
		
		1.2.3 Exchange rate risk 									
Qualitative information 											
A. General aspects, management and measurement of exchange rate risk 				
B. Exchange rate risk hedging activities 										
Quantitative information 										
1. Distribution according to currency of the assets, liabilities and derivatives				
		1.2.4 Derivative instruments 										
A. Financial derivatives 								
B. Credit derivatives								
C. Credit and financial derivatives 								
1.3 Banking Group – Liquidity risk 									
Qualitative information 											
A. General aspects, management and measurement of liquidity risk 			
Quantitative information 											
1. Distribution by maturity according to residual contractual term of financial assets and liabilities 		
		1.4 Banking Group – Operational risks 									
Qualitative information											
A. General aspects, management and measuring of operational risk 				
Quantitative information

Part A – Accounting policies
A. 1 – General Part
Section 1 – Declaration of conformity to international accounting standards
The Annual Report of the Dexia Crediop Company for the year ending 31st December 2015 were prepared in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards and the International Accounting Standards (hereafter “IFRS”, “IAS”,
or international accounting standards) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the
European Commission according to procedures referred to in article 6 of Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European
Parliament and Council dated 19th July 2002, which were approved on that date.
The Annual Report was also prepared in accordance with the Bank of Italy’s instructions contained in Circular n. 262 of
22nd December 2005 and later updates.
The IAS/IFRS principles approved and in effect at 31 December 2015 were used in preparing the Annual Report (including
the interpretative documents known as SIC and IFRIC).
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The table below indicates the new international accounting principles or the amendments to accounting principles already
in existence, with the relative approval regulations of the European Commission, which took effect during 2015.
Approval date

EU Regulation
publication date

Amendments to IAS 27: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (issued on 12 August
2014)

18 December 2015

23 December 2015

Amendments to IAS 1: Disclosure Initiative (issued on 18 December 2014)

18 December 2015

19 December 2015

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle (issued on 25 September 2014)

15 December 2015

16 December 2015

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation (issued on 12 May 2014)

2 December 2015

3 December 2015

Amendments to IFRS 11: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (issued
on 6 May 2014)

24 November 2015

25 November 2015

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41: Bearer Plants (issued on 30 June 2014)

23 November 2015

24 November 2015

Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Contributions (issued on 21 November 2013)

17 December 2014

9 Jenuary 2015

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle (issued on 12 December 2013)

17 December 2014

9 Jenuary 2015

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle (issued on 12 December 2013)

18 December 2014

19 December 2014

13 June 2014

14 June 2014

Document title

IFRIC interpretation 21 Levies (issued on 20 May 2013)

Section 2 – General accounting principles
The company’s annual report was drawn up in true and fair fashion and consist of the balance sheet, the income statement,
the statement of total income, the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, the statement of changes in the financial
position and the notes to the statements. The annual report is also accompanied by the Directors’ Report on Operations.
The annual report was drawn up in units of one euro.
The schedules of the balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income consist of items identified with
numbers and sub-items identified with letters together with additional information (the various “of which” references
relative to the items and sub-items). The items, sub-items and associated additional information make up the annual report
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accounts. Each account in the balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income also shows the amount
relating to the previous period. The balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income do not include any
accounts with zero amounts in both the year of reference and the previous financial year.
The notes to the statements were drawn up in thousands of euro. Any items and tables which do not have any amounts
are not mentioned in the notes to the statements.
The annual report was drawn up according to the going concern principle and the accruals concept.
The going concern principle is also described in the Report on operations, future operational prospects paragraph, for the
Dexia Group and for Dexia Crediop.

Section 3 – Consolidation area and methods
1. Equity investments in companies controlled exclusively
Head-quarters Relation-ship
Company name

Investment relationship
Investor
company

Stake %

Dexia Crediop

99,9%

% of votes
held

A. Companies:
D.C.I. – Dexia Crediop Ireland (1)

Dublin

1

Tevere Finance S.r.l. (2)

Rome

4

99,9%

(1) Dexia Crediop Ireland (DCI) is an unlimited liability company constituted under Irish law and established in 2008, with registered offices in 6 George’s Dock, Dublin 1 and share capital of
€700 million.
The share capital amounts to €100 milion represented by 100 million shares, each with a nominal value of 1 euro.
- 99,999,999 shares are held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;
- 1 share held by Belfius Ireland (ex Dexia Investments Ireland), in its capacity as Trustee for Dexia Crediop S.p.A.., until 05.03.2013; on 06.03.2013 Belfius Ireland sold, without trustee
agreement, the share to Dexia Crédit local.
(2) This company is a vehicle pursuant to law no. 130/1999 founded on 21 September 2007. The share capital is e 10,000 and is fully subscribed and paid up. The sole shareholder is an Dutch
foundation, whilst Dexia Crediop exercises effective control.

The Company “Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l.” held 90% by Dexia Crediop S.p.A. was placed in
voluntary liquidation with a deed of 30 September 2015 and removed from the register of companies on 7 December
2015.

Section 4 – Events after the balance sheet date
There were no events after the balance sheet date which entail a need to amend the results of the annual report as at
31st December 2015.

Section 5 - Other aspects
In compliance with the cited international accounting principles, the preparation of the annual report obligatorily requires
the use of estimates and hypotheses which are able to determine relevant effects on the values in the balance sheet and
income statement, as well as in the disclosure provided regarding potential assets and liabilities.
These estimates and the associated hypotheses and assumptions are based on past experience and other current available
information held to be reasonable for the purposes of identifying management facts. Given their intrinsic subjectivity, the
estimates and hypotheses are naturally susceptible to changes, even sizeable, from one year to the next, based on changes
in market parameters and other information used during the estimate process.
The areas of the financial statement most affected by the subjective estimate and evaluation processes are the following:
• determination of fair value for financial instruments not listed on active markets;
• evaluations of loss of value for loans, equity investments and other financial assets;
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A.1 Consolidated line-by-line

• evaluation of the severance indemnity fund and other funds for benefits due to employees;
• estimate of allocations for other provisions for risks and charges;
• estimates and assumptions of the recoverability of deferred tax assets (advance taxes).
On the closing date of this annual report there were also no apparent reasons to doubt the estimates which could lead
to material amendments in the book values of the assets and liabilities. In addition, there were no changes made to the
accounting estimates which have had effects in the current financial period. The information related to the going concern
assumptions are also illustrated in the Report on operations, Future operational prospects paragraph.

A. 2 – The main aggregates of the annual report
1 – Financial assets held for trading
Financial assets held for trading include:
• financial assets, which, irrespective of their technical form, are held with a view to generating profits in the short term;
• derivative contracts not designated as hedging instruments.
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As regards financial assets, both debt and equity instruments are first recognised on the settlement date, while derivatives
are entered on the trade date.
Financial assets held for trading are initially recognised at fair value, which generally corresponds to the settlement price,
exclusive of transaction costs and income which are immediately recognised in the income statement, as long as they are
directly attributable to these financial instruments. When the settlement price is different from fair value, the financial asset
is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price is booked to the income statement.
Any commitments for transactions to be regulated that are in existence as of the date of the annual report are evaluated
using the same criteria applied to regulated transactions.
Subsequent measurement is carried out on the basis of changes in the fair value and the result is booked to the income
statement.
Differentials in derivative contracts classified in the trading portfolio and the results of the fair value measurement are
included in “Net trading gains (losses)”.
Financial assets for trading are derecognised only on expiry of the contractual rights relating to the cash flows or when the
financial assets are sold with the transfer to third parties of all the risks and benefits associated with them. However, if a
significant share of the risks and benefits of the sold financial assets are maintained, they continue to be recognised, even
if ownership of such assets has effectively been transferred.
If substantial transfer of the risks and benefits cannot be ascertained, the financial assets are derecognised when no
type of control is maintained over the same. Otherwise, when such control is retained, even partially, these assets are
maintained on the balance sheet to the extent to which the said control is retained, calculated according to exposure to
changes in the value of the sold assets and variations in the cash flows of the same.
These financial assets are derecognised on the date they are disposed of (settlement date).
Derivatives are considered financial assets if their fair value is positive and liabilities if their fair value is negative. The Group
does not compensate the current positive and negative values from transactions in existence with the same counterparty.
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2 – Financial assets available for sale
The item “Financial assets available for sale” includes all financial assets other than derivatives, that are not classified
as loans and receivables, investments held to maturity or financial assets held for trading. The item also includes debt
securities and equity securities (including the equity investment in the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo) which cannot be
classified as subsidiaries, associated companies or joint subsidiaries and which do not, therefore, fall within the scope of
application of IAS 28.
The first recognition of the financial asset is done on the basis of the IAS criteria of “settlement date accounting, meaning
the settlement date for debt or equity securities and the disbursement date in the case of loans.
Any commitments for transactions to be regulated that are in existence as of the date of the annual report are evaluated
using the same criteria applied to regulated transactions.
Financial assets available for sale are recorded in the balance sheet at fair value, which is normally the same as the
purchase price, including any charges or revenue directly ensuing from the instrument. When the settlement price is
different from fair value, the financial asset is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price
is booked to the income statement.

Changes in exchange rates for non-monetary instruments (equity securities) are booked to the specific shareholders’ equity
reserve, while those relating to monetary instruments (loans and debt securities) are booked to the income statement.
Equity securities whose fair value cannot be reliably determined are maintained at cost, and adjusted in the case that
impairment losses are ascertained.
Any accumulated or unrealised profits or losses on securities available for sale are recognised in the income statement
when the asset is derecognised, or when an impairment loss occurs.
As regards determination of the fair value of financial assets available for sale and the criteria used for derecognising them,
the reader is referred to the information provided above for financial assets held for trading.
Financial assets available for sale are examined on an individual basis in order to verify whether there is any objective
evidence of a fall in value (IAS 39 paragraph 59). This check, which is carried out at each yearly or interim period closing
date, is based on a series of both qualitative and quantitative indicators. Qualitative indicators of a possible loss of value
are, for example, significant financial difficulties for the issuer, non-fulfilment or lack of payment of interest and equity
according to the terms, the disappearance of an active market for the asset in question. In addition, for investments in
equity instruments, the following quantitative indicators are considered separately to serve as objective evidence of a loss
of value: the presence of a fair value at the date of the annual report of less than 50% of the original purchase cost, or the
prolonged presence (over 5 years) of a fair value less than the purchase cost of the asset.
If such evidence exists, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the book value of the asset, net of
any redemptions and amortizations, and the current value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original
effective interest rate, or on the basis of the fair value measurement for listed equity securities.
If the reasons for the writedowns no longer exist, reversals are performed which are booked to the income statement
if they refer to debt securities or loans, and to shareholders’ equity if they refer to equity securities. The amount of the
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Subsequent measurement is carried out on the basis of the fair value with recognition of gains or losses deriving from
changes in fair value booked to a specific reserve in shareholders’ equity, net of any tax effects. Interest payments on debt
securities, determined using the amortised cost method, are booked to the income statement.

writeback, for debt securities, cannot in any case exceed the amortised cost that the asset would have had, in the absence
of impairment.

3 – Financial assets held to maturity
The item “Financial assets held to maturity” includes financial assets other than derivatives, which have fixed or calculable
contractual payments and fixed maturity dates and which can be and are intended to be held to maturity except for those
which:
a) the Bank designates, at the time of initial recognition, at the fair value booked to the income statement;
b) the Bank designates as available for sale;
c) meet the definition of loans and receivables.
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If following a change of plan or capacity, it is no longer appropriate to keep an investment classified as held to maturity, it
is reclassified among assets available for sale, and for the following two years it is not possible to recognised new assets
in the category “Financial assets held to maturity”.
Financial assets held to maturity are first recognised on the settlement date. On initial recognition, financial assets classified
in this category are designated at fair value, determined on the trade date (IAS 39, paragraph 44 and AG 56) and including
any charges and income directly attributable to the instrument. When the settlement price is different from fair value, the
financial asset is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price is booked to the income
statement.
Financial assets included in this category as a result of reclassification from ‘Assets available for sale’, are recognised at
amortised cost, which is initially taken as being equal to the fair value of the asset on the date of reclassification.
Any commitments for transactions to be regulated that are in existence as of the date of the annual report are evaluated
using the same criteria applied to regulated transactions.
After initial recognition, financial assets held to maturity are carried at amortised cost. The result of said evaluation is
booked to the income statement under item “10-Interest and similar income”. The amortised cost of an asset is the same
as the value the asset was measured at on the date of initial recognition net of any equity reimbursements. This is increased
or reduced by the overall amortisation, achieved by using the effective interest method, equity and interest payments
contractually owed, and any difference between the initial value and the value on maturity and minus any reduction (made
directly or through the use of a provision) following impairment loss or impossibility of recovery.
“Financial assets held to maturity” are examined on an individual basis in order to verify whether there is any objective
evidence of a fall in value (IAS 39 paragraph 59). This check is carried out at each yearly or interim period closing date,
using the same methodology illustrated for the financial assets available for sale, to which the reader can refer for greater
detail.
When there is objective evidence of impairment losses, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the book value of the asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective
interest rate. The associated adjustment is recognised in the income statement, under the item “130-Net adjustments for
impairment of: c) financial assets held to maturity”.
When the reasons for an impairment loss no longer exist, a reversal is booked to the income statement which cannot,
however, exceed the amortized cost which the instrument would have had without the previous loss.
Gains or losses relative to the derecognition of assets held to maturity are booked to the income statement, under the
item “100-Gains/losses on disposal or repurchase of: c) financial assets held to maturity”. With regards to derecognition
criteria, please refer to that illustrated above for financial assets held for trading.
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4 – Loans
The item “Loans and receivables” includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments, which are
not quoted in an active market, and which are not designated as “Financial assets available for sale” on the date of initial
recognition.
Normally, this item includes loans to clients and banks including debt securities with characteristics similar to loans.
Sale and repurchase transactions (Repos) are also included in the item “loans and receivables”.
Securities received in the context of a Repo transaction, which contractually envisage subsequent sale, and securities
delivered in the context of a transaction that contractually envisages the subsequent repurchase, are not booked as
treasury securities or derecognised from the annual report, respectively, but are booked as due to/from customers or banks.
This is due to application of the “continuing involvement” principle sanctioned by IAS 39, § 17-23.
Receivables are first entered on the date they are issued or, in the case of debt securities, on the settlement date. Receivables
are initially recognised at their fair value, equal to the amount paid out, or to the subscription/trading price, including any
transaction costs/income directly attributable to the single receivable. Even if they have the above features, costs which are
reimbursed by the borrower or which can be considered normal internal administrative costs are excluded.

The amortised cost method is not used for short-term loans, as for these the effect of the application of the actualisation
logic based on effective interest is negligible. For these receivables, interest matures “pro-rata temporis”, in accordance
with the law of simple interest.
The book value of the loan portfolio is periodically subject to checks for the existence of any losses in value (IAS 39
paragraph 59) which could lead to a reduction in their presumable sale value. For a classification of impaired debts in
the various risk categories, reference is made to the regulations issued on the subject by the Bank of Italy together with
the internal provisions which establish rules for classification and transfers within the scope of the various expected risk
categories.
Determination of the write-down on the receivables, to be posted on the income statement net of the provisions previously
allocated, is equal to the difference between the book value at valuation date (amortised cost) and the present value of
the forecast future cash flows, calculated applying the effective original interest rate. For variable rate loans for which a
change in the interest rate occurred during the period, an average tax determined on the measurement date is applied.
The estimate of future cash flows takes account of expected recovery times, the presumable realization value of any
existing guarantees and costs considered necessary for recovery of the loan exposure. Receivables with objective lasting
impairment in value are evaluated on an analytical basis.
Loans which do not show any objective evidence of impairment or for which no impairment is forecast are assessed
collectively, by grouping them together in homogeneous categories with similar characteristics in terms of credit risk, such
as the technical form of the loan, the economic sector the counterparties belong to, their geographical location and the
type of existing guarantees.
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After initial recognition, the receivables are valued at the amortised cost, equal to the initial booking value decreased/
increased by equity payments, writedowns/writebacks and amortisation - calculated using the effective interest rate
method - the difference between the amount paid out and that repayable at maturity, generally traceable to the costs/
revenues directly attributed to the individual receivable. The effective interest rate is identified by calculating the rate that is
equal to the current value of the future flows of the receivable, for capital and interest, to the amount paid out inclusive of
costs/revenues traceable to the receivable. This method of accounting, using financial logic, makes it possible to distribute
the economic effect of the costs/revenues throughout the expected maturity of the receivable.

The original value of the loans is reinstated in subsequent financial periods to the extent to which the reasons for the
writedown are no longer evident; the writeback is booked to the income statement and may not in any case exceed the
amortised cost that the loan would have had in the absence of previous writedowns.
Financial guarantees given which are not represented by derivatives are assessed taking into account the provisions of IAS
39 which stipulate, on the one hand, recognition of the fee received, pursuant to IAS 18, and on the other, measurement
of the risks and charges connected with the guarantees by applying the principles provided for in IAS 37.
Loans transferred are derecognised from the assets in the financial statement only if the transfer involved the substantial
transfer of all the risks and benefits connected to said loans. However, if a significant proportion of the risks and benefits
of the sold financial assets has been maintained, they continue to be recognised among the assets, even if ownership of
the receivable has effectively been transferred.
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In 2009 and 2010, securitisation operations were originated for loans through the vehicle company Tevere Finance S.p.A.,
the equity of which is held by a Dutch foundation. By the total repurchase on the part of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. of the
ABS securities issued by the vehicle, both senior and junior classes, at the same time as the sale of the assets, continuing
involvement is maintained.
Since the conditions do not exist for the derecognition of the assets sold, in compliance with the provisions of IAS 39, the
prior situation has been restored on the financial statement, with the re-posting of the separate capital of DCC and Tevere
Finance in the accounts of Dexia Crediop.
4.1 – Due from banks
The item “Due from banks” includes receivables from banks which present fixed and determinable payments not listed
on active markets and the securities issued by banks with features similar to the receivables, previously classified under
“Bonds and other debt securities”.
4.2 – Due from customers
The item “Due from customers” includes receivables from customers which present fixed and determinable payments not
listed on active markets and the securities issued by customers with features similar to the receivables, previously classified
under “Bonds and other debt securities”.

6 – Hedging derivatives
The item “Hedging derivatives” recognises instruments used to neutralize potential losses which may be recognised in
a particular element and attributable to one or more types of risk (interest rate risk, exchange rate risk, price risk, credit
risk, etc.).
The types of hedging transactions used are the following:
• Fair value hedges, performed with the aim of hedging exposure to variations in the fair value of assets/liabilities
recognised in the balance sheet; the subject of such hedging can be specific transactions, or an amount of balance sheet
assets or liabilities, selected from a portfolio of financial instruments with a similar level of exposure to interest rate risk.
(macro hedge, as envisaged in the “IAS 39 carve out” adopted by the European Community);
• Cash flow hedges, performed with the aim of hedging the exposure to variations in expected cash flows of assets/
liabilities recognised in the annual report or relating to highly probable future transactions.
A financial instrument is designated as a hedge if there is formal documentation on the relationship between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument, which includes the risk management objectives, the strategy for carrying out the hedge
and the methods used to test the effectiveness of the hedge itself.
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Dexia Crediop S.p.A. conducts an assessment at the start and periodically (on a quarterly basis), using forecasting and
retrospective tests, to see whether or not the hedge is highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or the
expected cash flows of the hedged instrument. The tests on effectiveness are considered as passed if the ratio between
the changes in the fair value (or cash flows) of hedging instruments and those of the hedged items fall within the range
of 80-125%.
The hedging operation, and the relative Hedge Accounting are interrupted prospectively if: (i) the hedging operation
through the derivative is revoked or is no longer highly effective; (ii) the derivative expires, is sold, annulled or exercised;
(iii) the hedged item is sold, expires or is redeemed; (iv) it is no longer highly probable that the future hedged operation
will be performed. In all the cases cited (except for the cases under (ii), the derivative in question is reclassified among
financial instruments for trading.
The hedging instruments are designated as such only if stipulated with a counterparty external to the Dexia Crediop Group.
The accounting rules for hedging transactions envisage the following (see IAS 39, §85-101):

• In the case of effective fair value hedging, any changes in the value of the hedging instruments and the hedged
instruments (as regards the part attributable to the hedged risk) are booked to the income statement. The differences
between these variations in value constitute the partial ineffectiveness of the hedge and lead to a net impact in the
income statement, recognised under item 90 “Net hedging gains/losses”. Variations in value of the elements hedged,
attributable to the risk which is being hedged against, are booked to the income statement as a matching entry for the
variation in value attributed to the element in question. In the case of generic hedging the changes in the fair value
of the element hedged are posted in the appropriate items of the assets (90) and liabilities (70) of the balance sheet
pursuant to IAS 39, paragraph 89A.
• If a fair value hedge ceases to exist for reasons other than realization of the hedged item, the variations in value of
the latter, which were recognised in the balance sheet for as long as the effective hedge was maintained, are booked
to the income statement under interest income or expenditures. When the hedge refers to interest-bearing financial
instruments, this is done using the amortized cost principle, or in other cases with a single amount.
• As regards cash flow hedges, the gain or loss portion on a hedging instrument that is considered effective is initially
recognised in shareholders’ equity (cash flow hedging reserve), under item 130 “Valuation reserves”. Any share of
gain or loss associated with the hedging instrument, which exceeds the fair value change of the expected flows from
the covered element in absolute value, is immediately booked to the income statement (overhedging). When the cash
flows being hedged become manifest and are recognised in the income statement, the relevant gain or loss on the
hedging instrument is transferred from shareholders’ equity to the corresponding item in the income statement (90 “Net hedging gains/losses”).
• In the case of interruption of a cash flow hedge relation, the total of the gain or loss of the hedging instrument
previously booked to shareholders’ equity remains recognised in the specific equity reserve until the moment in which
the transaction takes place or it is held that there is no longer a possibility that the transaction will occur. In this latter
circumstance, this amount is transferred to the income statement under item 80 “Net trading gains/losses”. Fair value
changes booked to item 130 of the liabilities are also recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income.
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• Like all derivatives, hedging derivatives are initially recognised in the balance sheet on the trade date and are
subsequently measured at fair value. The “Hedging derivatives” items among the assets (item 80) and liabilities (item
60) on the balance sheet include the positive and negative value of derivatives which are part of effective hedging
operations.
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8 – Property, plant and equipment
The item “Property, plant and equipment” includes assets held to be used for more than one financial period in the
production and provision of services or for administrative purposes (so-called “instrumental assets”), together with real
estate properties held for collecting rent and/or for the appreciation of the equity invested (so-called “non-instrumental
assets”).
When the international accounting standards were first adopted, the part attributable to plots of land associated with
“sky-to-ground” properties, was separated out since they were not subject to depreciation, as land has an indefinite
useful life. Similarly the historical cost of works of art not subject to depreciation was reinstated, because their useful life
is deemed impossible to estimate and their value is not likely to fall with the passing of time.
In line with paragraph 7 of IAS 16, Property, plant and equipment assets are recognised in the balance sheet only when
it is reasonably possible to determine the cost of the asset and it is probable that the associated future economic benefits
will accrue to the company. Therefore, it is important to establish the time when the risks and benefits attached to an
asset are effectively transferred to the company, irrespective of when ownership is formally conveyed.
Property, plant and equipment assets are initially entered at cost, which includes not only the purchase price but also any
associated charges directly ensuing from the purchase and costs involved in starting up the asset. The expenses incurred,
subsequent to purchase, increase the book value of an asset or are recognised as separate assets only when they lead to
an increase in future economic benefits due to the use of the asset; other expenses incurred subsequent to purchase are
booked to the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.
In periods subsequent to that of initial recognition, assets are recognised in the accounts on the basis of the amortisable
historical cost method. The relevant amortisation is carried out on the basis of the possible residual useful life of the
assets. The useful life of Property, plant and equipment assets subject to depreciation is periodically re-assessed.
A Property, plant and equipment asset is eliminated from the balance sheet when it is sold or scrapped and when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use.

9 – Intangible assets
The item “Intangible assets” includes assets that can be identified and are without physical consistency, which originate
from legal or contractual rights and which are held to be used over a number of years. In the main, they are represented
by application software.
Intangible assets are recognised at cost, net of overall depreciation and permanent impairment losses, only if the future
economic benefits ascribable to the asset are likely and if the cost of the asset itself can be measured reliably. Otherwise,
the cost of the assets is booked to the Income Statement in the year in which it was incurred.
Intangible assets recognised in the balance sheet are amortised on the basis of their residual useful life according to a
straight-line method. The period and method of amortisation are re-assessed at the end of each financial period.
An intangible asset is eliminated from the balance sheet when it is disposed of or when no future economic benefits are
expected.

11 – Current and deferred taxes
Current income taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax result for the year. These taxes are entered as tax liabilities
if they exceed the amounts already paid in advance during the year, and as tax assets if the amounts paid in advance
exceed the taxes for the period.
Current taxes are booked as a revenue or as a charge and are included in profits or losses for the year except for taxes
that refer to items that are accredited or debited directly to shareholders’ equity, in which case they are booked directly
to shareholders’ equity.
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On the subject of deferred taxation, only net tax credits whose recoverability is deemed probable are still registered, in
compliance with the provisions of IAS 12.

12 – Provisions for risks and charges
According to that envisaged in IAS 37, provisions for risks and charges involves exclusively provisions for current
obligations (legal or implicit) originating from a past event, for which:
• the payment of financial resources to fulfil said obligation is probable;
• it is possible to make a reliable estimate of the relative amount.
If the time factor is significant, the provisions, which are recognised in contra-items in the income statement, are
discounted at current market rates.
The item includes provisions for early retirement incentives, applying the rules of the national contracts for bank workers
and of specific company agreements.

The cost components of defined benefits must be recognised as follows:
• the pension cost and net interest on the net liabilities (assets) are recognised in the income statement, according to
the actuarial method already provided for in the previous text of IAS 19;
• the revaluations of net liabilities (assets) are recognised in the other components of comprehensive income (O.C.I).
Paragraph 122 specifies that the amounts recognised in the other components of comprehensive income can be
reclassified to Shareholders’ equity.
12.2 – Other provisions
This item includes provisions made against legal and implicit obligations existing at the close of the period, including
provisions for employee early retirement schemes and other social security and health charges, and provisions for the
creation of the reserve required for paying employees their long-service bonuses according to the terms of company
regulations.
These liabilities are determined, in the same way as pension funds, on the basis of an assessment conducted by an
independent actuary using the methods laid down in IAS 19 (refer to that above in Provisions for retirement funds and
similar benefits).
The actuarial gains and losses are therefore recognized in the balance sheet with a contra-item in the income statement.
The provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
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12.1 – Provisions for retirement funds and similar benefits
Staff pension funds include the various complementary retirement plans with defined benefits, established to implement
company agreements and recognised in the accounts in compliance with the provisions of IAS 19 “Employee benefits”.
These plans are considered defined benefit plans, in that they guarantee a series of benefits which depend on factors
such as age, years of service, and salary prospects for employees, regardless of the effective performance of any financial
assets used to serve the plan. In these cases, the actuarial risk and the investment risk fall mainly on the Company that
guarantees the plan.
Liabilities related to these plans and the relative retirement costs relating to current employment are determined by
independent actuaries on the basis of actuarial and financial hypotheses defined by the Dexia Group, using the Project
Unit Credit Method. This method makes it possible to uniformly distribute the cost of the benefit throughout the working
life of the employee, as a function of the discount rate, years of service matured, hypotheses of salary increases, and
theoretical seniority reached at the time the benefit is paid out.
More specifically, the amount booked as liability in item 120.a) “Provisions for risks and charges-retirement funds and
similar benefits” is equal to the algebraic sum of the following values:
• current value of the obligation at the reference date (calculated using the above method):
• minus the fair value of any assets that serve the plan.

13 – Payables and securities issued
The items “Due to banks”, “Due to customers” and “Securities issued” include various forms of provisioning from banks
and customers, reverse repurchase agreements and provisioning through bonds and other funding instruments issued (net
of any shares of repurchased items).
Initial recognition of such financial liabilities is done on the settlement date when the sums collected are received or when
the securities are issued, on the basis of the fair value of the liabilities, which is normally equal to the amount received or
the issue price, with an increase for any additional costs/revenues directly connected to the single funding or bond issue
operation and not reimbursed by the lender. Internal administrative costs are excluded.
After initial recognition, debts and the securities issued, with the exception of on-demand and short-term entries which
remain booked at the price received, are valued at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have expired or are extinguished. They are also derecognised in the case
of repurchase of previously issued securities. The difference between the book value of the liability and the amount paid to
purchase it is booked to the income statement under item 100.d) ”Gains(losses) from repurchase of financial liabilities”.
Replacement on the market of own securities after buyback is considered a new issue with recognition at the new
placement price, with no effect on the Income Statement.
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14 – Financial liabilities for trading
The item includes the negative value of trading derivatives.
All financial liabilities for trading are initially booked on the trade date based on fair value, without considering any
transaction costs directly attributable to the financial instrument, which are instead immediately booked to the income
statement.
Subsequently, these liabilities are booked at fair value, with recognition of the evaluation to the income statement under
item “80. Net trading gains (losses)”.
With regards to the criteria for determining fair value of financial instruments, please refer to section A. Information on
fair value.
Financial liabilities held for trading are derecognised from the financial statement when the contractual rights over the
associated financial flows expire or when the financial liability is transferred with the substantial transfer of all the risks
and benefits deriving from ownership of the same.

16 – Currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are first entered in the accounting currency, applying the exchange rate in effect at the
moment of the transaction.
At the end of every financial year or interim period, foreign currency items are measured as follows:
• cash items are converted at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date;
• non-cash items are carried at their historical cost converted at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the transaction;
• non-cash items designated at fair value are converted at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date.
Exchange rate differences resulting from the settlement of cash elements or from the conversion of non-cash elements
at rates other than those of the initial conversion or the conversion rate of the previous annual report, are booked to the
Income Statement of the financial period in which they arise.
Exchange rate differences relating to a non-monetary element, valued at fair value as a matching entry to a shareholders’
equity reserve, are also booked to shareholders’ equity. On the other hand, when a non-monetary element is valued at
fair value in the income statement as a matching entry, the relative exchange rate difference is also booked to the income
statement.
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18 – Other information
18.1 – Accruals and deferrals
Accrued income and deferred expenses include portions of revenues/expenses relating to several financial periods in part
already matured during the current financial period (and in the previous ones) but not yet received/paid. Deferred income
and expenses include portions of revenues/expenses already received/paid in the reporting period (or in previous ones) but
relating to the current financial period or subsequent ones.
These amounts are recognised in the balance sheet, adjusting the assets and liabilities they refer to.
18.2 – Recognition of revenues and costs
Revenues from the sale of goods or the provision of services are recognised in the balance sheet at the fair value of the
consideration received on the basis of the accruals concept. In the majority of cases the consideration consists of cash or
similar means and the amount of the revenues is the sum of cash or similar means received or due.
Costs are booked to the income statement in the periods when the associated revenues are recognised.
18.3 – Valuation reserves
This item includes valuation reserves relating to financial assets available for sale, cash flow hedges and defined benefit
plans.

Hence the severance indemnity fund accrued through to 31/12/2006 continues to be a defined benefit plan, in accordance
with that envisaged in IAS 19. The relative liability is booked to the financial statement on the basis of the actuarial value
of the same, determined by an independent actuary, on the basis of simplified actuarial hypotheses, which no longer take
into account expected future salary changes in the employment contract. Future flows of the severance indemnity are
actualised as of the reference date and any actuarial gains or losses are booked in other components of comprehensive
income (O.C.I) and reclassified to Shareholders’ equity (please see above, section Provisions for retirement funds and
similar benefits).
Vice versa, the quotas of severance indemnities accrued after 1/1/2007 can be considered to be a defined contribution
plan for all purposes, in that the obligation of the company is limited to paying the amounts accrued to the complementary
retirement fund chosen by the employee or to the INPS Treasury. The relative cost for the period is given by the amounts
paid to these alternative retirement funds.
18.5 – Security Loans
With reference to security loan transactions without guarantees or with guarantees consisting of other securities or
unavailable cash, the following accounting treatment was adopted.
The remuneration for the transactions in question is recognised by the lender under item 40 “fee income” in the income
statement, correspondingly, the cost of said transactions is recognised by the borrower under item 50 “fee expense” in
the income statement.
With reference to any unavailable deposits made in favour of the lender by the borrower, considering that the cash
remains fully available to the latter until maturity of the security loan transaction, the borrower - in application of the
principle of substance prevailing over form - does not recognise either the asset in terms of the lender in the annual
report, nor the corresponding constrained liability. Correspondingly, the lender does not recognise in the annual report a
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18.4 – Provision for employee severance indemnities
Following the reform of complementary retirement funds pursuant to Legislative Decree 252 of 5/12/2005, the quotas of
severance indemnities accrued through to 31/12/2006 remained at the company, while quotas maturing after 1/1/2007
were destined, based on the employee’s choice, to the bank’s or the INPS Treasury’s complementary retirement funds.

liability with the borrower or the connected constrained asset.
18.6 – Fair Value measurement
According to the IFRS 13, fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between participants in the trading market of this asset/liability at the measurement
date.
This definition implies the concept of “exit price”, that is the expected sale or purchase value in realistic market conditions.
In particular, it is essential to take into adequate consideration:
• the specific characteristics of the asset/liability being measured, if they are significant for a participant in the relevant
trading market, at the moment of pricing the transaction;
• the principal trading market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of this, the most advantageous;
• all estimate assumptions that reference market participants would use when pricing the asset/liability, acting in their
best interest. Among these assumptions is non-performance risk, which includes the credit risk associated with the
issuers or the counterparty of the transaction, including the creditworthiness of the entity that prepares the financial
statements (in the case of valuation of a liability).
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In the 2013 the valuation of bilateral and active derivatives subject to the ISDA Master Agreement with a Credit Support
Annex or CSA (“collateralised” derivatives), has been adjusted to take account of valuation by means of the Overnight
Indexed Swap (OIS) curve applied by the market to such instruments, previously valued by means of the discount curve
based on the Euribor parameter.
For the above type of collateralised derivatives the calculation of the CVA (“Credit Value Adjustment”), previously
computed only on non-collateralised derivatives, was also extended in order to reflect the negative impacts for each
counterparty of the CSA of potential exposures in the event of default (Exposure At Default or EAD) generated by the
guarantee margin adjustment times.
This calculation regards specularly also the risk associated with the company’s own creditworthiness, entailing in the
case positive effects on the income statement due to recognition of the so-called Debit Value Adjustment (DVA).
When determining the CVA/DVA, the Bank considers two different markets :
• the market of collateralized derivatives, where there is a daily exchange of collateral, for which the CVA / DVA is
calculated based on expected changes of value over a short period of time.
• the market of uncollateralized derivatives, where there is a risk on the fair value of the derivative at the balance-sheet
date and also on the expected change of value over the life of the derivative.
For derivatives with counterparties within the Dexia Group, fair value and adjustments for CVA and DVA are determined
applying the respective methods relative to collateralised derivatives, regardless of whether or not there is a bilateral and
active CSA.
Based on projections, positive expected exposures are used for a CVA calculation and negative expected exposures are
used for a DVA calculation.
For CVA / DVA calculation, the Probability of Default (PD) parameters are based on market data. The Loss Given Default
(LGD) parameters are based on market data, except for counterparts belonging to project and local authorities sectors
for which historical data are used.
In the 2014, the Dexia Group has introduced the following methodological changes to its assessment processes:
• the use of observable market data to the greatest possible extent for the determination of the credit spreads used to
assess securities and CVA/DVA;
• an increase in the reference time horizon (from 5 to 10 days) used to close risk derivative positions hedged by collateral
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in the case of default;
• revision of the methodology used to calculate the “bid-ask adjustment” for derivatives.
In the context of fair value adjustments made in the area of derivative products, we note the introduction of the
“FVA” (Funding Value Adjustment) in 2015, which reflects the cost/benefit of funding connected with the absence of
collateralisation contracts on derivatives with customers with balanced brokering, against which mirror derivatives are
established, collateralised with market counterparties.
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A.3 – Information on tranfers between portfolios of financial assets
A.3.1 Reclassified financial assets: book value, fair value and effects on comprehensive income
thousands of euro
Type of
financial
instrument
Debt securities

Portfolio of
origin

AFS

Allocation
portfolio

L&R

Book
value
at
31.12.2015

Fair value
at
31.12.2015

6,486,273

5,646,282

Income items for lack of
transfer (pre-tax)

Income items recorded
during the year (pre-tax)

Evaluative

Evaluative

(901,590)

Others
405,737

(52,055)

Others
405,737

The income items refer to interests as well as capital gains and losses realised on securities previously reclassified.
A.3.4 Effective interest rate and cash flows expected from the reclassified assets
With reference to the information pursuant to IFRS 7 § 12 A, letter f, we note that these securities do not meet the
impairment requirements and all future cash flow is therefore forecast for recovery.

A.4 – Information on fair value
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Qualitative information
A.4.1 Fair value levels 2 and 3: estimation techniques and input used
The assets and liabilities held for trading are exclusively derivative instruments. With regard to these instruments as a
whole – including the hedging derivatives shown in table 4.5.1 – over 98% of the fair value has been estimated according
to techniques based on observable market data (level 2).							
The remaining instruments include some structured derivatives for which certain market parameters (e.g. volatility,
correlations) were not directly observable on the market or which were not judged to be representative for the purpose
of estimating fair value, hence mark-to-model parameters were used and the instruments assigned to level 3. This level is
also assigned to certain hedging derivatives.
A.4.2 Estimation processes and sensitivity
To estimate the impact of the use of alternative valuation techniques on the fair value of the entire section of “level 3”
derivatives, the valuations given by the counterparts of the derivatives were considered. With regard to all financial assets
and liabilities held for trading, since these are derivatives in matched brokerage, it is estimated that there would be no
net impact (e 0.1 million in absolute value, positive on the assets and negative on the liabilities). However, the estimated
impact on hedging derivatives is equal to e +0.2 mln on assets and e +0.1 mln on liabilities.
A.4.3 Fair Value Hierarchy
The financial assets/liabilities measured at fair value are classified on the basis of a hierarchy of levels that reflects both the
observance of the data and the estimation model, if any, used to determine the fair value. In particular, the Dexia Group
has adopted the following criteria to define the degree of “observability” of a model, relevant to classification as level 2
or 3:						
• state of validation of the model;							
• degree of use of the model by the market; 					
• significance of the uncertainty incorporated in the model.
					
The following table sums up the rules which define the fair value hierarchy in the Dexia Group.

218

Input data and models/Market activity

Active market

Observable prices
Input and observable models
Input or non-observable models

Less active market
level 1
level 2
level 3

level 2
level 2
level 3

Non-regulated/inactive
market
level 3
level 3
level 3

On the basis of the above indicated criteria, level 1 has been assigned only to bonds issued by Sovereign bodies and listed
on active markets, estimated on the basis of the closing prices registered on the stock market on the last business day of
the period of reference. Compared to 2014, there have been no changes in the valuation technique or in the hierarchical
classification of the fair value for these bonds.
Quantitative information

A.4.5 Fair Value Hierarchy

A.4.5.1 Assets and Liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis: breakdown by fair value levels
Financial assets/liabilities designated
at fair value

429,374

25,985
250,322

690
77,560

859,980

25,985
307,851

1,095
85,079

429,374

2,464,837
2,241,605

116,099
18,642

859,980

3,154,728
2,882,696

159,012
5,696

2,957,995
5,199,600

77,603
96,245

3,766,035
6,648,731

85,917
91,613

L1

Key:
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3

A.4.5.2 Annual change of assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis (level 3)
Financial Assets
held for trading
1.
Opening balances
2.
Increases
2.1. Purchases
2.2. Profits booked to:
2.2.1. Income statement
- of which capital gains
2.2.2. Shareholders' equity
2.3. Transfers from other levels
2.4. Other increases
3. Decreases
3.1. Sales
3.2. Redemptions
3.3. Losses booked to:
3.3.1. Income statement
- of which capital losses
3.3.2. Shareholders' equity
3.4. Transfers to other levels
3.5. Other decreases
4.
Closing balances

Financial
Assets
designed at
fair value

72,838
17,158

Financial
Assets
available
for sale
1,095
95

thousands of euro
Property
plant and
equipment

Hedging
derivatives
85,079
6

95
95
X

X
13,338
3,820
52,147

6
500

7,525

500
574
574
X

7,525
7,525
X

51,573
37,849

690
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77,560

Intangible
assets
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L3
37,849

L1

1. Financial assets held for trading
2. Financial assets designated at fair value
3. Financial assets available for sale
4. Hedging derivatives
5. Property plant and equipment
6. Intangible assets
Total
1. Financial liabilities held for trading
2. Financial liabilities designated at fair value
3. Hedging derivatives
Total

thousands of euro
31/12/2014
L2
L3
2,820,892
72,838

31/12/2015
L2
2,188,530

A.4.5.3 Annual change of liabilities measured at fair value (level 3)
thousands of euro
Financial liabilities
held for trading
1.

Opening balances

2.

Increases

Financial liabilities
designated
at fair value

Hedging derivatives

5,696

85,917

13,345

2.1. Issues
2.2. Losses booked to:
2.2.1. Income statement
- of which capital losses
2.2.2. Shareholders' equity

X

X

2.3. Transfers from other levels

13,345

2.4. Other increases
3.

Decreases

399

8,314

3.3. Profits booked to:

399

8,314

3.3.1. Income statement

399

8,314

3.1. Redemptions
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3.2. Repurchases

- of which capital gains
3.3.2. Shareholders' equity

X

X

3.4. Transfers to other levels
3.5. Other decreases
4.

Closing balances

18,642

77,603

A.4.5.4 Assets and Liabilities not measured at fair value or measured at fair value on a non recurring basis: breakdown
by fair value levels
thousands of euro
Assets/Liabilities not measured
at fair value or measured at fair
value on a non recurring basis

BV

1. Financial assets held to maturity

137,286

2. Due from banks
3. Due from customers

31/12/2015

4,084,006

L1

L2

31/12/2014
L3

BV

148,892

187,650

4,066,645

L1

L2

L3
204,671

12,429,771

5,083,696

7,340,210

20,662,133

4,003,805

14,328,846

17,864,082

16,224,531

22,085,374

4,066,645 16,373,423 33,279,554

9,087,501 21,873,827
24,105,403

4. Property plant and equipement
held as investments
5. Assets held for sale
Total

14,919,680

12,439,215

2,516,148

26,624,090

2. Due to customers

1. Due to banks

1,858,116

1,745,720

88,549

615,816

2,500,785
599,823

3. Securities issued

2,080,685

2,090,267

2,619,848

2,611,665

4. Liabilities related to assets held
for sale
Total
Key:
BV = book value
L1= Level 1
L2= Level 2
L3= Level 3

18,858,481

14,184,935
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4,694,964 29,859,754

24,105,403

5,712,283

A.5 Information on the day one profit/loss
There isn’t recognised any DOP in item “80 – Net trading gains (losses)” of the 2015 income statement and as of 31
December 2015 there are no portions of DOP to be recognised in the income statement in future years.
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Part B – Information on the
consolidated balance sheet
Assets
Section 1 - Cash and cash equivalents – Item 10
1.1 Cash and cash equivalents: breakdown
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015
a) Cash

Total at 31/12/2014
3

4

3

4

b) Unrestricted deposits at Central Banks

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Total

Section 2 - Financial assets held for trading - Item 20
2.1 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by type
thousands of euro
Items/Amounts

Total at 31/12/2015
Level 1

Level 2

Total at 31/12/2014
Level 3

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

A. Cash assets
1. Debt securities
1.1 Structured securities
1.2 Other debt securities
2. Equity instruments
3. Mutual fund shares
4. Loans
4.1 Repurchase agreements
4.2 Others
Total A
B. Derivatives
1. Financial derivatives:
1.1 trading

2,129,280

37,849

2,743,815

72,838

2,129,280

37,849

2,743,815

72,838

1.2 associated with fair value option
1.3 other
2. Credit derivatives:

59,250

77,077

2.1 trading

59,250

77,077

2.2 associated with fair value option
2.3 others
Total B

2,188,530

37,849

2,820,892

72,838

Total (A+B)

2,188,530

37,849

2,820,892

72,838
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2.2 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by borrower/issuer
thousands of euro
Items/Amounts

Totale 31/12/2015

Totale 31/12/2014

A. Cash assets
1. Debt securities
a) Governments and Central banks
b) Other public entities
c) Banks
d) Other issuers
2. Equity instruments
a) Banks
b) Other issuers:
- insurance companies
- financial institutions
- non-financial companies
- others
3. Mutual fund shares
4. Loans
a) Governments and Central banks
c) Banks
d) Others
Total A
B. Derivative instruments

2,226,379

2,893,730

1,053,044

1,413,964

- fair value

1,053,044

1,413,964

b) Customers

1,173,335

1,479,766

a) Banks

1,173,335

1,479,766

Total B

- fair value

2,226,379

2,893,730

Total (A+B)

2,226,379

2,893,730

Section 4 - Financial assets available for sale - Item 40
4.1 Financial assets available for sale: breakdown by type
thousands of euro
Items/Amounts
1. Debt securities

Total at 31/12/2015
Level 1

Level 2

Total at 31/12/2014
Level 3

Level 1

429,374

859,980

429,374

859,980

Level 2

Level 3

1.1 Structured securities
1.2 Other debt securities
2. Equity instruments
2.1 Measured at fair value

25,985

1

25,985

1

25,985

1

25,985

1

2.2 Measured at cost
3. Mutual fund shares

689

1,094

4. Loans
Total

429,374

25,985
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690

859,980

25,985

1,095
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b) Other public entities

Here below are presented significant details related to Equity instruments and Mutual Funds:
thousands of euro
Financial Statements at
31/12/2015

Equity instruments and mutual fund shares
Istituto per il Credito Sportivo

AFS reserve at 31/12/2015
(net of tax)

25,985

1,327

1

0

25,986

1,327

Fondo Mid Capital Mezzanine (O.I.C.R.)

689

0

Titoli OICR

689

0

26,675

1,327

Idroenergia S.c.r.l.
Titoli di capitale

Total

Dexia Crediop banking Group

The valuation of Istituto per il Credito Sportivo (ICS) takes into account the reduction, resulting from the ICS Articles
of Association, of the share capital quota assigned to Dexia Crediop amounting to 3,110% compared to the previous
21,622%. In this regard, it should be noted, however, that this assessment does not constitute in any way acquiescence
with regard to the “forced” reduction in the equity investment made by the new Article of Association which are asserted
to be illegitimate, as declared in the various appeals against the new Articles of Association and the measures issued by
the supervising Ministries and ICS that preceded it.
In accordance with the Dexia Group policy and with the nature of inputs used in valuation, the fair value of the stakes
above is determined using techniques based on unobservable inputs (level 3), with the exception of ICS, for which it is
believed to assign “level 2”(based on input different from listed prices as used in level 1 observed directly or indirectly
in the market) because the valuation is based on the new ICS Articles of Association published in the Gazzetta Ufficiale.
Here following the summary of valuation methods used:
- Istituto per il Credito Sportivo: equity method based on the new ICS Articles of Association published in the Gazzetta
Ufficiale;
- Mid-Capital Mezzanine Fund (Mutual fund shares): equity method.
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4.2 Financial assets available for sale: breakdown by borrower / issuers
thousands of euro
Items/Amounts

Total at 31/12/2015

1. Debt securities
a) Governments and Central banks

Total at 31/12/2014

429,374

859,980

429,374

859,980

25,986

25,986

25,985

25,985

1

1

1

1

689

1.094

456,049

887,060

b) Other public entities
c) Banks
d) Other issuers
2. Equity securities
a) Banks
b) Other issuers:
- insurance companies
- financial institutions
- non-financial companies
- others
3. Mutual fund shares
4. Loans

b) Other public entities
c) Banks
d) Others
Total

4.3 Financial assets available for sale with specific hedges
thousands of euro
Items/Components

31/12/2015

1. Financial assets with specific fair value hedges
a) interest rate risk

31/12/2014
429,374

859,980

429,374

859,980

429,374

859,980

b) price risk
c) foreign exchange risk
d) credit risk
e) various risks
2. Financial assets with specific cash flow hedges
a) interest rate risk
b) foreing exchange risk
c) other
Total
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a) Governments and Central banks

Section 5 - Financial assets held to maturity - Item 50
5.1 Financial assets held to maturity: breakdown by type
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015
BV
1. Debt securities

Total at 31/12/2014

FV
LEVEL 1

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

BV

FV
LEVEL 1

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

137,286

148,892

187,650

204,671

137,286

148,892

187,650

204,671

- structured
- others
2. Loans

5.2 Financial assets held to maturity: borrower/issuers
thousands of euro
Type of transaction/Amounts

Total at 31/12/2015

1. Debt securities

Total at 31/12/2014

137,286

187,650

137,286

187,650

Total

137,286

187,650

Total fair value

148,892

204,671

Dexia Crediop banking Group

a) Governments and Central banks
b) Other public entities
c) Banks
d) Other issuers
2. Loans
a) Governments and Central banks
b) Other public entities
c) Banks
d) Others
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Section 6 - Due from banks - Item 60
6.1 Due from banks: breakdown by type
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015
Tipologia operazioni / Valori

Level 1
A. Due from Central Banks

45,322

1. Restricted deposits

Level 2

Level 3

Level 1

X

21,983
X

Level 3

21,983
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

4. Others

X

X

X

X

X

X

4,038,684

4,021,323

4,038,684

4,021,323

1. Funding
1.1 Current accounts and
demand deposits
1.2 Restricted deposits
1.3 Other loans:

7,340,310

5,061,707

185,529

5,253,007

X

X

2,696

X

X

X

3,853,792

X

X

X

5,059,011

X

X

X

191,300

170,936

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

0

2.1 Structured securities
2.2 Other debt securities

0
X

4,084,006

191,300

4,066,645

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

7,154,781
7,154,781

7,154,781
X

0 12,429,771

X

X

X

5,083,696

7,340,310

Key
FV = fair value
BV = book value

The decrease when compared to the 2014 is mainly due to the amortisation of the certificates of deposit of the parent
company Dexia Crédit Local and guaranteed by the French, Belgium and Luxembourg states held by Dexia Crediop for
around 7 billions euro.

6.2 Due from banks with specific hedges
thousands of euro
Type of transaction/Amounts

Total at 31/12/2015

1. Loans with specific fair value hedges
a) interest rate risk

Total at 31/12/2014

166,686

175,310

166,686

175,310

166,686

175,310

b) foreign exchange risk
c) credit risk
d) various risks
2. Loans with specific cash flow hedges
a) interest rate risk
b) foreign exchange risk
c) other risks
Total
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- Financial lease

Total (book value)

5,061,713

0

X

170,936

2. Debt securities

0 12,407,788

13,956

- Repurchase agreements
- Others

21,983

Level 2

3 Repurchase agreements
B. Due from banks

45,322

FV

BV

45,322
X

2. Compulsory reserve

Total at 31/12/2014

FV

BV

Section 7 - Due from customers - Item 70
7.1 Due from customers: breakdown by type
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015
Type of
transaction/
Amounts
Funding

Book Value

Fair value

Non Performing

Performing
Purchased Other
7,605,560

L1

L2

77,958

Book Value

Fair value

Non Performing

Performing
Purchased Other

L3
6,954,252

8,556,571

L1

L2

L3

45,697

8,171,043

1. Current accounts

X

X

X

X

X

X

2. Reverse repurchase
agreements

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

3. Loans

6,991,158

74,180

4. Credit cards,
personal loans,
salary-backed loans

8,249,139

27,113

5. Financial lease

X

X

X

X

X

X

6. Factoring

X

X

X

X

X

X

7. Other transactions
Debt securities

614,402

3,778

10,180,564

8. Structured securities

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Total at 31/12/2014

9. Other debt
securities

10,180,564

Total (book value) 17,786,124

77,958

X

307,432

18,584

X

9,270,279 12,059,865

X

XX

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

4,003,805

12,059,865

16,224,531 20,616,436

6,157,803

X

X

X

X

X

X

45,697

4,003,805 14,328,846

7.2 Due from customers: breakdown by borrowers/issuers
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015
Type of transaction/Amounts
1. Debt securities

Performing

Total at 31/12/2014

Non Performing
Purchased

Other

10,180,564

Performing

Non Performing
Purchased

Other

12,059,865

a) Governments

4,405,966

4,684,438

b) Other public entities

4,231,932

5,514,247

c) Other issuers

1,542,666

1,861,180

- non-financial institutions

802,945

942,644

- financial institutions

739,721

918,536

- insurance companies
- others
2. Loans to

7,605,560

77,958

8,556,571

45,697

a) Governments

1,529,434

1,990,662

b) Other public entities

4,904,297

5,379

5,302,000

3,893

c) Others

1,171,829

72,579

1,263,909

41,804

- non-financial institutions

552,203

57,856

945,351

24,112

- financial institutions

619,572

14,723

318,437

17,692

77,958

20,616,436

- insurance companies
- others
Total

54
17,786,124

228

121
45,697

7.3 Due from customers with specific hedges
thousands of euro
Type of transaction/Amounts

Total at 31/12/2015

1. Loans with specific fair value hedges
a) interest rate risk

Total at 31/12/2014

11,152,198

12,979,667

10,833,667

12,421,180

318,531

558,487

480,441

155,165

480,441

155,165

11,632,639

13,134,832

b) foreign exchange risk
c) credit risk
d) various risks
2. Loans with specific cash flow hedges
a) interest rate risk
b) foreign exchange risk
c) other risks
Total

Section 8 - Hedging derivatives - Item 80
thousands of euro
FV 31/12/2015
L1

L2

L3

NA
31/12/2015

FV 31/12/2014
L1

L2

L3

NA
31/12/2014

A) Financial
derivatives

250,322

77,560

4,196,086

307,851

85,079

2,909,043

1) Fair Value

221,023

77,560

3,681,751

271,196

85,079

2,337,374

514,335

36,655

4,196,086

307,851

2) Cash flow hedges

29,299

571,669

3) Foreign investments
B) Credit derivatives
1) Fair Value
2) Cash flow hedges
Total

250,322

77,560

Key
FV = fair value
NA = notional amount
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85,079

2,909,043
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8.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedging and by level

8.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by portfolios hedged and type of hedging (book value)
thousands of euro
Fair value
Transaction/Type of hedging

Cash flow hedges

Specifica
foreign
interest
exchange
rate risk
risk

credit
risk

price
risk

various Generic
risks

1. Financial assets available for sale

X

2. Loans

276

3. Financial assets held to maturity

X

4. Portfolio Hedge

X

X

4,109

X
X

X

X

Total liabilities

29,249

X

6,760

276

4,109

220,052
X

X
X

X

X

220,052

67,386

6,760

X

X

X

X

2. Portfolio of financial assets and
liabilities

X

X

X

X

X

Dexia Crediop banking Group

X
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X

X

X

X

X

X
X

29,249
50

X

X

67,386

1. Forecast transactions

Foreign
investments

X

X

X

Generic

X

X

Total assets

2. Portfolio Hedge

X
X

5. Other transactions

1. Financial liabilities

Specific

X
X

50
X

X
X

X

Section 9 - Fair value changes of financial assets in hedged portfolios - Item 90
9.1 Fair value changes of hedged assets: breakdown by portfolios hedged
thousands of euro
Fair value changes of hedged assets / Components of group

31/12/2015

1. Increases
1.1 of specific portfolios:
a) loans

31/12/2014
11,577

17,612

11,577

17,612

11,577

17,612

6,608

7,850

6,608

7,850

6,608

7,850

4,969

9,762

b) financial assets available for sale
1.2 overall
2. Decreases
2.1 of specific portfolios:
a) loans
b) financial assets available for sale
2.2 overall
Total

thousands of euro
Hedged assets

31/12/2015

1. Loans

31/12/2014
5,621,102

6,566,805

5,621,102

6,566,805

2. Assets available for sale
3. Portfolio
Total
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9.2 Assets hedged by macrohedging of interest rate risk

Section 12 - Property, plant and equipment - item 120
12.1 Property plant and equipment: breakdown of assets measured at cost
thousands of euro
Assets/Amounts

Total at 31/12/2015

1.1 Company owned

Total at 31/12/2014

3,049

42,701

0

28,844

b) buildings

749

11,461

c) furniture

1,772

1,772

d) electronic equipments

322

445

e) others

206

179

3,049

42,701

a) land

1.2 Acquired under financial lease
a) land
b) buildings
c) furniture
d) electronic equipments
e) others

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Total

Additional information
The account for depreciation in property, plant and equipments is made by using the straight-line method; it reflects the
ways in which the futures economic benefits will be used. This methed consists in the accounting of a contast amount of
depreciation charge throughout the entire life of the asset. During the period there have been no changes to the expected
uses of the future economic benefits, that would require changes to the depreciation method.
The useful life of assets is calculated on the basis of their expected usefulness. Since land and works of art have an
unlimited useful life, they are not subject to depreciation.
The reduction of property assets in 2015 is mainly due to the sale of the property located at Via Venti Settembre 30.
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12.5 Property plant and equipment used in operations: annual changes
thousands of euro
Land
A. Gross opening balances

Buildings

28,844

Electronic
equipment

Furniture

Others

Total

23,472

3,435

1,249

1,733

58,733

12,011

1,663

804

1,554

16,032

11,461

1,772

445

179

42,701

B. Increases

536

9

3

64

612

B.1 Purchases

536

9

3

64

612

9

126

37

40,264

A.1 Total net adjustments
A.2 Net opening balances

28,844

B.2 Expenses for capitalised improvements
B.3 Writebacks
B.4 Increases in fair value recognised in:
a) shareholders' equity
b) income statement
B.5 Positive foreign exchange differences
B.6 Transfers from buildings held as investments
B.7 Other changes
28,844

11,248

C.1 Sales

28,844

10,551

C.2 Depreciation

39,395

697

9

126

37

869

C.3 Impairment losses recognised in:
a) shareholders' equity
b) income statement
C.4 Decreases in fair value recognised in:
a) shareholders' equity
b) income statement
C.5 Negative foreign exchange differences
C.6 Transfer to:
a) property plant and equipment held as
investments
b) assets held for sale
C.7 Other changes
D. Net closing balances

0

D.1 Total net adjustments
D.2 Gross closing balances

0

749

1,772

322

206

3,049

12,708

1,672

930

1,591

16,901

13,457

3,444

1,252

1,797

19,950

E. Measured at cost
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C. Decreases

Section 13 - Intangible assets - Item 130
13.1 Intangible assets: breakdown by type of asset
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015
Assets/Amounts

Defined
useful file

Indefinite
useful life

Total at 31/12/2014
Defined useful
file

A.1 Goodwill

X

X

A.1.1 pertaining to the Group

X

X

A.1.2 pertaining to third parties

X

X

A.2 Other intangible assets

3,137

3,013

A.2.1 Assets measured at cost:

3,137

3,013

3,137

3,013

3,137

3,013

Indefinite
useful life

a) Internally generated intangible assets
b) Other assets
A.2.2 Assets measured at fair value:
a) Internally generated intangible assets
b) Other assets

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Total

Intangible assets consist of software purchased from third parties in the process of amortization. The amortization period
of investments is calculated according to the remaining useful lives.
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13.2 Intangible assets: annual change
thousands of euro
Goodwill

Other intangible assets:
ginternally enerated
DEF

INDEF

Other intangible assets:
others
DEF

Total

INDEF

A. Opening balances

33,985

33,985

A.1 Total net adjustments

30,972

30,972

A.2 Net opening balances

3,013

3,013

B. Increases

1,696

1,696

1,696

1,696

1,572

1,572

1,572

1,572

1,572

1,572

3,137

3,137

B.1 Purchases
B.2 Increases in internal intangible assets

X

B.3 Writebacks

X

B.4 Increases in fair value recognised in:
- shareholders' equity

X

- income statement

X

B.5 Positive foreign exchange differences
B.6 Other changes
C. Decreases
C.1 Sales
- Amortization

X

- Devaluations:
+ shareholders' equity

X

+ income statement
C.3 Decreases in fair value recognised in:
- shareholders' equity

X

- income statement

X

C.4 Transfers to non-current assets held for sale
C.5 Negative foreign exchange differences
C.6 Other changes
D. Net closing balances
D.1 Total net adjustments

32,544

32,544

E. Gross closing balances

35,681

35,681

F. Measurement at cost
Key:
DEF: defined duration
INDEF: indefinite duration
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C.2 Writedowns

Section 14 - Tax credits and liabilities - Item 140 of the assets and Item 80 of the liabilities
14.1 Deferred tax assets: breakdown
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015
A. Deferred tax assets

Total at 31/12/2014

3,007

14,934

7

98

A1. Loans (including securitisations)
A2. Other financial assets
A3. Goodwill
A4. Deferred charges
A5. Property plant and equipment
A6. Provisions for risks and charges
A7. Representation expenses
A8. Staff expenses
A9. Tax losses
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A10. Unused tax credits to be deducted
A11. Others

3,000

14,515

B. Compensation with deferred tax liabilities

(138)

(143)

C. Net deferred tax assets

2,869

14,791

14.2 Deferred tax liabilities: breakdown
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015
A. Deferred tax liabilities

Total at 31/12/2014
138

143

A1. Deferred capital gain
A2. Goodwill
A3. Property plant and equipment
A4. Financial assets
A5. Staff expenses
A6. Others
B. Compensation with deferred tax assets
C. Net deferred tax liability

138

143

(138)

(143)

0

0

In 2014, in accordance with the provisions of IAS 12, net prepaid tax assets of the parent company Dexia Crediop were
cancelled. In fact, the company did not hold it likely that they would be recovered in the future, nor that the value of the
assets or liabilities recognised in the balance sheet would be extinguished through reductions or increases in future tax
payments. In relation to the parent company, then, only those deferred tax assets for which transformation into current
taxes is foreseen pursuant to Law 214/2011 remained registered, for which it is automatically held that the probability test
of IAS 12 will be passed, in accordance with the Banca d’Italia/Consob/ISVAP document no. 5 of 15 May 2012.
Advance taxes to the subsidiary Dexia Crediop Ireland are also present from the negative change in fair value of the AFS
securities fund, within the limits of their estimated recoverability according to the provisions of IAS 12.
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14.3 Banking group - Change in deferred tax assets (through profit and loss)
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015
Opening balance
Increases
2.1 Deferred tax assets recognised in the period

Total at 31/12/2014
419

9,947

7

1,169

7

1,169

7

1,169

419

10,697

a) related to previous years
b) due to changes in accounting criteria
c) writebacks
d) other
2.2 New taxes or tax rate increases
2.3 Other increases
Decreases
3.1 Deferred tax assets eliminated in the period

1,807

a) reversals

1,807

b) writeoffs
c) due to changes in accounting criteria

3.2 Tax rate reduction
3.3 Other decreases

419

a) tax credit trasformation pursuant L.214/2011

8,890

419

b) other

8,890

Closing balance

7

419

14.3.1 Change in deferred tax assets ex L. 214/2011 (with matching entry in income statement)
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015
1. Initial balance

Total at 31/12/2014
419

48

2. Increases

7

419

3. Decreases

419

48

419

48

98

48

3.1 Reversals
3.2 Tax credit trasformation
a) due to losses

321

b) due to fiscal losses
3.3 Other decreases
4. Final balance

7

237

419
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d) other

14.4 Banking group - Changes in deferred tax liabilities (with matching entry in income statement)
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015
1. Opening balance

Total at 31/12/2014
143

3,366

5

3,223

5

3,223

138

143

2. Increases
2.1 Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the period
a) related to previous years
b) due to changes in accounting criteria
c) other
2.2 New taxes or tax rate increases
2.3 Other increases
3. Decreases
3.1 Deferred tax liabilities eliminated in the period
a) reversals
b) due to changes in accounting criteria
c) other
3.2 Tax rate reduction
3.3 Other decreases

Dexia Crediop banking Group

4. Closing balance

14.5 Banking group - Changes in deferred tax assets (with matching entry to equity)
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015
1. Opening balance
2. Increases

Total at 31/12/2014

14,515

48,702

0

3,662

2.1 Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the period

3,662

a) related to previous years
b) due to changes in accounting criteria
c) other

3,662

2.2 New taxes or tax rate increases
2.3 Other increases
3. Decreases

11,515

3.1 Deferred tax liabilities eliminated in the period

37,849
5,799

a) reversals

5,799

b) writeoffs
c) due to changes in accounting criteria
d) other
3.2 Tax rate reduction
3.3 Other decreases
4. Closing balance
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11,515

32,050

3,000

14,515

14.6 Banking group - Changes in deferred tax liabilities (with matching entry to equity)
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2014

Total at 31/12/2015
1. Opening balance

0

19,039

2. Increases

0

5,324

2.1 Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the period

5,324

a) related to previous years
b) due to changes in accounting criteria

5,324

c) other
2.2 New taxes or tax rate increases
2.3 Other increases
3. Decreases

0

3.1 Deferred tax liabilities eliminated in the period

24,363
9,779

9,779

a) reversals
b) due to changes in accounting criteria
c) other
3.2 Tax rate reduction
3.3 Other decreases

14,584

4. Final balance

0

0

thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2014

Total at 31/12/2015
A. Current tax assets and salaries

18,108

15,929

A1. IRES prepaid

8,511

8,138

A2. IRAP prepaid

3,762

3,762

A3. Other tax credit and withholding

5,835

4,029

B. Compensation with current tax liabilities

(1,078)

0

C. Net current tax assets

17,030

15,929

B) Current tax liabilities
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2014

Total at 31/12/2015
A. Current tax liabilities gross

1,192

A1. IRES liabilities

351

A2. IRAP liabilities

727

A3. Other current tax liabilities

0

114

B. Compensation with current tax assets

(1,078)

0

114

0

C. Net current tax liabilities

Section 16 - Other assets - Item 160
16.1 Other assets: breakdown
Type of transaction

thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2014

Total at 31/12/2015

1. Adjustments to exchange rate derivatives
2. Sundry accrued expenses and deferred charges
3. Other assets
Total

239

0

5,770

54,303

50,117

1,007

5,403

55,310

61,290
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14.7 Other information
A) Current tax assets

Liabilities
Section 1 - Due to banks - Item 10
1.1 Due to banks: breakdown by type
thousands of euro
Type of transaction/Components of the group

Total at 31/12/2015

Total at 31/12/2014

1. Due to central banks

6,900,265

14,580,390

2. Due to banks

8,019,415

12,043,700

2.1 Current accounts and deposits

3,583,000

2.2 Restricted deposits

511,434

5,817,411

3,924,981

6,226,289

2.3.1 repurchase agreements

2,215,341

3,707,603

2.3.2 others

1,709,640

2,518,686

14,919,680

26,624,090

Fair value - level 2

12,439,215

24,105,403

Fair value - level 3

2,516,148

2,500,795

14,955,363

26,606,198

2.3 Loans

2.4 Due for commitments to repurchase own equity instruments
2.5 Other debts
Total

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Fair value - level 1

Total Fair value

1.2 Details of item 10 “Due to banks”: subordinated debts
On 31.12.15 subordinated debts stood at e 400,020 thousand (e 400,018 thousand in 2014).
The subordinate loan has the following characteristics:
- technical form: loan;
- nominal amount: e 400 million;
- duration: 10 years;
- maturity: June 2017
- reimbursement: bullet;
- interest rate: euribor 3 months increased by 72 bp pa.
The variation of the item compared to 2014 is attributable to the reduction of the deposits with the Central Bank and with
Dexia Group entities.
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1.4 Due to banks with specific hedges
thousands of euro
Type of transaction/Amounts

Total at 31/12/2015

1. Payables with specific fair value hedges
a) interest rate risk

Total at 31/12/2014

56,363

83,980

56,363

83,980

90,710

187,580

90,710

187,580

147,073

271,560

b) foreign exchange risk
c) various risks
2. Payables with specific cash flow hedges
a) interest rate risk
b) foreign exchange risk
c) other risks
Total

Section 2 – Due to customers – Item 20
thousands of euro
Type of transaction/Components of the group

Total at 31/12/2015

1. Current accounts and deposits

Total at 31/12/2014

320,250

263,681

1,537,866

352,135

435,192

993

1,102,674

351,142

1,858,116

615,816

2. Restricted deposits
3. Loans
3.1 repurchase agreements
3.2 others
4 Due for commitments to repurchase own equity instruments
5. Other debts
Total
Fair value - level 1
Fair value - level 2

1,745,720

Fair value - level 3
Total Fair value

241

88,549

599,823

1,834,269

599,823
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2.1 Due to customers: breakdown by type

Section 3 - Securities issued - Item 30
3.1 Securities in issue: breakdown by type
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015
Type of securities/Amounts

Book
value

Total at 31/12/2014

Fair value
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Book value

Fair value
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

A. Securities
1. Bonds

2,080,685

2,090,267

2,619,262

2,611,079

2,080,685

2,090,267

2,619,262

2,611,079

586

586

1.1 structured
1.2 others
2. Other securities
2.1 structured
2.2 others
Total

2,080,685

2,090,267

586

586

2,619,848

2,611,665

3.3 Details of item 30 “Securities issued”: securities with specific hedges

Dexia Crediop banking Group

thousands of euro
Type of transaction/Amounts

Total at 31/12/2015

1. Securities with specific fair value hedges:
a) interest rate risk

Total at 31/12/2014

1,628,461

2,580,198

1,409,760

2,074,899

218,701

505,299

1,628,461

2,580,198

b) foreign exchange risk
c) various risks
2. Securities with specific cash flow hedges:
a) interest rate risk
b) foreign exchange risk
c) other risks
Total
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Section 4 - Financial liabilities held for trading - Item 40
4.1 Financial liabilities held for trading: breakdown by type
thousands of euro
Type of transaction/Components of the
group

Total at 31/12/2015
NV

FV
L1

L2

L3

Total at 31/12/2014
FV *

NV

FV
L1

L2

L3

FV *

A. Cash liabilities
1. Due to banks
2. Due to customers
3. Debt securities
3.1 Bonds
3.1.1 Structured

X

X

3.1.2 Other bonds

X

X

3.2 Other securities
3.2.1 Structured

X

3.2.2 Others

X

X

Total A
B. Derivative instruments
X

2,184,986

18,642

X

X

2,807,149

5,696

X

1.1 Trading

X

2,184,986

18,642

X

X

2,807,149

5,696

X

1.2 Associated with the fair value option

X

X

X

X

1.3 Others

X

X

X

X

2. Credit derivatives

X

56,619

X

X

75,547

X

2.1 Trading

X

56,619

X

X

75,547

X

2.2 Associated with the fair value option

X

X

X

2.3 Others

X

X

X

X

Total B

X

2,241,605

18,642

X

X

2,882,696

5,696

X

X

Total (A+B)

X

2,241,605

18,642

X

X

2,882,696

5,696

X

Key
FV= fair value
FV* = fair value calculated excluding the value changes due to variation in issuer’s creditworthiness since the date of issue
NV = nominal or notional amaount
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3
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1. Financial derivatives

Section 6 - Hedging derivatives - Item 60
6.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedging and by level
thousands of euro
Fair value
31/12/2015
L1

L2

A. Financial derivatives

1) Fair Value

L3

Fair value
31/12/2014

NA
31/12/2015

L1

L2

NA
31/12/2014

L3

2,957,995

77,603

19,136,925

3,766,035

85,917

21,968,082

2,944,771

77,603

18,999,686

3,744,352

85,917

19,746,014

137,239

21,683

19,136,925

3,766,035

2) Cash flow hedges

13,224

2,222,068

3) Foreign investments
B) Credit derivatives

1) Fair Value
2) Cash flow hedges
Total

2,957,995

77,603

85,917

21,968,082
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Key
NA = notional amount
L1 = Level 1
L2 = Level 2
L3 = Level 3

6.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by portfolios hedged and type of hedging
thousands of euro
Fair value
Transaction/Type of hedging

1. Financial assets available for sale
2. Loans
3. Financial assets held to maturity

Cash flow hedges

Specifica
interest
rate risk

foreign
exchange
risk

credit
risk

price
risk

various
risks

205,651
2,752,998

X

X

X

50,123

4. Portfolio Hedge
5. Other transactions
Total assets
1. Financial liabilities

Generic

Foreign
investments

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

Generic

Specific

11,812
X

X

X

X

2,958,649

X
50,123

1,790

X

X

X
X

X

11,812
X

13,224

X

2. Portfolio Hedge

X
X

Total liabilities

1,790

13,224

1. Forecast transactions

X

X

X

X

X

2. Portfolio of financial assets and
liabilities

X

X

X

X

X

Section 8- Tax Liabilities - Item 80
See section 14 of Assets.
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X

X
X

X

Section 10 - Other liabilities - Item 100
10.1 Other liabilities: breakdown
thousands of euro
Type of transaction/Components of the group

Total at 31/12/2015

Total at 31/12/2014

1. Suppliers and professionals

7,067

9,887

2. Accrued expenses and deferred income

1,059

1,290

3. Adjustments to exchange rate derivatives

2,485

0

4. Other liabilities

8,437

11,259

19,048

22,436

Total

Section 11 - Employee termination indemnities - Item 110
11.1 Employee termination indemnities: annual change
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015
A. Opening balances

Total at 31/12/2014
2,117

B. Increases

47

386

B.1 Provision in the period

47

68

0

318

C. Decreases

743

84

C.1 Benefits paid

724

84

C.2 Other changes

19

0

D. Closing balances

1,730

2,426

Total

1,730

2,426

B.2 Other changes

Section 12 - Provisions for risks and charges - Item 120
12.1 Provisions for risks and charges: breakdown
thousands of euro
Items/Components

Total at 31/12/2015

1 Provisions for post emplyment benefits
2. Provisions for risks and charges
2.1 legal disputes
2.2 personnel charges

Total at 31/12/2014
2,155

7,180

26,271

16,377

23,319

5,547

2,952

10,830

28,426

23,557

2.3 others
Total
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2,426

12.2 Provisions for risks and charges: annual change
thousands of euro
Provisions for post
employment benefits
A. Opening balances

Other provisions

Total

7,180

16,377

23,557

B. Increases

796

20,473

21,269

B.1 Provision in the period

796

20,473

21,269

C. Decreases

5,821

10,579

16,400

C.1 Uses in the period

5,821

10,579

16,400

2,155

26,271

28,426

B.2 Changes due to the passing of time
B.4 Other changes

C.2 Changes due to discount rate variations
C.3 Other changes
D. Closing balances

The Item C.1 “Use during the period” includes Eur 5.3 million relative to use, pursuant to IAS 19R, registered with a
contra-entry to shareholder’s equity.

Dexia Crediop banking Group

12.3 Company defined-benefit pension funds
1. Description of the funds
The sub-item “Pension funds and similar benefits” includes provisions recognized on the basis of IAS 19 “Employee
benefits” against various forms of complementary retirement schemes with defined benefits. These commitments are
based on calculations carried out by independent Actuaries using the projected units credit method. In particular, the
provisions are the same as the current value of the defined-benefit obligations net of the fair value of the fund’s assets.
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You can see below the information relating to the variations in the funds during the financial period, the reconcilement
between the current value of the funds, the current value of the assets serving the schemes and the assets and liabilities
entered in the balance sheet, together with the main actuarial assumptions.
2. Changes during the year to net defined benefit liabilities (assets) and reimbursement rights
Variations in the defined-benefit obligations

31/12/2015

thousands of euro
31/12/2014

55,817

Opening balances
Retirement benefit costs relating to current employment
Interest expenses
Contributions from those taking part in the scheme

45,360

611

484

1,097

1,651

141

135

Benefits paid out

(2,503)

(1,827)

Actuarial losses (gains) due to changes to financial and demographic hypotheses

(2,015)

10,178

Actuarial losses (gains) based on past experience

(1,383)

(416)

Other changes

0

252

Final balances

51,765

55,817

3. Fair value information for assets serving the scheme

thousands of euro

Variations in assets of the schemes

31/12/2015

31/12/2014
48,637

Yield of the assets

1,938

3,317

Interest receivable

953

1,629

Employer contributions

484

461

Contributions from those taking part in the scheme
Benefits paid out
Administrative expenses

44,705

141

135

(2,503)

(1,827)

(41)

(35)

Other changes

0

252

Final balances

49,609

48,637
thousands of euro

Assets underlying the scheme: fair value levels
Equity instruments

0

Mutual investment funds

3,319

- of which level 1
Debt securities

76,291

- of which level 1

63,565

Other activities

1,817

Total assets

81,427
thousands of euro

Assets underlying the scheme: ratings
Equity instruments

0

Mutual investment funds

3,319

Debt securities

76,291

Government securities

63,874

-of which investment grade rating

63,874

-of which speculative grade rating
Financial companies

8,119

-of which investment grade rating

7,518

-of which speculative grade rating

601

Industrial companies

4,298

-of which investment grade rating

4,298

-of which speculative grade rating
Other activities

1,817

Total assets

81,427
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Opening balances

4. Description of the main actuarial hypotheses
thousands of euro
Main actuarial assumptions

31/12/2015
minimum

Discount rate

31/12/2014

maximum

minimum

maximum

2.30%

2.30%

2.00%

2.00%

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Expected rate of salary increases

1.50%

2.25%

1.50%

2.25%

Inflation rate

1.75%

1.75%

1.75%

1.75%

Expected rate of pension increases

0.50%

0.50%

0.50%

0.50%

Expected rate of yield of the assets

5. Information on amounts, schedules and uncertainties for financial flows
The estimated effects on the defined benefit obligation following a 50 bps change in the discount rate are as follows:
• +50bps; assumed discount rate = 2.80%, obligation = -3,114
• -50bps; assumed discount rate = 1.80%, obligation = +3,428

Dexia Crediop banking Group

6. Plans relative to several employers
Dexia Crediop has a benefit plan relative to several employers. This is the pension fund for former Crediop employees, hired
through 30 September 1989. This pre-existing complementary defined-benefit pension fund, with legal independence and
independent capital, is at present regulated by the statute approved by the collective agreements signed by the Dexia
Crediop companies, Intesa SanPaolo and the respective trade unions on 24 July 1996 and 1 August 1996.
The plan is funded, according to the statutory forecasts, by the monthly payment of a percentage contribution by the
employers and the subscribed personnel.				
In addition, the Companies undertake, at their exclusive expense – as jointly and indivisibly liable – to pay the sum required
to bring the Fund assets to the required level every year in the following cases:		
• if the effective annual return on assets is lower than the official reference rate;		
• if the Fund assets are found to be insufficient to cover the benefits in force, according to the results in the actuarial
technical financial statement drawn up using the Italian complete capitalisation method.
12.4 Provisions for risks and charges – other provisions
The “other provisions” amounting to e 26,271 thousand, consist of:
• provisions for legal disputes of e 23,319 thousand, relative to proceedings concerning Istituto per il Credito Sportivo
and administrative and to judicial proceedings with local authorities and the revenue authority (see the following
paragraphs for further details);
• personnel expenses: the provision includes e 2,952 thousand for charges related to redundancy bonus schemes, length
of service bonuses, and life insurance benefits. Specifically, the provision includes the charge specifically allocated for the
Solidarity Fund, the payment of which is directly connected with the 2009-2011 corporate restructuring plan, a defined
service provision that falls under the scope of IAS 19, and the charge allocated in relation to the personnel reduction
plan, signed with the trade unions in 2015.				
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Administrative, judicial, and arbitration procedures
Below we provide information about the most important administrative, judicial, or arbitration procedures in progress
which could have, or recently have had, repercussions for the Dexia Crediop Banking Group’s financial position and/or
profitability.

On 3 February 2010, Dexia Crediop was notified that it was under investigation for administrative offences referred to
in Art. 5, clause 1, letter a), Art. 21 and Art. 24, clauses 1 and 2, of Italian Legislative Decree No. 231/01, in conjunction
with Art. 640, clause 2, no. 1, and Art. 61, no. 7, of the Italian Criminal Code. This was in relation to investigations into an
operation for the extinction of loans and refinancing through the reopening of a bonded loan issued by the Apulia Region
(of which Dexia Crediop purchased securities for a nominal amount of approximately e 240 million) with a simultaneous
completion of an amortising swap between the Apulia Region and another bank. By Order dated 18 February 2012 the
Preliminary Investigation Court of Bari revoked the attachment order applied to Dexia Crediop on 03 February 2010 for the
amount of approximately e 8.6 million and arranged for the return of this amount to Dexia Crediop.
On 1 April the hearing was held in the Court of Bari before the Judge of the Preliminary Hearing, which then continued
on 22 May 2014. A further hearing was set for 30 September 2014. On 14 October 2014, the Judge of the Preliminary
Hearing issued a decision “not to prosecute” Dexia Crediop for not having committed the offence.
On 21 December 2010, Dexia Crediop was served a preventive seizure decree of furniture and equipment, real assets and
receivables up to the maximum value of approximately e 635,000, within the scope of an investigation conducted by
the Court of Florence concerning, amongst other things, the derivative financial instruments stipulated in 2004 by Dexia
Crediop with the Region of Tuscany, in which it is alleged that Dexia Crediop had committed an unlawful administrative act
pursuant to art. 5, clause 1, letter a) and art. 24, clause 2 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 231/01 in relation to art. 110,
subsection 81, art. 640 clause 2, no. 1 and art. 61, no. 7, of the Italian Criminal Code. The seizure order was not enforced,
as Dexia Crediop deposited a guarantee for the same amount, and it was revoked on 30 March 2011. On 14 January 2013
the order to dismiss the case was issued by the Judge for Preliminary Investigations of the Court of Florence, accepting the
Public Prosecutor’s request. Dexia Crediop, therefore, proceeded to extinguish the surety it had provided.
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On 29 June 2009, the Province of Pisa, through a self-protection measure, cancelled the resolutions it had passed regarding
an Interest Rate Swap signed on 4 July 2007 with Dexia Crediop relating to a variable interest rate bonded loan partially
underwritten by Dexia Crediop. As a consequence, the Province of Pisa interrupted the payments it owed to Dexia Crediop
pursuant to the signed Interest Rate Swap. Hence, Dexia Crediop began legal action in England, aimed at obtaining
fulfilment of the obligations on the part of the Province of Pisa. Dexia Crediop also initiated legal action before the Italian
Administrative Court, aimed at obtaining the cancellation of the above-cited self-protection measure. Within the scope of
these proceedings, on 7 September 2011 the Council of State issued the non-definitive judgement no. 5032/2011, which,
inter alia, ascertained the exclusive jurisdiction of the administrative courts in ruling on the validity of the self-protection
measure and requested an Expert Technical Opinion (“ETO”). The requested ETO was filed with the Council of State on 14
May 2012. On 27 November 2012, the Council of State filed its ruling No. 5962/2012 which accepted Dexia Crediop’s
appeal, cancelling the self-protection measures adopted by the Province of Pisa and confirming the validity and effectiveness
of the swap contracts entered into by the Province, which were judged to comply with economic expediency under the terms
of art. 41 of Italian Law No. 448/2001.
On 15 February 2013, the Province of Pisa served a writ to Dexia Crediop for an appeal before the Court of Cassation against
the ruling No. 5962/2012 of the Council of State. On 16 January 2014, the Court of Cassation with decision No. 773/2014,
declared the appeal of the Province of Pisa inadmissible, confirming the ruling by the Council of State and ordering the
Province of Pisa to pay the legal and judicial expenses. Therefore, the ruling handed down by the Council of State on 27
November 2012 is final and no longer subject to appeals. After this ruling, the Province of Pisa paid all the nettings past due.
On 20 October 2014 the settlement agreement between Dexia Crediop and the Province of Pisa was signed. This agreement,
inter alia, provides for: (i) recognition by the Province of Pisa that, on the basis of its own autonomous assessments, and
on the basis of the judgements issued in the context of the legal proceedings, the swap contract is valid ab origine and
binding for the parties; (ii) payment to Dexia Crediop, by the Province of Pisa, of the refund of legal expenses related to the
English dispute, as well as payment of the nettings and default interest; (iii) renunciation by the parties of the legal actions
in progress and of taking legal actions in the future. Therefore, following the signing of the settlement agreement, the parties
filed a joint plea to the English court to close the case. With a Consent Order dated 28 October 2014, the English court,
accepting the parties’ plea, declared the proceeding before the London High Court/Commercial Court concluded.

The Tuscany Region initiated two self-protection proceedings. The first, of 26 October 2011, concerns a loan agreed with
Dexia Crediop in 2004 and the second, on 3 January 2012, an existing swap with Dexia Crediop entered into in 2006. The
two cases are still open and, although a significant amount of time has passed, they have still not resulted in a decision
by the Region.

Dexia Crediop banking Group

On 23 December 2010, the Lazio Region served Dexia Crediop with a writ of summons before the Civil Court of Rome.
The deed concerned transactions in derivatives entered into with the Lazio Region; in addition to Dexia Crediop, a further
14 banks were summoned to appear. The Regional Authorities of Lazio demand that Dexia Crediop pay compensation for
damages it alleges having suffered, for an amount of approximately e 8.5 million. On 4 December 2015, the case was
suspended while awaiting the ruling of the Joint Divisions of the Court of Cassation on the request for prior judgement
on jurisdiction made by Dexia Crediop.
On 29 September 2015, Dexia Crediop also filed an appeal with the Regional Administrative Court of Lazio, against the
Region’s refusal of the request made by Dexia Crediop for access to the settlement agreements signed between the Region
in question and the other banks involved in the civil proceedings. The hearing with the Regional Administrative Court of
Lazio is set for 1 March 2016.
On 31 December 2010, the Municipality of Prato, through a self-protection measure, reversed its own resolution regarding
an interest rate swap signed on 29 June 2006 with Dexia Crediop in relation to two floating-rate bonded loan contracts
entered into with Dexia Crediop. By virtue of this, the Municipality did not proceed with the payment of approximately €
e 10.2 million.
Dexia Crediop initiated an action before the civil courts in England to obtain a ruling on the validity and effectiveness of
the contract and the fulfilment by the municipality of its own obligations. The first level proceeding before the High Court/
Commercial Court ended 24 July 2014.
With a ruling on 25 June 2015, the High Court/Commercial Court established that the swap operations do not constitute
debt and were concluded in full compliance with article 119 of the Italian Constitution, of article 41 of Italian Law
no. 48/2001 and article 3 of Ministerial Decree 389/2003. However, the High Court/Commercial Court, considering the
absence of a right to withdrawal for the Municipality of Prato within the contract (pursuant to article 30 of the Consolidated
Finance Act), declared the contracts null and void.
Following a specific request made by Dexia Crediop presented on 23 July 2015, the London Court of Appeal granted
authorisation to appeal the aforementioned ruling, with an Order dated 20 August 2015. The Municipality of Prato also
appealed the ruling. It is expected that the appeal will not be heard before May 2017.
Dexia Crediop also launched legal action in Italy before the Regional Administrative Court of Tuscany, in order to obtain
the cancellation of the above-mentioned self-protection measure, which ended in favour of Dexia Crediop, with a ruling
dated 24 November 2011.
The Municipality of Prato also initiated a second self-protection proceedings notified on 31 January 2011 and aimed
at verifying the validity of the tender called by the Municipality to select its advisor (Dexia Crediop) in 2002 and the
subsequent restructuring operations of swaps prior to the one in 2006, which was the subject of the first self-protection
proceedings. On 19 April 2012, the Municipality of Prato passed a resolution cancelling the tender on grounds of selfprotection. On 19 May 2012, Dexia Crediop lodged an appeal against that resolution, with the Regional Administrative
Court of Tuscany in order to obtain the cancellation of that self-protection measure. The litigation ended in favour of Dexia
Crediop, with a ruling handed down on 21 February 2013. The Regional Administrative Court of Tuscany, reaffirmed,
amongst other things, the points it made in its ruling dated 24 November 2011: the jurisdiction of the civil courts (in this
case, the English courts) when the dispute concerns a contract entered into by the Public Administration iure privatorum.
On 21 May 2013, the Municipality served a writ to Dexia Crediop for its appeal to the Council of State against the above
ruling. On 20 June 2013, Dexia Crediop filed its cross appeal against this appeal. As it stands, no date has yet been set
for the hearing.
Following a criminal investigation aimed at verifying whether the offence of fraud had been committed in relation to
the swap transactions of the Municipality of Prato, (entered into between 2002 and 2006) on 18 June 2012 the Public
Prosecutor issued a notice of conclusion of the preliminary investigations. The notice also included a notice of investigation
that was formally served to an employee of Dexia Crediop for the offence of aggravated fraud to the detriment of the
Municipality of Prato, and also to Dexia Crediop for the administrative offence pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree No.
231/2001 in relation to the failure to adopt/ineffective implementation of the Organisational Model.
On 21 February 2013, the hearing was held at the Court of Prato before the Preliminary Hearing Judge; the Municipality
joined the proceedings as a civil claimant and sued Dexia Crediop for civil liability. On 27 June 2013, the Preliminary
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Hearing Judge decided to order the indictment. The next hearing before the Court of Prato is set for 24 March 2016.
On 23 December 2013, Dexia Crediop was served with a writ of summons by the Municipality of Prato, with which
the Municipality summoned the bank to appear before the Civil Court of Prato requesting the cancellation – and a
declaration of ineffectiveness between the parties – of the ISDA framework agreement and the related Schedule signed
by the Municipality of Prato with Dexia Crediop. On 17 April 2014 a hearing was held on the preliminary issues. Dexia
Crediop appeared in court arguing, amongst other things, the lack of jurisdiction of the Italian civil court since the civil
litigation was already pending in England. The judge, in upholding the exceptions of Dexia Crediop, set the hearing for the
clarification of the conclusions at 10 March 2015. At this hearing, the parties specified their respective conclusions, making
reference to those already stated in the introductory acts of the case. Therefore, the judge remitted the case in decision.
With ruling no. 771/2015, filed on 30 June 2015, the Civil Court of Prato, accepting Dexia Crediop’s objections, declared
that the Italian court had no jurisdiction, and that instead the English courts had jurisdiction.

With Decree of the Italian Ministry for the Economy and Finance of 28 December 2011, issued on the proposal of the
Bank of Italy in accordance with Art. 70, clause 1 of the Consolidated Law on Banking, the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo
(“ICS”), was subjected to a receivership procedure which, with subsequent extensions, was still in progress on the date
this document was prepared. Within the scope of the commissioner activities, the special commissioners have questioned
the legal status of a fund contributed by the State, disputing the distribution of profits to investors and the ICS Articles of
Association in effect in 2005. In November 2012, the Prime Minister’s Office, at the request of the special commissioners,
launched administrative proceedings pursuant to article 21-nonies of Italian Law no. 241/1990 – aimed at automatically
cancelling, for self-protection, the Articles of Association of the ICS in force at the time (approved with Ministerial Decree
of 2 August 2005) – which were concluded on 6 March 2013 with the issuing of an inter-ministerial decree cancelling the
deeds implementing the ICS Articles of Association. That Decree gave rise to a complex sequence of legal actions involving,
on the one side, Dexia Crediop and the other private partners of ICS and, on the other side, the supervising Ministries and
the Special Commissioners of ICS.
The legal actions of an administrative nature referred to the cancellation of the 2005 Articles of Association of ICS, the
cancellation and re-calculation of the dividends distributed by ICS under the financial statements from 2005 to 2010, the
inter-ministerial directive adopted on 8 August 2013 with the guidelines for the new Articles of Association of ICS and the
new Articles of Association enacted through the Inter-ministerial Decree of 24 January 2014. Under the new Articles of
Association, the funds provided by the state and by CONI – with a retroactive calculation from the establishment of ICS in
1957 – were charged in full to the ICS Capital/Endowment Fund and so the Italian Ministry of Economy and Finance was
indicated as a new capital stakeholder and the capital reserves established over the years were attributed to the Capital/
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On 14 April 2011, the Municipality of Messina served Dexia Crediop with a writ of summons before the Civil Court of
Messina. The writ concerns two derivative transactions entered into by the Municipality of Messina on 28 June 2007 to
which Dexia Crediop is party, along with another bank. The Municipality of Messina demands the nullity of the contracts
with regards to Dexia Crediop or alternatively that they should be declared cancelled and that the bank should be ordered
to pay compensation for damages. The next hearing will be held on 23 June 2016. Additionally, the Municipality of
Messina, through a self-protection measure, reversed its own resolutions in relation to these derivative transactions. By
virtue of this, the Municipality of Messina has not, as of today, made the payment of approximately e 4.2 million. Dexia
Crediop began legal action pending before the Regional Administrative Court of Sicily, aimed at obtaining cancellation
of the aforementioned self-protection measure. The Reg. Admin. Court of Sicily, with a measure dated 18 February 2013,
ordered the case to be suspended as a consequence of the decision by another bank (which has an analogous dispute with
the Municipality) to request a prior judgement on jurisdiction before the Court of Cassation, with the aim of obtaining a
pronouncement of the latter on the subject of the administrative or civil court’s competence to preside over the dispute.
On 18 March 2013, Dexia Crediop in turn filed a similar appeal with the Court of Cassation.
The hearing before the Court of Cassation has been fixed for 7 October 2014. Following the hearing on 7 October 2014
the Joint Divisions of the Court of Cassation declared, with an order dated 23 October 2014, that the Italian court (both
administrative and civil) had no jurisdiction, instead affirming that the English courts had jurisdiction. On 17 November
2014, following the order issued by the Joint Divisions of the Court of Cassation on the request for prior judgement of
jurisdiction, Dexia Crediop filed a request to set the hearing with the Regional Administrative Court of Sicily, to complete
the administrative proceedings. The hearing with the Regional Administrative Court of Sicily occurred on 8 July 2015. On
10 July 2015, the Regional Administrative Court of Sicily - acknowledging the order of the Court of Cassation dated 23
October 2014, which had declared that the Italian court had no jurisdiction (either administrative or civil) and affirming
that English courts had jurisdiction - declared that it had no jurisdiction.
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Endowment Fund and divided among the new capital stakeholders. The stake in the capital, including the previous capital
reserves, that the new Articles of Association assigned to Dexia Crediop amounted to 3.11% previously 21.622% with an
equivalent value of about e 26 million. As a consequence of the new ICS Articles of Association, Dexia Crediop adjusted
the value of the equity investment, recognised among available for sale equity securities, to the fraction of share capital
corresponding to the percentage assigned under the new Articles of Association, equal to around e 26 million but, while
awaiting a final degree ruling, holds the new ICS Articles of Association to be illegitimate.
Note the Council of State ruling filed on 21 September 2015, which rejected the appeal made by Dexia Crediop and other
private shareholders of ICS, declaring the legitimacy of the inter-ministerial decree annulling the implementation of the
2005 ICS Articles of Association for self-protection, and confirming the ruling of the Regional Administrative Court of Lazio
for which, in regards to the annulment of the resolutions to distribute profits, it has jurisdiction to determine the ordinary
civil case.
The legal actions taken in the civil courts refer to the request made by the Extraordinary Commissioners of ICS in the
second half of 2013, for the restitution of the dividends received in the period 2005-2010 in excess of the minimum
dividend established under the former Articles of Association enacted in 2002 (amount requested: e 16.9 million). The
hearing for clarification of the conclusions was held on 23 February 2016.
On 23 January 2012, the Piedmont Region, through a self-protection measure, cancelled its resolutions in relation to a
capital-amortisation and interest-rate-risk-hedging swap contract signed on 16 November 2006 with Dexia Crediop. As
a result, the Piedmont Region interrupted payment of the nettings. Dexia Crediop initiated proceedings before the civil
court in England, aimed at ascertaining the validity and effectiveness of the aforesaid contract. With a judgement on 24
September 2012, the English court ascertained the validity and effectiveness of the contract and ordered the Piedmont
Region to pay the legal costs. Dexia Crediop therefore initiated further proceedings before the civil court in England,
aimed at obtaining an order for the Piedmont Region to pay the nettings due and still unpaid. With a ruling handed down
on 30 July 2013, the English Court sentenced the Piedmont Region to pay the amounts requested by Dexia Crediop, as
well as the payment of legal costs. The Piedmont Region submitted an application for authorisation to appeal before the
Court of Appeal in London. This application was rejected by the Court of Appeal with an Order dated 7 October 2013. The
Piedmont Region presented a petition for review against this Order. The hearing was held on 21 and 22 May 2014. On 9
October 2014, the Court of Appeal filed Judgement No. [2014] EWCA Civ 1298 rejecting the plea of the Piedmont Region
for a review of the refusal to admit an appeal. Dexia Crediop also initiated proceedings before the administrative court
in Italy aimed at obtaining cancellation of the aforementioned self-protection measure, which concluded with the ruling
filed on 21 December 2012 with which the Reg. Admin. Court of Piedmont ascertained that the self-protection measure
was adopted by the Piedmont Region in the absence of all legal prerequisites, in order to mask a unilateral juristic act
of a private-law nature, aimed at unilaterally dissolving the contractual constraint and that, therefore, the civil court had
jurisdiction to pronounce on this dispute (Dexia Crediop has already referred the case in question to the English court).
The Piedmont Region lodged an appeal against this judgement to the Council of State. The Council of State, with decision
No. 13 filed on 5 May 2014, dismissed the appeal of the Piedmont Region and ascertained, amongst other things, that
the subject-matter of the dispute does not concern looking into the legality of an act of imperium (of an administrative
nature), but rather concerns judgement of the defects alleged by the Piedmont Region against the contracts and, therefore,
that the subject-matter of the dispute is beyond the jurisdiction of the administrative court and falls under the jurisdiction
of the civil courts.
In the light of the judgement of the Court of Appeal of London No. [2014] EWCA Civ 1298, and of the judgement of the
Council of State No. 13/2014, on 28 April 2015 Dexia Crediop and the Piedmont Region signed a settlement agreement
which provides, among other things, for: (i) full recognition by the Piedmont Region of the validity and effectiveness ab
origine of the swap contract and (ii) payment by the Piedmont Region of all the nettings past due and not yet paid, plus
default interest and a refund of legal expenses incurred by Dexia Crediop.
On 30 May 2012, the Municipality of Ferrara initiated self-protection proceedings concerning a derivative entered into with
Dexia Crediop in 2005. On 23 July 2012, the Municipality of Ferrara, with a self-protection measure, cancelled all the acts
which had led to the approval of the swap contracts. By virtue of this, the Municipality did not proceed with the payment of
approximately e 4.3 million. On 8 October 2012, Dexia Crediop lodged an appeal with the Regional Administrative Court
of Emilia Romagna. The hearing at the Regional Administrative Court of Emilia Romagna was held on 15 October 2015.
On 15 December 2015, the Regional Administrative Court of Emilia Romagna - expressly referring to the aforementioned
order of the Court of Cassation dated 23 October 2014, issued in regards to the dispute with the Municipality of Messina
- declared that the Italian court (both administrative and civil) had no jurisdiction, affirming instead that the English courts
had jurisdiction. Dexia Crediop also initiated legal action in England, aimed at ascertaining the validity and effectiveness
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of this swap contract. The case within the English courts was suspended by request of the parties on 2 October 2015 until
30 days after the filing, by the London Court of Appeal, of the ruling relative to the appeal of the dispute between Dexia
Crediop and the Municipality of Prato.
On 21 June 2012, following the petition presented by the Province of Crotone, Dexia Crediop took part in the civil
mediation procedure regarding three swap contracts signed by Dexia Crediop and the Province in December 2007. This
procedure ended on 25 October 2012 and was unsuccessful. On 5 July 2012, Dexia Crediop initiated legal action in
England, aimed at ascertaining the validity and effectiveness of the above swap contracts. On 9 February 2015, Dexia
Crediop presented a request for Default Judgement to the High Court/Commercial Court. This request was accepted by the
English court which, on 11 May 2015, filed the Default Judgement containing, among other things: (i) a declaration that
the swap contracts are valid, effective and binding ab origine; and (ii) an order for the Province of Crotone to repay the
legal expenses incurred by Dexia Crediop in the proceeding in question.

On 22 November 2012, following a letter sent by the Municipality of Forlì in which the Municipality announced that
it had found critical issues in the operations in derivatives carried out with Dexia Crediop, legal action was initiated in
England, aimed at ascertaining the validity and effectiveness of the swap contracts. Despite the complaints raised by the
Municipality and the consequent civil action launched by Dexia Crediop in England, the Municipality is paying the nettings
payable under the terms of the Interest Rate Swap contract. With an Order issued on 25 June 2014, the English Court
upheld the request filed by Dexia Crediop and suspended the proceedings indefinitely.
With Executive Decree No. 5 of 1 March 2013, the Campania Region called for tenders for the selection of contractual and
financial technical/legal analysis and assessment services in relation to the swap contracts entered into by the Campania
Region in the period 2003-2006 with the aim of checking for the presence of any anomalies. Dexia Crediop therefore
initiated proceedings before the civil court in England, aimed at ascertaining the validity and effectiveness of the Interest
Rate Swap contract signed with the Campania Region on 10 October 2003.
As of the date of this report, for these proceedings, it has not been deemed necessary to adjust values, but merely to make
allocations to provisions for risks and charges for legal costs and for dividends paid by ICS in 2005-2010 for which ICS
requests restitution.
Tax proceedings
We note the existence for Dexia Crediop of a dispute in course relative to tax year 2008 for which, an appeal having been
made in 2014 and the penalties defined, e 0.8 million remains in regards to an original provision of 1.4 million intended
to deal with the tax dispute.
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On 22 May 2012 and 5 June 2012 Dexia Crediop purchased certified healthcare receivables in respect of various hospitals
of Lazio from the “Italian Province of the Congregation of the Children of the Immaculate Conception”, including the
Rome E Health Trust. The receivables referred to above from the Rome E Health Trust were found to be partially subject
to previous seizures. Despite the certification, the Rome E Health Trust has not made the payment of the transferred
receivables amounting to approximately e 3.7 million. Dexia Crediop, therefore, with an appeal pursuant to Art. 702 of
the Code of Civil Procedure summoned before the Civil Court of Rome the Rome E Health Trust, and the Lazio Region in
order to obtain, among other things, an order to pay the receivables not yet received. The hearing was held on 9 July 2013.
With an order filed with the clerk of the court on 4 February 2014, the Civil Court of Rome rejected Dexia Crediop’s pleas.
With an appeal lodged on 5 March 2014, Dexia Crediop challenged the said order before the Rome Court of Appeal. The
next hearing will be held on 29 September 2017.

Section 15 - Group Shareholder’s equity- Items 140, 160, 170, 180, 190, 200 and 220
15.1 “Share capital” and “Treasury shares”: breakdown
The shares are fully subscribed and paid in and amounts to e 450,210,000, consisting of 174,500,000 ordinary shares
with a nominal value of e 2.58.
15.2 Share capital - number of shares of the parent bank: annual change
Items/Types

Ordinary

A. Shares outstanding at the opening of the period

Others

174,500,000

- fully paid in

174,500,000

- not fully paid in
A.1 Treasury shares ( - )
A.2. Shares outstanding: initial number

174,500,000

B. Increases
B.1 New issues
- against payment:
- business combinations
- conversion of bonds
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- exercise of warrants
- other
- free of charge:
- in favour employees
- in favour directors
- other
B.2 Sale of treasury shares
B.3 Other changes
C. Decreases
C.1 Annulment
C.2 Purchase of treasury shares
C.3 Disposal of companies
C.4 Other changes
D. Shares oustanding: final number

174,500,000

D.1 Treasury shares ( + )
D.2. Shares number at the end of the period

174,500,000

- fully paid in

174,500,000

- not fully paid in

15.4 Reserves: other information

thousands of euro
Legal reserve

A. Opening balances

Other reserves
76,509

468,509

B. Increases

(62,919)

Destination loss 2014

(62,919)

C. Decreases
D. Closing balances

76,509

405,590

Pursuant to article 2430 of the Italian Civil Code, the legal reserve is formed of at least one-twentieth of the net annual
profits until the reserve reaches one fifth of the share capital.
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Section 16 - Shareholders’ equity of minority interests - Item 210
The item in question includes the shareholders’ equity of the company Tevere Finance S.r.l. included in the consolidation
perimeter since it is subject to de facto control. The decrease in this item with respect to 2014 is due to the repayment of
the Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l. company’s share of equity pertaining to the minority shareholder
“Stichting Collecticumburg”, following its voluntary liquidation and removal from the register of companies. For more
details, please refer to Part A – Section 3 “Consolidation area and methods”.

Other information
1. Guarantees given and commitments
thousands of euro
Transactions

Total at 31/12/2015

1) Financial guarantees given
a) Banks
b) Customers

Total at 31/12/2014

143,316

279,669

16,143

144,264

127,173

135,405

91,618

212,608

10,750

11,250

10,750

11,250

80,868

201,358

80,868

201,358

802,627

802,627

1,037,561

1,294,904

2) Commercial guarantees given
a) Banks
3) Irrevocable commitments to lend funds
a) Banks
i) of certain use
ii) of uncertain use
b) Customers
i) of certain use
ii) of uncertain use
4) Commitments underlying credit derivatives: sales of protection
5) Assets pledged in guarantee of third party commitments
6) Other commitments
Total
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b) Customers

2. Assets lodged as surety for own liabilities and commitments
Portfolios

thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015

Total at 31/12/2014

1. Financial assets held for trading
2. Financial assets designated at fair value through profit and loss
3. Financial assets available for sale

429,642

4. Financial assets held to maturity

137,286

167,291

0

7,154,781

17,688,696

20,355,179

5. Due from banks
6. Due from customers

495,860

7. Property plant and equipment

5. Management and broking for customer accounts

thousands of euro

Type of services

Amount

1. Trading on behalf of customers
a) purchases
1. settled
2. to be settled
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b) sales
1. settled
2. to be settled
2. Portfolio management
a) individual
b) collective
3. Custody and administration of securities

10,963,094

a) third-party securities held in deposit: as custodian bank (excluding portfolio management schemes)
1. securities issued by companies included in the consolidation area
2. other securities
b) third party securities in deposit (excluding portfolio management schemes): other

1,891,228

1. securities issued by companies included in the consolidation area
2. other securities

1,891,228

c) third-party securities deposited with third parties

1,858,793

d) portfolio securities deposited with third parties

9,071,866

4. Other transactions
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6. Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements
thousands of euro

Technical types

1. Derivatives

Gross
amounts
(before
offsetting)
(a)

Gross
amounts
set off in
Financial
Statement
(b)

Amount subject to an enforceable
Net amount master netting arrangements or
presented similar agreement an not set off in Net amount
Net amount
Financial Statement
31/12/2015
in Financial
31/12/2014
(f=c-d-e)
Statement
Financial
Cash collateral
(c) = (a) - (b) Instruments
(e)
(d)

526,764

526,764

14,459

512,305

Total at 31/12/2015

526,764

526,764

14,459

512,305

Total at 31/12/2014

753,568

753,568

44,631

708,937

2. Repurchase agreement
3. Securities lending
4. Others
X
X

7. Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements
thousands of euro
Gross
amounts
set off in
Financial
Statement
(b)

Amount subject to an enforceable
Net amount master netting arrangements or
presented similar agreement an not set off in Net amount
Net amount
Financial Statement
31/12/2015
in Financial
31/12/2014
(f=c-d-e)
Statement
Financial
Cash collateral
(c) = (a) - (b) Instruments
(e)
(d)

1. Derivatives

4,398,912

4,398,912

76,710

4,322,202

2. Repurchase agreement

3,054,829

3,054,829

2,954,743

100,086

Total at 31/12/2015

7,453,741

7,453,741

3,031,453

4,422,288

Total at 31/12/2014

5,810,883

5,810,883

485,120

5,325,763

3. Securities lending
4. Others
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Technical types

Gross
amounts
(before
offsetting)
(a)

Part C - Information on the
consolidated income statement
Section 1 - Interest - items 10 and 20
1.1 Interest and similar income: breakdown
thousands of euro
Debt
securities
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Items
1

Financial assets held for trading

2

Financial assets designated at fair value through and
loss profit

3

Financial assets available for sale

Other
transactions

Loans

16,372

Total
31/12/2014

16,372

4

Financial assets held to maturity

9,223

5

Due from banks

4,161

6

Due from customers

285,467

7

Hedging derivatives

X

X

8

Other assets

X

X

315,223

195,587

Total

Total
31/12/2015

9,223

11,682

7,123

11,284

31,975

188,464

473,931

536,665

510,810

611,471

1.3 Interest and similar income: other information

thousands of euro

Items
1.3.1

31/12/2015
Interest income on financial assets in foreign currencies

31/12/2014
26,874

24,150

1.4 Interest and similar expenses: breakdown
Items
1. Due to central banks
2. Due to banks
3. Due to customers

31,149

thousands of euro
Payables

Securities

Other
transactions

Total at
31/12/2015

Total at
31/12/2014

(5,138)

(5,138)

(23,896)

(54,558)

(54,558)

(77,095)

(47)

(47)

(1,443)

(68,229)

(107,248)

4. Securities in issue

(68,229)

5. Financial liabilities for trading
6.

Financial liabilities designated at fair value
through profit and loss

7. Other liabilities and provisions
8. Hedging derivatives
Total

(59,743)
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(68,229)

0

(123)

(318,978)

(318,978)

(318,031)

(318,978)

(446,950)

(527,836)

1.5 Interest and similar expenses: differentials on hedging transactions
Items/Amounts

thousands of euro

Total at 31/12/2015

Total at 31/12/2014

A. Positive differentials on hedging transactions:

69,123

97,347

B. Negative differentials on hedging transactions:

388,101

415,378

(318,978)

(318,031)

C. Balance (A-B)

1.6 Interest and similar expenses: other information

thousands of euro

Items
1.6.1

31/12/2015
Interest paid on liabilities in foreign currency

31/12/2014
(26,848)

(24,112)

Section 2 - Fees and commissions - items 40 and 50
2.1 Fee and commission income: breakdown

thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015

a) guarantees given

Total at 31/12/2014
1,115

1,636

3,078

4,986

3,078

4,383

0

603

0

603

b) credit derivatives
c) management, broking and consulting services:
1. financial instrument trading
2. currency trading
3. portfolio management
3.1. individual
3.2 collective
4. custody and administration of securities
5. depositary bank
6. placement of securities
7. order receipt and transmission
8. advisory services
8.1 on investments
8.2 on financial structure
9. distribution of third-party services
9.1. portfolio management
9.1.1. individual
9.1.2. collective
9.2. insurance products
9.3. other products
d) collection and payment services
e) servicing of securitisation transactions
f) services for factoring transactions
g) management of rate- and tax-collection agencies
h) multilateral trading facilities management
i) keeping and management of current accounts
j) other services

2,186

1,170

Total

6,379

7,792
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Type of services/Amounts

2.2 Fee and commission expenses: breakdown
Services/Amounts

thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2014

Total at 31/12/2015

a) guarantees received

(6,742)

(13,141)

(293)

(325)

(293)

(325)

(459)

(574)

b) credit derivatives
c) management and brokerage services:
1. financial instrument trading
2. currency trading
3. portfolio management:
3.1 own portfolio
3.2 third party portfolio
4. custody and administration of securities
5. placement of financial instruments
6. external marketing of financial instruments, products and services
d) collection and payment services
e) other services
Total

(70)

(70)

(7,564)

(14,110)

Section 3 - Dividend and similar income - item 70

Dexia Crediop banking Group

3.1 Dividend and similar income: breakdown

thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015

Items/Income

dividend

Total at 31/12/2014

income from
Mutual Fund shares

income from
Mutual Fund shares

dividend

A. Financial assets held for trading
B. Financial assets available for sale

0

3

C. Financial assets designated at fair value through profit and loss
D. Investments in associates and companies subject to joint control

X

Total

X
0

3

Section 4 - Net trading gains (losses) - item 80
4.1 Net trading gains (losses): breakdown
Transactions/Income components

thousands of euro
Capital
gains (A)

Trading
profits (B)

Capital losses Trading
(C)
losses (D)

Net result
(losses) [(A+B)
- (C+D)]

1. Financial assets hels for trading
1.1 Debt securities
1.2 Equity instruments
1.3 Mutual fund shares
1.4 Loans
1.5 Others
2. Financial liabilities held for trading
2.1 Debt securities
2.2 Payables
2.3 Others
3. Financial assets and liabilities: foreign exchange differences
4. Derivatives
4.1 Financial derivatives:
- on debt securities and interest rates

X
606,733

X

X

586,637

X

605,240

82

580,060

14,790

587,807

586,559

587,413

580,060

13,613

587,807

586,559

587,413

580,060

6,893

X

X

- on equity instruments and stock indexes
- on currencies and gold

X

X

6,720

- Others
4.2 Credit derivatives
Total

18,926

78

17,827

606,733

586,637

605,240
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1,177
580,060

14,872

Section 5 - Fair value adjustment in hedge accounting - item 90
5.1 Fair value adjustment in hedge accounting: breakdown

thousands of euro

Income components/Amounts
A.

Total at 31/12/2015

Income from:

Total at 31/12/2014

711,947

A.1 Fair value hedge derivatives

1,341,269

665,747

A.2 Financial assets hedged (fair value)

1,337,238

A.3 Financial liabilities hedged (fair value)

46,200

4,031

Total hedging income (A)

711,947

1,341,269

B.

682,285

1,375,804

A.4 Cash flow hedge: derivatives
A.5 Currency asset and liabilities
Expenses for:

B.1 Fair value hedge derivatives

1,375,797

B.2 Financial assets hedged (fair value)

682,259

B.3 Financial liabilities hedged (fair value)
B.4 Cash flow hedge: derivatives
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7

682,285

1,375,804

29,662

(34,535)

B.5 Currency asset and liabilities
C.

Fair value adjustment in hedge accounting (A – B)

Section 6 - Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase - item 100
6.1 Gains (Losses) on disposal/repurchase: breakdown

thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015

Items/Income components

Gains

Losses

Total at 31/12/2014

Net result

Gains

Losses

Net result

Financial assets
1. Due from banks
2. Due from customers

3,939

50,677

(46,738)

1,458

43,908

(42,450)

3,939

50,677

(46,738)

1,458

43,908

(42,450)

1,814

47

1,814

47

3. Financial assets available for sale
3.1 Debt securities
3.2 Equity instruments
3.3 Mutual fund shares
3.4 Loans
4. Financial assets held to maturity
Total assets
Financial liabilities
1. Due to banks
2. Due to customers
3. Securities issued

1,814

Total liabilities

1,814

0
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0
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Total hedging expenses (B)

Financial assets
The net loss of 47 million euro originates mainly from the sale of securities to the parent company Dexia Crédit Local and
from the sale of securities issued by Italian Regions purchased pursuant to article 45 of Law n.89/2014.
Financial liabilities
During the year 2015 own securities have been cancelled with a profit of around 2 million euro.

Section 8 - Net adjustments for impairment - item 130
8.1 Net adjustments for impairment: breakdown
thousands of euro
Writedowns

Writebacks

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Other

Transactions/Income
components

Writeoffs

Specific

Collective
impairment

Specific
Collective
impairment
A

A. Due from banks

B

A

Total at
31/12/2014

103

0

103

0

(2,685)

(5,331)

(2,685)

(5,331)

(5,785)

(11,353)

B

103

- Loans

Total at
31/12/2015

0

103

- Debt securities
B. Due from customers

(5,785)

3,100

Impaired due purchased
- Loans

X

X

- Debt securities

X

X

Other due
- Loans

(5,785)

X
3,100

(5,785)

- Debt securities
C. Total

X

(5,785)

Key
A = interest
B = other writebacks
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103

3,100

3,100

6,022

3,100

(2,582)

(5,331)

8.2 Net adjustments for impairment of financial assets available for sale: breakdown
thousands of euro
Writebacks (2)

Specific

Specific
Total at
31/12/2015

Others

Writeoffs

Transactions/Income
components

Writedowns (1)

A

B

B. Equity securities

X

X

C. Mutual fund shares

X

Total at
31/12/2014

A. Debt securities

95

95

(176)

95

(176)

D. Loans to banks
E. Loans to customers
F. Total
Key
A= from interest
B= other writebacks
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Section 11 - Administrative expenses - item 180
11.1 Personnel expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro
Type of expense/Sectors

Total at 31/12/2015

1) Employees

Total at 31/12/2014

(15,485)

(18,369)

a) wages and salaries

(9,970)

(12,320)

b) social security contributions

(2,696)

(3,225)

(599)

(697)

e) provisions for termination indemnities

(47)

(71)

f) provision for post emplyment benefits:

(796)

(541)

(796)

(541)

(269)

(331)

(269)

(331)

(1,108)

(1,184)

(854)

(1,048)

(16,339)

(19,417)

c) termination indemnities
d) other termination expenses

– defined contribution plans
– defined benefits plans
g) payments to complementary external pension funds:
– defined contribution plans
– defined benefits plans
h) costs from share based payments
i) other employee benefits

Dexia Crediop banking Group

2) Other non-retired personnel
3) Directors and statutory auditors
4) Early retirement costs
Total

11.2 Average number of employees by category
Employees:
a) managers

22

b) middle managers

87

of which: of 3rd and 4th level

51

c) remaining employees

38

Other personnel
Total

147

11.3 Company defined-benefit pension funds: total costs
thousands of euro
31/12/2015
a) Post employment benefit costs

31/12/2014
611

484

b) Interest expenses

1,097

1,651

c) Yield of the assets

(953)

(1,629)

41

35

796

541

d) Actuarial losses (gains) recognized in the balance sheet
Total

11.4 Other employee benefits
The balance includes mainly premiums of insurance policies stipulated in favour of employees.
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11.5 Other administrative expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro
Type of expense/Amount

31/12/2015

Maintenance costs on furniture and equipment

31/12/2014
(1)

Property rent payments

(234)

(255)

Telephone expenses

(136)

(182)

(4)

(19)

Costs for software maintenance and updating

(986)

(1.504)

Security

(182)

(181)

(33)

(81)

Energy, heating and water expenses

(292)

(340)

Maintenance costs on company-owned buildings

(446)

(535)

(5,107)

(5,183)

(24)

(31)

(276)

(271)

(2,618)

(1,801)

Advertising and public relations

(35)

(80)

Books, periodicals and information services

(90)

(89)

Insurance premiums

(40)

(61)

(982)

(815)

532

446

(10,955)

(10,983)

(721)

(721)

(176)

(198)

Postal and telegraph expenses

Car rental expenses

IT Services
Stationery and printing
Costs for cleaning premises
Professional fees

Membership fees
Study grants
Other expenses
Total
Indirect taxes
– Imu Tax
– Flat-rate tax, Decree 601/73
– Other
– National Resolution Fund Contributions

(41,236)

Total

(42,133)

(919)

Total other administrative expenses

(53,088)

(11,902)

The other administrative expenses include e 41 million for the Contribution to the National Resolution Fund for credit
institutions.
The fees paid by the Dexia Crediop S.p.A. Group for auditing services in 2015 are shown below, net of VAT and expenses
which will be reimbursed:
thousands of euro
Services

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Tevere Finance S.r.l.

Dexia Crediop Ireland

Legal Audit

96

20

Other auditing services

58

7

19

154

27

19

Total

The fees paid refer to auditing services of the following companies, Mazars S.p.A., BDO Italia S.p.A. and Mazars Italia
S.p.A..
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(2)

Section 12 - Net provisions for risks and charges - item 190
12.1 Net provisions for risks and charges: breakdown
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015

Items/Income components
Provisions

Uses

Total at 31/12/2014
Net result

A. Risks

(16,863)

(16,863)

Total Risks

(16,863)

(16,863)

Provisions

Uses

Net result

B. Charges
1. Personnel

(58)

2,158

2,100

(8,644)

(8,644)

2. Others

(3,552)

934

(2,618)

(7,000)

586

(6,414)

Total Charges

(3,610)

3,092

(518)

(15,644)

586

(15,058)

(20,473)

3,092

(17,381)

(15,644)

586

(15,058)

Total Risks and Charges

Section 13 - Net adjustments on property plant and equipment - item 200
13.1 Net adjustments on property plant and equipment: breakdown

Dexia Crediop banking Group

thousands of euro
Assets/Income components

Amortization
(a)

Impairment losses
(b)

Writebacks (c)

Net result
(a + b - c)

A. Property plant and equipment
A.1 Company owned
- used in operations

(868)

(868)

(868)

(868)

(868)

(868)

- investment
A.2 Acquired under financial lease
- used in operations
- investment
Total

Section 14 - Net adjustments on intangible assets - item 210
14.1 Net adjustments on intangible assets: breakdown
thousands of euro
Assets/Income components
A.

Amortization
(a)

Impairment losses
(b)

Writebacks

Net result
(a + b - c)

Intangible assets
A.1 Company owned

(1,572)

(1,572)

(1,572)

(1,572)

(1,572)

(1,572)

- Internally generated
- Other
A.2 Acquired on financial lease
Total
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Section 15 - Other operating expenses and revenues - item 220
15.1 Other operating expenses: breakdown

thousands of euro

Income components/Amounts
Interbank charges

Total at 31/12/2015

Other expenses
Total

Total at 31/12/2014
(2)
(2)

(3)
(3)

15.2 Other operating revenues: breakdown

thousands of euro

Income components/Amounts
Rents collected

Total at 31/12/2015

Total at 31/12/2014
262

169

1,072
1,334

179
348

Interbank revenues
Refund of expenses
Other income
Total

Section 19 - Profits (losses) on disposal of investments - item 270
19.1 Profits (losses) on disposal of investments: breakdown

thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015

- Profits on disposal

Total at 31/12/2014
5,605

0

5,605

0

5,605

0

- Losses on disposal
B. Other assets
- Profits on disposal
- Losses on disposal
Net result

The profit on disposal of investments refers to the sale of the property located at Via Venti Settembre 30.

Section 20 - Taxes on income from continuing operations - item 290
20.1 Taxes on income from continuing operations: breakdown

thousands of euro

Income components/Sectors
1.
Current taxes ( - )

Total at 31/12/2015 Total at 31/12/2014
(1,554)
(203)

2.

Changes in current taxes compared to previous periods ( +/- )

3.

Decrease in current taxes for the period ( + )

3bis. Reduction in current taxes for tax credits pursuant to Law n. 214/2011 (+)
4.

Changes in deferred tax assets ( +/- )

5.

Changes in deferred tax liabilities ( +/- )

6.

Taxes for the period (-)

12

(9,975)
3.223

(-1+/-2+3+3bis+/-4+/-5)

(1,542)

20.2 Reconciliation between theoretical tax charge and effective tax charge

(6,955)

thousands of euro
31/12/2015

Taxable income/variations/taxes ( +/- )

Taxable amount

Pre-tax profit (Rate 33.07 %)

Tax

(27,608)

9,130

Pre-tax profit (Rate 12.50 %)

3,809

(476)

1 Tax increase (Rate 27.5%)

48,525

(13,344)

2 Tax decrease (Rate 27.5%)

(19,643)

5,402

32,840

(1,829)

4 Tax increase (Rate 5.57 %)

32,590

(1,815)

5 Tax decrease (Rate 5.57 %)

(24,767)

1,380

3 Greater amount taxable - IRAP (Regional Business Tax) (Rate 5.57 %)

6 Changes in net deferred tax assets

7

7 Deferred Taxes from consolidation entries

(47)

8 Taxes for current period

5
(1,542)
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Income components/Sectors
A. Property

Part D - Consolidated comprehensive
income
Detailed statement of consolidated comprehensive income
thousands of euro
Items
10.

Net Income (Loss) for the period

Gross amount

Income
tax

X

X

Net amount
(24,055)

Other comprehensive income without reversal to income statement
20

Tangible assets

30

Intangible Assets

40

Defined benefit schemes

50

Non-current assets held for sale

60

Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments

5,355

5,355

Cash flow hedges:

773

773

a) changes in fair value

773

773

Other comprehensive income, with reversal to income statement
70

Hedging of foreign investments:

Dexia Crediop banking Group

a) changes in fair value
b) reversal to income statement
c) other changes.
80

Exchange differences:
a) changes in the value
b) reversal to income statement
c) other changes

90

b) reversal to income statement
c) other changes.
100

Financial assets available for sale:

55,603

(11,515)

44,088

a) changes in fair value

52,847

(11,515)

41,332

b) reversal to income statement

467

467

467

467

2,289

2,289

- Impairment losses
- Gains / losses on disposals
c) other changes
110

Non-current assets held for sale:
a) changes in fair value
b) reversal to income statement
c) other changes

120

Share of valuation reserves of equity investments accounted for using the equity method:
a) changes in fair value
b) reversal to income statement
- Impairment losses
- Gains / losses on disposals
c) other changes

130

Total other comprehensive income

61,731

(11,515)

50,216

140

Comprehensive income (10+130 )

61,731

(11,515)

26,161

150

Total comprehensive income attributable to minority interests

160

Total comprehensive income attributable to Parent Company

61,731

(11,515)

26,161
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Part E – Comments on risks and
associated hedging policies
The information which must be given pursuant to Memorandum no. 285 “Supervisory provisions for banks” issued by the
Bank of Italy on 17 December 2013 (Second Part, Chapter 13, “Information for the public”) is given on the Dexia Crediop
S.p.A. website (www.dexia-crediop.it).
Introduction
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In order to establish an efficient process for managing the risks to which the Bank is exposed, Dexia Crediop follows
a series of sources of company regulations which transpose the Dexia Group’s policies, adapting them to national
regulations.
The policies defined by the Dexia Group are applied and are generally valid for all the legal entities that fall within the
Group’s scope. In performing their operations and on the subject of managing and measuring risks, the single entities
follow the guidelines defined and formalised in the respective policies. The indications and guidelines contained in the
policies defined by the Dexia Group are adopted within Dexia Crediop by defining and formalising specific regulations
that make up the internal regulatory corpus.
In order to structure an efficient and effective corporate risk control and management system, Dexia Crediop has defined
specific roles and responsibilities allocated to both the Bank’s corporate bodies and the single Company Operating Units
(COU).
In the area of risk management, we note the fundamental role played by the Bank’s main corporate bodies, namely
the Board of Directors, in its capacity as strategic supervisory body, the Chief Executive Officer in his/her capacity as
management body, and the Board of Statutory Auditors in its capacity as control body. In addition, specific committees
are provided for such as the Steering Committee, the Lending Committee, the Finance Committee, and the Audit,
Compliance, Accounting and Risk Committee, which are attended by the managers of the COUs.
Important risk management functions are also performed by specific Coordination Groups. In particular:
•	New Products Coordination Group: each of the Bank’s new products is analysed in detail, as regards both operational
impact and risk impact;
• Local Authority Derivative Risk Coordination Group: this committee analyses the problems in the area of risks deriving
from operations in derivatives carried out with counterparties from the public sector;
• The Default Watchlist Coordination Group: this committee plays a fundamental role in the process of analysing default
operations and/or those on the company’s watchlist, and of monitoring credit risk;
• The IT Security and Operational Continuity Coordination Group: this committee plays a fundamental role in terms of
the IT security process and in supervising provisions aimed at guaranteeing operational continuity.
Besides the Bodies/Committees/Coordination Groups indicated above, the Bank’s COUs responsible for monitoring and
controlling risks are mainly the Risk and Compliance & Anti-Money Laundering.
The Risk Department includes the Credit Risk, Operational Risk & Security and Market Risk units. Representatives of the
Risk Department play a significant role in the Steering Committee, Lending Committee, Finance Committee and all of the
Coordination Groups detailed above. It should be noted that the Risk Department has no hierarchical relationship with
the Bank’s operating units and, therefore, its function is performed independently of the Front-Office COUs.
The main duties of Compliance & Anti-Money Laundering include: monitoring the evolution of the legislative framework
of reference, analysing the impact on processes and procedures; promoting and defining the necessary safeguards
against identified non-compliance risks, consequently proposing organisational and procedural changes and verifying
the effectiveness of the action taken; contributing to promoting a corporate culture based on values of correct conduct;
identification of applicable regulations on anti-money laundering, financing of terrorism and regulations regarding
identification and adequate verification of customers, and regulations regarding prevention of tax evasion.

Other corporate units, such as the Legal Unit, are positioned within the general framework for managing specific types
of risk.
It is worth noting, finally, the role of the Internal Audit Unit, which is responsible for carrying out internal auditing in
the Bank and constantly supervising its operation and effective application of the current internal audit system. In this
context, Internal Audit assesses whether the risks assumed in the Bank’s various operations are adequately known,
monitored and managed.
As can be deduced from what has been detailed above, the risk culture of the Dexia Group and of Dexia Crediop is
diffused at every level, with multiple COUs directly involved in managing risks, and various Committees and Coordination
Groups providing for the participation of representatives from many of the Bank’s units which, in turn, make use of the
support of other COUs not directly involved in risk management.

Section 1 – Credit risk
Qualitative information
1. General aspects

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Recall that, as of 15/7/2014, the European Commission confirmed the run-off management of Dexia Crediop.
Therefore, as of said date, Dexia Crediop can no longer establish any new operational loan transactions.
2. Credit risk management policies
2.1 Organisational aspects
Credit risk is the risk of loss linked to the counterparties’ incapacity to honour their financial obligations. The factors
which influence the level of this risk are:
• the counterparty’s creditworthiness, measured by means of an internal rating (determined on the basis of specific
models);
• the customer segment concerned (public sector, corporate, project finance, banking and financial sector, etc.);
• the economic, legal and financial context in which the counterparty operates;
• the type of operation carried out;
• the duration of the operations;
• any guarantees (tangible, personal, financial) which back the operation.
It should be highlighted that almost all the existing exposure (concentrated almost exclusively in the parent company
Dexia Crediop S.p.A) regards customers of the public sector, with a low risk level and also subject to particular controls
linked to their public nature. Credit risks (such as operative and market risk) are monitored by the Risk Department,
divided up into three “line” functions - Credit Risk, Operational Risk & Security, and Market Risk - that ensure monitoring
of the respective risk categories and activities aimed at the computerisation of the new strategic processes in relation to
the Risk applications.
The Risk Department has no hierarchical relationship with the Bank’s COUs. The department therefore operates absolutely
independently from the Front Office units.
Specific Coordination Groups/Committees form an integral part of the internal auditing systems, helping to ensure that
the system works correctly.
The Credit Committee’s task is to examine materials related to existing loan proposals of any technical type. The
Committee makes decisions regarding risk and financial conditions on the basis of proposals from the relevant COU,
an opinion provided by Risk in regard to risk and, finally, an opinion (for “non standard” operations) containing legal
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assessments provided by the General and Legal Office.
The Default Watchlist Coordination Committee examines situations falling within the criteria of defaults as established
by the Supervisory Authorities and by Dexia Group policies.
2.2 Management, measuring and auditing systems
As regards the methods of management, measuring and auditing, certain guidelines have been fixed at Group level.
The Group has developed systems of internal annotation (SNI) for the various counterpart types, including: Corporate,
Project Finance, the Local Public Sector of western Europe, “Public Satellites”, “Private Satellites”, Sovereign Banks.
The internal rating system (IRS) defined on the basis of the most advanced methods (Advanced IRBA) involves:
• the adoption of internal procedures which allow for the calculations by and historical documentation of the IRSs;
• the progressive development of an IT system (FERMAT) aimed at consolidating - in a common standardised form - the
information relating to all counterparties (Client Database) and all exposures (Exposure Database) of the Group;
• the adoption of a system for measuring the Bank’s entire risks on the basis of an approach based on its own economic
resources.

2.3 Credit risk mitigation techniques
As concerns operations in derivatives, the ISDA Master Agreement is accompanied by the Credit Support Annex (CSA) for
almost all banking counterparties: this collateralisation agreement minimises the credit risk through the regular (daily,
weekly or monthly) exchange of margins as a guarantee of the net value of the bilateral exposure.
The forms of real guarantees used are essentially pledges (mainly on securities) and much less frequently mortgages on
properties. The management of these guarantees is the task of the administrative and legal COUs.
The counterparties offering personal guarantees are general banks and local or regional governments. The credit risk of
these counterparties is assessed on the basis of the external and internal ratings attributed to them.
The purchase of credit derivatives is not normally used as a mitigation technique, although it is permissible.
Since lending activities were mainly aimed at the domestic public sector, the majority of guarantees backing loans consist
of the issue of payment notes issued by local entities or the debt service provided by the Italian State.
2.4 Impaired financial assets
The Group has issued specific rules governing the treatment of non-performing loans and actions to be taken in order to
manage such loans so as to ensure that the procedures aimed at a positive outcome are implemented correctly.
These rules define the general guidelines within which the individual organisational units treat this subject within the
scope of their own responsibilities.
The various conditions of each non-performing loan type have been classified within the scope of an internal watchlist
consisting of four categories with an ascending scale of seriousness:
• watchlist exposures;
• impaired past-due and/or over-the-limit exposures (impaired loans expired);
• unlikely to pay;
• non-performing loans.
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To that end, we recall that during 2014 the new Risk & Capital Adequacy (RCA) approach developed by the Dexia Group
was adopted, which changed the risk assessment methods (ECAP models) that had previously been used.
The new framework became operational starting from the ICAAP report sent to the Bank of Italy during the first half of
2014 and relative to the financial situation as at 31/12/2013.

The Default Watchlist Coordinating Committee is responsible for examining the non-performing positions and proposes:
• their classification in one of the four categories;
• the adoption of specific adjustments on the loans;
• the adoption of statistical or flat-rate adjustments which reflect the Expected Loss.

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Transactions previously included in the default/watchlist categories are re-classified as “performing” when the
counterparty emerges from a situation of economic/financial difficulty and returns to making all payments regularly as
before.
Note that activities of the Dexia Crediop Group have never involved the execution of operations to acquire impaired
assets.
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Quantitative information					
A. Credit quality
				

A.1 Impaired and performing credit exposures: amounts, write-downs, trends, economic and geographical
distribution
					
A.1.1 Breakdown financial assets by portfolio classification and credit quality
(book values)

Portfolio/quality

Nonperforming
loans

Unlikely
to pay

past-due
impaired
exposures

thousands of euro
other
nonperforming
exposures

performing
exposures

Total

1. Financial assets available for sale

429,374

429,374

2. Financial assets held to maturity

137,286

137,286

4,084,006

4,084,006

3. Due from banks
4. Due from customers

72,579

5,379

17,786,124

17,864,082

72,579

5,379

22,436,790

22,514,748

27,113

18,584

34,093,837

34,139,534

5. Financial assets designated at fair value through
profit and loss

Total at 31/12/2015
Total at 31/12/2014

0
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6. Non-current assets held for sale

A.1.2 Breakdown of credit exposure by portfolio and credit quality
(gross and net values)

thousands of euro

Impaired Assets
Portfolio/quality

Gross
exposure

Specific
writedowns

Performing
Net
exposure

Gross
exposure

Collective
writedowns

Total
(net
exposure)

Net
exposure

A. Banking group
1. Financial assets available for sale

429,374

429,374

429,374

2. Financial assets held to maturity

137,286

137,286

137,286

4.084,006

4,084,006

4,084,006

17,786,124

17,864,082

3. Due from banks
4. Due from customers

79,120

1,162

77,958

5. Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit and loss

17,814,922
X

28,798
X

6. Non-current assets held for sale
Total 31/12/2015

79,120

1,162

77,958

22,465,588

28,798

22,436,790

22,514,748

Total 31/12/2014

46,860

1,162

45,698

34,119,949

26,113

37,380,496

37,426,194

thousands of euro
Assets with obvious low credit quality

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Portfolio/quality

Accumulated capital
losses

1. Financial assets available for trading

930

Net exposure
18,604

2. Hedging derivaties

Other assets
Net exposure
2,207,775
327,882

Total 31/12/2015

930

Total 31/12/2014

18,604

2,535,657
3,286,660
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A.1.3 Banking group - Cash and off-balance sheet credit exposure to banks: gross net amounts and past-due
ranges
thousands of euro
Type of exposure/Amounts

Gross exposure
Impaired Assets

Performing

Specific
Collective
Net
adjustment adjustment exposure

More
Between
up to 3 Between 3
months months and 6 months than 1
6 months and 1 year year
A. CASH EXPOSURE
a) Non-performing loans

X

X

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

X

X

b) Unlikely to pay

X

X

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

X

X

c) Past due impaired exposures

X

X

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

X

X

d) Past due not impaired exposures

X

X

X

X

X

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

X

X

X

X

X

e) Other not impaired exposures

X

X

X

X

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

X

X

X

X

Total A

4,084,006

X

4,084,006

X
4,084,006

4,084,006

a) Impaired
b) Performing

X
X

X

X

X

Total B
Total (A+B)

143,392

X
X

143,392

143,392

143,392

4,227,398

4,227,398

A.1.6 Banking group - Cash and off-balance sheet credit exposure to customers: gross net amounts and past-due
ranges
thousands of euro
Type of exposure/Amounts

Gross exposure
Impaired Assets

Performing

Specific
Collective
adjustment adjustment

Net
exposure

More
Between
up to 3 Between 3
months months and 6 months than 1
6 months and 1 year year
A. CASH EXPOSURE
a) Non-performing loans

1,162

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures
b) Unlikely to pay
- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

X

72,579

X

X

72,579

1,629

X

X

1,629

X

X

5,379

X

X

1,601

3,778

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures
d) Past due not impaired exposures

X

X

X

X

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

X

X

X

X

e) Other not impaired exposures

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

Total A

1,162

X

c) Past due impaired exposures

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures

X
X

72,579

1,601

X
4,940

X
X
18,381,582

X

33,633

X

18,381,582

1,162

28,798

18,352,784
33,633

28,798 18,430,742

B. OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE
a) Impaired
b) Performing

X
X

X

X

X

Total B
Total (A+B)

1,406,356

X
X

1,406,356
72,579

1,601

4,940

19,787,938

1,406,356
1,406,356

1,162

28,798 19.837.098

The past-due range “up to 3 months” conventionally includes unlikely to pay exposures that not have past due amounts.
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B. OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE

A.1.7 Banking group - Cash credit exposures to customers: trend of gross non-performing exposures
thousands of euro
Non-performing
loans

Reasons/Categories
A. Initial gross exposure

Past-due impaired
exposures

Unlikely to pay

1,162

27,113

18,584

B. Increases

48,860

1,601

B.1 transfers from performing loans

48,832

1,601

- of which: exposures sold but not derecognized

B.2 transfers of impaired loans from other categories
B.3 other increases

28

C. Decreases

3,394

14,806

3,394

14,806

72,579

5,379

C.1 transfers to performing loans
C.2 writeoffs
C.3 repayments
C.4 credit disposals
C.5 losses on disposals
C.6 transfers of impaired loans to other categories
C.7 other decreases
D. Closing gross exposure

1,162

Dexia Crediop banking Group

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized

A.1.8 Banking group - Cash credit exposure to customers: trend of total adjustments
thousands of euro
Reasons/Categories

Non-performing loans
of which:
exposures
with
forbearance
measures

Total

A. Total initial adjustments

1,162

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized
B. Increases
B.1 impairment losses
B.2 losses on disposal
B.3 transfers of impaired loans from other categories
B.4 other increases
C. Decreases
C.1 writebacks on impairment losses
C.2 writebacks on repayments
C.3 gains on disposal
C.4 writeoffs
C.5 transfers of impaired loans to other categories
C.6 other decreases
D. Total final adjustments

1,162

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized
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Unlikely to pay

Total

of which:
exposures
with
forbearance
measures

Past-due impaired exposures

Total

of which:
exposures
with
forbearance
measures

A.2 Classification of exposure according to external and internal ratings

					
A.2.1 Banking group - breakdown of cash and off-balance-sheet credit exposure according to external ratings
thousands of euro
Exposure

External rating classes
class 1

class 2

class 3

class 4

class 5

class 6

Without
rating

Total

A. Cash exposures

338,700

4,045,152

11,860,866

1,813,933

800,455

3,655,641

22,514,747

B. Derivatives

28,386

33,588

626,238

263,636

90,497

272,470

1,314,815

B.1 Financial
derivatives

28,386

33,588

604,961

225,663

90,497

272,470

1,255,565

B.2 Credit derivatives

21,277

37,973

C. Guarantees
given

47,372

D. Commitments to lend
funds

10,750

59,250
9,449

48,986

86,495

143,316

31,882

91,618

4,046,488

24,064,496

E. Other
Total

377,836

4,078,740

12,583,462

2,077,569

900,401

A.2.2 Distribuzione delle esposizioni per cassa e “fuori bilancio”per classi di rating interni
thousands of euro
Exposure
A. Cash exposure

Internal rating classes
AAA / AA623,680

A+ / A-

BBB+/BBB-

BB+/B-

D1 / D2

Without
rating

Total

5,937,228

11,551,575

4,352,681

48,883

B. Derivatives

156,814

556,876

582,521

18,604

1,314,815

B.1 Financial derivatives

154,969

537,444

544,548

18,604

1,255,565

1,845

19,432

37,973

59,250

74,333

68,983

143,316

52,114

28,749

12,234,898

5,032,934

B.2 Credit derivatives
C. Guarantees given
D. Commitments to disburse
funds

10,750

700

22,514,747

5

91,618

705

24,064,496

E. Other
Total

634,430

6,094,042
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The exposure considered is that of the financial statements included in the tables above A.1.3 and A.1.6. The external
rating classes adopted to complete the table are those used by Standard&Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch. Given that several
external ratings are assigned, the criteria adopted in making the choice is that established by the Bank of Italy, namely
where there are two ratings, the worst is used, where there are three ratings the two best are identified, and, if these differ,
the worse of the two is chosen. In order to breakdown according to ratings classes, a summary table has been used to
convert the classification envisaged by the various different ratings companies to the credit standing classes.

A.3 Distribution of secured loans according to type of guarantee
					
A.3.2 Banking Group - Secured loan exposure to customers

thousands of euro
Personal guarantee (2)

Other subjects

Banks

Other subjects

Banks

Other public bodies

CLN

Other derivatives

Other public bodies

Unsecured loans
Governments and Central
Banks

Loan derivatives

Governments and
Central Banks

Other collateral guarantee

Securities

Properties - Finance leases

Properties - mortgages

Amount of net exposure

Collateral guarantee (1)

Total
(1)+(2)

180,325

1,789,816

1 Secured cash
loan exposure:

1,811,238 105,486

18,909 149,852

5,229 948,946 381,069

1.1 fully secured

1,672,393 105,486

18,909 149,852

5,229 934,779 281,069 177,069 1,672,393

- of which impaired

50,612

1.2 partially secured

138,845

12,336

38,276
14,167 100,000

50,612
3,256

117,423

Dexia Crediop banking Group

- of which impaired
2. Secured offbalance sheet
loan exposure:

19,070

19,070

19,070

2.1 fully secured

19,070

19,070

19,070

- of which impaired
2.2 partially secured
- of which impaired
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B. Breakdown and concentration of credit exposure
				

B.1 Banking group - Breakdown of on- and off-balance sheet customer credit exposure according to sector
(book value)
thousands of euro

X

X

X

X

X

Specific
impairment
Collective
impairment

X

Net exposure

X

Collective
impairment

X

Other entities

Specific
impairment

199

Non-financial companies

Net exposure

Specific
impairment
Collective
impairment

Net exposure

Specific
impairment
Collective
impairment

Insurance
companies

Collective
impairment

Net exposure

Financial
institutions

Specific
impairment

Specific
impairment
Collective
impairment

Exposure/
Counterparties

Net exposure

Governments

Net exposure

Other public
entities

963

X

X

X

X

X

X

A. Cash exposures
X

- of which: exposures
with forbearance
measures

X

A.2 Unlikely to pay

X

X

- of which: exposures
with forbearance
measures

X

X

X

X

X

X

A.3 Past-due
impaired exposures

X

X

X

X

X

X

- of which: exposures
with forbearance
measures

X

X

X

X

X

X

A.4 Not impaired
exposures

5,379

X

- of which: exposures
with forbearance
measures

6,364,771

Total A

6,364,771

X

14,723

0

X
3,265
3,265

9,274,231

X

X
22,246 1,359,349

X

9,279,610 199 22,246 1,374,072

57,856

X
551

X

X

1,354,379

551

X

X
2,736

54

1,412,235 963 2,736

54

X

B. Off-balance
sheet exposures
B.1 Non-performing
loans

X

X

X

X

X

X

B.2 Unlikely to pay

X

X

X

X

X

X

B.3 Other impaired
assets

X

X

X

X

X

X

B.4 Not impaired
exposures

377,717

Total B

377,717

X

704,553
704,553

X

285,638

X

X

285,638

38,448

X

X

38,448

Total (A+B)
31/12/2015

6,742,488

3,265 9,984,163 199 22,246 1,659,710

551

1,450,683 963 2,736

Total (A+B)
31/12/2014

8,097,983

4,120 11,867,406 199 18,068 1,364,038

853

2,210,791 963 3,072 121
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A.1 Non-performing
loans

B.2 Banking group - Breakdown of on- and off-balance sheet bank credit exposure according to geographical
area (book value)
thousands of euro
Exposure/
Geographical
area

Net
exposure

A. On-balance
sheet exposures
A.1 Non-performing
loans
A.2 Unlikely to pay
A.3 Past-due
impaired
exposures
A.4 Not impaired
exposures
Total

Other European
countries

Italy
Total
impairment

Net
exposure

America

Total
impairment

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Asia
Net
exposure

1,162
72,579
5,379
17,878,662
17,956,620

28,621

474,122

177

29,783 474,122

177

B. Off-balance
sheet exposures
B.1 Non-performing
loans

Dexia Crediop banking Group

B.2 Unlikely to pay
B.3 Other impaired
assets
B.4 Not impaired
exposures
Total

1,374,765
1,374,765

Total 31/12/2015

19,331,385

29,783 474,122

177

Total 31/12/2014

23,236,615

27,153 295,291

122

280

25,573

6,018

25,573

6,018

25,573

6,018
8,433

Total
impairment

Rest of the world
Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Breakdown according to geographic area of relations with bank residing in Italy
thousands of euro
North West Italy
Exposure/Geographical area

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

North East Italy
Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Central Italy
Net
exposure

Italy - South and Island

Total
impairment

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

A. On-balance sheet exposures
A.1 Non-performing loans
A.2 Unlikely to pay

1,162
15,567

19,731

A.3 Past-due impaired exposures
A.4 Not impaired exposures
Total

4,542,882

9,618

1,868,645

4,524

22,558

14,724

3,778

1,601

9,122,014

8,742

2,345,120

5,737
6,899

4,558,449

9,618 1,888,376

4,524 9,148,350

8,742 2,361,445

B.4 Not impaired exposures

477,715

104,069

626,440

166,541

Total

477,715

104,069

626,440

166,541

5,036,164

9,618 1,992,445

4,524 9,774,790

8,742 2,527,986

B. Off-balance sheet exposures
B.1 Non-performing loans
B.2 Unlikely to pay
B.3 Other impaired assets
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Total (A+B) 31/12/2015

B.3 Banking group - Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customers credit exposure according to
geographical area (book value)
thousands of euro
Exposure/
Geographical
area

Other European
countries

Italy
Net
Total
exposure impairment

Net
exposure

America

Total
impairment

Net
exposure

Asia

Total
impairment

Net
exposure

Rest of the world

Net
Total
Total
expoimpairment
impairment
sure

A. Cash
exposures
A.1 Non-performing
loans
A.2 Unlikely to pay
A.3 Past-due
impaired exposures
A.4 Not impaired
exposures

445,761

3,444,456

187,830

5,959

Total

445,761

3,444,456

187,830

5,959

B.4 Not impaired
exposures

101,137

42,255

Total

101,137

42,255

0

0

Total 31/12/2015

546,898

3,486,711

187,830

5,959

Total 31/12/2014

810,290

12,742,542

200,555

8,342

B. Off-balance
sheet exposures
B.1 Non-performing
loans

Dexia Crediop banking Group

B.2 Unlikely to pay
B.3 Other impaired
assets

Breakdown according to geographic area of relations with customers residing in Italy
thousands of euro
North West Italy
Exposure/Geographical area

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

North East Italy
Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Central Italy
Net
exposure

A. Cash exposures
A.1 Non-performing loans
A.2 Unlikely to pay
A.3 Past-due impaired exposures
A.4 Not impaired exposures

220,627

225,134

Total

220,627

225,134

B. Off-balance sheet exposures
B.1 Non-performing loans
B.2 Unlikely to pay
B.3 Other impaired assets
B.4 Not impaired exposures
Total
Totale (A+B) 31/12/2015

16,802

6,974

16,802

6,974

77,361

237,429

6,974

302,495

282

77,361

Total
impairment

Italy - South and Island
Net
exposure

Total
impairment

B.4 Large exposures
a) Exposures
b) Weighted exposures
c) Number of exposures

22,023,483

thousands of euro

2,313,303

thousands of euro
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C. Securitisation and asset disposal transactions
				

C.1 Securitisation transactions
					
Qualitative information
The Bank organised three securitisation operations pursuant to Italian Law no. 130/1999, which were concluded in 2004,
2005 and 2008.
The mentionned securitisation transactions were early terminated in the last quarter of 2013. The company, which was no
longer operational, was placed in voluntary liquidation during 2014.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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C.2 Banking group - Exposure from main “third party” securitisation transactions according to type of securitised
asset and type of exposure
thousands of euro

Credit lines

Impairment/
Writebacks

Junior
Net exposure

Impairment/
Writebacks

Net exposure

Mezzanine

Impairment/
Writebacks

Net exposure

Senior

Impairment/
Writebacks

Junior
Net exposure

Impairment/
Writebacks

Mezzanine

Impairment/
Writebacks

Net exposure

Senior

Impairment/
Writebacks

Junior
Book value

Book value

Book value

Impairment/
Writebacks

Mezzanine

Impairment/
Writebacks

Senior
Type of
underlying assets/
Exposure

Guarantees given

Net exposure

Cash exposure

A.1
- Non-residential
mortgage loans

67,784

A.2
- Other

672,468

A.3

Dexia Crediop banking Group

- Residential mortgage loans

E. Disposal transactions
A. Financial assets sold but not fully derecognized
Qualitative information
E.1 Banking group - Financial assets sold but not derecognized: book value and full value

Technical types /
Portfolio

Financial
assets
held for
trading

Financial
assets
Financial
designated
Due from
Financial assets
assets held
at fair value
banks
available for sale
to maturity
through
profit and
loss

A

A

B

C

B

C

A

B

C

A

B C A B C

thousands of euro

Due from
customers

A

Total

B C 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

A. Cash assets
1. Debt securities

429,641

3,594,661

4,024,302

2. Equity instruments

X

X X X X X

X

X X

3. Mutual fund shares

X

X X X X X

X

X X

X

X X X X X

X

X X

4. Loans
B. Derivatives
Total at 31/12/2015

X

X

X

X

X

X

429,641

3,594,661

4,024,302

of which impaired
Total at 31/12/2014

X
X

0

20,714

of which impaired

6,018,820

X
X

Key:
A = financial assets sold and fully recognized (book value)
B = financial assets sold and partially recognized (book value)
C = financial assets sold and partially recognized (full value)
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6,039,534

E.2 Banking group - Financial liabilities related to financial assets sold not derecognized: book value
thousands of euro
Financial
assets held
for trading

Liabilities/Assets portfolio

Financial
Financial
assets
assets
designated
at fair value available
through profit for sale
and loss

1. Due to customers

429,944

a) fully recognized

429,944

Financial
assets
held to
maturity

Due
from
banks

Due from
customers

Total

0

429,944
429,944

b) partially recognized
2. Due to banks

2,215,341

2,215,341

2,215,341

2,215,341

0

2,215,341

2,645,285

22,527

3,686,069

3,708,596

a) fully recognized
b) partially recognized
Total at 31/12/2015

429,944

Total at 31/12/2014

Financial liabilities related to assets sold but not derecognized refer to repurchase agreements, as shown in tables 1.1
“Due to banks” and 1.2 “Due to customers”.

thousands of euro

Technical types/
Portfolio

Financial
assets
Financial
assets held designated
at fair
for trading
value
A

B

A

B

Financial assets
available for
sale
A

B

Financial
assets held to
maturity
(fair value)
A

B

Due from
banks
(fair value)
A

B

Due from
customers
(fair value)
A

Total

B

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

A. Cash assets
1. Debt securities

429,641

3,910,571

4,340,212 5,315,759

2. Equity instruments

X

X

X

X

X

X

3. Mutual fund shares

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

4. Loans
B. Derivatives
Total Cash Assets

X

X

X
429,641

X

0

3,910,571

C. Liabilities
1. Due to customers

429,944

2,215,341

2. Due to banks
Total Liabilities
Total at 31.12.2015
Total at 31.12.2014

429,944

0

(172)
486
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4,340,212 5,315,759
X

X

X

X

X

X

2,215,341

2,645,285

1,695,230

1,694,927

X

1,606,677

X

1,607,163
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E.3 Sale operations with liabilities associated exclusively to sold assets: fair value

1.2 Banking Group – Market risks
1.2.1 - Interest rate risk and price risk - regulatory trading book
Qualitative information
The portfolio consists exclusively of derivative products allocated to Dexia Crediop S.p.A. Therefore, the reader is referred
to that already indicated in the Explanatory Notes to the Individual Annual Report (part E).

Quantitative information
1. Regulatory trading book: breakdown by residual duration (re-pricing date) of cash financial assets and liabilities
and financial derivatives
Currency: Euro

Type/ Residual term

thousands of euro
on
demand

up to 3
months

between
3 and 6
months

between
between 1
6 months
year and 5
and 1
years
year

between
5 and 10
years

beyond 10
years

Unspecified
duration

1. Cash assets

Dexia Crediop banking Group

1.1 Debt securities
- with early redemption
option
- others
1.2 Other assets
2. Cash liabilities
2.1 Repurchase agreements
2.2 Other liabilities
3. Financial derivatives
3.1 With underlying security
- Options
+ long positions
+ short positions
- Others
+ long positions
+ short positions
3.2 Without underlying security
- Options
+ long positions
+ short positions
- Others
+ long positions

829

1,328,379

8,317,352

774,084

3,114,311

1,855,599

4,853,418

+ short positions

1,753,319

1,551,069

8,358,679

800,747

3,070,869

1,725,426

2,983,862

3. Regulatory trading book - internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods
For internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods, please refer to that set out in Part E of the Explanatory Notes
of the company financial statements.
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1.2.2 - Interest rate risk and price risk - banking book
INTEREST RATE RISK
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement methods of interest rate risk
The exposure to short-term interest rate risk (usually below one year), generated in particular by the fixing of the Euribor
parameter to which the financial assets and liabilities are typically indexed or synthetically transformed at the bank’s
floating rate, is managed by the Cash and Liquidity Management (CLM) BL. Operating proposals for opening or closing
the interest rate risk are discussed and approved by the Finance Committee, which evaluates expected impacts on the use
of the fixed operating and risk limits.
Exposure to interest rate risks generated by mismatching of fixed rate financial assets and liabilities with an original
maturity of more than a year and the relative hedging derivatives (“ALM Rate” compartment) is residual, being limited
to that arising from conventional fixed rate liabilities represented by Shareholders’ Equity (allocated both to the Parent
Company and the subsidiary Dexia Crediop Ireland). The management and measurement of interest rate risk takes place on
a consolidated level. Any operational decisions, for example to reduce the risk profile of the stock or synthetic investment
through derivatives of Shareholders’ Equity, are the responsibility of the Finance Committee.

For interest rate risk, fair value or cash flow hedging derivatives are used. The most commonly used instruments are
Overnight Indexed Swaps, Forward Rate Agreements and Interest Rate Swaps.
B. Fair value hedging activities
Fair value hedging (both micro and macro, the latter by means of the Portfolio Hedge) is used to immunise the market value
of the underlying financial instruments, protecting them against adverse changes in market rates.
The instruments underlying the hedging are specific financial assets or liabilities, or aggregates of similar type, and
transactions are carried out under market conditions.
Initial tests are performed on each hedge regarding the applicability of hedge accounting, as well as regular tests on their
effectiveness.
C. Cash flow hedging
Hedging, the purpose of which is to stabilise cash flow indexed to variable parameters (typically Euribor), have specific
financial assets or liabilities as underlying elements, which are homogeneous with them and realised at market conditions.
Initial tests are performed on each hedge regarding the applicability of hedge accounting, as well as regular tests on their
effectiveness.
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Activities to measure and control market risk are assigned to Market Risk (within CLM) and to Financial Strategy (within
ALM Rate). They calculated risk/performance indicators verifying whether the operating limits set were respected.

PRICE RISK
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement of price risk
The banking portfolio is exposed to price risk relative to equity securities classified among assets available for sale.
Among the aforementioned equity investments, all unlisted, that in the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo is of note, for which
the booked fair value was measured on the basis of the portion of shareholders’ equity attributed by the new articles of
association, issued with a combined ministerial decree of 24 January 2014 and published in the Official Journal on 19 April
2014. As indicated in the section on administrative, judicial and arbitration procedures in course, this measurement does
not in any way constitute acquiescence with respect to the “forced” reduction of the equity investment made by the new
Articles of Association, which are asserted to be illegitimate, as declared in the various appeals made by the company.

Dexia Crediop banking Group

B. Price risk hedging activities
Given the nature underlying the price risk, no hedges are implemented.
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Quantitative information
1. Banking book: breakdown by residual duration (re-pricing date) of cash financial assets and liabilities
Currency of instruments: Euro

Type/ Residual term

thousands of euro
on
demand

up to 3
months

between between between 1 between
beyond 10 Unspecified
6 months year and 5 5 and 10
3 and 6
years
duration
years
years
months and 1 year

1. Cash assets

457,174

4,584,942

8,342,097

1,203,242

1,871,884

1,109,965

4,006,020

1.1 Debt securities

226,742

477,012

4,165,937

907,015

827,124

530,414

2,562,279

- with early redemption option
- others
1.2 Due from banks
1.3 Due from customers

226,742

477,012

4,165,937

907,015

827,124

530,414

2,562,279

222,033

3,220,270

452,740

7,832

54,478

69,873

51,648

8,399

887,660

3,723,420

288,395

990,282

509,678

1,392,093

8,399

887,660

3,723,420

288,395

990,282

509,678

1,392,093

8,399

887,660

3,723,420

288,395

990,282

509,678

1,392,093

4,505,765 12,419,038

413,108

528,809

55,968

106,834

2

990,061

6,656

3,540

6,656

3,540
3,540

- current accounts
- other loans
- with early redemption option
- others
2. Cash liabilities

422,451

- current accounts

320,250

- other payables

102,201

990,061

102,201

990,061

6,656

4,083,314 10,457,848

4,250

- with early redemption option
- others
2.2 Due to banks
- current accounts
- other payables

3,597,903
485,411 10,457,848

4,250

971,129

402,202

525,269

55,968

106,834

2

971,129

402,202

525,269

55,968

106,834

2

2.3 Debt securities
- with early redemption option
- others
2.4 Other liabilities
- with early redemption option
- other
3. Financial derivatives
3.1 With underlying security
- Options
+ long positions
+ short positions
- Others
+ long positions
+ short positions
3.2 Without underlying security
- Options
+ long positions
+ short positions
- Others
+ long positions

27,525

5,435,659 14,368,155

2,188,028

875,724

179,998

39,650

+ short positions

98,861

3,981,945

2,273,485

2,263,427

1,674,050

3,467,268

9,358,152

4. Other off-balance operations
+ long positions
+ short positions
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2.1 Due to customers

2. Banking book - internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods
The table and graphs below summarise the changes in the indicators relative to interest rate risk over the short term (CLM
perimeter) during the course of 2015:
VAR 10 days
(euro)
31 December 2015

Shift Sensitivity 100 bps
(absolute values in e)
300,939

4,759,000

Minimum

55,862

83,300

Average

347,562

7,666,814

Maximum

742,278

16,221,700

VAR CLM 2015

4,500,000
4,000,000
3,500,000
3,000,000
2,500,000
2,000,000
1,500,000
1,000,000
500,000

Dexia Crediop banking Group

0
Jan-15

Mar-15

May-15

Jul-15

Sep-15

Nov-15

Sep-15

Nov-15

Sensitivity CLM 2015
30,000,000
25,000,000
20,000,000
15,000,000
10,000,000
5,000,000
0
Jan-15

Mar-15

May-15
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Jul-15

We should note that, in the context of reallocation of the risk limits within the Dexia Group which had already led in 2014
to a reduction in the VaR limit from e 4 to e 3.5 million, starting from this past 15 April, the sensitivity limit indicated
above was reduced from e 25 to e 20 million. A new sensitivity sub-limit, of e 15 million was also introduced; this is to
be observed on each time-bucket (4 quarterly buckets and a last bucket for risk positions at more than l year).
The operating limits set on the two risk indicators presented above and on the aforementioned sub-limit per time-bucket
were constantly observed during the year.
With regard to the measurement of the interest rate risk on the medium/long-term horizon (“ALM Rate” perimeter) , the
table below shows the values seen during 2015:
Shift Sensitivity*
(absolute values)

(euro)
31 December 2015

11,673,159

Minimum

3,342,748

Average

6,778,102

Maximum

11,673,159

Operating limit

15,000,000

*Directional at 100 bps and rotational with differentiated shifts.

Finally, it should be noted that, similar to the description given for the trading book, the banking book is also exposed
to basis risk with reference to hedging derivatives that are the subject of collateral contracts (typically “CSA”), which are
enhanced by the use of an “OIS” discount curve, different from the one based on the Euribor parameter used for the
underlying items of hedging relationships. This component contributes to the volatility of the income statement and the
results derived from it, for valuation purposes, are also classified in the “Accounting Volatility” segment pursuant to the
segment reporting (see Explanatory Notes to the Corporate Annual Report 2015 Dexia Crediop S.p.A. – P. 312).

1.2.3 - Exchange rate risk
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement of exchange rate risk
The Group holds financial assets and issues bonds in non-Euro currencies with the aim of exploiting favourable market
opportunities, taking into account the cost of hedging exchange rate risks.
B. Exchange rate risk hedging activities
Financial assets and liabilities in currencies other than the Euro are systematically hedged at the origin against exchange
rate risks using derivative products (cross currency swaps).
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It is worth noting that the sensitivity recognised for operational purposes includes the sensitivity attributable to the
“conventional fixed-rate liability” represented by the Dexia Crediop Group shareholders’ equity.
The limit set for the above indicator was continuously respected throughout the year.

Quantitative information
1. Distribution according to currency of the assets, liabilities and derivatives
thousands of euro
Currencies

Items
US Dollar

British
pound

Yen

A. Financial assets
A.1 Debt securities

97,706

177,124

244

80

A.2 Equity instruments
A.3 Due from banks
A.4 Due from customers
A.5 Other financial assets

1,528

B. Other assets
C. Financial liabilities
C.1 Due to banks

50,585

C.2 Due to customers
C.3 Debt securities
C.4 Other financial liabilities

2,662

D. Other liabilities

Dexia Crediop banking Group

E. Financial derivatives
- Options
+ long positions
+ short positions
- Others
+ long positions
+ short positions

164,221

37,468

210,240

214,592

Total assets

263,699

214,672

Total liabilities

263,487

214,592

212

80

Differences (+/-)
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Canadian
Dollar

Swiss franc

Other
currencies

1.2.4 derivatives
A. Financial derivatives
A.1 Regulatory trading book: period-end notional amounts
thousands of euro
Underlying assets/Type of derivatives

Total at 31/12/2015
Central
counterparties

Over the counter
1. Debt securities and interest rates
a) Options
b) Swaps

18,118,407

Total at 31/12/2014
Over the counter

Central
counterparties

21,973,038

21,653

246,035

18,096,754

21,727,003

0

4,200

0

4,200

302,272

428,902

302,272

428,902

18,420,679

22,406,140

c) Forwards
d) Futures
e) Others
2. Equity securities and stock indices
a) Options
b) Swaps
c) Forwards
d) Futures
3. Foreign exchange rates and gold
a) Options
b) Swaps
c) Forwards
d) Futures
e) Others
4. Commodities
5. Other underlying assets
Total
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e) Others

A.2 Banking book: period-end notional amounts
A.2.1 Hedging

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Underlying assets/Type of derivatives
1. Debt securities and interest rates
a) Options
b) Swaps
c) Forwards
d) Futures
e) Others
2. Equity securities and stock indices
a) Options
b) Swaps
c) Forwards
d) Futures
e) Others
3. Foreign exchange rates and gold
a) Options
b) Swaps
c) Forwards
d) Futures
e) Others
4. Commodities
5. Other underlying assets
Total

Total at 31/12/2015
Central
Over the counter
counterparties
22,828,050
34,858
22,793,192

thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2014
Central
Over the counter
counterparties
23,877,968
37,171
23,840,797

200,845
91,072
109,773

482,068
91,072
390,996

324,331

505,584

273,696
50,635

436,115
69,469

23,353,226

24,865,620

A.3 Financial derivatives: gross positive fair value - breakdown by products

thousands of euro

Positive fair value
Portfolios/Types of derivatives

A. Regulatory trading book
a) Options
b) Interest rate swaps
c) Cross currency swaps
d) Equity swaps

Total at 31/12/2015
Central
Over the counter
counterparties
2,167,129

Total at 31/12/2014
Central
Over the counter
counterparties
2,816,653

201

988

2,137,043

2,758,180

29,885

57,484

0

1

327,882

392,930

e) Forwards
f) Futures
g) Others
B. Banking book - hedging
a) Options

62,015

61,684

256,337

312,045

c) Cross currency swaps

4,109

7,640

d) Equity swaps

5,371

11,544

50

17

2,495,011

3,209,583

b) Interest rate swaps

e) Forwards
f) Futures
g) Others
C. Banking book - other derivatives
a) Options
b) Interest rate swaps
c) Cross currency swaps
d) Equity swaps
e) Forwards
f) Futures
g) Others
Total
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A.4 Financial derivatives: gross negative fair value - breakdown by products
thousands of euro
Negative fair value
Portfolios/Types of derivatives

Total at 31/12/2015
Over the counter

A. Regulatory trading book
a) Options
b) Interest rate swaps
c) Cross currency swaps
d) Equity swaps

Total at 31/12/2014

Central
counterparties

Central
counterparties

Over the counter

2,203,628

3,026,539

202

989

2,155,208

2,943,042

48,218

82,507

0

1

3,035,598

3,638,257

e) Forwards
f) Futures
g) Others
B. Banking book - hedging
a) Options
b) Interest rate swaps
c) Cross currency swaps
d) Equity swaps

5,184

6,047

2,980,291

3,518,463

50,123

113,714

0

33

f) Futures
g) Others
C. Banking book - other derivatives
a) Options
b) Interest rate swaps
c) Cross currency swaps
d) Equity swaps
e) Forwards
f) Futures
g) Others
Total

5,239,226

0
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6,664,796

0
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e) Forwards

A.5 OTC financial derivatives - regulatory trading book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values by
counterparties - Contracts not part of offsetting agreements
thousands of euro
Contracts not part of offsetting
agreements

Governments
and Central
Banks

Other
public
entities

Financial
institutions

Banks

Insurance
companies

Nonfinancial
companies

1) Debt securities and interest rates
- notional value

2,156,145

2,361,573

1,988

291,786

367,413

328,731

639,284

229

62,265

74,063

18,687

0

0

0

21,458

9

1,610

4,002

- notional value

0

151,136

- positive fair value

0

- positive fair value
- negative fair value
- future exposure

13,162

2) Equity securities and stock
indices
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
- future exposure
3) Foreign exchange rates and gold

Dexia Crediop banking Group

- negative fair value

9,154
23,726

- future exposure

0

4) Other values
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
- future exposure
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11,335

Other
entities

A.6 OTC financial derivatives - regulatory trading book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values by
counterparties - Contracts part of offsetting agreements
thousands of euro
Contracts part of offsetting
agreements

Governments
and Central
Banks

Other
public
entities

Banks

Financial
institutions

Insurance
companies

Nonfinancial
companies

Other
entities

1) Debt securities and interest rates
- notional value

11,925,185

1,014,317

- positive fair value

1,032,283

588

- negative fair value

1,872,385

264,338

2) Equity securities and stock
indices
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
3) Foreign exchange rates and gold
- notional value

151,136

- positive fair value

20,732

- negative fair value

24,492

4) Other values
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- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value

297

A.8 OTC financial derivatives - banking book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values by counterpartiescontracts part of offsetting agreements
thousands of euro
Contracts part of offsetting
agreements

Governments
and Central
Banks

Other
ublic
entities

Financial
institutions

Banks

Insurance
companies

Nonfinancial
companies

Other
entities

1) Debt securities and interest rates
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value

22,373,507

454,543

205,929

50,408

2,812,146

173,329

2) Equity securities and stock
indices
- notional value

200,845

- positive fair value

67,386

- negative fair value
3) Foreign exchange rates and gold
- notional value

116,195

208,136

50

4,109

46,376

3,747

- positive fair value
- negative fair value
4) Other values

Dexia Crediop banking Group

- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value

A.9 Residual maturity of OTC financial derivatives: notional amounts
thousands of euro
Underlying instruments/ Residual term
A. Regulatory trading book
A.1 Fin. derivatives on debt securities and interest rates

Up to 1 year

Between 1 year
and 5 years

More than 5
years

Total

2,039,204

6,668,383

9,713,092

18,420,679

2,039,204

6,668,383

9,410,820

18,118,407

302,272

302,272

A.2 Fin. derivatives on equity securities and stock indices
A.3 Fin. derivatives on exchange rates and gold
A.4 Fin. derivatives - other
B. Banking book
B.1 Fin. derivatives on debt securities and interest rates

13,871,053

3,380,210

6,101,963

23,353,226

13,598,423

3,192,879

6,036,748

22,828,050

B.2 Fin. derivatives on equity securities and stock indices

190,845

10,000

81,785

177,331

65,215

324,331

Total at 31/12/2015

15,910,257

10,048,593

15,815,055

41,773,905

Total at 31/12/2014

16,227,717

11,957,937

19,086,106

47,271,760

B.3 Fin. derivatives on exchange rates and gold

200,845

B.4 Fin. derivatives - other
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B. Credit derivatives
B.1 Credit derivatives: period-end notional amounts

thousands of euro

Regulatory trading book
Type of transaction
1. Protection purchases
a) Credit default products

single
counterparty

Banking book

more counterparties
(basket)

single
counterparty

more counterparties
(basket)

802,627
802,627

b) Credit spread products
c) Total rate of return swap
d) Others
Total at 31/12/2015

802,627

Total at 31/12/2014

802,627

2. Protection sales

802,627

a) Credit default products

802,627

b) Credit spread products
c) Total rate of return swap
d) Others
Total at 31/12/2015

802,627

Total at 31/12/2014

802,627

thousands of euro
Positive fair value

Portfolios/Types of derivatives

Total at 31/12/2015

A. Regulatory trading book
a) Credit default products

Total at 31/12/2014

59,250

77,077

59,250

77,077

59,250

77,077

b) Credit spread products
c) Total rate of return swap
d) Others
B. Banking book
a) Credit default products
b) Credit spread products
c) Total rate of return swap
d) Others
Total

B.3 OTC credit derivatives: gross negative fair value - breakdown by products

thousands of euro
Negative fair value

Portfolios/Types of derivatives

Total at 31/12/2015

A. Regulatory trading book
a) Credit default products

Total at 31/12/2014

56,619

75,547

56,619

75,547

56,619

75,547

b) Credit spread products
c) Total rate of return swap
d) Others
B. Banking book
a) Credit default products
b) Credit spread products
c) Total rate of return swap
d) Others
Total
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B.2 OTC credit derivatives: gross positive fair value - breakdown by products

B.4 OTC credit derivatives: gross (positive and negative) fair values by counterparties - contracts not part of
offsetting agreements
thousands of euro
Contracts not part of
offsetting agreements

Governments
and Central
Banks

Other
public
entities

Banks

Financial
institutions

Insurance
companies

Nonfinancial
companies

Other entities

Regulatory trading
1) Protection purchase
- notional value

802,627

- positive fair value

59,250

- negative fair value
- future exposure

80,263

2) Protection sale
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
- future exposure
Banking portfolio
1) Protection purchase
- notional value
- positive fair value

Dexia Crediop banking Group

- negative fair value
2) Protection sale
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value

B.5 OTC credit derivatives: gross (positive and negative) fair values by counterparties - contracts part of offsetting
agreements
thousands of euro
Contracts part of offsetting
agreements

Governments
and Central
Banks

Other
public
entities

Banks

Financial
institutions

Regulatory trading
1) Protection purchase
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
2) Protection sale
- notional value

583,724

218,903

36,118

20,501

- positive fair value
- negative fair value
Banking portfolio
1) Protection purchase
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
2) Protection sale
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
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Insurance
companies

Nonfinancial
companies

Other entities

B.6 Residual maturity of credit derivatives: notional amounts
thousands of euro
Underlying instruments/ Residual term

Up to 1 year

Between 1
year and 5
years

More than 5
years

A. Regulatory trading book

Total

1,605,254

1,605,254

1,605,254

1,605,254

Total at 31/12/2015

1,605,254

1,605,254

Total at 31/12/2014

1,605,254

1,605,254

A.1 Credit derivatives with "qualified reference obligation"
A.2 Credit derivatives with "unqualified reference obligation"
B. Banking book
B.1 Credit derivatives with "qualified reference obligation"
B.2 Credit derivatives with "unqualified reference obligation"

C. Credit and financial derivatives
C.1 OTC credit and financial derivatives: net fair values and future exposure by counterparty
thousands of euro
Other
public
entities

Banks

Financial
institutions

Insurance
companies

Nonfinancial
companies

Other
entities

1) Financial derivatives - bilateral
agreements
- positive fair value

1,347,104

59,210

- negative fair value

4,824,708

465,657

107,109

12,172

1,454,213

71,382

- future exposure
- net counterparty risk
2) Credit derivatives - bilateral
agreements
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
- future exposure
- net counterparty risk
3) "Cross product" agreements
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
- future exposure
- net counterparty risk

1.3 BANKING GROUP – LIQUIDITY RISK
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement of liquidity risk
The Dexia Crediop Group is structurally exposed to the risk of liquidity as the loans activity is mainly concentrated over a
long-term horizon against deposits that are characterised by a shorter average duration.
Exposure is concentrated on the parent bank as the activities of the subsidiaries does not have any tangible effect on the
liquidity risk. As such, please refer to that stated in the paragraph devoted to this matter in the Explanatory Notes to the
Individual Annual Report.
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Governments and
Central
Banks

Quantitative information
1. Breakdown by maturity by residual maturity of financial assets and liabilities - Currency: Euro

Item/Time bracket
Cash assets

thousands of euro
Between
Between Between
Between 1
Between
Between
More than Unspecified
6 months
15 days 1 month
On de- Between 1
year and 5
3 and 6
7 and 15
5 years
maturity
and 1
and 3
and 1
mand and 7 days
years
months
days
year
months
month
249,930

369,324

6,302 3,509,286

10,823 1,131,587

643,008

9,261

98,828

880,529

2,858,065

X
X

A.1 Government
securities
A.2 Other debt securities
A.3 Mutual fund shares
A.4 Loans
- Banks
- Customers
Cash liabilities
B.1 Deposits and current
accounts
- Banks

Dexia Crediop banking Group

- Customers

16

33

6,187

3,631,311 10,414,464

207

5,581

289,503

70,773

909,543

3,651,459

115 3,509,079

5,242

832,823

473,407

1,841,239

3,904,940

452,734

7,832

54,478

106,520

X

5,242

380,089

465,575

1,786,761

3,798,420

X

3,920,288 2,868,418 1,371,599 2,849,491 4,641,329

514,788

296,297

1,322,268

881,845

770

X

249,144

369,291

222,033

261,348

27,111

107,943

2,958,922
115

550,157

3,918,153

X

3,597,903

X

320,250

X

B.2 Debt securities

18

B.3 Other liabilities

2,117

404,448

264,506

426,008

142,820

483,639

78,892

967,151 2,849,491 4,376,823

88,780

153,477

838,629

802,953

- long positions

50,699

13,454

13,816

197,161

341,395

X

- short positions

50,369

15,336

15,745

177,330

360,194

X

24,846

11,191

X

2,868,418

Off balance sheet
transactions
C.1 Financial derivatives
with exchange of capital

C.2 Financial derivatives
without exchange of
capital
- long positions

2,120,892

2,695

1

5,009

17,630

11,583

47,957

- short positions

2,158,893

13,457

86

20,180

15,527

30,269

146,881

C.3 Deposits and loans to
be settled
- long positions
- short positions
C.4 Irrevocable commitments to lend funds
- long positions

48,956

6,238

- short positions
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X

C.5 Financial guarantees
given
C.6 Financial guarantees
received
C.7 Credit derivatives
with equity swap
- long positions
- short positions
C.8 Credit derivatives
without equity swap
- long positions

59,250

- short positions

56,627

X
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The item financial derivatives without the exchange of capital includes, in the case of trading derivatives, the related fair
value in the “on demand” timeframe and, in the case of hedging derivatives, the positive or negative differentials that are
due in the year following that of reference of the financial statements.
The securitisation transactions in place as of 31 December 2015, originating on internal assets through Tevere Finance srl,
in which Dexia Crediop (originator bank) signed the deed for the issue, total liabilities issued by the vehicle company are
as follows:
• 151,013,961 euro, of which 149,970,961 euro Senior Notes, with ratings assigned by Standard & Poor’s as “BBB-”
and 1,043,000 euro Junior Notes (without ratings), concerning loan agreements stipulated with Istituto per il Credito
Sportivo;
• 9,219,213 euro of which 6,652,213 euro Senior Notes (without ratings) and 2,567,000 euro Junior Notes (without
ratings), concerning loan agreements stipulated with public and private enterprises.
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1.4 BANKING GROUP – Operational risks
Qualitative information

Dexia Crediop banking Group

A. General aspects, management and measuring of operational risk
Operational risk is “the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, human resources and systems,
or from external events”. This definition includes legal risk, but not strategic risk (i.e. the risk of not achieving the desired
performance owing to assessment errors by the management) or reputational risk (i.e. the risk of losing revenues owing
to a loss of public confidence in the broker).
The method used by the Group for measuring operational risk is the Traditional Standardized Approach (TSA).
As regards the qualitative method of assessing operational risks, an Operational Risk & Security Unit is active within the
Risk, and has responsibility for:
• drafting and updating the regulatory sources for the correct management of company processes and the consequent
mitigation of operational risk;
• measuring annually the Group’s exposure to the Bank’s operational risk by means of the RCSA method (Risk & Control
Self Assessment);
• defining, adopting and producing the reporting system on operational risk trends;
• preparing, for the part on operating risks, the “ICAAP Document” to be sent annually to the Bank of Italy;
• managing the security logics which control access to the IT applications;
• guaranteeing the efficiency and updating of the Operating Continuity Plan (OCP), also through the execution of annual
tests.
As regards management performance assessments, a number of Operational Risk Correspondents (ORC) have been chosen
within each Operating Unit with the task of noting every operational risk event and subsequently filing the information in
the Group’s software OSCAR.
Quantitative information
Di seguito sono riportate, in termini percentuali, le cause principali di accadimento degli eventi di rischio operativo:
CATEGORY OF EVENT

%

internal fraud

0%

external fraud

0%

relationships with staff and safety in the workplace

0%

customers, products and business practice

0%

damage to or loss of property plant and equipment

0%

system failure or breakdown

56%

process execution, delivery and management

44%
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Part F – Comments on the consolidated
capital
Section 1 - Consolidated shareholders’ equity
A. Qualitative information
The consolidated capital consists of the share capital, of reserves from profits of previous periods, valuation reserves on
financial assets available for sale and cash flow hedges and reserves as a result of first adoption of the IAS/IFRS principles.
Except for the part of the capital used in equity investments and properties and the part from reserves consisting of the
fair value of assets available for sale and cash flow hedging, the remaining capital is mainly invested in fixed-rate mid- to
long-term financial assets.
B. Quantitative information
B.1 Consolidated capital: distribution by type of company

Share capital

450,210

10

Total

Netting and
adjustments on
consolidation

Other companies

Insurance companies

Shareholders’ equity

450,220

Share premiums
Reserves

657,237

657,237

Equity instruments
(Treasury shares)
Valuation reserves
- Financial assets available for sale

(104,995)

(104,995)

(117,982)

(117,982)

19,897

19,897

(6,910)

(6,910)

- Property plant and equipment
- Intangible assets
- Hedges on foreign investments
- Cash flow hedges
- Foreign exchange differences
- Non-current assets held for sale
- Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefits plans
- Share of of valuation reserves related to equity investments
- Legally-required revaluations
Parent's company's net income (loss) and minority interest

(24,055)

Shareholders’ equity

978,397
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(24,055)
0

10

0

978,407
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Banking group

thousands of euro

B.2 Valuation reserves of financial assets available for sale: breakdown
thousands of euro
Insurance
companies

Banking group
Assets/Amounts
Positive
reserve
1. Debt securities
2. Equity investments

19,565

Negative
reserve

Positive
reserve

Netting and
adjustments on
consolidation

Other companies

Negative
reserve

Positive
reserve

Negative
reserve

Positive
reserve

Negative
reserve

138,874

Total at 31/12/2015
Positive
reserve

Negative
reserve

19,565

1,327

138,874

1,327

3. Mutual fund shares
4. Loans
Total

20,892

138,874

20,892

138,874

Total at 31/12/2014

26,523

188,594

26,523

188,594

B.3 Valuation reserves of financial assets available for sale: annual changes
thousands of euro

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Debt securities
1.

Opening balances

2.

Increases

2.1 Fair value increass

Equity investments

Mutual fund shares

(163,398)

1,327

0

48,077

0

0

0

0

1,327

0

41,333

2.2 Reversal to income statement of
negative reserves:

4,455

- impairment
- disposal

4,455

2.3 Other changes

2,289

3.

3,988

Decreases

3.1 Fair value decreases
3.2 Impairment losses
3.3 Reversal to income statement of
positive reserve: disposal

3,988

3.4 Other changes
4.

Closing balances

(119,309)

B.4 Valuation reserves of defined benefit schemes: annual changes
The valuation reserves of defined benefits schemes as at 31.12.2015 amounted to -6,910 thousand euros.
The variance of reserves as at 2015 is 5,355 thousands euro.

306

Loans

Section 2 - Own funds and capital ratios
2.2 Own funds
A. Qualitative information
1. Common Equity Tier 1 - CET1
Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) was calculated on the basis of the balance sheet and income statement figures, determined
in accordance with the IAS/IFRS international accounting standards and taking into account the rules laid down by the
Bank of Italy in accordance with the new Basel 3 regulations.
In particular, CET1 includes, as positive elements: paid-up equity and profit reserves; negative elements include: intangible
assets and valuation reserves.
2. Additional Tier 1 - AT1
There are no additional Tier1 funds.

B. Quantitative information
thousands of euro
Total at 31/12/2015

Total at 31/12/2014

1,080,265

1,104,445

B. CET1 prudential filters (+/-)

(124,892)

(174,335)

C. CET1 gross of elements to be deducted and effects of the
transitional regime (A+/-B)

955,373

930,110

42,619

76,924

997,992

1,007,034

138,837

216,694

398

531

A. Common Equity Tier 1 - CET1 before prudential filters are applied
of which CET1 instruments subject to transitional provisions

D. Elements to be deducted from CET1
E. Transitional regime - Impact on CET1 (+/-), including minority shareholdings
subject to transitional provisions
F. Total Common Equity Tier 1 (TIER1 -CET1) (C-D +/-E)
G. Additional Tier 1 (AT1) gross of elements to be deducted and effects
of the transitional regime
of which AT1 instruments subject to transitional provisions
H. Elements to be deducted from AT1
I. Transitional regime - Impact on AT1 (+/-), including instruments issued
by subsidiaries and included in AT1 Due to transitional provisions
L. Total Additional TIER 1 (AT1) (G-H+/-I)
M. Tier 2 (T2) gross of elements to be deducted and effects
of the transitional regime
of which T2 instruments subject to transitional provisions 531
N. Elements to be deducted from T2
O. Transitional regime - Impact on T2 (+/-), including instruments issued
by subsidiaries and included in T2 due to transitional provisions
P. Total Tier 2 (T2) (M - N +/- O)
Q. Total shareholders’ equity (F + L + P)
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138,837

216,694

1,136,829

1,223,728
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3. Tier 2 - T2
Tier II capital consists of subordinated liabilities, which can be calculated entirely as such from valuation reserves and from
surpluses from value adjustments with respect to expected losses.
In reference to valuation reserves for debt securities issued by the central administrations of countries in the European
Union included in the “Financial Assets Available for Sale” portfolio, the Group applied complete neutralization of the
associated capital gains and losses, in accordance with the provision sub a) laid down by the Bank of Italy with its
measure dated 18 May 2010 regarding “Regulatory Capital/Prudential Filters” and confirmed by the national provisions
implementing the Basel 3 regulations.

2.3 Capital adequacy
A. Qualitative information
The process by which significant risks are identified and measurement methods defined, the quantification of the internal
capital and economic capital in view of each risk type, all take place under the management and coordination of the parent
company Dexia S.A..
More specifically, the calculation engine for the quantification of internal capital and economic capital is managed on a
centralised level by the parent company Dexia S.A..
Dexia S.A. also sends all Group companies, including Dexia Crediop, the descriptive methodologies adopted to measure
each type of risk (including the risks considered as significant by Dexia Crediop and consolidated on a Dexia group level)
and the quantification of the related risk capital.
The company’s organisational units assigned to manage and control risk are the Risk COU, including Credit Risk, Operational
Risk & Security and Market Risk, the Financial Strategy COU and the Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering COU.
B. Quantitative information

thousands of euro
Unweighted amounts

Categories/Amounts

31/12/2015

31/12/2014

Weighted
amounts/requirements
31/12/2015

31/12/2014

Dexia Crediop banking Group

A. RISK ASSETS
A.1 Credit and counterparty risk
1. Standardized methodology
2. Methodology based on internal ratings

23,465,584

35,876,895

4,822,242

1,024,109

1,124,726

611,115

4,614,037
786,835

22,373,691

34,671,736

4,168,016

3,776,047

22,373,691

34,671,736

4,168,016

3,776,047

67,784

80,433

43,111

51,155

385,779

369,123

17,982

43,692

2.1 Basic
2.2 Advanced
3. Securitisation
B. REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS
B.1 Credit and counterparty risk
B.2 Credit valuation adjustment risk
B.3 Settlement risk
B.4 Market risk

20,787

23,461

1. Standard methodology

20,787

23,461

4,342

4,683

4,342

4,683

428,890

440,959

2. Internal models
3. Concentration risk
B.5 Operational risk
1. Basic method
2. Standardized method
3. Advanced method
B.6 Other calculation elements
B.7 Total prudential requirements
C. RISK ASSETS AND REGULATORY RATIOS
C.1 Risk-weighted assets

5,361,123

5,511,988

C.2 Common equity Tier 1 capital/ Risk-weighted assets (CET 1 capital ratio)

18.62%

18.27%

C.3 Tier 1 capital/ Risk-weighted assets (Tier 1 capital ratio)

18.62%

18.27%

C.4 Total Own Funds/ Risk-weighted assets (Total capital ratio)

21.21%

22.20%
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Part H – Transactions with related
parties
In compliance with law dispositions and internal procedures, all related party transactions occured during the fiscal year
have been carried out at conditions equivalent to market conditions applied to transactions of similar nature and risk
occured with non related parties. With regard to related parties, any unsusual or non-typical transaction and/or any
transaction with non standard condistions, both economic and contractual, has been concluded..
1. Information on key management personnel’s remuneration
The information referred to in paragraph 17 of IAS 24 regarding key management personnel is shown below:
thousands of euro
Short term benefits

1,779

Post-employment benefits

121

Other long term benefits
0

Payment in shares
Total

1,900

2. Information on transactions with related parties
The bank is the Parent Company of “Gruppo Bancario Dexia Crediop S.p.A.” which, in addition to Dexia Crediop S.p.A.,
includes the following subsidiaries:
1. D.C.I. - Dexia Crediop Ireland with a 100% shareholding(1);
2. Tevere Finance S.r.l.(2)
The company is controlled (70% of the share capital) by Dexia Crédit Local SA with registered offices in - 1, passerelle des
Reflets Tour Dexia - La Défense 2 - 92913 La Défense Cedex.
(1) Unlimited liability company constituted under Irish law, with registered offices in 6 George’s Dock, Dublin 1 and share capital of Euro 100 million represented by 100 million shares, each
with a nominal value of 1 euro.
- 99,999,999 shares are held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;
- 1 share held by Belfius Ireland (ex Dexia Investments Ireland), in its capacity as Trustee for Dexia Crediop S.p.A. held by Belfius Ireland (ex Dexia Investments Ireland), in qualità di Trustee di
Dexia Crediop S.p.A., until the 05/03/2013; on 06/03/2013 Belfius Ireland sold, whitout trustee agreement, the share to Dexia Crédit Local.
(2) Vehicle company in accordance with Italian law no. 130/1999 over which Dexia Crediop S.p.A. exercises de facto control.
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Severance indemnity

2.1 Transactions with the parent company
Assets and Liabilities

thousands of euro

Assets
-

Financial assets held for trading

64,438

-

Bonds & securities

32,397

-

Hedging derivatives

106

Total

96,941

Liabilities
-

Borrowings

554,953

-

Financial liabilities held for trading

-

Hedging derivatives

19,089

-

Subordinated debts

-

Repurchase agreements

2,323,219

-

Deposits

3,543,000

-

Other liabilities

431,321
400,019

1,476

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Total

7,273,077

Other transactions
-

thousands of euro

Guarantees received

383,032

Income and charges
-

Interest and similar income

-

Interest paid and similar charges

thousands of euro
4,161
(70,696)

of which

interest margin on hedging transactions

(41,410)

-

Commission income

-

Commission expenses

(943)

-

Net trading gains (losses)

1,755

-

Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase

-

Administrative expenses

2,665
(1,670)

Total

(64,728)
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2.2 Transactions with other companies of the Dexia Group
In addition to the above-illustrated transactions with the parent company, the Dexia Crediop Group also carried out
transactions with Dexia SA holding and its subsidiaries; all these transactions refer to the core business.
DEXIA HOLDING
Income and charges
-

thousands of euro

Administrative expenses

(106)

Total

(106)

COMPANIES IN THE DCL GROUP
Assets and Liabilities

thousands of euro

Assets
-

Deposits

2,715

Total

2,715
Liabilities

- Issued securites

53,930
220,586

Total

274,516

Income and charges
-

thousands of euro

Interest paid and similar charges

(2,047)

Total

(2,047)
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- Repurchase agreements

Part L - Segment reporting
Criteria for segment reporting
Segment reporting must be drawn up in accordance with the “IFRS 8 – Operating Segments” standard and no longer
drafted according to IAS 14, as required in the past.
The adoption of IFRS 8 confirms the logic according to which the business sectors subject to disclosure were chosen, since
the Bank has long adopted the so-called “management approach”, i.e. choosing to use the same structure for the financial
statements as that used for the preparation of internal reporting.
Primary format: “Segment Reporting”
For the purposes of segment reporting, the results of the Group’s recurrent transactions, classified in the “run rate”
segment, are separated from those the valuation results, classified in the “Accounting Volatility” segment.

Dexia Crediop banking Group

The “run rate” segment includes the following lines of business with similar features in terms of products and services
offered to customers:
• Public & Project Finance: this includes lending and financial services offered by the Group to its customers and the short
and medium-to-long-term financing of such activity;
• Other income: this includes managing free capital, equity investments and other assets not allocated elsewhere.
More information on the activities carried out by the Dexia Crediop Group can be found in the paragraph “Operating
Trends” of the Dexia Crediop S.p.A. Report on Operations.
Secondary format “Geographic – area report”
The criteria used for the geographic area report is the country where the group company is located.
More information on the Group companies are given in the paragraph “Information on trends in the Group’s companies”
of the Dexia Crediop Group Report on Operations.

A. Primary format
The tables below provide the financial results of the Dexia Crediop Group as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December
2014, subdivided by business sector as described above. The results of the income statement are shown according to the
reclassified income statement schedule given in the Consolidated Report on Operations.
The income statement for each segment has been constructed by aggregating the income statements of the Dexia Crediop
Group companies, after having elided intra-group transactions and consolidation entries.
A general description of the financial results of the Dexia Crediop Group is given in the paragraph “Changes to key income
statement items” in the Report on Operations of the Dexia Crediop Group.
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A.1 Distribution according to business sector: economic data 2015
thousands of euro
Income Statement Items 2015

Project
& Public
Finance

Net interest income
Net fee and commission income

Other
Income

Total Run
Rate

Accouting
Volatility
29,662

Dexia
Crediop
Group

31,266

32,594

63,860

-28

-1,157

-1,185

93,522

-45,276

-45,276

15,224

-30,052

-13,839

17,399

44,886

62,285

-1,185

Dividends
Net trading gains (losses)
Net interest and other banking income

31,238

Net adjustments for impairment

-2,487

Net income from financial activities

28,751

-2,487

-2,487

-13,839

14,912

-69,427

-69,427

-69,427

-13,881

-17,381

-17,381

Amortization and depreciation of fixed assets

-2,440

-2,440

-2,440

Other operating expenses/income

1,332

1,332

1,332

-84,416

-87,916

-87,916

5,605

5,605

5,605

-92,650

-67,399

Administrative expenses
Net provisions

-3,500

Operating expenses

-3,500

Gains (losses) on disposal of investments
Profit (Loss) from continuing operations before tax

25,251

44,886

44,886

59,798

-22,513

thousands of euro
Income Statement Items 2014

Project
& Public
Finance

Other
Income

Total Run
Rate

Accouting
Volatility

Net interest income

51,238

32,397

83,635

Net fee and commission income

-4,735

-1,583

-6,318

-6,318

3

3

3

531

-41,753

-41,223

-3,512

-44,735

47,034

-10,936

36,097

-38,047

-1,950

-10,936

30,590

-38,047

-7,457

Dividends
Net trading gains (losses)
Net interest and other banking income
Net adjustments for impairment

-5,507

Net income from financial activities

41,527

Administrative expenses

-31,319

Net provisions
Amortization and depreciation of fixed assets
Other operating expenses/income
Operating expenses

-34,535

Dexia
Crediop
Group

-5,507

49,100

-5,507

-31,319

-31,319

-15,058

-15,058

-15,058

-2,475

-2,475

-2,475

345

345

345

-31,319

-17,188

-48,507

-48,507

10,208

-28,124

-17,917

Gains (losses) on disposal of investments
Profit (Loss) from continuing operations before tax
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-38,047

-55,964
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A.1 Distribution according to business sector: economic data 2014

A.2 Distribution according to business sector: equity data 2015
thousands of euro
Project &
Public Finance

Balance Sheet Items 2015
Financial assets held for trading (item 20)
Financial assets available for sale (item 40)
Financial assets held to maturity (item 50)
Due from customers (item 70)

Other Income

Dexia Crediop
Group

2,226,379

2,226,379

456,049

456,049

137,286

137,286

17,864,082

17,864,082

4,084,006

4,084,006

14,919,680

14,919,680

Due to customers (item 20)

1,858,116

1,858,116

Securities in issue (item 30)

2,080,685

2,080,685

Due from banks (item 60)
Due to banks (item 10)

Investments in tangible and intangible assets

6,186

6,186

A.2 Distribution according to business sector: equity data 2014
thousands of euro
Project &
Public Finance

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Balance Sheet Items 2014
Financial assets held for trading (item 20)
Financial assets available for sale (item 40)

Other Income

Dexia Crediop
Group

2,893,730

2,893,730

887,060

887,060

187,650

187,650

Due from customers (item 70)

20,662,133

20,662,133

Due from banks (item 60)

12,429,771

12,429,771

Due to banks (item 10)

26,624,090

26,624,090

Financial assets held to maturity (item 50)

Due to customers (item 20)

615,816

615,816

Securities in issue (item 30)

2,619,848

2,619,848

Investments in tangible and intangible assets

2,011

2,011

The Dexia Crediop Group’s net interests, including net hedging, amounted to a total of e 93.5 million at 31 December
2015. The margin can be ascribed to the medium/long term lending in the “Project & Public Finance” segment and to
the return on its own funds classified under “Other Income”. The contribution of single customers of the Bank to the net
interest income is less than 10%.
Compared to 2014, the item has increased by e 44.4 million. This increase is mainly due to the change in interest rates.
Net fee and commission income amounted to e -1.2 million, (up e +5.1 million compared with 2014). A total of e
-0.03 million was generated by Project & Public Finance activities, with another € -1.16 million generated by Other income
activities. The increase is mainly due to a decrease in the fees and commissions paid on government backed securities due
to the repayment of most of these securities.
The total result from trading activities amounts to e -45.3 million, essentially deriving from the sale of securities to the
parent company Dexia Credit Local and from the sale of securities issued by Italian purchased pursuant to art. 45 of law
89/2014 (Project & Public Finance). The increase with respect to the previous year, in the amount of e +14.7 milion,
mainly coming from the valuations carried out on trading derivatives (Accounting Volatility).
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Total net impairment adjustments came to e -2.5 million at 31 December 2015, mainly due to net adjustments on loans.
Adjustments refer entirely to the Project & Public Finance sector.
Administrative expenses amounted to e -69.5 million compared to e -31.3 million in 2014; the difference with respect
to the previous year derive from the ordinary and extraordinary contributions made to the National Resolution Fund for
credit institutions.
Allocations to provisions for risks and charges came to -17.4 million (-15 million in 2014). The provisions were related
to Project & Public Finance in the amount of e -3.5 million, relative to legal expenses for administrative and judicial
proceedings in course regarding derivative positions with local authorities, and to Other Income in the amount of e -13.9
million, mainly deriving from provisions for the dispute with the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo.
The result of continuing operations before tax came to e -22.5 million, compared to e -55.9 million in 2014, with
e -67.4 million from recurrent activities (run rate) which includes a gain on disposal of investments coming from the sale
of the property (e +5.6 million) and e +44.9 million from valuation components classified as “Accounting Volatility”.
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B. Secondary format
With reference to the breakdown of operations according to geographic area, Dexia Crediop Group activity is to a large
extent concentrated on the domestic market.
Customer receivables are produced in Italy, whilst the net interest and other banking income is made up of € +57 million
from Italy and € +5.3 million from the rest of the world. Net interest and other banking income coming from Italy suffered
from the above-mentioned sale of securities.
The secondary disclosure is based on the country where the organisations which fall under the scope of consolidation are
located. In particular:
• Italy: includes Dexia Crediop and Tevere Finance.
• Rest of World: includes Dexia Crediop Ireland net of the elision of intra-group transactions and consolidation entries.
B.1 Distribution according to geographic area: economic data 2015
thousands of euro

Dexia Crediop banking Group

Income Statement items

Italy

Net interest and other banking income (item 120)

Rest of the world
56,985

5,302

Dexia Crediop
Group
62,287

B.1 Distribution according to geographic area: economic data 2014
thousands of euro
Income Statement items

Italy

Net interest and other banking income (item 120)

Rest of the world
-10,440
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8,490

Dexia Crediop
Group
-1,950

B.2 Distribution according to geographic area: equity data 2015
thousands of euro
Balance Sheet items

Italy

Rest of the world

Dexia Crediop
Group

2,415,445

-189,066

2,226,379

Financial assets available for sale (item 40)

64,672

391,377

456,049

Financial assets held to maturity (item 50)

137,286

Financial assets held for trading (item 20)

Due from customers (item 70)
Due from banks (item 60)

137,286

17,900,832

-36,750

17,864,082

4,083,342

664

4,084,006

Investments in tangible and intangible assets

6,186

6,186

B.2 Distribution according to geographic area: equity data 2014
thousands of euro
Balance Sheet items

Italy

Rest of the world

Dexia Crediop
Group

-213,587

2,893,730

Financial assets available for sale (item 40)

522,939

364,121

887,060

Financial assets held to maturity (item 50)

187,650

187,650

Due from customers (item 70)

20,702,133

-40,000

20,662,133

Due from banks (item 60)

12,429,408

363

12,429,771

Investments in tangible and intangible assets

2,011
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2,011
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3,107,317

Financial assets held for trading (item 20)

Information for the Public,
Country by Country
DEXIA CREDIOP GROUP
Situation at 31 December 2015
This document provides the information requested in Bank of Circular no. 285 of 17 December 2013, “Supervisory
Provisions for Banks”, 4th update.

Company name and type of activity
ITALY
Dexia Crediop S.p.A. – bank and financial activity, as well as other connected or instrumental activities.
Tevere Finance S.r.l. - loan securitisation vehicle, pursuant to Italian Law no. 130/1999.
IRLANDA1
Dexia Crediop Ireland – management of the group’s investment portfolios.

Turnover
ITALY
e 56.985 thousand
IRELAND
e 5.302 thousand

Number of full time equivalent employees
ITALY
114,4
IRELAND
1

(1) The quantitative information in the subsequent paragraphs includes Dexia Crediop Ireland net of the elision of intra-group transactions and consolidation entries.
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Profit or loss before taxes
IRELAND
e -27.606 thousand
IRLANDA
e 5.093 thousand

Taxes on profits or losses
ITALY
e -1.071 thousand
IRELAND
e -471 thousand
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